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Subject to completion, dated February 2, 2015
The information in this preliminary prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities
until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This preliminary
prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any jurisdiction
where such offer or sale is not permitted.
Preliminary prospectus

5,350,000 shares

Common stock
This is an initial public offering of shares of common stock by Invitae Corporation. We are offering 5,350,000 shares of our
common stock to be sold in the offering. The initial public offering price is expected to be between $13.00 and $15.00 per share.
Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our common stock. Our common stock has been approved for listing on
the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "NVTA."
We are an "emerging growth company" as defined under the federal securities laws and, as such, have elected to comply with
certain reduced public company reporting requirements.

Initial public offering price

Per share
$

Total
$

Underwriting discounts and commissions(1)

$

$

Proceeds to Invitae Corporation, before expenses

$

$

(1)

See "Underwriting" for a description of the compensation payable to the underwriters.

We have granted the underwriters an option for a period of 30 days to purchase up to 802,500 additional shares of common stock.
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. See "Risk factors" beginning on page 13.
Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any other regulatory body has approved or disapproved of these
securities or passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal
offense.
Entities affiliated with certain of our existing stockholders have indicated an interest in purchasing up to an aggregate of
approximately $25.0 million in shares of our common stock in this offering at the initial public offering price. However, because
indications of interest are not binding agreements or commitments to purchase, the underwriters could determine to sell more,
less or no shares to any of these potential investors and any of these potential investors could determine to purchase more, less
or no shares in this offering. The underwriters will receive the same underwriting discount on any sales to such potential investors.
The underwriters expect to deliver the shares to purchasers on or about

, 2015.

J.P. Morgan
Cowen and Company

Leerink Partners

, 2015
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Neither we nor the underwriters have authorized anyone to provide you with information different from or in addition to that
contained in this prospectus, any amendment or supplement to this prospectus or in any free writing prospectus prepared by us or
on our behalf. Neither we nor the underwriters take any responsibility for, and can provide no assurances as to the reliability of,
any information other than the information contained in the foregoing documents. We are offering to sell shares of our common
stock and seeking offers to buy shares of our common stock only in jurisdictions where offers and sales are permitted. The
information contained in this prospectus is accurate only as of the date of this prospectus, regardless of the time of delivery of this
prospectus or any sale of our common stock. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospectus may have
changed since that date.
Through and including
, 2015 (the 25th day after the date of this prospectus) all dealers that effect transactions in
these securities, whether or not participating in this offering, may be required to deliver a prospectus. This is in addition to the
dealers' obligation to deliver a prospectus when acting as underwriters and with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.
This prospectus includes industry data and forecasts that we obtained from internal company surveys, publicly available
information and industry publications and surveys. Our internal research and forecasts are based on management's
understanding of industry conditions. Industry publications and surveys generally state that the information contained therein has
been obtained from sources believed to be reliable. We are responsible for the information contained in this prospectus.
In this prospectus, the "company," "Invitae," "we," "us" and "our" refer to Invitae Corporation and its subsidiaries on a consolidated
basis. This prospectus also contains trademarks and trade names that are the property of their respective owners.
i
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Prospectus summary
The following summary highlights information contained elsewhere in this prospectus and does not contain all of the
information that you should consider before investing in our common stock. Because this is only a summary, you should
read the rest of this prospectus carefully, including the sections entitled "Risk factors" and "Management's discussion and
analysis of financial condition and results of operations" and our consolidated financial statements and related notes
included elsewhere in this prospectus.

Overview
Invitae's mission is to bring comprehensive genetic information into mainstream medical practice to improve the quality of
healthcare for billions of people. Our goal is to aggregate most of the world's genetic tests into a single service with higher
quality, faster turnaround time and lower price than many single gene tests today. We were founded on four core principles:
•
•
•
•

Patients should own and control their own genetic information;
Healthcare professionals are fundamental in ordering and interpreting genetic information;
Genetic information is more valuable when shared; and
Driving down the price of genetic information will increase its clinical and personal utility.

As the price of DNA sequencing has declined, the amount of genetic information that can be generated per dollar has
increased exponentially, enabling the generation, analysis and storage of more comprehensive genetic information than
ever before. According to Online Mendelian Inheritence in Man, or OMIM, a compendium of human genes maintained by
Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, there are more than 4,000 inherited genetic conditions for which the scientific
and medical community has already identified specific genes and variants useful for diagnosis or treatment planning. By
aggregating large numbers of currently available genetic tests into a single service, we can achieve great economies of
scale that allow us to not only provide primary single gene or multi-gene tests but also to generate and store additional
genetic information on behalf of the patient for future use. We refer to the service of managing genetic information over the
course of disease or the lifetime of a patient as "genome management." In addition, as more individuals gain access to their
genetic information, we believe that sharing genetic information will provide an economic opportunity for patients and us to
participate in advancing the understanding and treatment of disease. We believe that our ongoing investment in building our
infrastructure and attracting talent across a range of disciplines to generate, interpret and manage genetic information will
position us to be a leader in the field of genetic testing and genome management.
We believe that genes are a fundamental particle of modern medicine and that genetic testing has the potential to affect
billions of people. Virtually everyone is carrying loss of function mutations in their genome, recessive genetic conditions that
may affect their extended family or genetic mutations that may affect their response to various drugs or therapies. Every
individual has a unique genome, and we believe that comprehensive knowledge of this genetic makeup will be foundational
to the future practice of medicine. We also believe that eventually many individuals in a modern healthcare system will have
their genome sequenced at birth or during the course of their lives.
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According to UnitedHealth Group Inc., the U.S. genetic testing and molecular diagnostics market in 2010 was estimated to
be approximately $5 billion, of which approximately 60% was genetic testing. As of December 2014, genetests.org
estimated that there were more than 40,000 different genetic tests available from over 650 laboratories. Based on
UnitedHealth's estimates for the growth of the genetic testing and molecular diagnostics market and our assumption that
genetic testing's share of this market will be held constant at approximately 60% between 2010 and 2021, we expect the
U.S. genetic testing market to grow to at least $9 billion by 2021.
We are headquartered in San Francisco, California, where we have offices and a Clinical Laboratory Improvement
Amendments, or CLIA, certified facility. We also have offices in Palo Alto, California as well as a second laboratory in
Santiago, Chile. We have a multi-disciplinary team of 161 people as of December 31, 2014, including bioinformaticians,
clinical and medical geneticists, commercial and managed care experts, genetic counselors, scientists, software engineers,
web developers, graphic designers and lab automation specialists, as well as administrative and corporate personnel. We
believe that creating a strong team is a competitive advantage, and we strive to foster a motivating and unique culture in
which our people can thrive.
In the near term, we plan to focus on the immediate market for symptomatic disease with the goal to aggregate testing for
large numbers of genetic diseases into a single low-cost service. In the future, we plan on expanding our efforts in carrier
and newborn testing markets and later into the health and wellness market. As our market share grows we expect that our
business will develop in three stages over the longer term:
•

Genetic testing: making genetic testing more affordable and more accessible with faster turnaround time than ever
before. We believe that there is a significant market opportunity for high volume, low cost genetic testing that can
allow us to serve a large number of clients.

•

Genome management: building a secure and trusted genome management infrastructure. By generating and
storing large amounts of individualized genetic information for every patient sample, we believe we can create value
over the course of disease or lifetime of a client.

•

Genome network: sharing genetic information on a global scale to advance science and medicine. We plan to help
patients share their genetic information in a way that benefits them and us by acting as a permission-based broker on
their behalf.

Our solution for genetic testing
We are focused on making comprehensive genetic testing more affordable and more accessible than ever before, pursuing
a large and rapidly growing market with a focus on price and quality. We aim to do so for the majority of genetic tests,
consolidating most of them into a single offering at a price below the typical prices of many single gene or multi-gene panels.
We launched our first commercial offering in late November 2013, an assay of 216 genes comprising 85 different genetic
disorders and 17 targeted panels, and began selling and marketing our multi-gene panels with a focused effort on hereditary
cancers, including breast, colon and pancreatic cancer. We charge $1,500 per sample in most cases, which allows our
clients to receive test results on any or all genes in a specific indication or multi-gene panel. We also currently offer a free
re-requisition of additional data within the same indication when ordered within 90 days of the date of service. In addition,
clients may obtain test results on genes that are in other indications or panels, or genes within the same indication or panel
more than 90 days after the date of the initial service, for an additional fee. Importantly, we are
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providing turnaround time of less than three weeks for the substantial majority of our tests. Since our initial launch, we have
marketed additional panels addressing other genetic conditions based on the same assay of 216 genes. Since our
commercial launch, we have delivered more than 2,000 billable tests as of September 30, 2014. From inception through
September 30, 2014, approximately 26% of billable tests have been paid.
We have developed a value proposition called "the Invitae Advantage," which articulates part of our competitive advantage
as follows:
•
•
•
•
•

More affordable than ever before. One price. Any test.
Faster time to answers. From sample to results in three weeks on average.
Flexible test options. Design your own test or select a curated panel.
Deeper genetic insights. Choose multi-gene panels or order a free re-requisition.
Confidence and quality. Our team of genetic experts delivers high-quality test results.

Since our commercial launch through September 30, 2014, approximately 80% of our orders have been for indications
associated with hereditary cancer. Our hereditary cancer panel options include BRCA1 and BRCA2, a high-risk hereditary
breast cancer panel of seven genes, a hereditary colon cancer panel of 14 genes, a hereditary pancreatic cancer panel of
17 genes, or a more comprehensive hereditary cancer panel of 29 cancer genes. Each of the cancer genes or panels is
typically available for $1,500 regardless of whether one or 29 genes are ordered. Sales of our tests grew significantly in
2014 from over 200 tests in the first quarter of 2014 to over 1,100 tests in the third quarter of 2014, which we believe is
evidence that our value proposition is attractive to our clients. In addition, we delivered over 1,800 billable tests in the fourth
quarter of 2014. We expect our rate of growth in delivered billable tests to slow in periods leading up to commercial releases
of our expanding platform, including the period in 2015 leading up to the first planned expansion of our current assay of 216
genes. We estimate that the U.S. market for hereditary cancer tests is greater than $650 million per year and thus
represents a key growth opportunity for us. We believe that the market for hereditary breast and ovarian cancer could
continue to expand as lower-cost testing becomes available, allowing healthcare systems to test larger populations more
cost-effectively.
We plan to substantially increase our sales and marketing effort in oncology in 2015 as well as expand our sales efforts
beyond cancer. Since our initial commercialization, we have marketed additional panels involved in multiple different genetic
disorders including cardiology, hematology, neurology and pediatric panels. For example in the field of neurology, we have
recently started to market panels for Charcot-Marie Tooth, one of the most common inherited neurological genetic disorders
in the United States, and Spastic Paraplegia. In cardiology we have recently begun to offer panels for hypertrophic
cardiomyopathy, long QT syndrome, short QT syndrome and Brugada syndrome. We also offer panels for pediatric
conditions such as Noonan spectrum disorders and ciliopathies.
Aggregating multiple genetic tests into one service provides economies of scale and greater laboratory efficiency. We are
focused on delivering a wide variety of genetic content through our CLIA-certified laboratory, and plan to release an
increasing menu of content over time. By providing large numbers of different but related tests, such as multiple genes
associated with a broad genetic condition like hereditary cancer or cardiovascular disorders, we provide physicians with
choice and flexibility in ordering tests for individual genes, panels of genes or custom sets of genes at the physician's
discretion.
We expect to expand the amount of genetic information we provide over time to include all of the clinically-indicated genes
currently known—more than 4,000 according to genetests.org—and eventually the
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whole genome. The long list of disorders for which clinicians currently order these tests highlights the opportunity at hand in
aggregating the "long tail" of genetic tests.
In 2015, we plan to introduce substantial improvements to our genetic testing platform including certain genes with features
that are more difficult to analyze and an expansion of our current assay of 216 genes to over 500 genes. This expanded
offering would double the amount of genetic content we are able to provide at a fixed cost, which would further drive down
the cost per reportable gene.
We are developing an integrated portfolio of laboratory processes, software tools and informatics capabilities that allow us to
process DNA-containing samples, analyze information about patient-specific genetic variation and generate test reports for
physicians and their patients. In addition, we are optimizing web technologies for efficient and productive interactions with
physicians and patients using our service. We are investing heavily in systems that we believe will allow us to deliver
individual clinical reports for physicians and patients from an expanding menu of content at increasing speed while
decreasing costs per reportable gene over time.
We have designed our service to be simple for our clients to use. Our clients send a sample to us and in turn receive a test
report. Behind this streamlined user experience, however, is a sophisticated, highly automated infrastructure that we have
developed in order to scale in a cost effective manner. Starting from the client requisition and patient sample, through the
report delivery, we have invested heavily in tools and technologies at each step in the process.
One of our competitive advantages is the way in which we generate and deliver clinical reports to our clients. While our
approach is enabled by recent advances in next generation sequencing technology, delivery of an individual, industry
standard, clinical report that matches the clinical sensitivity and specificity of the various tests being ordered requires us to
address a number of challenges. In order to do so, we have invested in solving four key areas of complexity:
•

Genetic complexity. Multiple genes and pathways can be implicated in genetic disorders, This complexity has
given rise to a rapidly evolving body of scientific and clinical research associating genes with clinically relevant
outcomes. To address this complexity, we expect to continue to release new genetic content and provide healthcare
professionals with the flexibility to customize their orders by genes, disorders or multi-gene panels.

•

Disparate, non-standardized clinical information. The information used by many clinicians and researchers in the
field of genetics is taken from multiple public databases in disparate repositories hosted around the world. However,
many of these databases are subject to errors, inconsistencies and subjective outcome determinations. With the goal
of addressing this challenge, we employ geneticists to evaluate available literature and correct errors before
incorporating the information in our knowledge base, and we contribute to public understanding by publishing
anonymized variant information.

•

Limitations of next generation sequencing to determine complex variants. While current next generation
sequencing technologies work well when the variant involves a single base change in the gene's structure, they are
less effective when the variant involves a more complex variation, such as a large insertion, deletion or duplication.
We have invested in integrated sample preparation and software analysis processes that allow us to identify certain
complex variant types using our next generation sequencing platform without having to resort to alternative
technologies.

•

Clinical interpretation at scale. As sequencing costs decline and the amount of available raw DNA sequence data
and genes analyzed per individual sample grows, we expect the cost to interpret the data
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to increase due to rising requirements for medical professionals' time to interpret the data. We have invested
significantly in scientific curation, bioinformatics and software infrastructure and tools to build a knowledge base about
genetic conditions, genes and variants. These investments have enabled us to significantly increase the reporting
throughput while standardizing the variant identification and reporting process into a simple, easy to interpret, clinical
report.

The evolution of our business
There is an opportunity for genetic tests and information to be aggregated and then ultimately captured in comprehensive
genome management services. We believe this shift will enable the medical community to use genetic information on an
ongoing basis, as part of mainstream medical practice, to improve patient care.
Genome management
We are building a genome data management infrastructure to provide clients, including patients and healthcare
professionals, with an ongoing resource for pertinent genetic information over the course of disease or life of a patient. In the
future, we plan to work with healthcare providers to establish a system where this genetic information is linked at the point of
care for appropriate use as needs arise.
The decreasing cost of DNA sequencing is allowing us to provide an increasing amount of genetic information for the same
price and thus aggregate an expanding number of genes into a single service. As a result, our assay captures more genetic
information than the physician may initially request. Only those genes that are requisitioned by the ordering physician are
analyzed by our medical team and reported to the ordering physician and patient. The additional information is stored
electronically on behalf of the patient should their physician request any of it in the future. Currently, we allow re-requisition
of data for additional genes within the same indication at no additional charge within 90 days of the date of service.
As the amount of information available for each patient expands, we plan to initiate a genome management program to
provide patients and their healthcare providers with access to that additional information to answer healthcare questions as
they arise. We expect to make additional genetic content accessible to physicians and their patients along with educational
materials on the conditions, genes and variants. Because the raw DNA sequence information has already been derived from
our laboratory processes, the cost of delivering an additional clinical report will involve only information management and
clinical interpretation, and as a consequence will be significantly lower than running a new test. Ultimately, we believe we
can significantly improve patient care by offering comprehensive genetic testing, where reports for large numbers of genetic
conditions can be available for additional charges over the lifetime of a patient.
The genome network
As our genetic testing and genome management offerings grow in scale, we intend to continue to invest in informatics
solutions that enable sharing of genetic information to improve healthcare and clinical outcomes. Participants in our genome
network may include patients, family members, healthcare professionals, payors, industry professionals, researchers and
clinical trial sponsors.
The first application of our network strategy is our Invitae Family History Tool, which is available as a free web or iPad
application. This application enables users to quickly and easily build, modify, share and save relevant family genetic and
health history information. A second part of our network strategy is Clinvitae, a web property that allows physicians or
patients to look up individual genes and variants in order to find
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out additional genetic information. In the future, we plan to add functionality to allow patients and physicians to share more
information about their variants and connect with other patients or physicians who might be able to contribute additional
information that could affect their health and wellness.

Our strategy
Our strategy for long-term growth is focused on five key drivers of our business, which we believe cumulate to create a
flywheel effect:
•
•
•
•
•

Expand our genetic testing content.
Create a unique user experience.
Drive traffic.
Attract partners.
Lower the cost and price of genetic information.

Risks relating to our business
Our business is subject to numerous risks that you should consider before investing in us. These risks are described more
fully in the section entitled "Risk factors" immediately following this prospectus summary. We may be unable for many
reasons, including some that are beyond our control, to implement our business strategy. In particular, risks associated with
our business include the following:
•

We are an early-stage company with a history of losses, we expect to incur significant losses for the foreseeable
future, and we may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability.

•

We will need to scale our infrastructure in advance of demand for our tests, and our failure to generate sufficient
demand for our tests would have a negative impact on our business and our ability to attain profitability.

•

If we are not able to generate substantial demand for our tests, our commercial success will be negatively affected.

•

If third-party payors, including managed care organizations, private health insurers and government health plans, do
not provide coverage and adequate reimbursement for our tests, our commercial success could be negatively
affected.

•

Our success will depend on our ability to use rapidly changing genetic data to interpret test results accurately and
consistently, and our failure to do so would have an adverse effect on our operating results and business and harm
our reputation, and could result in substantial liabilities that exceed our resources.

•

We face intense competition, which is likely to intensify further as existing competitors devote additional resources to,
and new participants enter, the market. If we cannot compete successfully, we may be unable to increase our
revenue or achieve and sustain profitability.

•

We rely on a limited number of suppliers or, in some cases, sole suppliers, for some of our laboratory instruments
and materials, and we may not be able to find replacements or immediately transition to alternative suppliers.

•

We are subject to numerous laws and regulations, including regulation by the Food and Drug Administration. If the
FDA regulates our tests as medical devices, we could incur substantial costs and our business, financial condition
and results of operations could be adversely affected.
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•

If our laboratory in San Francisco becomes inoperable due to an earthquake or for any other reason, we will be
unable to perform our tests and our business will be harmed.

•

Security breaches, loss of data and other disruptions could compromise sensitive information related to our business
or prevent us from accessing critical information and expose us to liability, which could adversely affect our business
and our reputation.

•

We have limited experience in marketing and selling our tests, and our success will depend in part on our ability to
generate sales using a relatively small internal sales team and through alternative marketing strategies.

Implications of being an emerging growth company
We qualify as an "emerging growth company" as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS
Act. As an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of specified reduced disclosure and other requirements that
are otherwise applicable generally to public companies. These provisions include:
•

only two years of audited financial statements in addition to any required unaudited interim financial statements with
correspondingly reduced "Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations"
disclosure;

•

reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements;

•

no non-binding advisory votes on executive compensation or golden parachute arrangements; and

•

exemption from the auditor attestation requirement in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting.

We may take advantage of these exemptions for up to five years or such earlier time that we are no longer an emerging
growth company. We would cease to be an emerging growth company on the date that is the earliest of (1) the last day of
the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenue of $1 billion or more, (2) the last day of our fiscal year following
the fifth anniversary of the date of the completion of this offering, (3) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion
in nonconvertible debt during the previous three years, or (4) the date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated
filer under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. We may choose to take advantage of some but
not all of these exemptions. We have taken advantage of reduced reporting requirements in this prospectus. Accordingly,
the information contained in this prospectus may be different than the information you receive from other public companies
in which you hold stock.

Corporate information
We were incorporated in the State of Delaware on January 13, 2010 under the name Locus Development, Inc. and changed
our name to Invitae Corporation in 2012. Our principal executive offices are located at 458 Brannan Street, San Francisco,
California 94107, and our telephone number is (415) 374–7782. Our website address is www.invitae.com. We do not
incorporate the information on, or accessible through, our website into this prospectus, and you should not consider any
information on, or accessible through, our website as part of this prospectus.
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The offering
Common stock
offered by us

5,350,000 shares

Common stock to
be outstanding
immediately after
this offering

29,799,284 shares

Option to purchase
additional shares

The underwriters have a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 802,500 shares of common
stock.

Use of proceeds

We estimate that the net proceeds to us from this offering will be approximately $66.6 million,
assuming an initial public offering price of $14.00 per share, the midpoint of the range set forth on the
cover page of this prospectus, and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated expenses payable by us. We anticipate that we will use the net proceeds
from this offering primarily for general corporate purposes, including working capital, research and
development activities, selling and marketing activities, general and administrative matters and
capital expenditures. See "Use of proceeds."

Risk factors

See "Risk factors" for a discussion of factors you should consider carefully before deciding to invest
in our common stock.

NYSE symbol

"NVTA"

The number of shares of common stock that will be outstanding after this offering is based on 24,449,284 shares
outstanding as of September 30, 2014, including 30,157 shares of common stock issued in connection with the early
exercise of options which are subject to our right of repurchase and after giving effect to the automatic conversion
immediately prior to the completion of this offering of all outstanding shares of our convertible preferred stock into an
aggregate of 23,521,892 shares of common stock (which includes an aggregate of 5,916,661 shares of common stock
issuable upon the conversion of Series F convertible preferred stock issued in October 2014), and excludes:
•

1,373,810 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options outstanding as of September 30, 2014
under our 2010 Stock Incentive Plan, or the 2010 Stock Plan, at a weighted-average exercise price of $2.37 per
share;

•

742,360 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options granted after September 30, 2014 under our
2010 Stock Plan at a weighted-average exercise price of $9.74 per share;

•

4,250,000 shares of common stock, subject to increase on an annual basis, reserved for future issuance under our
2015 Stock Incentive Plan, or the 2015 Stock Plan, which will become effective in connection with this offering. On
the date of this prospectus, any shares available for issuance under our 2010 Stock Plan will be added to the shares
reserved under our 2015 Stock Plan, and we will cease granting awards under the 2010 Stock Plan; and
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•

325,000 shares of common stock, subject to increase on an annual basis, reserved for future issuance under our
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or the ESPP, which will become effective in connection with this offering.

Unless otherwise indicated, all information in this prospectus assumes:
•

that our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, which we will file immediately prior to the completion of
this offering, and our amended and restated bylaws, are each in effect;

•

the implementation of a 1-for-6 reverse split of our common stock to be effected prior to the completion of this
offering; and

•

no exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase up to an additional 802,500 shares of common stock.

Entities affiliated with certain of our existing stockholders have indicated an interest in purchasing up to an aggregate of
approximately $25.0 million in shares of our common stock in this offering at the initial public offering price. However,
because indications of interest are not binding agreements or commitments to purchase, the underwriters could determine
to sell more, less or no shares to any of these potential investors and any of these potential investors could determine to
purchase more, less or no shares in this offering.
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Summary consolidated financial and other data
The following summary financial data should be read together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes,
"Selected consolidated financial and other data" and "Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and
results of operations" appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. The summary consolidated statements of operations data for
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this prospectus. The summary condensed consolidated statements of operations data for the nine
months ended September 30, 2013 and 2014, and the condensed consolidated balance sheet data as of September 30,
2014 have been derived from our unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
prospectus. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected in the future and results of
interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results for the entire year.

Year ended
December 31,

(In thousands, except share,
per share and other operating
data)



Consolidated Statements of
Operations Data:
Revenue
Costs and operating expenses:
Cost of revenue(1)
Research and development(1)
Selling and marketing(1)
General and administrative(1)
Total costs and operating
expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense), net
Interest expense
Net loss
Net loss attributable to common
stockholders(2)
Net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic
and diluted(2)
Shares used in computing net
loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic
and diluted(2)
Pro forma net loss per share
attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted
(2)
Shares used in computing pro
forma net loss per share
attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted
(2)

2012

$

2013

— $

2013
2014
(Unaudited)

148 $

—
5,557
—
3,004

667
16,039
2,431
5,764

60 $
441
10,621
1,599
4,037

729
3,263
15,600
5,823
8,112

8,561
(8,561)
2
(43)
$ (8,602) $

24,901
16,698
(24,753)
(16,638)
(26)
(25)
(59)
(44)
(24,838) $ (16,707) $

32,798
(32,069)
(69)
(49)
(32,187)

$ (9,014) $

(24,989) $ (16,858) $

(32,187)

$ (14.18) $

(36.13) $

635,705

691,731

$


Nine months ended
September 30,





(24.80) $

679,788

819,704

(2.44)





10,162,919

10

$




(39.27)

(2.16)





14,880,059
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Year ended
December 31,
2012
2013
Other operating data:
Billable tests(3)
(1)

—

Nine months ended
September 30,
2013
2014

229

145

1,819

Includes stock-based compensation as follows:
Year ended
December 31,
2012
2013

(In thousands)
Cost of revenue
Research and development
Selling and marketing
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation

$

$

—
46
—
19
65

$

11
165
42
42
$ 260

$

$

Nine months ended
September 30,
2013
2014
(Unaudited)
7
$
47
106
231
26
90
26
170
165
$
538

(2) See Notes 2 and 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements and Note 7 of our unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this prospectus for an explanation of the calculations of our basic and diluted net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders and basic and diluted pro forma net loss per share attributable to common stockholders.
(3) Billable tests represent the number of tests performed in a period that are billable to third-party payors, institutions or patients. We
consider the number of billable tests to be an important indicator of the growth in our business.

As of September 30, 2014
Pro forma
Actual Pro forma
as adjusted
(Unaudited)

(In thousands)
Consolidated balance sheet data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Working capital
Total assets
Capital lease obligation
Convertible preferred stock
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)

$

59,138 $ 127,589 $
53,527
121,978
73,147
141,598
1,377
1,377
133,907
—
(69,875)
(69,875)
(68,767)
133,591

194,146
188,535
207,688
1,377
—
(69,875)
200,148

The preceding table presents a summary of our unaudited consolidated balance sheet data as of September 30, 2014:
•

on an actual basis;

•

on a pro forma basis to give effect to the issuance of an aggregate of 35,500,000 shares of our Series F convertible
preferred stock in October 2014 and the automatic conversion of all outstanding shares of our convertible preferred
stock as of September 30, 2014 and the Series F convertible preferred stock into an aggregate of 23,521,892 shares
of our common stock which will occur immediately prior to the completion of this offering; and

•

on a pro forma as adjusted basis to give further effect to the receipt of the estimated net proceeds from the sale of
5,350,000 shares of common stock in this offering at a price of $14.00 per share, the midpoint of the price range set
forth on the cover page of this prospectus, and after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated expenses payable by us.
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A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of $14.00 per share, the midpoint of the price range
set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, would increase (decrease) each of cash and cash equivalents, working
capital, total assets and total stockholders' equity (deficit) by $5.0 million, assuming that the number of shares offered as set
forth on the cover page of this prospectus remains the same, and after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated expenses payable by us. An increase (decrease) of 1.0 million shares in the number of shares
of common stock offered by us would increase (decrease) each of cash and cash equivalents, working capital, total assets
and total stockholders' equity (deficit) by approximately $13.0 million, assuming a price of $14.00 per share, the midpoint of
the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, and after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated expenses payable by us. The pro forma as adjusted information discussed above is illustrative
only and will be adjusted based on the actual public offering price and other terms of this offering determined at pricing.
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Risk factors
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below, together
with the other information contained in this prospectus, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes
appearing elsewhere in this prospectus, before making an investment decision. We cannot assure you that any of the events
discussed in the risk factors below will not occur. These risks could have a material and adverse impact on our business, results
of operations, financial condition and growth prospects. If that were to happen, the trading price of our common stock could
decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

Risks related to our business and strategy
We are an early-stage company with a history of losses, we expect to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future,
and we may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability.
We have incurred substantial losses since our inception. For the year ended December 31, 2013 and for the nine months ended
September 30, 2014, we had a net loss of $24.8 million and $32.2 million, respectively. As of September 30, 2014, we had an
accumulated deficit of $69.9 million. To date, we have generated limited revenue, and we may never achieve revenue sufficient to
offset our expenses. In addition, we expect to continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future, and we expect these
losses to increase as we focus on scaling our business and operations. Our prior losses and expected future losses have had and
will continue to have an adverse effect on our stockholders' equity and working capital. Our failure to achieve and sustain
profitability in the future would negatively affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, and could
cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
We began operations in January 2010, and we have only a limited operating history upon which you can evaluate our business
and prospects. We commercially launched our assay of 216 genes in late November 2013. Our limited commercial history makes
it difficult to evaluate our current business and makes predictions about our future results, prospects or viability subject to
significant uncertainty. Our prospects must be considered in light of the risks and difficulties frequently encountered by companies
in their early stage of development, particularly companies in new and rapidly evolving markets such as ours. These risks include
an evolving and unpredictable business model and the management of growth. To address these risks, we must, among other
things, increase our customer base, implement and successfully execute our business and marketing strategy, continue to
expand, automate and upgrade our laboratory, technology and data systems, obtain coverage and reimbursement by healthcare
payors such as Medicare and private health insurers, provide rapid test turnaround times with accurate results at a low price,
provide superior customer service, respond to competitive developments and attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel. We
cannot assure you that we will be successful in addressing these risks, and the failure to do so could have a material adverse
effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
We will need to scale our infrastructure in advance of demand for our tests, and our failure to generate sufficient demand
for our tests would have a negative impact on our business and our ability to attain profitability.
Our success will depend in large part on our ability to extend our market position, to provide customers with high quality test
reports quickly and at a lower price than our competitors, and to achieve sufficient test volume to realize economies of scale. In
order to execute our business model, we intend to invest heavily in order to significantly scale our infrastructure, including our
testing capacity and information
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systems, expand our customer service, billing and systems processes and enhance our internal quality assurance program. We
will also need to hire and retain sufficient numbers of skilled personnel, including geneticists, biostatisticians, certified laboratory
scientists and other scientific and technical personnel to process and interpret our genetic tests. We expect that much of this
growth will be in advance of demand for our tests. Our current and future expense levels are to a large extent fixed and are largely
based on our investment plans and our estimates of future revenue. Because the timing and amount of revenue from our tests is
difficult to forecast, when revenue does not meet our expectations we may not be able to adjust our spending promptly or reduce
our spending to levels commensurate with our revenue. Even if we are able to successfully scale our infrastructure and
operations, we cannot assure you that demand for our tests will increase at levels consistent with the growth of our infrastructure.
If we fail to generate demand commensurate with this growth or if we fail to scale our infrastructure sufficiently in advance of
demand to successfully meet such demand, our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected.
If we are not able to generate substantial demand of our tests, our commercial success will be negatively affected.
Our business model assumes that we will be able to generate significant test volume, and we may not succeed in driving clinical
adoption of our test to achieve sufficient volumes. Inasmuch as detailed genetic data from broad-based testing panels such as our
tests have only recently become available at relatively affordable prices, the pace and degree of clinical acceptance of the utility of
such testing is uncertain. Specifically, it is uncertain how much genetic data will be accepted as necessary or useful, as well as
how detailed that data should be, particularly since medical practitioners may have become accustomed to genetic testing that is
specific to one or a few genes. Given the substantial amount of additional information available from a broad-based testing panel
such as ours, there may be distrust as to the reliability of such information when compared with more limited and focused genetic
tests. To generate demand for our tests, we will need to continue to make physicians aware of the benefits of our tests, including
the price, the breadth of our testing options, and the benefits of having additional genetic data available from which to make
treatment decisions. Because broad-based testing panels are relatively new, it may be more difficult or take more time for us to
expand clinical adoption of our assay beyond a relatively small number of early adopters. In addition, physicians in other areas of
medicine may not adopt genetic testing for hereditary disease as readily as it has been adopted in hereditary cancer and our
efforts to sell our tests to physicians outside of oncology may not be successful. A lack of or delay in clinical acceptance of broadbased panels such as our tests would negatively impact sales and market acceptance of our tests and limit our revenue growth
and potential profitability. In addition, as we make physicians aware of our plans to release new assays with more genes,
physicians may decide not to order our current assay, opting instead to wait until the new assay is available. Genetic testing is
expensive and many potential customers may be sensitive to pricing. In addition, potential customers may not adopt our tests if
adequate reimbursement is not available, or if we are not able to maintain low prices in the future relative to our competitors. If we
are not able to generate demand for our tests at sufficient volume, or if it takes significantly more time to generate this demand
than we anticipate, our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations could be materially harmed.
If third-party payors, including managed care organizations, private health insurers and government health plans do not
provide coverage and adequate reimbursement for our tests, our commercial success could be negatively affected.
Our ability to increase the number of billable tests and our revenue will depend on our success achieving broad reimbursement for
our tests from third-party payors. Physicians may not order our tests unless
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third-party payors, such as managed care organizations, private health insurers and government healthcare programs, such as
Medicare and Medicaid, cover and provide adequate reimbursement for a substantial portion of the price of our tests.
Reimbursement by a payor may depend on a number of factors, including a payor's determination that a test is appropriate,
medically necessary, and cost-effective.
Since each payor makes its own decision as to whether to establish a policy or enter into a contract to cover our tests, as well as
the amount it will reimburse for a test, seeking these approvals is a time-consuming and costly process. In addition, the
determination by a payor to cover and the amount it will reimburse for our tests will likely be made on an indication by indication
basis. To date, we have obtained policy-level reimbursement approval or contractual reimbursement for some indications for our
test from a small number of commercial third-party payors, and have not obtained coverage from Medicare or any state Medicaid
program. Further, we believe that establishing adequate reimbursement from Medicare is an important factor in gaining adoption
from healthcare providers. Our claims for reimbursement from commercial payors may be denied upon submission, and we must
appeal the claims. The appeals process is time consuming and expensive, and may not result in payment. In cases where there is
not a contracted rate for reimbursement, there is typically a greater co-insurance or co-payment requirement from the patient
which may result in further delay or decreased likelihood of collection.
We expect to continue to focus substantial resources on increasing adoption of, and coverage and reimbursement for, our current
tests and any future tests we may develop. We believe it may take several years to achieve coverage and adequate contracted
reimbursement with a majority of third-party payors. However, we cannot predict whether, under what circumstances, or at what
payment levels payors will reimburse for our tests. If we fail to establish and maintain broad adoption of, and coverage and
reimbursement for, our tests, our ability to generate revenue could be harmed and our future prospects and our business could
suffer.
Our success will depend on our ability to use rapidly changing genetic data to interpret test results accurately and
consistently, and our failure to do so would have an adverse effect on our operating results and business, harm our
reputation and could result in substantial liabilities that exceed our resources.
Our success depends on our ability to provide reliable, high-quality tests that incorporate rapidly evolving information about the
role of genes and gene variants in disease and clinically relevant outcomes associated with those variants. Errors, including if our
tests fail to detect genomic variants with high accuracy, or mistakes, including if we fail to or incompletely or incorrectly identify the
significance of gene variants, could have a significant adverse impact on our business. Hundreds of genes can be implicated in
some disorders, and overlapping networks of genes and symptoms can be implicated in multiple conditions. As a result, a
substantial amount of judgment is required in order to interpret testing results for an individual patient and to develop an
appropriate patient report. We classify variants in accordance with published guidelines as benign, likely benign, variants of
uncertain significance, likely pathogenic or pathogenic, and these guidelines are subject to change. In addition, it is our practice to
offer support to physicians and geneticists ordering our tests around which genes or panels to order as well as interpretation of
genetic variants. We also rely on clinicians to interpret what we report and to incorporate specific information about an individual
patient into the physician's treatment decision.
The marketing, sale and use of our genetic tests could subject us to liability for errors in, misunderstandings of, or inappropriate
reliance on, information we provide to physicians or geneticists, and lead to claims against us if someone were to allege that our
test failed to perform as it was designed, if we failed to correctly interpret the test results, or if the ordering physician were to
misinterpret test results or improperly rely on them when making a clinical decision. A product liability or professional
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liability claim could result in substantial damages and be costly and time-consuming for us to defend. Although we maintain liability
insurance, including for errors and omissions, we cannot assure you that our insurance would fully protect us from the financial
impact of defending against these types of claims or any judgments, fines or settlement costs arising out of any such claims. Any
liability claim, including an errors and omissions liability claim, brought against us, with or without merit, could increase our
insurance rates or prevent us from securing insurance coverage in the future. Additionally, any liability lawsuit could cause injury
to our reputation or cause us to suspend sales of our tests. The occurrence of any of these events could have an adverse effect
on our business, reputation and results of operations.
We face intense competition, which is likely to intensify further as existing competitors devote additional resources to,
and new participants enter, the market. If we cannot compete successfully, we may be unable to increase our revenue or
achieve and sustain profitability.
With the development of next generation sequencing, the clinical genetics market is becoming increasingly competitive, and we
expect this competition to intensify in the future. We face competition from a variety of sources, including:
•

dozens of relatively specialized competitors focused on inherited clinical genetics and gene sequencing, such as Myriad
Genetics, Inc., or Myriad, Ambry Genetics, Inc. and GeneDx, Inc., a subsidiary of Bio-Reference Laboratories, Inc.;

•

a few large, established general testing companies with large market share and significant channel power, such as
Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings and Quest Diagnostics Incorporated;

•

a large number of clinical laboratories in an academic or healthcare provider setting that perform clinical genetic testing on
behalf of their affiliated institutions and often sell and market more broadly; and

•

a large number of new entrants into the market for genetic information ranging from informatics and analysis pipeline
developers to focused, integrated providers of genetic tools and services for health and wellness.

Hospitals, academic medical centers and eventually physician practice groups and individual physicians may also seek to perform
at their own facilities the type of genetic testing we would otherwise perform for them. In this regard, continued development of
equipment, reagents, and other materials as well as databases and interpretation services may enable broader direct participation
in genetic testing and analysis.
Participants in closely related markets such as prenatal testing and clinical trial or companion diagnostic testing could converge on
offerings that are competitive with the type of tests we perform. Instances where potential competitors are aligned with key
suppliers or are themselves suppliers could provide such potential competitors with significant advantages.
In addition, the biotechnology and genetic testing fields are intensely competitive both in terms of service and price, and continue
to undergo significant consolidation, permitting larger clinical laboratory service providers to increase cost efficiencies and service
levels, resulting in more intense competition.
We believe the principal competitive factors in our market are:
•
•
•
•

price and quality of tests;
test turnaround time of testing results;
coverage and reimbursement arrangements with third-party payors;
breadth and depth of content;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

convenience of testing;
brand recognition of test provider;
additional value-added services and informatics tools;
accessibility of results;
client service;
quality of website content; and
reliability.

Many of our competitors and potential competitors have longer operating histories, larger customer bases, greater brand
recognition and market penetration, higher margins on their tests, substantially greater financial, technological and research and
development resources and selling and marketing capabilities, and more experience dealing with third-party payors. As a result,
they may be able to respond more quickly to changes in customer requirements, devote greater resources to the development,
promotion and sale of their tests than we do, or sell their tests at prices designed to win significant levels of market share. We may
not be able to compete effectively against these organizations. Increased competition and cost-saving initiatives on the part of
governmental entities and other third-party payors are likely to result in pricing pressures, which could harm our sales, profitability
or ability to gain market share. In addition, competitors may be acquired by, receive investments from or enter into other
commercial relationships with larger, well-established and well-financed companies as use of next generation sequencing for
clinical diagnosis and preventative care increases. Certain of our competitors may be able to secure key inputs from vendors on
more favorable terms, devote greater resources to marketing and promotional campaigns, adopt more aggressive pricing policies
and devote substantially more resources to website and systems development than we can. In addition, companies or
governments that control access to genetic testing through umbrella contracts or regional preferences could promote our
competitors or prevent us from performing certain services. If we are unable to compete successfully against current and future
competitors, we may be unable to increase market acceptance and sales of our tests, which could prevent us from increasing our
revenue or achieving profitability and could cause our stock price to decline.
Our industry is subject to rapidly changing technology and new and increasing amounts of scientific data related to
genes and genetic variants and their role in disease. Our failure to develop tests to keep pace with these changes could
make us obsolete.
In recent years, there have been numerous advances in methods used to analyze very large amounts of genomic information and
the role of genetics and gene variants in disease and treatment therapies. Our industry has and will continue to be characterized
by rapid technological change, increasingly larger amounts of data, frequent new testing service introductions and evolving
industry standards, all of which could make our tests obsolete. Our future success will also depend on our ability to keep pace with
the evolving needs of our customers on a timely and cost-effective basis and to pursue new market opportunities that develop as
a result of technological and scientific advances. Our tests could become obsolete unless we continually update our offerings to
reflect new scientific knowledge about genes and genetic variations and their role in diseases and treatment therapies.
We have limited experience in marketing and selling our tests, and our success will depend in part on our ability to
generate sales using a relatively small internal sales team and through alternative marketing strategies.
We have limited experience marketing and selling our tests, which we began selling in late 2013. We may not be able to market or
sell our current tests and any future tests we may develop effectively enough to drive demand sufficient to support our planned
growth. We currently sell our tests in the United States through a relatively small internal sales force and outside the United States
with the assistance of
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distributors. Historically, our sales efforts have been focused primarily on hereditary cancer and our efforts to sell our tests to
physicians outside of oncology may not be successful, or may be difficult to do successfully without significant additional selling
and marketing efforts and expense. As part of our strategy to reduce the cost of genetic testing, we will need to maintain our
selling and marketing expenses at levels that are lower than many of our competitors through the use of focused sales efforts. Our
future sales will depend in large part on our ability to develop and substantially expand awareness of our company and our tests
through alternative strategies including through education of key opinion leaders, through social media-related and online
outreach, education and marketing efforts, and through focused channel partner strategies designed to drive demand for our tests.
We have limited experience implementing these types of alternative marketing efforts. We may not be able to drive sufficient
levels of revenue using these sales and marketing methods and strategies necessary to support our planned growth, and our
failure to do so could limit our revenue and potential profitability.
Outside the United States we use and intend to continue to use distributors to assist with sales, logistics, education, and customer
support. Identifying, qualifying, and engaging distributors with local industry experience and knowledge will be necessary to
effectively market and sell our tests outside the United States. We may not be successful in finding, attracting and retaining
additional distributors, or we may not be able to enter into additional distribution arrangements on favorable terms. Sales practices
utilized by our distributors that are locally acceptable may not comply with sales practices standards required under U.S. laws that
apply to us, which could create additional compliance risk. If our sales and marketing efforts are not successful outside the United
States, we may not achieve significant market acceptance for our tests outside the United States, which could materially and
adversely impact our business operations.
We rely on a limited number of suppliers or, in some cases, sole suppliers, for some of our laboratory instruments and
materials, and we may not be able to find replacements or immediately transition to alternative suppliers.
We rely on a limited number of suppliers, or, in some cases, sole suppliers, including Agilent Technologies, Inc., Illumina, Inc.,
Integrated DNA Technologies Incorporated, Qiagen N.V., and Roche Holdings Ltd. for certain laboratory substances used in the
chemical reactions incorporated into our processes, which we refer to as reagents, as well as sequencers and other equipment
and materials which we use in our laboratory operations. We do not have any short- or long-term agreements with our suppliers,
and our suppliers could cease supplying these materials and equipment at any time, or fail to provide us with sufficient quantities
of materials or materials that meet our specifications. Our laboratory operations could be interrupted if we encounter delays or
difficulties in securing these reagents, sequencers or other equipment or materials, and if we cannot obtain an acceptable
substitute. Any such interruption could significantly affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and reputation.
We rely on Illumina as the sole supplier of next generation sequencers and associated reagents and as the sole provider of
maintenance and repair services for these sequencers. Any disruption in Illumina's operations could impact our supply chain and
laboratory operations as well as our ability to conduct our tests, and it could take a substantial amount of time to integrate
replacement equipment into our laboratory operations.
We believe that there are only a few other manufacturers that are currently capable of supplying and servicing the equipment
necessary for our laboratory operations, including sequencers and various associated reagents. The use of equipment or
materials provided by these replacement suppliers would require us to alter our laboratory operations. Transitioning to a new
supplier would be time consuming and expensive, may result in interruptions in our laboratory operations, could affect the
performance specifications of our laboratory operations or could require that we revalidate our tests. We cannot assure
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you that we will be able to secure alternative equipment, reagents and other materials, and bring such equipment, reagents and
materials on line and revalidate them without experiencing interruptions in our workflow. In the case of an alternative supplier for
Illumina, we cannot assure you that replacement sequencers and associated reagents will be available or will meet our quality
control and performance requirements for our laboratory operations. If we encounter delays or difficulties in securing,
reconfiguring or revalidating the equipment and reagents we require for our tests, our business, financial condition, results of
operations and reputation could be adversely affected.
If our laboratory in San Francisco becomes inoperable due to an earthquake or for any other reason, we will be unable to
perform our tests and our business will be harmed.
We perform all of our tests at our laboratory in San Francisco, California. Our laboratory and the equipment we use to perform our
tests would be costly to replace and could require substantial lead time to replace and qualify for use. Our laboratory may be
harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or man-made disasters, including earthquakes, flooding, fire and power outages, which
may render it difficult or impossible for us to perform our tests for some period of time. The inability to perform our tests or the
backlog that could develop if our laboratory is inoperable for even a short period of time may result in the loss of customers or
harm our reputation. Although we maintain insurance for damage to our property and the disruption of our business, this insurance
may not be sufficient to cover all of our potential losses and may not continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all.
We currently have a second laboratory established in Santiago, Chile, however this laboratory has not been used for the
performance of our tests in significant volume. The use of such laboratory as a back-up facility for our laboratory operations in San
Francisco would require substantial lead time, including to obtain CLIA certification, as well as to secure the necessary equipment,
labor and other resources. In addition, a number of third-party payors, including Medicare, do not reimburse for tests performed
outside of the United States.
Security breaches, loss of data and other disruptions could compromise sensitive information related to our business or
prevent us from accessing critical information and expose us to liability, which could adversely affect our business and
our reputation.
In the ordinary course of our business, we and our third-party billing and collections provider collect and store sensitive data,
including legally protected health information, personally identifiable information, intellectual property and proprietary business
information owned or controlled by ourselves or our customers, payors, and other parties. We manage and maintain our
applications and data utilizing a combination of on-site systems, managed data center systems, and cloud-based data center
systems. We also communicate sensitive patient data through our Invitae Family History Tool. These applications and data
encompass a wide variety of business-critical information including research and development information, commercial
information, and business and financial information. We face a number of risks relative to protecting this critical information,
including loss of access risk, inappropriate disclosure, inappropriate modification, and the risk of our being unable to adequately
monitor and modify our controls over our critical information.
The secure processing, storage, maintenance and transmission of this critical information are vital to our operations and business
strategy, and we devote significant resources to protecting such information. Although we take measures to protect sensitive
information from unauthorized access or disclosure, our information technology and infrastructure, and that of our third-party
billing and collections provider, may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers or viruses or breached due to employee error,
malfeasance, or other disruptions. Any such breach or interruption could compromise our networks and the information stored
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there could be accessed by unauthorized parties, publicly disclosed, lost, or stolen. Any such access, disclosure or other loss of
information could result in legal claims or proceedings, liability under federal or state laws that protect the privacy of personal
information, such as the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, the Health Information Technology
for Economic and Clinical Heath Act, or HITECH, and regulatory penalties. Although we have implemented security measures and
a formal, dedicated enterprise security program to prevent unauthorized access to patient data, our Invitae Family History Tool is
currently accessible through our online portal and through our mobile applications, and there is no guarantee we can protect our
online portal or our mobile applications from breach. Unauthorized access, loss or dissemination could also disrupt our operations
(including our ability to conduct our analyses, provide test results, bill payors or patients, process claims and appeals, provide
customer assistance, conduct research and development activities, collect, process, and prepare company financial information,
provide information about our tests and other patient and physician education and outreach efforts through our website, and
manage the administrative aspects of our business) and damage our reputation, any of which could adversely affect our business.
Penalties for failure to comply with a requirement of HIPAA and HITECH vary significantly, and include civil monetary penalties of
up to $1.5 million per calendar year. A person who knowingly obtains or discloses individually identifiable health information in
violation of HIPAA may face a criminal penalty of up to $50,000 and up to one-year imprisonment. The criminal penalties increase
if the wrongful conduct involves false pretenses or the intent to sell, transfer, or use identifiable health information for commercial
advantage, personal gain, or malicious harm.
In addition, the interpretation and application of consumer, health-related, and data protection laws in the United States, Europe
and elsewhere are often uncertain, contradictory, and in flux. It is possible that these laws may be interpreted and applied in a
manner that is inconsistent with our practices. If so, this could result in government-imposed fines or orders requiring that we
change our practices, which could adversely affect our business. In addition, these privacy regulations may differ from country to
country, and may vary based on whether testing is performed in the United States or in the local country. Complying with these
various laws could cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to change our business practices and compliance procedures
in a manner adverse to our business.
We may not be able to manage our future growth effectively, which could make it difficult to execute our business
strategy.
Our expected future growth could create a strain on our organizational, administrative and operational infrastructure, including
laboratory operations, quality control, customer service, marketing and sales, and management. We may not be able to maintain
the quality of or expected turnaround times for our tests, or satisfy customer demand as it grows. Our ability to manage our growth
properly will require us to continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls, as well as our reporting
systems and procedures. We plan to implement new enterprise software systems in a number of areas affecting a broad range of
business processes and functional areas. The time and resources required to implement these new systems is uncertain, and
failure to complete these activities in a timely and efficient manner could adversely affect our operations. In addition, following the
closing of this offering, we plan to hire a chief medical officer, as well as add additional geneticists, biostatisticians, certified
laboratory scientists and other scientific and technical personnel. If we are unable to manage our growth effectively, it may be
difficult for us to execute our business strategy and our business could be harmed. Future growth in our business could also make
it difficult for us to maintain our corporate culture.
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The loss of any member of our senior management team could adversely affect our business.
Our success depends in large part upon the skills, experience and performance of members of our executive management team
and others in key leadership positions. The efforts of these persons will be critical to us as we continue to develop our
technologies and test processes and focus on scaling our business. If we were to lose one or more key executives, we may
experience difficulties in competing effectively, developing our technologies and implementing our business strategy. All of our
executives and employees are at-will, which means that either we or the executive or employee may terminate their employment
at any time. We do not carry key man insurance for any of our executives or employees. In addition, we do not have a long-term
retention agreement or long-term equity incentives in place with our chief executive officer.
We rely on highly skilled personnel in a broad array of disciplines and, if we are unable to hire, retain or motivate these
individuals, or maintain our corporate culture, we may not be able to maintain the quality of our services or grow
effectively.
Our performance, including our research and development programs and laboratory operations, largely depend on our continuing
ability to identify, hire, develop, motivate, and retain highly skilled personnel for all areas of our organization, including scientists,
biostatisticians and technicians. Competition in our industry for qualified employees is intense, and we may not be able to attract
or retain qualified personnel in the future, including scientists, biostatisticians and technicians, due to the competition for qualified
personnel among life science businesses as well as universities and public and private research institutions, particularly in the San
Francisco Bay Area. In addition, our compensation arrangements, such as our equity award programs, may not always be
successful in attracting new employees and retaining and motivating our existing employees. If we are not able to attract and
retain the necessary personnel to accomplish our business objectives, we may experience constraints that could adversely affect
our ability to scale our business, support our research and development efforts and our clinical laboratory. We believe that our
corporate culture fosters innovation, creativity and teamwork. However, as our organization grows, we may find it increasingly
difficult to maintain the beneficial aspects of our corporate culture. This could negatively impact our ability to retain and attract
employees and our future success.
Development of new tests is a complex process, and we may be unable to commercialize new tests on a timely basis, or
at all.
We cannot assure you that we will be able to develop and commercialize new tests on a timely basis. Before we can
commercialize any new tests, we will need to expend significant funds in order to:
•
•
•

conduct research and development;
further develop and scale our laboratory processes; and
further develop and scale our infrastructure to be able to analyze increasingly larger and more diverse amounts of data.

Our testing service development process involves risk, and development efforts may fail for many reasons, including:
•
•
•

failure of any test to perform as expected;
lack of validation or reference data; or
failure to demonstrate utility of a test.

As we develop tests, we will have to make significant investments in development, marketing and selling resources. In addition,
competitors may develop and commercialize competing tests faster than we are able to do so.
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International expansion of our business exposes us to business, regulatory, political, operational, financial, and
economic risks associated with doing business outside of the United States.
We currently have a laboratory in Chile and distribution arrangements in several countries, and our business strategy
contemplates significant international expansion. We plan to enter into additional distribution relationships to conduct physician
outreach activities and to develop and expand payor relationships outside of the United States. Doing business internationally
involves a number of risks, including:
•

multiple, conflicting and changing laws and regulations such as privacy regulations, tax laws, export and import restrictions,
employment laws, regulatory requirements, and other governmental approvals, permits and licenses;

•

failure by us or our distributors to obtain regulatory approvals for the use of our tests in various countries;

•

complexities and difficulties in obtaining protection and enforcing our intellectual property;

•

difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;

•

complexities associated with managing multiple payor reimbursement regimes, government payors, or patient self-pay
systems;

•

logistics and regulations associated with shipping blood samples, including infrastructure conditions and transportation
delays;

•

limits on our ability to penetrate international markets if we do not to conduct our tests locally;

•

financial risks, such as longer payment cycles, difficulty collecting accounts receivable, the impact of local and regional
financial conditions on demand and payment for our tests, and exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

•

natural disasters, political and economic instability, including wars, terrorism, and political unrest, outbreak of disease,
boycotts, curtailment of trade and other business restrictions; and

•

regulatory and compliance risks that relate to maintaining accurate information and control over activities that may fall
within the purview of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, its books and records provisions, or its anti-bribery
provisions.

Any of these factors could significantly harm our future international expansion and operations and, consequently, our revenue
and results of operations.
In addition, applicable export or import laws and regulations such as prohibitions on the export of blood imposed by countries
outside of the United States, or international privacy or data restrictions that are different or more stringent than those of the
United States, may require that we build additional laboratories or engage in joint ventures or other business partnerships in order
to offer our tests internationally in the future. Any such restrictions would impair our ability to offer our tests in such countries and
could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our inability to raise additional capital on acceptable terms in the future may limit our ability to develop and
commercialize new tests and expand our operations.
We expect capital expenditures and operating expenses to increase over the next several years as we expand our infrastructure,
commercial operations and research and development activities. The proceeds from this offering will not be sufficient to fully fund
our business and growth strategy. We may seek to
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raise additional capital through equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations or licensing arrangements. Additional funding may
not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we raise funds by issuing equity securities, dilution to our stockholders
would result. Any equity securities issued also may provide for rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of holders of our
common stock. The terms of debt securities issued or borrowings, if available, could impose significant restrictions on our
operations. The incurrence of additional indebtedness or the issuance of certain equity securities could result in increased fixed
payment obligations and could also result in restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt or issue
additional equity, limitations on our ability to acquire or license intellectual property rights, and other operating restrictions that
could adversely affect our ability to conduct our business. In addition, the issuance of additional equity securities by us, or the
possibility of such issuance, may cause the market price of our common stock to decline. In the event that we enter into
collaborations or licensing arrangements to raise capital, we may be required to accept unfavorable terms. These agreements
may require that we relinquish or license to a third party on unfavorable terms our rights to tests we otherwise would seek to
develop or commercialize ourselves, or reserve certain opportunities for future potential arrangements when we might be able to
achieve more favorable terms. If we are not able to secure additional funding when needed, we may have to delay, reduce the
scope of or eliminate one or more research and development programs or selling and marketing initiatives. In addition, we may
have to work with a partner on one or more aspects of our tests or market development programs, which could lower the
economic value of those tests or programs to our company.
We may acquire businesses or assets, form joint ventures or make investments in other companies or technologies that
could harm our operating results, dilute our stockholders' ownership, or cause us to incur debt or significant expense.
As part of our business strategy, we may pursue acquisitions of complementary businesses or assets, as well as technology
licensing arrangements. We also may pursue strategic alliances that leverage our core technology and industry experience to
expand our offerings or distribution, or make investments in other companies. As an organization, we have limited experience with
respect to acquisitions as well as the formation of strategic alliances and joint ventures. If we make any acquisitions in the future,
we may not be able to integrate these acquisitions successfully into our existing business, and we could assume unknown or
contingent liabilities. Any future acquisitions by us also could result in significant write-offs or the incurrence of debt and contingent
liabilities, any of which could harm our operating results. Integration of an acquired company or business also may require
management resources that otherwise would be available for ongoing development of our existing business. We may not identify
or complete these transactions in a timely manner, on a cost-effective basis, or at all, and we may not realize the anticipated
benefits of any acquisition, technology license, strategic alliance, joint venture or investment.
To finance any acquisitions or investments, we may choose to raise additional funds. If we raise funds by issuing equity securities,
dilution to our stockholders could result. Any equity securities issued also may provide for rights, preferences or privileges senior
to those of holders of our common stock. If we raise funds by issuing debt securities, these debt securities would have rights,
preferences and privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock. The terms of debt securities issued or borrowings
could impose significant restrictions on our operations. If we raise funds through collaborations and licensing arrangements, we
might be required to relinquish significant rights to our technologies or products, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable
to us. Once we become a public company, if the price of our common stock is low or volatile, we may not be able to acquire other
companies for stock. Alternatively, it may be necessary for us to raise additional funds for these activities through public or private
financings. Additional funds may not be available on terms that are favorable to us, or at all.
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We depend on our information technology systems, and any failure of these systems could harm our business.
We depend on information technology and telecommunications systems for significant elements of our operations, including our
laboratory information management system, our bioinformatics analytical software systems, our database of information relating to
genetic variations and their role in disease process and drug metabolism, our clinical report optimization systems, our customerfacing web-based software, our customer reporting, and our family history and risk assessment tools. We have installed, and
expect to expand, a number of enterprise software systems that affect a broad range of business processes and functional areas,
including for example, systems handling human resources, financial controls and reporting, customer relationship management,
regulatory compliance, and other infrastructure operations. In addition, we intend to extend the capabilities of both our
preventative and detective security controls by augmenting the monitoring and alerting functions, the network design, and the
automatic countermeasure operations of our technical systems. These information technology and telecommunications systems
support a variety of functions, including laboratory operations, test validation, sample tracking, quality control, customer service
support, billing and reimbursement, research and development activities, scientific and medical curation, and general
administrative activities. In addition, our third-party billing and collections provider depends upon technology and
telecommunications systems provided by outside vendors.
Information technology and telecommunications systems are vulnerable to damage from a variety of sources, including
telecommunications or network failures, malicious human acts and natural disasters. Moreover, despite network security and
back-up measures, some of our servers are potentially vulnerable to physical or electronic break-ins, computer viruses, and
similar disruptive problems. Despite the precautionary measures we have taken to prevent unanticipated problems that could
affect our information technology and telecommunications systems, failures or significant downtime of our information technology
or telecommunications systems or those used by our third-party service providers could prevent us from conducting tests,
preparing and providing reports to physicians, billing payors, processing reimbursement appeals, handling physician or patient
inquiries, conducting research and development activities, and managing the administrative aspects of our business. Any
disruption or loss of information technology or telecommunications systems on which critical aspects of our operations depend
could have an adverse effect on our business.
Ethical, legal and social concerns related to the use of genetic information could reduce demand for our tests.
Genetic testing has raised ethical, legal, and social issues regarding privacy and the appropriate uses of the resulting information.
Governmental authorities could, for social or other purposes, limit or regulate the use of genetic information or genetic testing or
prohibit testing for genetic predisposition to certain conditions, particularly for those that have no known cure. Similarly, these
concerns may lead patients to refuse to use, or clinicians to be reluctant to order, genomic tests even if permissible. These and
other ethical, legal and social concerns may limit market acceptance of our tests or reduce the potential markets for our tests,
either of which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.
Our employees may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory
standards and requirements, which could cause significant liability for us and harm our reputation.
We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud or other misconduct, including intentional failures to comply with government
regulations or similar regulations of comparable foreign regulatory authorities, to provide
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accurate information to the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, to comply with federal and state healthcare fraud
and abuse laws and regulations and similar laws and regulations established and enforced by comparable foreign regulatory
authorities, and to report financial information or data accurately or disclose unauthorized activities to us. We have a code of
conduct and ethics for our directors, officers and employees, but it is not always possible to identify and deter employee
misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling risks or losses or in
protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such
laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting
our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business and results of operations, including the imposition of
significant fines or other sanctions.

Risks related to government regulation
If the FDA regulates our tests as medical devices, we could incur substantial costs and our business, financial condition,
and results of operations could be adversely affected.
We provide our tests as laboratory-developed tests, or LDTs. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, and
certain state agencies regulate the performance of LDTs (as authorized by the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of
1988, or CLIA, and state law, respectively).
Historically, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, has exercised enforcement discretion with respect to most LDTs and
has not required laboratories that furnish LDTs to comply with the agency's requirements for medical devices (e.g., establishment
registration, device listing, quality systems regulations, premarket clearance or premarket approval, and post-market controls). In
recent years, however, the FDA has stated it intends to end its policy of general enforcement discretion and regulate certain LDTs
as medical devices. To this end, on October 3, 2014, the FDA issued two draft guidance documents, entitled "Framework for
Regulatory Oversight of Laboratory Developed Tests (LDTs)" and "FDA Notification and Medical Device Reporting for Laboratory
Developed Tests (LDTs)", respectively, that set forth a proposed risk-based regulatory framework that would apply varying levels
of FDA oversight to LDTs. The FDA has indicated that it does not intend to modify its policy of enforcement discretion until the
draft guidance documents are finalized. It is unclear at this time when, or if, the draft guidance documents will be finalized, and
even then, the new regulatory requirements are proposed to be phased-in consistent with the schedule set forth in the guidance
(in as little as 12 months after the draft guidance is finalized for certain high-priority LDTs). Nevertheless, the FDA may decide to
regulate certain LDTs on a case-by-case basis at any time.
Legislative proposals addressing the FDA's oversight of LDTs have been introduced in previous Congresses, and we expect that
new legislative proposals will be introduced from time-to-time. The likelihood that Congress will pass such legislation and the
extent to which such legislation may affect the FDA's plans to regulate certain LDTs as medical devices is difficult to predict at this
time.
If the FDA ultimately regulates certain LDTs as medical devices, whether via final guidance, final regulation, or as instructed by
Congress, our tests may be subject to certain additional regulatory requirements. Complying with the FDA's requirements for
medical devices can be expensive, time-consuming, and subject us to significant or unanticipated delays. Insofar as we may be
required to obtain premarket clearance or approval to perform or continue performing an LDT, we cannot assure you that we will
be able to obtain such authorization. Even if we obtain regulatory clearance or approval where required, such authorization may
not be for the intended uses that we believe are commercially attractive or are critical to the
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commercial success of our tests. As a result, the application of the FDA's medical device requirements to our tests could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Failure to comply with applicable FDA regulatory requirements may trigger a range of enforcement actions by the FDA including
warning letters, civil monetary penalties, injunctions, criminal prosecution, recall or seizure, operating restrictions, partial
suspension or total shutdown of operations, and denial of or challenges to applications for clearance or approval, as well as
significant adverse publicity.
In addition, in November 2013, the FDA issued final guidance regarding the distribution of products labeled for research use only.
Certain of the reagents and other products we use in our tests are labeled as research use only products. Certain of our suppliers
may cease selling research use only products to us and any failure to obtain an acceptable substitute could significantly and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If we fail to comply with federal, state and foreign laboratory licensing requirements, we could lose the ability to perform
our tests or experience disruptions to our business.
We are subject to CLIA, a federal law that regulates clinical laboratories that perform testing on specimens derived from humans
for the purpose of providing information for the diagnosis, prevention, or treatment of disease. CLIA regulations establish specific
standards with respect to personnel qualifications, facility administration, proficiency testing, quality control, quality assurance, and
inspections. CLIA certification is also required in order for us to be eligible to bill state and federal healthcare programs, as well as
many private third-party payors, for our tests. We have a current CLIA certificate to conduct our tests at our laboratory in
San Francisco. To renew this certificate, we are subject to survey and inspection every two years. Moreover, CLIA inspectors may
make random inspections of our clinical reference laboratory.
We are also required to maintain a license to conduct testing in California. California laws establish standards for day-to-day
operation of our clinical reference laboratory in San Francisco, including the training and skills required of personnel and quality
control. We also maintain licenses to conduct testing in Florida, Maryland, Pennsylvania and Rhode Island. Our clinical reference
laboratories are required to be licensed on a test-specific basis by New York State as an out of state laboratory and our products,
as LDTs, must be approved by the New York State Department of Health, or NYDOH, before they are performed on specimens
from New York. Once approved, we would also be subject to periodic inspection by the NYDOH and required to demonstrate
ongoing compliance with NYDOH regulations and standards. Because our laboratories are not licensed by New York, we are
currently prohibited from testing samples from New York. Other states may adopt similar licensure requirements in the future,
which may require us to modify, delay or stop our operations in such jurisdictions. We may also be subject to regulation in foreign
jurisdictions as we seek to expand international utilization of our tests or such jurisdictions adopt new licensure requirements,
which may require review of our tests in order to offer them or may have other limitations such as restrictions on the transport of
human blood necessary for us to perform our tests that may limit our ability to make our tests available outside of the United
States. Complying with licensure requirements in new jurisdictions may be expensive, time-consuming, and subject us to
significant and unanticipated delays.
Failure to comply with applicable clinical laboratory licensure requirements may result in a range of enforcement actions, including
license suspension, limitation, or revocation, directed plan of action, onsite monitoring, civil monetary penalties, criminal sanctions,
and cancellation of the laboratory's approval to receive Medicare and Medicaid payment for its services, as well as significant
adverse publicity. Any sanction imposed under CLIA, its implementing regulations, or state or foreign laws or regulations
governing clinical laboratory licensure, or our failure to renew our CLIA certificate, a state or foreign
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license, or accreditation, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Even
if we were able to bring our laboratory back into compliance, we could incur significant expenses and potentially lose revenue in
doing so.
The College of American Pathologists, or CAP, maintains a clinical laboratory accreditation program. Designed to go well beyond
regulatory compliance, CAP asserts that the program helps laboratories achieve the highest standards of excellence to positively
impact patient care. While not required to operate a CLIA-certified laboratory, many private insurers require CAP accreditation as
a condition to contracting with clinical laboratories to cover their tests. In addition, some countries outside the United States
require CAP accreditation as a condition to permitting clinical laboratories to test samples taken from their citizens. In November
2014, we obtained CAP accreditation for our San Francisco laboratory. Failure to maintain CAP accreditation could have a
material adverse effect on the sales of our tests and the results of our operations.
Complying with numerous statutes and regulations pertaining to our business is an expensive and time-consuming
process, and any failure to comply could result in substantial penalties.
Our operations are subject to other extensive federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations, all of which are subject to
change. These laws and regulations currently include, among others:
•

HIPAA, which established comprehensive federal standards with respect to the privacy and security of protected health
information and requirements for the use of certain standardized electronic transactions;

•

amendments to HIPAA under HITECH, which strengthen and expand HIPAA privacy and security compliance
requirements, increase penalties for violators, extend enforcement authority to state attorneys general, and impose
requirements for breach notification;

•

the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting, or receiving
remuneration, directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, in return for or to induce such person to refer an
individual, or to purchase, lease, order, arrange for, or recommend purchasing, leasing or ordering, any good, facility, item
or service that is reimbursable, in whole or in part, under a federal healthcare program;

•

the federal Stark physician self-referral law, which prohibits a physician from making a referral for certain designated health
services covered by the Medicare program, including laboratory and pathology services, if the physician or an immediate
family member has a financial relationship with the entity providing the designated health services, and prohibits that entity
from billing or presenting a claim for the designated health services furnished pursuant to the prohibited referral, unless an
exception applies;

•

the federal false claims laws, which impose liability on any person or entity that, among other things, knowingly presents, or
causes to be presented, a false or fraudulent claim for payment to the federal government;

•

the federal Civil Monetary Penalties Law, which prohibits, among other things, the offering or transfer of remuneration to a
Medicare or state healthcare program beneficiary if the person knows or should know it is likely to influence the
beneficiary's selection of a particular provider, practitioner, or supplier of services reimbursable by Medicare or a state
healthcare program, unless an exception applies;

•

the HIPAA fraud and abuse provisions, which created new federal criminal statutes that prohibit, among other things,
defrauding healthcare programs, willfully obstructing a criminal investigation of a
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healthcare offense and falsifying or concealing a material fact or making any materially false statements in connection with
the payment for healthcare benefits, items or services;
•

other federal and state fraud and abuse laws, such as anti-kickback laws, prohibitions on self-referral, fee-splitting
restrictions, insurance fraud laws, anti-markup laws, prohibitions on the provision of tests at no or discounted cost to induce
physician or patient adoption, and false claims acts, which may extend to services reimbursable by any third-party payor,
including private insurers;

•

the prohibition on reassignment of Medicare claims, which, subject to certain exceptions, precludes the reassignment of
Medicare claims to any other party;

•

state laws that prohibit other specified practices, such as billing physicians for testing that they order; waiving coinsurance,
copayments, deductibles, and other amounts owed by patients; billing a state Medicaid program at a price that is higher
than what is charged to one or more other payors; and

•

similar foreign laws and regulations that apply to us in the countries in which we operate or may operate in the future.

We have adopted policies and procedures designed to comply with these laws and regulations. In the ordinary course of our
business, we conduct internal reviews of our compliance with these laws. Our compliance is also subject to governmental review.
The growth of our business and our expansion outside of the United States may increase the potential of violating these laws or
our internal policies and procedures. The risk of our being found in violation of these or other laws and regulations is further
increased by the fact that many have not been fully interpreted by the regulatory authorities or the courts, and their provisions are
open to a variety of interpretations. Any action brought against us for violation of these or other laws or regulations, even if we
successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our management's attention from the
operation of our business. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws and regulations, we may be subject to
any applicable penalty associated with the violation, including administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines,
individual imprisonment, exclusion from participation in Federal healthcare programs, refunding of payments received by us, and
curtailment or cessation of our operations. Any of the foregoing consequences could seriously harm our business and our financial
results.
We could be adversely affected by violations of the FCPA and other worldwide anti-bribery laws.
We are also subject to the FCPA, which prohibits companies and their intermediaries from making payments in violation of law to
non-U.S. government officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business or securing any other improper advantage. Our
reliance on independent distributors to sell our tests internationally demands a high degree of vigilance in maintaining our policy
against participation in corrupt activity, because these distributors could be deemed to be our agents, and we could be held
responsible for their actions. Other U.S. companies in the medical device and pharmaceutical fields have faced criminal penalties
under the FCPA for allowing their agents to deviate from appropriate practices in doing business with these individuals. We are
also subject to similar anti-bribery laws in the jurisdictions in which we operate, including the United Kingdom's Bribery Act of
2010, which also prohibits commercial bribery and makes it a crime for companies to fail to prevent bribery. These laws are
complex and far-reaching in nature, and, as a result, we cannot assure you that we would not be required in the future to alter one
or more of our practices to be in compliance with these laws or any changes in these laws or the interpretation thereof. Any
violations of these laws, or allegations of such violations, could disrupt our operations, involve significant management distraction,
involve significant costs and expenses, including legal fees, and could result in a material adverse effect on our business,
prospects, financial condition, or
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results of operations. We could also incur severe penalties, including criminal and civil penalties, disgorgement, and other
remedial measures.
Healthcare policy changes, including recently enacted legislation reforming the U.S. healthcare system, may have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act,
collectively referred to as the Affordable Care Act, was enacted in the United States, which made a number of substantial changes
in the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers. Among other things, the Affordable Care Act:
•

requires each medical device manufacturer to pay a sales tax equal to 2.3% of the price for which such manufacturer sells
its medical devices, and began to apply to sales of taxable medical devices after December 31, 2012. It is unclear at this
time when, or if, the provision of our LDTs will trigger the medical device tax if the FDA ends its policy of general
enforcement discretion and regulates certain LDTs as medical devices. It is possible, however, that this tax will apply to
some or all of our tests or tests which are in development.

•

mandates a reduction in payments for clinical laboratory services paid under the Medicare Clinical Laboratory Fee
Schedule of 1.75% for the years 2011 through 2015. In addition, a multi-factor productivity adjustment is made to the fee
schedule payment amount.

•

establishes an Independent Payment Advisory Board to reduce the per capita rate of growth in Medicare spending. The
Independent Payment Advisory Board has broad discretion to propose policies, which may have a negative impact on
payment rates for our tests beginning in 2016.

The Medicare Physician Fee Schedule rates for diagnostic tests are updated annually under the current statutory formula. For the
past several years, the application of the statutory formula would have resulted in substantial payment reductions to all items and
services reimbursed under the Physician Fee Schedule if Congress had failed to intervene. In the past, Congress has passed
interim legislation to prevent the decreases, with the most current legislation postponing the payment reductions through
March 31, 2015. If Congress fails to pass legislation to prevent application of the sustainable growth rate payment reductions
beginning April 1, 2015, or for any future deadline, the resulting decrease in payment could materially adversely impact our
revenue for services reimbursed under the Medicare Physician Fee Schedule, e.g. , physician interpretation of molecular testing.
Many of the Current Procedure Terminology, or CPT, procedure codes that we use to bill our tests were revised by the American
Medical Association, effective January 1, 2013. Moreover, the AMA recently released new codes to report genomic sequencing
procedures, and in November 2014, CMS published a final determination that sets the price for these codes for purposes of
calendar year 2015 via the gap-filling methodology, where Medicare contractors establish jurisdiction-specific payment amounts
for these tests, from which national limits may be set under Medicare for 2016. We do not yet know how our tests may fit under
these new codes, but if we are required to report our tests under these codes, we cannot assure you that Medicare or its
contractors will set adequate reimbursement rates for these new codes.
In April 2014, Congress passed the Protecting Access to Medicare Act of 2014, or PAMA, which included substantial changes to
the way in which clinical laboratory services will be paid under Medicare. Under PAMA, clinical laboratories must report to
Medicare private payor rates beginning in 2016 and every three years thereafter for clinical diagnostic laboratory tests that are not
advanced diagnostic laboratory tests and every year for advanced diagnostic laboratory tests. An advanced diagnostic laboratory
test is a
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clinical diagnostic laboratory test covered under Medicare that is offered and furnished only by a single laboratory and not sold for
use by a laboratory other than the original developing laboratory (or a successor owner) and meets one of the following criteria:
(1) the test is an analysis of multiple biomarkers of DNA, RNA, or proteins combined with a unique algorithm to yield a single
patient-specific result; (2) the test is cleared or approved by the FDA; or (3) the test meets other similar criteria established by the
Secretary of Health and Human Services (no criteria have been established by the Secretary as of October 2014).
We do not believe that our tests meet the current definition of advanced diagnostic laboratory tests, but in the event that our tests
are determined by CMS to meet these criteria or new criteria developed by CMS, we would be required to report private payor
data for those tests annually. Otherwise, we will be required to report private payor rates for our tests on an every three years
basis. Laboratories that fail to report the required payment information may be subject to substantial civil money penalties.
For tests furnished on or after January 1, 2017, Medicare payments for clinical diagnostic laboratory tests will be paid based upon
these reported private payor rates. For clinical diagnostic laboratory tests that are assigned a new or substantially revised code,
initial payment rates for clinical diagnostic laboratory tests that are not advanced diagnostic laboratory tests will be assigned by
the cross-walk or gap-fill methodology, as under prior law. Initial payment rates for new advanced diagnostic laboratory tests will
be based on the actual list charge for the laboratory test. The impact of the new payment system on rates for our tests, including
any current or future clinical diagnostic laboratory tests or advanced diagnostic laboratory tests we develop, is not clear at this
time.
We cannot predict whether future healthcare initiatives will be implemented at the federal or state level, or how any future
legislation or regulation may affect us. For instance, the payment reductions imposed by the Affordable Care Act and the
expansion of the federal and state governments' role in the U.S. healthcare industry as well as changes to the reimbursement
amounts paid by payors for our tests and future tests or our medical procedure volumes may reduce our profits and have a
materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. Moreover, Congress has
proposed on several occasions to impose a 20% coinsurance on patients for clinical laboratory tests reimbursed under the clinical
laboratory fee schedule, which would increase our billing and collecting costs and decrease our revenue.
If we use hazardous materials in a manner that causes injury, we could be liable for resulting damages.
Our activities currently require the use of hazardous chemicals and biological material. We cannot eliminate the risk of accidental
contamination or injury to employees or third parties from the use, storage, handling, or disposal of these materials. In the event of
contamination or injury, we could be held liable for any resulting damages, and any liability could exceed our resources or any
applicable insurance coverage we may have. Additionally, we are subject on an ongoing basis to federal, state, and local laws and
regulations governing the use, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and specified waste products. The cost of
compliance with these laws and regulations may become significant, and our failure to comply may result in substantial fines or
other consequences, and either could negatively affect our operating results.
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Risks related to our intellectual property
Litigation or other proceedings or third-party claims of intellectual property infringement or misappropriation have and
may continue to require us to spend significant time and money, and could in the future prevent us from selling our tests
or impact our stock price.
Our commercial success will depend in part on our avoiding infringement of patents and proprietary rights of third parties,
including for example the intellectual property rights of competitors. Our activities may be subject to claims that we infringe or
otherwise violate patents owned or controlled by third parties. Numerous U.S. and foreign patents and pending patent applications
exist in the genetic testing market and are owned by third parties. We cannot assure you that our operations do not, or will not in
the future, infringe existing or future patents. We may be unaware of patents that a third party, including for example a competitor
in the genetic testing market, might assert are infringed by our business. There may also be patent applications that, if issued as
patents, could be asserted against us. Third parties making claims against us for infringement or misappropriation of their
intellectual property rights may seek and obtain injunctive or other equitable relief, which could effectively block our ability to
perform our tests. Further, if a patent infringement suit were brought against us, we could be forced to stop or delay our
development or sales of any tests or other activities that are the subject of such suit. Defense of these claims, regardless of merit,
could cause us to incur substantial expenses and be a substantial diversion of our employee resources. In the event of a
successful claim of infringement against us by a third party, we may have to (1) pay substantial damages, including treble
damages and attorneys' fees if we are found to have willfully infringed patents; (2) obtain one or more licenses, which may not be
available on commercially reasonable terms (if at all); (3) pay royalties; and (4) redesign any infringing tests or other activities,
which may be impossible or require substantial time and monetary expenditure.
On November 26, 2013, in response to infringement allegations by Myriad we sued Myriad in the Northern District of California for
declaratory judgment that certain of its U.S. patents are invalid and not infringed by our tests. This case was consolidated for pretrial proceedings with actions for infringement by Myriad together with certain of its licensors, the Myriad Plaintiffs, against six
other companies. See "Business—Legal proceedings." The Myriad Plaintiffs counterclaimed against us, alleging that our tests
infringe those patents and alleging that we are willfully infringing those patents. On January 23, 2015, the Myriad Plaintiffs
stipulated to the dismissal with prejudice of all of their claims and granted us a covenant not to sue for all of the patents they had
asserted against us, and on January 26, 2015, the court issued an order dismissing the case with prejudice thereby ending the
litigation.
As we continue to commercialize our tests in their current or an updated form, launch different and expanded tests, and enter new
markets, other competitors might claim, that our tests infringe or misappropriate their intellectual property rights as part of
business strategies designed to impede our successful commercialization and entry into new markets. If such a suit were brought,
regardless of merit, we could incur substantial costs and diversion of the attention of our management and technical personnel in
defending ourselves against such claims. Any adverse ruling or perception of an adverse ruling in defending ourselves could have
a material adverse impact on our cash position and stock price. Furthermore, parties making claims against us may seek and
thereby potentially obtain injunctive or other relief, which could block our ability to commercialize our tests, and could result in the
award of substantial damages against us. In the event of a successful claim of infringement or misappropriation against us, we
may be required to pay damages and obtain one or more licenses from third parties, or be prohibited from commercializing certain
tests, all of which could have a material adverse impact on our cash position and business and financial condition.
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If licenses to third-party intellectual property rights are or become required for us to engage in our business, we may be unable to
obtain them at a reasonable cost, if at all. Even if such licenses are available, we could incur substantial costs related to royalty
payments for licenses obtained from third parties, which could negatively affect our gross margins. Moreover, we could encounter
delays in the introduction of tests while we attempt to develop alternatives. Defense of any lawsuit or failure to obtain any of these
licenses on favorable terms could prevent us from commercializing tests, which could materially affect our ability to grow and thus
adversely affect our business and financial condition.
Developments in patent law could have a negative impact on our business.
We believe that naturally occurring DNA sequences should not be patentable, and we do not currently have any patents or patent
applications directed to such sequences nor have we in-licensed such patents rights of any third party. In this regard, a few key
cases involving diagnostic method claims and "gene patents" have recently been decided by the U.S. Supreme Court. On
March 20, 2012, the U.S. Supreme Court issued a decision in Mayo Collaborative v. Prometheus Laboratories , or Mayo , a case
involving patent claims directed to optimizing on a patient-specific basis the dosage of a certain drug by measuring its metabolites
in a patient. In Mayo , the U.S. Supreme Court determined that patent claims directed at detection of natural correlations, such as
the correlation between drug metabolite levels in a patient and that drug's optimal dosage for such patient, are not eligible for
patent protection. The Mayo Court held that claims based on this type of comparison between an observed fact and an
understanding of that fact's implications represent attempts to patent a natural law and, moreover, when the processes for making
the comparison are not themselves sufficiently inventive, claims to such processes are similarly patent-ineligible. On June 13,
2013, the U.S. Supreme Court decided Association for Molecular Pathology v. Myriad Genetics , or Myriad , a case brought by
multiple plaintiffs challenging the validity of certain patent claims held by Myriad relating to the breast cancer susceptibility genes
BRCA1 and BRCA2. In Myriad , the U.S. Supreme Court held that genomic DNAs that have been isolated from, or have the same
sequence as, naturally occurring samples, such as the DNA constituting the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes or fragments thereof, are
not eligible for patent protection. Instead, the Myriad Court held that only those complementary DNAs, or cDNAs, which have a
sequence that differs from a naturally occurring fragment of genomic DNA may be patent eligible. Because it will be applied by
other courts to all gene patents, the holding in Myriad also invalidates patent claims to other genes and gene variants. On
June 19, 2014, the U.S. Supreme Court decided Alice Corporation v. CLS Bank (2014), or Alice , where it amplified its Mayo and
Myriad decisions and clarified the analytical framework for distinguishing between patents that claim laws of nature, natural
phenomena and abstract ideas and those that claim patent-eligible applications of such concepts. According to the Alice Court,
the analysis depends on whether a patent claim directed to a law of nature, a natural phenomenon or an abstract idea contains
additional elements, an "inventive concept," that "is 'sufficient to ensure that the patent in practice amounts to significantly more
than a patent upon the [ineligible concept] itself"' (citing Mayo ).
Although we view the Mayo, Myriad and Alice cases as aligned with our belief that naturally occurring DNA sequences should not
be patentable, it is possible that subsequent determinations by the U.S. Supreme Court or other federal courts could limit, alter or
potentially overrule the holdings of such cases. Moreover, from time to time the U.S. Supreme Court, other federal courts, the
United States Congress or the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, may change the standards of patentability, and any
such changes could run contrary to, or otherwise be inconsistent with, our belief that naturally occurring DNA sequences should
not be patentable.
We cannot fully predict what impact the U.S. Supreme Court's decisions in Mayo, Myriad and Alice may have on the ability of
various third parties, including competitors with substantial resources, to obtain or
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enforce patents relating to genes, genomic discoveries or genetic testing services currently or in the future. The Mayo, Myriad and
Alice decisions are relatively new, and the precise contours of patent eligibility with respect to claims to laws of nature, natural
phenomena or abstract ideas are not yet fully settled and may take many years to develop, including through further interpretation
in the courts. There are many patents claiming testing methods based on similar or related correlations that issued before Mayo ,
and although some or many of these patents may be invalid under the standard set forth in Mayo , until successfully challenged,
these patents may be entitled to a presumption of validity and enforceability in litigation, and certain third parties could allege that
we infringe, or request that we obtain a license to, these patents. Whether based on patents issued prior to or after Mayo , we
could have to defend ourselves against claims of patent infringement, or choose to license rights, if available, under patents
claiming such methods. Moreover, although the U.S. Supreme Court has held in Myriad that isolated genomic DNA is not patenteligible subject matter, certain third parties could allege that activities that we may undertake infringe other classes of gene-related
patent claims, and we could have to defend ourselves against these claims by asserting non-infringement or invalidity positions, or
pay to obtain a license to these claims. In any of the foregoing or in other situations involving third-party intellectual property rights,
if we are unsuccessful in defending against claims of patent infringement, we could be forced to pay damages or be subjected to
an injunction that would prevent us from utilizing the patented subject matter in question if we are unable to obtain a license on
reasonable terms. Such outcomes could materially affect our ability to offer our tests and have a material adverse impact on our
business. Even if we are able to obtain a license or successfully defend against claims of patent infringement, the cost and
distraction associated with the defense or settlement of these claims could have a material adverse impact on our business.
With respect to our own patent protection, recent patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding
the prosecution of any patent applications and the enforcement or defense of any patents that issue. On September 16, 2011, the
Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, was signed into law. The Leahy-Smith Act includes a number of
significant changes to U.S. patent law. These include provisions that affect the way patent applications are prosecuted, redefine
prior art, may affect patent litigation and switch the U.S. patent system from a "first-to-invent" system to a "first-to-file" system.
Under a "first-to-file" system, assuming the other requirements for patentability are met, the first inventor to file a patent application
generally will be entitled to the patent on an invention regardless of whether another inventor had made the invention earlier. The
USPTO has developed new regulations and procedures to govern administration of the Leahy-Smith Act, and many of the
substantive changes to patent law associated with the Leahy-Smith Act, including in particular the first-to-file provisions, became
effective on March 16, 2013. Among other changes to the patent laws are features that limit where a patentee may file a patent
infringement suit and that provide opportunities for third parties to challenge any issued patent in the USPTO. The Leahy-Smith
Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and
the enforcement or defense of any patents that issue, all of which could harm our business and financial condition. In addition,
further patent reform legislation may pass in the future that could lead to additional uncertainties and increased costs surrounding
the prosecution, enforcement and defense of patent applications and any patents we may obtain.
Our inability to effectively protect our proprietary technologies, including the confidentiality of our trade secrets, could
harm our competitive position.
We currently rely upon trade secret protection and copyright, as well as non-disclosure agreements and invention assignment
agreements with our employees, consultants and third-parties, and to a limited extent patent protection, to protect our confidential
and proprietary information. Although our competitors
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have utilized and are expected to continue utilizing similar methods and have aggregated and are expected to continue to
aggregate similar databases of genetic testing information, our success will depend upon our ability to develop proprietary
methods and databases and to defend any advantages afforded to us by such methods and databases relative to our competitors.
If we do not protect our intellectual property adequately, competitors may be able to use our methods and databases and thereby
erode any competitive advantages we may have.
We will be able to protect our proprietary rights from unauthorized use by third parties only to the extent that our proprietary
technologies are covered by valid and enforceable patents or are effectively maintained as trade secrets. In this regard, we have
applied, and we intend to continue applying, for patents covering such aspects of our technologies as we deem appropriate.
However, we expect that potential patent coverage we may obtain will not be sufficient to prevent substantial competition. In this
regard, we believe it is probable that others will independently develop similar or alternative technologies or design around
technologies for which we may obtain patent protection. In addition, any patent applications we file may be challenged and may
not result in issued patents or may be invalidated or narrowed in scope after they are issued. Questions as to inventorship or
ownership may also arise. Any finding that our patents or applications are unenforceable could harm our ability to prevent others
from practicing the related technology, and a finding that others have inventorship or ownership rights to our patents and
applications could require us to obtain certain rights to practice related technologies, which may not be available on favorable
terms, if at all. If we initiate lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents, or litigate against third party claims, which would be
expensive, and, if we lose, we may lose some of our intellectual property rights. Furthermore, these lawsuits may divert the
attention of our management and technical personnel.
We expect to rely primarily upon trade secrets and proprietary know-how protection for our confidential and proprietary
information, and we have taken security measures to protect this information. These measures, however, may not provide
adequate protection for our trade secrets, know-how, or other confidential information. Among other things, we seek to protect our
trade secrets and confidential information by entering into confidentiality agreements with employees and consultants. There can
be no assurance that any confidentiality agreements that we have with our employees and consultants will provide meaningful
protection for our trade secrets and confidential information or will provide adequate remedies in the event of unauthorized use or
disclosure of such information. Accordingly, there also can be no assurance that our trade secrets will not otherwise become
known or be independently developed by competitors. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade
secret can be difficult, expensive, and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, trade secrets may be
independently developed by others in a manner that could prevent legal recourse by us. If any of our confidential or proprietary
information, such as our trade secrets, were to be disclosed or misappropriated, or if any such information was independently
developed by a competitor, our competitive position could be harmed.
We may not be able to enforce our intellectual property rights throughout the world.
The laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, and many
companies have encountered significant challenges in establishing and enforcing their proprietary rights outside of the United
States. These challenges can be caused by the absence of rules and methods for the establishment and enforcement of
intellectual property rights outside of the United States. In addition, the legal systems of some countries, particularly developing
countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, especially those relating to
healthcare. This could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents, if obtained, or the
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misappropriation of our other intellectual property rights. For example, many foreign countries have compulsory licensing laws
under which a patent owner must grant licenses to third parties. In addition, many countries limit the enforceability of patents
against third parties, including government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, patents may provide limited or
no benefit. Patent protection must ultimately be sought on a country-by-country basis, which is an expensive and time-consuming
process with uncertain outcomes. Accordingly, we may choose not to seek patent protection in certain countries, and we will not
have the benefit of patent protection in such countries. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result
in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business. Accordingly, our efforts to protect our
intellectual property rights in such countries may be inadequate. In addition, changes in the law and legal decisions by courts in
the United States and foreign countries may affect our ability to obtain adequate protection for our technology and the
enforcement of intellectual property.
Third parties may assert that our employees or consultants have wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information
or misappropriated trade secrets.
We employ individuals who were previously employed at universities or genetic testing, diagnostic or other healthcare companies,
including our competitors or potential competitors. Although we try to ensure that our employees and consultants do not use the
proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims that we or our employees or
consultants have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary
information, of a former employer or other third parties. Further, we may be subject to ownership disputes in the future arising, for
example, from conflicting obligations of consultants or others who are involved in developing our intellectual property. Litigation
may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary
damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Even if we are successful in defending against such
claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management and other employees.

Risks related to being a public company
We will incur increased costs and demands on management as a result of compliance with laws and regulations
applicable to public companies, which could harm our operating results.
As a public company, we will incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company,
including costs associated with public company reporting requirements. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules implemented by the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, impose a number of
requirements on public companies, including with respect to corporate governance practices. The SEC and other regulators have
continued to adopt new rules and regulations and make additional changes to existing regulations that require our compliance. In
July 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, was enacted. There are
significant corporate governance and executive-compensation-related provisions in the Dodd-Frank Act that require the SEC to
adopt additional rules and regulations in these areas. Our management and other personnel will need to devote a substantial
amount of time to these compliance and disclosure obligations. If these requirements divert the attention of our management and
personnel from other aspects of our business concerns, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Moreover, these rules and regulations applicable to public companies will substantially
increase our legal, accounting and financial compliance costs, require that we hire additional personnel and make some activities
more time-consuming and costly. We also expect that it
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will be more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance. We cannot predict or estimate the amount or timing
of additional costs we may incur to comply with these requirements.
If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our reported financial information and the market price of our common
stock may be negatively affected.
As a public company, we will be required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material
weaknesses in such internal control. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we evaluate and determine the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and, beginning with our annual report for the year ending
December 31, 2015, provide a management report on our internal control over financial reporting. If we have a material weakness
in our internal control over financial reporting, we may not detect errors on a timely basis and our financial statements may be
materially misstated. We are in the process of compiling the system and processing documentation necessary to perform the
evaluation needed to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We may not be able to complete our evaluation, testing
and any required remediation in a timely fashion.
During the evaluation and testing process, if we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal controls, our
management will be unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective. Moreover, when we are no
longer an emerging growth company, our independent registered public accounting firm will be required to issue an attestation
report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Even if our management concludes that our internal
control over financial reporting is effective, our independent registered public accounting firm may conclude that there are material
weaknesses with respect to our internal controls or the level at which our internal controls are documented, designed,
implemented or reviewed.
If we are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or when we are no longer an emerging
growth company, if our auditors were to express an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting because we had one or more material weaknesses, investors could lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness
of our financial disclosures, which could cause the price of our common stock to decline. Internal control deficiencies could also
result in the restatement of our financial results in the future.
We are an emerging growth company and may elect to comply with reduced public company reporting requirements
applicable to emerging growth companies, which could make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an emerging growth company, as defined under the Securities Act of 1933, or the Securities Act. We will remain an
emerging growth company for up to five years, although if our revenue exceeds $1 billion in any fiscal year before that time, we
would cease to be an emerging growth company as of the end of that fiscal year. In addition, if the market value of our common
stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of our second fiscal quarter of any fiscal year
before the end of that five-year period, we would cease to be an emerging growth company as of December 31 of that year. As an
emerging growth company, we may choose to take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to
certain other public companies, including not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced financial statement and financial-related disclosures, reduced disclosure obligations regarding
executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirement of holding a
nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and obtaining stockholder approval of any
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golden parachute payments not previously approved by our stockholders. We cannot predict whether investors will find our
common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on any of these exemptions. If investors find our common stock less attractive
as a result of any choices to reduce future disclosure we may make, there may be a less active trading market for our common
stock and our stock price may be more volatile

Risks related to this offering and our common stock
If an active, liquid trading market for our common stock does not develop, you may not be able to sell your shares of our
common stock.
Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our common stock, and an active and liquid trading market for our stock
may not develop or be sustained after this offering. You may not be able to sell your shares quickly or at or above the market price
if trading in our common stock is not active. Further, an inactive market may also impair our ability to raise capital by selling our
common stock and may impair our ability to enter into strategic partnerships or acquire businesses, products or technologies
using our common stock as consideration. We and the representatives of the underwriters have determined the initial public
offering price of our common stock through negotiation. This price may not necessarily reflect the price at which investors in the
market will be willing to buy our stock following this offering, and you may not be able to sell your shares of our common stock at
or above the initial offering price.
Our stock price may be volatile, and you may not be able to sell shares of our common stock at or above the price you
paid.
The trading price of our common stock following this offering is likely to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations
in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. These factors include:
•

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results;

•

competition from existing tests or new tests that may emerge;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, collaborations, or
capital commitments;

•

failure to meet or exceed financial estimates and projections of the investment community or that we provide to the public;

•

issuance of new or updated research or reports by securities analysts or changed recommendations for our stock;

•

our focus on long term goals over short term results;

•

the timing of our investments in the growth of our business;

•

actual or anticipated changes in regulatory oversight of our business;

•

additions or departures of key management or other personnel;

•

disputes or other developments related to our intellectual property or other proprietary rights, including litigation;
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•

changes in reimbursement by current or potential payors; and

•

general economic and market conditions.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for stock of life sciences companies in particular, has experienced
extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those
companies. Broad market and industry factors may seriously affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual
operating performance. These fluctuations may be even more pronounced in the trading market for our stock shortly following this
offering. In addition, in the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market price of a particular company's
securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against these companies. This litigation, if instituted against
us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management's attention and resources.
Future sales of shares by existing stockholders could cause our stock price to decline.
If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate an intent to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market after
the 180-day contractual lock-up and other legal restrictions on resale discussed in this prospectus lapse, the trading price of our
common stock could decline significantly and could decline below the initial public offering price. Based on 24,488,415 shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2014, upon the completion of this offering, we will have 29,838,415 outstanding shares of
common stock, assuming no exercise of outstanding options. Of these shares, the 5,350,000 shares of common stock sold in this
offering, plus any shares sold pursuant to the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares, will be immediately freely
tradable, without restriction, in the public market. J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, however, may, in its discretion, permit our officers,
directors and other stockholders who have entered to lock-up agreements in connection with this offering to sell shares prior to the
expiration of the lock-up agreements.
After the lock-up agreements pertaining to this offering expire and based on 24,488,415 shares outstanding as of December 31,
2014, substantially all of such shares will be eligible for sale in the public market. In addition, upon issuance, the 1,923,454 shares
subject to outstanding options under our stock option plans, the 4,526,674 shares reserved for future issuance under our stock
incentive plans and the 325,000 shares reserved for future issuance under our employee stock purchase plan will become eligible
for sale in the public market in the future, subject to certain legal and contractual limitations. Moreover, 180 days after the
completion of this offering, holders of approximately 23,521,892 shares of our common stock will have the right to require us to
register these shares under the Securities Act pursuant to an investors' rights agreement. If our existing stockholders sell
substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, or if the public perceives that such sales could occur, this could
have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.
We will have broad discretion in how we use the net proceeds of this offering. We may not use these proceeds
effectively, which could affect our results of operations and cause our stock price to decline.
Although we currently intend to use the net proceeds from this offering in the manner described in the section entitled "Use of
Proceeds" in this prospectus, we will have considerable discretion in the application of the net proceeds of this offering. We may
use the net proceeds for purposes that do not yield a significant return or any return at all for our stockholders. In addition,
pending their use, we may invest the net proceeds from this offering in a manner that does not produce income or that loses
value. If we do not invest or apply the net proceeds from this offering in ways that enhance stockholder value, we may fail to
achieve expected financial results, which could cause our stock price to decline.
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We have never paid dividends on our capital stock and we do not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.
We have never paid dividends on any of our capital stock and currently intend to retain any future earnings to fund the growth of
our business. In addition, we may enter into credit agreements or other borrowing arrangements in the future that will restrict our
ability to declare or pay cash dividends on our common stock. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the
discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, general
business conditions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our
common stock will be the sole source of gain for the foreseeable future.
Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.
As of December 31, 2013, our total gross deferred tax assets were $13.8 million. Due to our lack of earnings history and
uncertainties surrounding our ability to generate future taxable income, the net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a
valuation allowance. The deferred tax assets were primarily comprised of federal and state tax net operating losses and tax credit
carryforwards. Furthermore, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Internal Revenue
Code, if a corporation undergoes an "ownership change," the corporation's ability to use its pre-change net operating loss
carryforwards, or NOLs, and other pre-change tax attributes (such as research tax credits) to offset its future taxable income may
be limited. In general, an "ownership change" occurs if there is a cumulative change in our ownership by "5% shareholders" that
exceeds 50 percentage points over a rolling three-year period. Our existing NOLs and tax credit carryovers may be subject to
limitations arising from previous ownership changes, and if we undergo one or more ownership changes in connection with our
initial public offering or future transactions in our stock, our ability to utilize NOLs and tax credit carryovers could be further limited
by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. As a result, if we earn net taxable income, our ability to use our pre-change net
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards to offset U.S. federal taxable income may be subject to limitations, which could
potentially result in increased future tax liability to us. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of certain net operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards before their utilization. In addition, at the state level, there may be periods during which the use
of NOLs is suspended or otherwise limited, which could accelerate or permanently increase state taxes owed.
Purchasers in this offering will experience immediate and substantial dilution in the book value of their investment.
The initial public offering price of our common stock is substantially higher than the net tangible book value per share of our
common stock immediately after this offering. Therefore, if you purchase our common stock in this offering, you will incur
immediate dilution of $7.29 in net tangible book value per share from the price you paid, based on the assumed initial public
offering price of $14.00 per share. In addition, new investors who purchase shares in this offering will contribute approximately
27% of the total amount of equity capital raised by us through the date of this offering, but will only own approximately 18% of the
outstanding equity capital. The exercise of outstanding options will result in further dilution. For a detailed description of the
dilution that you will experience immediately after this offering, see "Dilution."
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Insiders will exercise significant control over our company and will be able to influence corporate matters.
Our directors, executive officers, 5% or greater stockholders and their affiliates beneficially owned, in the aggregate,
approximately 77% of our outstanding capital stock as of December 31, 2014. Upon the completion of this offering, and assuming
they do not purchase shares in this offering, this same group will hold approximately 63% of our outstanding capital stock. Upon
the closing of this offering, assuming the purchase of $25.0 million of shares of our common stock by entities affiliated with certain
of our existing stockholders who have indicated an interest in purchasing such shares in this offering (or 1,785,714 shares at an
assumed initial public offering price of $14.00 per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this
prospectus) that same group will hold approximately 69% of our outstanding stock. As a result, these stockholders will be able to
exercise significant influence over all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election of directors and
approval of significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or sale of our company or its assets. This concentration of
ownership may have the effect of delaying or preventing a third party from acquiring control of our company and could adversely
affect the market price of our common stock.
If securities or industry analysts issue an adverse opinion regarding our stock or do not publish research or reports
about our company, our stock price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that equity research analysts publish
about us and our business. We do not control these analysts or the content and opinions included in their reports. Securities
analysts may elect not to provide research coverage of our company after the closing of this offering, and such lack of research
coverage may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. The price of our common stock could also decline if one or
more equity research analysts downgrade our common stock or issue other unfavorable commentary or cease publishing reports
about us or our business. If one or more equity research analysts cease coverage of our company, we could lose visibility in the
market, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage, delay or prevent a change
in control and may affect the trading price of our common stock.
Provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws to become effective upon the
completion of this offering may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in our management. Our
restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws include provisions that:
•

authorize our board of directors to issue, without further action by the stockholders, up to 20,000,000 shares of
undesignated preferred stock;

•

require that any action to be taken by our stockholders be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting and not by
written consent;

•

specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by our board of directors, our chairman of the board, or
our chief executive officer;

•

establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder approvals to be brought before an annual meeting of our
stockholders, including proposed nominations of persons for election to our board of directors;

•

establish that our board of directors is divided into three classes, Class I, Class II and Class III, with each class serving
staggered terms;
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•

provide that our directors may be removed only for cause;

•

provide that vacancies on our board of directors may, except as otherwise required by law, be filled only by a majority of
directors then in office, even if less than a quorum; and

•

require a super-majority of votes to amend certain of the above-mentioned provisions as well as to amend our bylaws
generally.

In addition, we are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law regulating corporate
takeovers. Section 203 generally prohibits us from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder subject to
certain exceptions.
Our certificate of incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive
forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our
stockholders' ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other
employees.
Our certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for:
•

any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf;

•

any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers, or other employees to us or
our stockholders;

•

any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law; or

•

any action asserting a claim against us governed by the internal affairs doctrine.

Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice
of and consented to the provisions of our certificate of incorporation described above. This choice of forum provision may limit a
stockholder's ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other
employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers, and other employees. Alternatively, if a
court were to find these provisions of our certificate of incorporation inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of
the specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other
jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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Special note regarding forward-looking statements
This prospectus includes forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this
prospectus, including statements regarding our future results of operations and financial position, strategy and plans, and our
expectations for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words "believe," "may," "will," "estimate," "continue,"
"anticipate," "design," "intend," "expect" or the negative version of these words and similar expressions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections
about future events and trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, strategy, short-term and
long-term business operations and objectives, and financial needs. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of
risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including those described in the section entitled "Risk Factors." In light of these risks,
uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events and circumstances discussed in this prospectus may not occur, and
actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements and you
should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to,
statements about:
•

our views regarding the future of genetic testing and its role in mainstream medical practice;

•

strategic plans for our business, products and technology, including our ability to expand our assay and develop new
assays while maintaining attractive pricing, further enhance our genetic testing process and the related user experience,
build interest in and demand for our tests (including by driving traffic to our website) and attract potential partners;

•

our expectations with respect to our near-term plan of operation;

•

the implementation of our business model;

•

the rate and degree of market acceptance of our tests and genetic testing generally;

•

our ability to scale our infrastructure and operations in a cost-effective manner;

•

the timing of and our ability to introduce improvements to our genetic testing platform and to expand our current assay to
include additional genes;

•

our expectations with respect to future hirings;

•

the timing and results of studies with respect to our tests;

•

developments and projections relating to our competitors and our industry;

•

the degree to which individuals will share genetic information generally, as well as share any related potential economic
opportunities with us;

•

our commercial plans, including our sales and marketing expectations;

•

our ability to obtain and maintain adequate reimbursement for our tests;

•

regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries;

•

our ability to retain key scientific or management personnel;
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•

our expectations regarding our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection and not infringe on the rights of
others;

•

our expectations regarding the time during which we will be an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act;

•

our ability to obtain funding for our operations;

•

our financial performance;

•

our expectations regarding our future revenue, cost of revenue, operating expenses and capital expenditures, and our
future capital requirements; and

•

our anticipated uses of the net proceeds from this offering.

Although we believe that the expectations and assumptions reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot
guarantee future results, level of activity, performance or achievements. Any forward-looking statement made by us in this
prospectus speaks only as of the date on which it is made. We disclaim any duty to update any of these forward-looking
statements after the date of this prospectus to confirm these statements to actual results or revised expectations.
43

Table of Contents

Use of proceeds
We estimate that the net proceeds from the sale of shares of our common stock in this offering will be approximately $66.6 million,
based on an assumed initial public offering price of $14.00 per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page
of this prospectus, after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable
by us.
If the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares from us is exercised in full, we estimate that we will receive additional net
proceeds of $10.4 million, based upon the same assumed initial offering price. A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial
public offering price would increase (decrease) the net proceeds to us by $5.0 million, after deducting estimated underwriting
discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us, assuming that the number of shares offered by us, as
set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remains the same. We may also increase or decrease the number of shares we are
offering. An increase (decrease) of 1.0 million shares in the number of shares offered by us would increase (decrease) the net
proceeds to us by $13.0 million, assuming an initial public offering price of $14.00 per share, the midpoint of the price range set
forth on the cover page of this prospectus, and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated
offering expenses payable by us.
The principal purposes of this offering are to obtain additional capital to support our operations, increase our visibility in the
marketplace, establish a public market for our common stock and facilitate our future access to the public capital markets. We
currently intend to use the proceeds from this offering as follows:
•

between approximately $24.0 million and $28.0 million for research and development, including assay development,
software development for our analysis pipeline and our clinical report optimization platform, or CROP;

•

between approximately $23.0 million and $27.0 million for selling and marketing activities, including development and
operation of our web site for taking and delivering customer orders, hiring sales, customer service and marketing
personnel, and marketing programs, including attendance at conferences;

•

between approximately $4.0 million and $6.0 million for capital expenditures, including investment in additional laboratory
capacity, sample preparation and sequencing equipment and computer systems for generating, analyzing and storing
genetic information; and

•

the remainder for corporate and administrative expenses (including personnel-related costs and costs associated with
operating as a public company), and for working capital and other general corporate purposes.

The expected use of the net proceeds from this offering described above represents our intentions based upon our current plans
and business conditions. The amounts and timing of our actual expenditures depend on numerous factors, including competitive
and technological developments, the number of billable tests we perform, our success in obtaining reimbursement, our ability to
lower the costs associated with performing our tests, the amount of cash generated by our operations, the timing and amount of
investments in our business, demand for tests with expanded genetic content, demand for enhancement of our analysis pipeline
and CROP to service greater assay volume potentially at reduced turnaround times, utilization of our website for taking and
delivering customer orders, the need for sales, customer service and marketing personnel to drive demand and address customer
requirements, and the need for increased amounts of laboratory capacity, sample preparation and sequencing equipment and
computer systems for generating, analyzing and storing genetic information. If our development of additional assays or systems
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requires more resources than we anticipate, we may allocate additional proceeds from this offering to our research and
development activities. If market acceptance of and reimbursement for our assays is slower than we anticipate, we may reallocate
a portion of the proceeds from research and development and capital expenditures to selling and marketing activities.
We may also use a portion of the net proceeds from this offering to license, acquire or invest in complementary business,
technologies, products or assets. However, we have no current plans, commitments or obligations to do so. Accordingly, our
management team will have broad discretion in using the net proceeds to be received by us from this offering. Pending the use of
proceeds from this offering as described above, we plan to invest the net proceeds in short- and intermediate-term, interestbearing obligations, investment-grade instruments, certificates of deposit or direct or guaranteed obligations of the U.S.
government.
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Dividend policy
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings and do
not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion
of our board of directors and will depend on our financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, general business
conditions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant.
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Capitalization
The following table sets forth our cash and cash equivalents and capitalization as of September 30, 2014, as follows:
•

on an actual basis;

•

on a pro forma basis to give effect to the issuance of an aggregate of 35,500,000 shares of our Series F convertible
preferred stock in October 2014 and the automatic conversion of all outstanding shares of our convertible preferred stock
as of September 30, 2014 and the Series F convertible preferred stock into an aggregate of 23,521,892 shares of our
common stock immediately prior to the completion of this offering; and

•

on a pro forma as adjusted basis to give further effect to the receipt of the estimated net proceeds from the sale of
5,350,000 shares of common stock in this offering at a price of $14.00 per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth
on the cover page of this prospectus, and after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and
estimated expenses payable by us.

You should read this table in conjunction with "Selected consolidated financial and other data" and "Management's discussion and
analysis of financial condition and results of operations" and our consolidated financial statements and related notes included
elsewhere in this prospectus.

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Cash and cash equivalents
Capital lease obligation
Convertible preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per
share: 116,131,524 shares authorized,
105,631,524 issued and outstanding, actual; no
shares authorized, issued and outstanding, pro
forma and pro forma as adjusted
Stockholders' equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share: no
shares authorized, issued or outstanding,
actual or pro forma; 20,000,000 shares
authorized, no shares issued or outstanding
pro forma as adjusted
Common stock, par value $0.0001 per share:
135,131,524 shares authorized, 897,235
shares issued and outstanding, actual;
400,000,000 shares authorized, 24,419,127
shares issued and outstanding, pro forma;
29,769,127 shares issued and outstanding, pro
forma as adjusted
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)
Total capitalization

As of September 30, 2014
Pro forma
Pro forma as adjusted
Actual
(1)
(Unaudited)
$ 59,138 $ 127,589 $
$ 1,377 $
1,377 $

194,146
1,377

133,907

—

—

—

—

—

—
1,108
(69,875)
(68,767)
$ 66,517 $

2
203,464
(69,875)
133,591
134,968 $

3
270,020
(69,875)
200,148
201,525

(1) A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of $14.00 per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth on the
cover page of this prospectus, would increase (decrease) each of cash and cash equivalents, additional paid-in capital, total capitalization
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and total stockholders' equity (deficit) by $5.0 million, assuming that the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this
prospectus, remains the same, and after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses
payable by us. An increase (decrease) of 1.0 million shares in the number of shares offered by us would increase (decrease) each of cash and
cash equivalents, additional paid-in capital, total capitalization and total stockholders' equity (deficit) by approximately $13.0 million, assuming an
initial public offering price of $14.00 per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, and after deducting
the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us. The pro forma as adjusted information
discussed above is illustrative only and will be adjusted based on the actual public offering price and other terms of this offering determined at
pricing.

If the underwriters' exercise their option to purchase additional shares in full, pro forma as adjusted cash and cash equivalents,
common stock, additional paid-in capital, total stockholders' equity and shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2014
would be $204.6 million, $3,000, $280.5 million, $210.6 million and 30,571,627, respectively.
The number of shares of common stock in the table above is based on 24,419,127 shares outstanding as of September 30, 2014,
after giving effect to the automatic conversion immediately prior to the completion of this offering of all outstanding shares of our
convertible preferred stock into an aggregate of 23,521,892 shares of common stock (which includes an aggregate of 5,916,661
shares of common stock issuable upon the conversion of Series F convertible preferred stock issued in October 2014), and
excludes:
•

1,373,810 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options outstanding as of September 30, 2014, at a
weighted-average exercise price of $2.37 per share;

•

30,157 shares of common stock issued in connection with the early exercise of options, which are subject to our right of
repurchase as of September 30, 2014;

•

865,457 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2010 Stock Plan as of September 30, 2014;

•

4,250,000 shares of common stock, subject to increase on an annual basis, reserved for future issuance under our 2015
Stock Plan, which will become effective in connection with this offering; and

•

325,000 shares of common stock, subject to an increase on an annual basis, reserved for future issuance under the ESPP,
which will become effective in connection with this offering.

Subsequent to September 30, 2014, we granted options to purchase 742,360 shares of common stock at a weighted-average
exercise price of $9.74 per share.
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Dilution
If you purchase our common stock in this offering, your ownership interest will be diluted to the extent of the difference between
the initial public offering price per share of our common stock and the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share of
our common stock immediately after this offering.
Our net tangible book deficit of our common stock as of September 30, 2014 was approximately $69.2 million, or approximately
$(77.16) per share, based on 897,235 shares of common stock outstanding as of September 30, 2014. Net tangible book value
per share is determined by dividing the number of shares of common stock outstanding as of September 30, 2014 into our total
tangible assets (total assets less intangible assets) less total liabilities and convertible preferred stock.
On a pro forma basis, after giving effect to the sale of an aggregate of 35,500,000 shares of our Series F convertible preferred
stock in October 2014 at $2.00 per share and the automatic conversion of all of our outstanding convertible preferred stock into an
aggregate of 23,521,892 shares of common stock which will occur immediately prior to the completion of this offering, our
pro forma net tangible book value as of September 30, 2014 would have been $133.1 million, or $5.45 per share.
On a pro forma as adjusted basis, after giving additional effect to our sale of shares of common stock in this offering at an
assumed initial public offering price of $14.00 per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth on the front cover of this
prospectus and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by
us, our pro forma net tangible book value as of September 30, 2014 would have been $199.7 million, or $6.71 per share. This
represents an immediate increase in pro forma net tangible book value of $1.26 per share to existing stockholders and an
immediate dilution of $7.29 per share to new investors purchasing shares in this offering, as illustrated by the following table:
Assumed initial public offering price per share
$ 14.00
Pro forma net tangible book value per share as of September 30,
2014
$ 5.45
Increase in pro forma net tangible book value per share attributable to
new investors
1.26
Pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share after this
offering
6.71
Dilution per share to investors in this offering
$ 7.29
























A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price would increase (decrease) our pro forma as adjusted net
tangible book value by approximately $5.0 million, or approximately $0.16 per share, and the pro forma dilution per share to
investors in this offering by approximately $0.84, assuming that the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page
of this prospectus, remains the same and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated
offering expenses payable by us. We may also increase or decrease the number of shares we are offering. An increase
(decrease) of 1.0 million shares in the number of shares offered by us would increase (decrease) pro forma as adjusted net
tangible book value by approximately $13.0 million, or $0.20 per share, and the pro forma dilution per share to investors in this
offering by $0.20. The pro forma as adjusted information discussed above is illustrative only and will be adjusted based on the
actual initial public offering price, the number of shares we sell in this offering and other terms of this offering.
If the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares from us is exercised in full, the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book
value per share after this offering would be $6.87 per share, the increase in pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per
share to existing stockholders would be $0.16 per share and the dilution to new investors purchasing shares in this offering would
be $(0.16) per share.
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The following table presents, on a pro forma as adjusted basis as of September 30, 2014, the differences between existing
stockholders and purchasers of shares in this offering with respect to the number of shares purchased from us, the total
consideration paid or to be paid and the average price paid per share assuming with respect to the purchasers of shares in this
offering an initial public offering price of $14.00 per share, the midpoint of the price range on the cover of this prospectus before
deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated expenses payable by us:

Total
consideration
Percent
Amount

Total shares
Percent
Number
Existing stockholders
before this offering
Investors participating in
this offering
Total




24,419,127


5,350,000
29,769,127




82%$ 207,260,240
18
74,900,000
100%$ 282,160,240








Average
price
per share

73%$

8.49

27 $
100%

14.00







A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed initial public offering price of $14.00 per share, the midpoint of the price range set
forth on the cover page of this prospectus, would increase (decrease) the total consideration paid to us by new investors and total
consideration paid to us by all stockholders by $5.0 million, assuming that the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the
cover page of this prospectus, remains the same, and after deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated
offering expenses payable by us. An increase (decrease) of 1.0 million shares in the number of shares offered by us would
increase (decrease) the total consideration paid to us by new investors and total consideration paid to us by all stockholders by
$13.0 million, assuming an initial public offering price of $14.00 per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover
page of this prospectus, and after deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses
payable by us.
If the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares is exercised in full, existing stockholders would own 80% and new
investors would own 20% of the total number of shares of our common stock outstanding immediately after this offering.
The foregoing discussion and tables do not reflect any potential purchases by entities affiliated with certain of our existing
stockholders that have indicated an interest in purchasing shares of our common stock in this offering, as described in
"Underwriting".
The foregoing is based on 24,419,127 shares outstanding as of September 30, 2014 after giving effect to the automatic
conversion immediately prior to the completion of this offering of all outstanding shares of our convertible preferred stock into an
aggregate of 23,521,892 shares of common stock (which includes an aggregate of 5,916,661 shares of common stock issuable
upon the conversion of Series F convertible preferred stock issued in October 2014), and excludes:
•

1,373,810 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options outstanding as of September 30, 2014, at a
weighted-average exercise price of $2.37 per share;

•

30,157 shares of common stock issued in connection with the early exercise of options, which are subject to our right of
repurchase as of September 30, 2014;

•

865,457 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2010 Stock Plan as of September 30, 2014;

•

4,250,000 shares of common stock, subject to increase on an annual basis, reserved for future issuance under our 2015
Stock Plan, which will become effective in connection with this offering; and

•

325,000 shares of common stock, subject to an increase on an annual basis, reserved for future issuance under the ESPP.

Subsequent to September 30, 2014, we granted options to purchase 742,360 shares of common stock at a weighted-average
exercise price of $9.74 per share. To the extent that any outstanding options are exercised or new options are issued under our
2010 Stock Plan, there will be further dilution to investors participating in this offering.
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Selected consolidated financial and other data
We derived the selected consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013 and the
selected consolidated balance sheets data as of December 31, 2012 and 2013 from our audited consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this prospectus. We derived the selected consolidated statements of operations data for the nine months
ended September 30, 2013 and 2014 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of September 30, 2014 from our
unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus. Our
unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements were prepared on the same basis as our audited consolidated
financial statements and include, in our opinion, all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments that we consider
necessary for a fair presentation of the financial information set forth in those consolidated financial statements. Historical results
are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected in the future. You should read the selected consolidated financial
data together with "Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations" and our consolidated
financial statements, related notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this prospectus. The selected
consolidated financial data is qualified in its entirety by the consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere
in this prospectus.

Year ended
December 31,
2012
2013

(In thousands, except share, per
share and other operating data)



Consolidated statements of
operations data:
Revenue
Costs and operating expenses:
Cost of revenue(1)
Research and development(1)
Selling and marketing(1)
General and administrative(1)
Total costs and operating
expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense), net
Interest expense
Net loss
Net loss attributable to common
stockholders(2)
Net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic and
diluted(2)
Shares used in computing net loss
per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted(2)
Pro forma net loss per share
attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted(2)
Shares used in computing pro forma
net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic and
diluted(2)

$

— $

148 $

—
5,557
—
3,004

667
16,039
2,431
5,764

60 $
441
10,621
1,599
4,037

729
3,263
15,600
5,823
8,112

8,561
(8,561)
2
(43)
$ (8,602) $

24,901
16,698
(24,753)
(16,638)
(26)
(25)
(59)
(44)
(24,838) $ (16,707) $

32,798
(32,069)
(69)
(49)
(32,187)

$ (9,014) $

(24,989) $ (16,858) $

(32,187)

$ (14.18) $

(36.13) $

635,705

691,731
$



Nine months ended
September 30,
2013
2014
(Unaudited)





(24.80) $

679,788

819,704

(2.44)





10,162,919
51

$




(39.27)



(2.16)


14,880,059
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Year ended
December 31,
2012
2013
Other operating data:
Billable tests(3)
(1)

—

Nine months ended
September 30,
2013
2014

229

145

1,819

Includes stock-based compensation as follows:

(In thousands)
Cost of revenue
Research and development
Selling and marketing
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation

Year ended
December 31,
2012
2013
$
—
$
11
46
165
—
42
19
42
$
65
$ 260

$

$

(Unaudited)
Nine months ended
September 30,
2013
2014
7
$
47
106
231
26
90
26
170
165
$
538

(2) See Notes 2 and 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements and Note 7 of our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this prospectus for an explanation of the calculations of our basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders and basic and
diluted pro forma net loss per share attributable to common stockholders.
(3) Billable tests represent the number of tests performed in a period that are billable to third-party payors, institutions or patients. We consider the number of
billable tests to be an important indicator of the growth in our business.

(In thousands)
Consolidated balance sheet data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Working capital
Total assets
Capital lease obligations
Convertible preferred stock
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' deficit

As of December 31,
2012
2013

$ 21,801 $ 43,070 $
21,043
41,577
25,973
53,103
1,215
2,001
36,755
86,574
(12,850)
(37,688)
(12,759)
(37,280)
52

As of September 30,
2014
(Unaudited)
59,138
53,527
73,147
1,377
133,907
(69,875)
(68,767)
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Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with the section
entitled "Selected consolidated financial data" and our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in
this prospectus. This discussion and other parts of this prospectus contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties, such as our plans, objectives, expectations, intentions and beliefs. Our actual results could differ materially from
those discussed in these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are
not limited to, those identified below and those discussed in the section entitled "Risk factors" included elsewhere in this
prospectus.

Overview
Our mission is to bring comprehensive genetic information into mainstream medical practice to improve the quality of healthcare
for billions of people. Our goal is to aggregate most of the world's genetic tests into a single service with higher quality, faster
turnaround time and lower price than many single gene tests today. By aggregating large numbers of currently available genetic
tests into a single service, we can achieve great economies of scale that allow us to not only provide primary single gene or multigene tests but also to generate and store additional genetic information on behalf of the patient for future use. We refer to the
service of managing genetic information over the course of disease or the lifetime of a patient as "genome management." In
addition, as more individuals gain access to their genetic information, we believe that sharing genetic information will provide an
economic opportunity for patients and us to participate in advancing the understanding and treatment of disease.
From our inception through December 31, 2014, we raised an aggregate of $207.0 million in equity financing, established the
infrastructure necessary to launch our service and were primarily focused on the research and development of our initial assay.
We launched our first commercial offering in late November 2013, an assay of 216 genes comprising 85 different genetic
disorders and 17 targeted panels, and began selling and marketing our panels with a focused effort on hereditary cancers,
including breast, colon and pancreatic cancer. We charge $1,500 per sample in most cases, which allows our clients to receive
test results on any or all genes in a specific indication or multi-gene panel. We also currently offer a free re-requisition of additional
data within the same indication when ordered within 90 days of the date of service. In addition, clients may obtain test results on
genes that are in other indications or panels, or genes within the same indication or panel more than 90 days after the date of
initial service, for an additional fee. Importantly, we are providing turnaround time of less than three weeks for the substantial
majority of our tests. Since our initial launch, we have marketed additional panels based on the same assay of 216 genes.
We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods. Our revenue increased from $0 in 2012 to $0.1 million in 2013. Our revenue
increased from $60,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 to $0.7 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2014. We incurred a net loss of $8.6 million and $24.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively, and
$16.7 million and $32.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2014, respectively. As of September 30, 2014,
we had an accumulated deficit of $69.9 million. We also increased our number of employees from 44 on January 1, 2013 to 161
employees as of December 31, 2014. Our sales force grew from one person in the first quarter of 2014 to nine people in the fourth
quarter of 2014.
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Since our commercial launch, we have delivered more than 2,000 billable tests as of September 30, 2014. Sales of our tests have
grown significantly in 2014 from over 200 tests in the first quarter of 2014 to over 1,100 tests in the third quarter of 2014, which we
believe is evidence that our value proposition is attractive to our clients. In addition, we delivered over 1,800 billable tests in the
fourth quarter of 2014. As the market for our billable tests develops, we expect that competitors will release offerings with broader
content that is clinically relevant to particular patients. We thus expect our rate of growth in delivered billable tests to slow in
periods leading up to commercial releases of our expanding platform, including the period in 2015 leading up to the first planned
expansion of our current assay of 216 genes. We estimate that the U.S. market for hereditary cancer tests is greater than
$650 million per year and thus represents a key growth opportunity for us. From inception through September 30, 2014,
approximately 26% of billable tests have been paid. On a historical basis through September 30, 2014, approximately 44% of the
billable tests we performed have been billable to institutions and patients, and the remainder have been billable to third-party
payors. Many of the gene tests on our assay are tests for which private insurers reimburse. However, because we do not have
reimbursement policies or contracts with very many private insurers, our claims for reimbursement from them may be denied upon
submission, and we must appeal the claims. The appeals process is time consuming and expensive, and may not result in
payment. Even if we are successful achieving reimbursement, we may be paid at lower rates than if we were under contract with
the third-party payor. When there is not a contracted rate for reimbursement, there is typically a greater co-insurance or copayment requirement from the patient which may result in further delay or decreased likelihood of collection.
As discussed in greater detail in "—Factors affecting our performance," we intend to continue to invest aggressively in our
business and to incur additional expenditures as a public company. As a result of these and other factors, we expect to incur
operating losses for the foreseeable future and may need to raise additional capital in order to fund our operations. If we are
unable to achieve our revenue growth objectives and successfully manage our costs, we may not be able to achieve profitability.
We believe that the keys to our future growth will be to steadily increase the amount of genetic content we offer, consistently
improve the client experience, drive physician and patient utilization of our website for ordering and delivery of results, increase
the number of partners working with us to add value for our clients and consistently drive down the price per gene for genetic
analysis and interpretation.

Factors affecting our performance
Number of billable tests
The growth in our genetic testing business is tied to the number of tests for which we bill third-party payors, institutions or patients,
which we refer to as billable tests. We bill for our services following delivery of the billable test report derived from testing samples
and interpreting the results. We incur the expenses associated with a test in the period in which the test is processed regardless of
when payment is received with respect to that test. We believe the number of billable tests in any period is an important indicator
of the growth in our business.
Success obtaining reimbursement
Our ability to increase the number of billable tests and our revenue will depend on our success achieving broad reimbursement
coverage for our tests from third-party payors. Reimbursement may depend on a number of factors, including a payor's
determination that a test is appropriate, medically necessary and cost-effective. Because each payor makes its own decision as to
whether to establish a policy or enter into a contract to reimburse for our testing services, seeking these approvals is a timeconsuming and costly process. In addition, physicians may decide not to order our tests if the cost of the test is not covered by
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insurance. Because we require an ordering physician to requisition a test, our revenue growth also depends on our ability to
successfully promote the adoption of our testing services and expand our base of ordering physicians. We believe that
establishing coverage from third-party payors, including the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, is an important
factor in gaining adoption by ordering physicians. We recently received approval as a Medicare provider, which allows us to bill for
our services to Medicare patients. Further, in October 2014 we entered into a reimbursement contract with Blue Shield of
California and in December 2014 we entered into a reimbursement contract with SelectHealth. If we are not able to obtain and
maintain adequate reimbursement from third-party payors for our testing services and expand the base of physicians ordering our
tests, we may not be able to effectively increase the number of billable tests or our revenue.
Ability to lower the costs associated with performing our tests
Reducing the costs associated with performing our genetic tests is both a near-term focus and a strategic objective of ours. Over
the long term we will need to reduce the cost of raw materials by improving the output efficiency of our assay and lab processes,
modifying our platform-agnostic assay and lab processes to use materials and technologies that provide equal or greater quality at
lower cost, and improving how we manage our inventory and negotiating favorable terms for our materials purchases. We also
intend to design and implement hardware and software tools that will reduce personnel cost for both laboratory and clinical
operations by increasing personnel efficiency and thus lowering labor costs per test.
Investment in our business and timing of expenses
We plan to continue to invest significantly in our genetic testing, genome management and genome network business. We deploy
state-of-the-art and costly technologies in our genetic testing services, and we intend to significantly scale our infrastructure,
including our testing capacity and information systems. We also expect to incur software development costs as we seek to further
automate our laboratory processes and genetic interpretation and report sign-out procedures, conduct ongoing research and
development activities, scale our customer service capabilities and expand the functionality of our website. As part of our growth,
we also plan to hire additional personnel, including software engineers, sales and marketing personnel, research and
development personnel, medical specialists, biostatisticians and geneticists. In addition, we expect to incur additional expenses as
a result of operating as a public company. The expenses we incur may vary significantly by quarter depending, for example, on
when large equipment purchases are made or significant hiring takes place, and as we focus on building out different aspects of
our business.
How we recognize revenue
Our historical revenue has been recognized when cash is received. We do not expect to recognize significant amounts of revenue
on an accrual basis for some period of time. Until we achieve and maintain a predictable pattern of collection at a consistent
payment amount from a large number of payors, we will continue to recognize the substantial majority of our revenue when cash
is received. Additionally, as we commercialize new test offerings, we will need to achieve a predictable pattern of collection at a
consistent payment amount for each payor for each new product offering prior to being able to recognize the related test revenue
on an accrual basis. Because the timing and amount of cash payments received from payors is difficult to predict, we expect that
our revenue will fluctuate significantly in any given quarter.
For the year ended December 31, 2013 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, amounts billed for tests delivered
totaled $0.3 million and $3.1 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2013, we had recognized revenue of $0.1 million related to
amounts billed for tests delivered during the year ended December 31, 2013. As of September 30, 2014, we had recognized
revenue of $0.1 million related to
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amounts billed for tests delivered during the year ended December 31, 2013 and $0.6 million related to amounts billed for tests
delivered during the nine months ended September 30, 2014. It is difficult to predict future revenue from previously delivered but
unpaid tests. Accordingly, we cannot provide any assurance as to when, if ever, or to what extent any of these amounts will be
collected. Because we are in the early stages of commercializing our tests, we have had limited payment and collection history.
Notwithstanding our efforts to obtain payment for these tests, payors may deny our claims, in whole or in part, and we may never
receive revenue from any previously delivered but unpaid tests. Revenue from these tests, if any, may not be equal to the billed
amount due to a number of factors, including differences in reimbursement rates, the amounts of patient co-payments, the
existence of secondary payors and claims denials.
We incur and recognize expenses for tests in the period in which the test is conducted and recognize revenue for tests in the
period in which our revenue recognition criteria are met. Accordingly, any revenue that we receive in respect of previously
delivered but unpaid tests will favorably impact our liquidity and results of operations in future periods.

Financial overview
Revenue
We generate revenue from the sale of our tests which provide the analysis and associated interpretation of the sequencing of
parts of the genome. Clients are billed upon delivery of test results to the physician. As we do not have sufficient history of
collection and are not yet able to determine a predictable pattern of collection, we currently recognize revenue when cash is
received. Our ability to increase our revenue will depend on our ability to increase our market penetration, obtain contracted
reimbursement coverage from third-party payors and increase the rate at which we are paid for tests performed.
Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue reflects the aggregate costs incurred in delivering test results to physicians and includes expenses for materials
and supplies, personnel costs, equipment and infrastructure expenses associated with testing and allocated overhead including
rent, equipment depreciation and utilities. Costs associated with performing our test are recorded as the patient's sample is
processed regardless of whether and when revenue is recognized with respect to that test. As a result, our cost of revenue as
percentage of revenue may vary significantly from period to period because we generally do not recognize revenue in the period
in which costs are incurred. We expect cost of revenue to generally increase in line with the increase in the number of tests we
perform. However, we expect that the cost per test will decrease over time due to the efficiencies we may gain as test volume
increases and from automation and other cost reductions.
Operating expenses
Our operating expenses are classified into three categories: research and development, selling and marketing, and general and
administrative. For each category, the largest component is personnel costs, which include salaries, employee benefit costs,
bonuses, commissions, as applicable, and stock-based compensation expense.
Research and development
Research and development expenses represent costs incurred to develop our technology and future tests, including costs
associated with our efforts to expand the number of genes we can evaluate in our tests.
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These costs consist of personnel costs, laboratory supplies and equipment expenses, consulting costs and allocated overhead
including rent, information technology, equipment depreciation and utilities.
We expense all research and development costs in the periods in which they are incurred. We expect our research and
development expenses will substantially increase in absolute dollars in future periods as we continue to invest in research and
development activities related to developing additional tests. We expect that in the next 12 months the substantial increase in
research and development expenses will be for the continued development and support of our assay of 216 genes and other new
testing services and programs under development.
Selling and marketing
Selling and marketing expenses consist of personnel costs, client service expenses, direct marketing expenses, educational and
promotional expenses, market research and analysis, and allocated overhead including rent, information technology, equipment
depreciation and utilities. We expect our selling and marketing expenses to substantially increase over the next 12 months,
primarily driven by the cost of hiring additional account executives and business development personnel associated with efforts to
further penetrate the domestic market.
General and administrative
General and administrative expenses include executive, finance and accounting, legal and human resources functions. These
expenses include personnel-related costs, audit and legal expenses, consulting costs, and allocated overhead including rent,
information technology, equipment depreciation and utilities. We expect our general and administrative expenses will increase as
we scale our operations. We also expect to incur additional general and administrative expenses as a result of our initial public
offering and operating as a public company, including expenses related to compliance with the rules and regulations of the SEC
and those of any national securities exchange on which our securities will be traded, additional insurance expenses, investor
relations activities and other administration and professional services.
Other income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net primarily consists of the net exchange gain/loss on foreign currency transactions related to the
operations of our subsidiary in Chile.
Interest expense
Interest expense is attributable to our financing obligation under our capital lease agreements in connection with the purchase of
laboratory equipment.
Critical accounting policies and estimates
Management's discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S. GAAP. The
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the
reported revenue generated and expenses incurred during the reporting periods. Our estimates are based on our historical
experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions and any such differences may be
material. We believe that the accounting
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policies discussed below are critical to understanding our historical and future performance, as these policies relate to the more
significant areas involving management's judgments and estimates.
Revenue recognition
We generate revenue from delivery of test reports generated from our assay of 216 genes. Revenue is recognized when
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; delivery has occurred or services have been rendered; the fee is fixed or
determinable; and collectability is reasonably assured. The assessment of the fixed or determinable nature of the fees charged for
testing performed and the collectability of those fees require significant judgment by management. When evaluating these criteria,
we consider whether we have sufficient history to reliably estimate a payor's payment pattern. We review the number of tests paid
against the number of tests billed and the payor's outstanding balance for unpaid tests to determine whether payments are being
made at a consistently high percentage of tests billed and at appropriate amounts given the amount billed. To date, we have not
been able to demonstrate a predictable pattern of collectability, and therefore recognize revenue when payment is received
following delivery of the report.
Stock-based compensation
Stock-based compensation expense is measured at the date of grant, based on the estimated fair value of the award and
recognized as an expense over the employee's requisite service period on a straight-line basis. We estimate the grant date fair
value, and the resulting stock-based compensation expense, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
We account for stock-based compensation arrangements with non-employees using a fair value approach. The fair value of these
options is measured using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model reflecting the same assumptions as applied to employee
options in each of the reported periods, other than the expected life, which is assumed to be the remaining contractual life of the
option. The compensation expenses of these arrangements are subject to remeasurement over the vesting terms as earned.
We recorded stock-based compensation expense of $65,000 and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013,
and $0.2 million and $0.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2014. As of September 30, 2014, we had
$2.1 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, which we expect to recognize
over a weighted-average period of 3.1 years.
The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires the use of highly subjective assumptions which determine the fair value of stockbased awards. These assumptions include:
Expected term —The expected term represents the period that stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. We used the
simplified method to determine the expected term, which is based on the mid-point between the vesting date and the end of the
contractual term.
Expected volatility —Since we are privately held and do not have any trading history for our common stock, the expected volatility
was estimated based on the average volatility for comparable publicly traded biopharmaceutical companies over a period equal to
the expected term of the stock option grants. When selecting comparable publicly traded biopharmaceutical companies on which
we based our expected stock price volatility, we selected companies with comparable characteristics to us, including enterprise
value, risk profiles, position within the industry, and with historical share price information sufficient to meet the expected life of the
stock-based awards. The historical volatility data was computed using the daily closing prices for the selected companies' shares
during the equivalent period of the calculated expected term of the stock-based awards. We will continue to apply this process
until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of our own stock price becomes available.
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Risk-free interest rate —The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury zero coupon issues in effect at the time of grant
for periods corresponding with the expected term of option.
Dividend yield —We have never paid dividends on our common stock and have no plans to pay dividends on our common stock.
Therefore, we used an expected dividend yield of zero.
In addition to the Black-Scholes assumptions, we estimate our forfeiture rate based on an analysis of our actual forfeitures and will
continue to evaluate the adequacy of the forfeiture rate based on actual forfeiture experience, analysis of employee turnover
behavior, and other factors. The impact from any forfeiture rate adjustment would be recognized in full in the period of adjustment
and if the actual number of future forfeitures differs from our estimates, we might be required to record adjustments to stock-based
compensation in future periods.
Historically, for all periods prior to this initial public offering, the fair values of the shares of common stock underlying our sharebased awards were estimated on each grant date by our board of directors. In order to determine the fair value of our common
stock underlying option grants, our board of directors considered, among other things, contemporaneous valuations of our
common stock prepared by an unrelated third-party valuation firm in accordance with the guidance provided by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Guide, Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as
Compensation . Given the absence of a public trading market for our common stock, our board of directors exercised reasonable
judgment and considered a number of objective and subjective factors to determine the best estimate of the fair value of our
common stock, including our stage of development; progress of our research and development efforts; our operating and financial
performance, including our levels of available capital resources; the rights, preferences and privileges of our convertible preferred
stock relative to those of our common stock; sales of our convertible preferred stock in arms'-length transactions; the valuation of
publicly traded companies in our industry, as well as recently completed mergers and acquisitions of peer companies; equity
market conditions affecting comparable public companies; and the lack of marketability of our common stock.
In determining a fair value for our common stock, we estimated the enterprise value of our business using the market approach or
option pricing back-solve method. The estimated enterprise value is then allocated to the common stock using the Option Pricing
Method, or OPM, and the Probability Weighted Expected Return Method, or PWERM, or the hybrid method. The hybrid method
applied the PWERM utilizing the probability of two exit scenarios, going public or being acquired, and the OPM was utilized in the
remaining private scenario.
Subsequent to December 31, 2013, we granted options to purchase shares of our common stock on February 28, 2014 and
October 15, 2014 to the following executive officers: (1) Sean E. George, 50,000 shares on each date; (2) Lee Bendekgey, 8,333
shares and 25,000 shares, respectively; and (3) Lisa Alderson, 33,333 shares and 25,000 shares, respectively. Each option has
an exercise price of $3.42 and $8.70 per share, respectively, which our board of directors determined to constitute at least 100%
of the current fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. In each of the periods presented, the exercise price per
share for each stock option was the same as the fair value of our common stock on the date of grant as determined by our board
of directors, other than with respect to options to purchase an aggregate of 489,959 shares of common stock granted in January
and February 2014 and options to purchase an aggregate of 68,408 shares of common stock granted in May 2014. We
subsequently performed a reassessment of the fair value of the common stock underlying the stock options granted on these
dates, and for financial reporting purposes reassessed the fair value of these grants ranging from $3.66 to $5.28 per share and
correspondingly recognized additional stock-based compensation expense
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during the nine months ended September 30, 2014. The shares vest 25% on the one-year anniversary of the grant date and
1/48th of the shares vest each month thereafter for the remaining three years. In addition, on October 24, 2014, we granted
Geoffrey S. Crouse, one of our directors, an option to purchase 2,500 shares vesting in equal monthly installments over one year,
commencing on February 27, 2014. Such option has an exercise price of $8.70 per share, which our board of directors
determined to constitute at least 100% of the current fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant.
In addition, we granted options to purchase shares of our common stock to non-executive officer employees and consultants on
various dates after December 31, 2013 as follows: (1) 38,998 shares with a per share exercise price of $3.42 were granted on
January 16, 2014; (2) 359,295 shares with a per share exercise price of $3.42 were granted on February 28, 2014; (3) 61,742
shares with a per share exercise price of $4.14 were granted on May 15, 2014; (4) 6,666 shares with a per share exercise price of
$4.14 were granted on May 19, 2014; (5) 565,794 shares with a per share exercise price of $8.70 were granted on October 15,
2014; (6) 30,830 shares with a per share exercise price of $8.70 were granted on October 24, 2014; and (7) 145,736 shares with
a per share exercise price of $14.00 were granted on January 30, 2015.
For valuations after the completion of this offering, our board of directors will determine the fair value of each share of underlying
common stock based on the closing price of our common stock as reported on the date of grant.
The intrinsic value of all outstanding options as of September 30, 2014 was $36.0 million based on the estimated fair value of our
common stock of $14.00 per share, the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus.
Deferred tax assets
We use the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined
based on the differences between the financial reporting and the tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the
enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. We assess the likelihood that the
resulting deferred tax assets will be realized. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or
all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.
As of December 31, 2013, our total gross deferred tax assets were $13.8 million. Due to our lack of earnings history and
uncertainties surrounding our ability to generate future taxable income, the net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a
valuation allowance. The deferred tax assets were primarily comprised of federal and state tax net operating losses and tax credit
carryforwards. Utilization of the net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to an annual limitation due to
historical or future ownership percentage change rules provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and similar state
provisions. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of certain net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards before their
utilization.
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Results of operations
Comparison of the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2014
Nine months ended
September 30,
(In thousands)
Revenue
Costs and operating
expenses:
Cost of revenue
Research and development
Selling and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other expense, net
Interest expense
Net loss

$













*

$

2013
60

$

441
10,621
1,599
4,037
16,698
(16,638)
(25)
(44)
(16,707)








$

%
change
Dollar
2014
change
729 $
669
*

3,263
2,822
15,600
4,979
5,823
4,224
8,112
4,075
32,798
16,100
(32,069)
(15,431)
(69)
(44)
(49)
(5)
(32,187) $ (15,480)
















640%
47%
264%
101%
96%
93%
176
11%
93%




Not meaningful

Revenue
Revenue increased $0.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to the $60,000 recognized in the same
period in 2013. Revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 resulted from an early access program we offered
beginning in the first quarter of 2013. The increase is due to an increase in the adoption of our test, which resulted in an increase
in cash collections during 2014.
Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue increased $2.8 million, or 641%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to the same period in
2013 primarily due to a $1.8 million increase in costs of reagents, laboratory materials and test validation costs and a $0.9 million
increase in personnel costs related to the increase in headcount. The number of billed test results delivered increased from 145
for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 to 1,819 in the same period in 2014.
Research and development
Research and development expenses increased $5.0 million, or 47%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared
to the same period in 2013. The increase was primarily driven by a $3.3 million increase in personnel costs related to the increase
in headcount, a $1.2 million increase in allocated facilities-related expenses due to the expansion of our operations into two
additional locations and a $0.4 million increase in costs of laboratory materials.
Selling and marketing
Selling and marketing expenses increased $4.2 million, or 264%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to the
same period in 2013. The increase was due to a $2.3 million increase in personnel costs and travel related expenses due to the
increase in headcount, a $0.7 million increase in conferences, marketing activities and trade show-related expenses, a
$0.5 million increase in consulting fees incurred in connection with various marketing and branding activities, and a $0.4 million
increase related to an increase in allocated technology and facilities related expenses as the result of our office expansion.
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General and administrative
General and administrative expenses increased $4.1 million, or 101%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared
to the same period in 2013. The increase was due to a $1.6 million increase in legal costs incurred primarily related to the Myriad
litigation matter, a $1.0 million increase in personnel costs resulting from an increase in headcount, a $0.8 million increase in
professional services to support our increasing infrastructure as we expand our operations and prepare to become a public
company, and a $0.6 million increase related to an increase in allocated technology and facilities related expenses as the result of
our office expansion.
Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2013

(In thousands)
Revenue
Operating expenses:
Cost of revenue
Research and development
Selling and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense), net
Interest expense
Net loss

$



















*

$

Year ended December 31,
Dollar
2012
2013
change
— $
148 $
148
—
5,557
—
3,004
8,561
(8,561)
2
(43)
(8,602) $












%
change
*

667
667
16,039
10,482
2,431
2,431
5,764
2,760
24,901
16,340
(24,753)
(16,192)
(26)
(28)
(59)
(16)
(24,838) $ (16,236)
























*
189%
*
92%
191%
189%
*
37%
189%






Not meaningful

Revenue
Revenue was $0.1 million in 2013 compared to $0 in 2012 as we had an early access program started in the first quarter of 2013,
and launched our first commercial offering in late November 2013.
Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue was $0.7 million in 2013 compared to $0 in 2012. We incurred costs for 229 billable test results that we delivered
during the year ended December 31, 2013. We did not begin commercial operations until the first quarter of 2013 when we had an
early access program and the first commercial launch of our assay of 216 genes was in late November 2013.
Research and development
Research and development expenses increased $10.5 million, or 189%, in 2013 compared to 2012. The increase was primarily
driven by a $5.1 million increase in personnel related costs due to the increase in headcount, a $3.0 million increase in laboratory
materials, a $1.1 million increase in allocated facility related costs as a result of our expansion into two offices starting in March
2013, a $0.7 million increase in depreciation expense due to the increase in laboratory equipment, and a $0.3 million increase in
outside consulting costs incurred for temporary lab engineering consultants hired to assist with an increase in our research
activities. Further, we conduct extensive validation assays to confirm the analytical validity of our genetic testing platform and we
sometimes conduct our own clinical studies to further demonstrate the utility of already known genetic tests in order to promote
broader application and market adoption by the clinical community.
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Selling and marketing
Selling and marketing expenses were $2.4 million for 2013 compared to $0 for 2012. We did not begin commercial operations until
we launched our early access program in the first quarter of 2013. The increase was due to a $2.1 million increase in personnel
costs and travel related expenses due to the increase in headcount, a $0.2 million increase in consulting fees incurred to assist
with our marketing and branding activities related to the launch of our first test and a $0.1 million increase in allocated facilities
related costs as the result of our expansion of operations into two locations in 2013.
General and administrative
General and administrative expenses increased $2.8 million, or 92%, in 2013 compared to 2012. The increase was related to a
$1.3 million increase in legal and accounting professional services due to the growth in our operations, a $0.8 million increase in
allocated facilities related costs as the result of our expansion of operations into two locations in 2013, and a $0.7 million increase
in personnel-related expenses resulting from an increase in headcount.
Quarterly results of operations and other operating data
The following table sets forth our unaudited quarterly statements of operations data for each of the seven most recent quarters in
the period ended September 30, 2014. We have prepared the quarterly data on a basis consistent with the audited consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. In the opinion of management, the quarterly information reflects all
necessary adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair statement of this data. This
information should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this
prospectus. The results of historical periods are not necessarily indicative of results of operations for a full year or for any future
period.
Three months ended
(In thousands,
except other
June 30, Sept 30,
June 30, Sept 30,
operating
Mar 31,
Dec 31, Mar 31,
data)
2013
2013
2013
2013
2014
2014
2014
Revenue
$
— $
6 $
54 $
88 $
118 $
301 $
310
Costs and
operating
expenses:
Cost of
107
145
189
226
611
963
1,689
revenue
Research
and
development
2,589
3,576
4,456
5,418
4,965
5,078
5,557
Selling and
396
538
665
832
1,666
1,771
2,386
marketing
General and
administrative 1,131
1,159
1,747
1,727
1,895
3,005
3,212
Total
operating
expenses
4,223
5,418
7,057
8,203
9,137
10,817
12,844
Loss from
operations
(4,223)
(5,412)
(7,003) (8,115)
(9,019) (10,516) (12,534)
Other income
(expense),
net
1
1
(27)
(1)
3
(6)
(66)
Interest
expense
(14)
(16)
(14)
(15)
(17)
(17)
(15)
Net loss
$ (4,236) $ (5,427) $ (7,044) $ (8,131) $ (9,033) $ (10,539) $ (12,615)

June 30,
Mar 31,
2013

2013

Three months ended
Sept 30, Dec 31,
Mar 31,
2013
2013
2014

June 30,

Sept 30,

2014

2014

Other
operating
data:
Billable tests

21

52

72

84
63

206

496

1,117
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Quarterly trends
Revenue increased quarter over quarter through September 30, 2014, reflecting our program of providing early access to our
assay of 216 genes in the first quarter of 2013, followed by its commercial launch in late November 2013. The amounts we billed
for our tests were approximately $2.0 million, $0.8 million, $0.3 million, $0.1 million, $95,000, $70,000 and $28,000 for the three
months ended September 30, 2014, June 30, 2014, March 31, 2014, December 31, 2013, September 30, 2013, June 30, 2013
and March 31, 2013, respectively.
Operating expenses generally increased consistently with the growth of the business. Cost of revenue increases were directly
related to the increase in the volume of tests processed during each of the quarters through September 30, 2014. Our
expenditures in research and development were lower in the quarter ended March 31, 2014 mainly because fewer tests were run
in conjunction with leading academic institutions were received and processed during the first quarter of 2014. Our selling and
marketing expenses increased significantly from the fourth quarter of 2013 to the first quarter of 2014 primary due to the increase
in headcount in the sales team and the increase in travel and trade show expenses to promote our testing service to the market.
During 2013, our general and administrative expenses remained relatively flat in the first, second and fourth quarters. The
increase in general and administrative expenses in the third quarter of 2013 was mainly due to the fluctuations in professional fees
paid for legal and accounting services. General and administrative expenses increased significantly in the second quarter of 2014
mainly due to the increase in professional services fees incurred to grow our business and infrastructure.

Liquidity and capital resources
Liquidity and capital expenditures
Since inception, our operations have been financed primarily by net proceeds of $133.9 million from sales of our convertible
preferred stock through September 30, 2014. In addition, we have entered into various capital lease agreements for an aggregate
financing amount of $3.7 million from inception through September 30, 2014 to obtain laboratory equipment. The terms of the
capital leases are typically three years with interest rates ranging from 3.5%–18.9%. The leases are secured by the underlying
equipment. As of December 31, 2013 and September 30, 2014, we had $43.1 million and $59.1 million of cash and cash
equivalents, respectively.
In October 2014, we issued 35,500,000 shares of Series F convertible preferred stock at a price of $2.00 per share for aggregate
proceeds of $68.5 million, net of issuance costs of $2.5 million.
Our primary uses of cash are to fund our operations as we continue to grow our business. Cash used to fund operating expenses
is impacted by the timing of when we pay expenses, as reflected in the change in our outstanding accounts payable and accrued
expenses.
Our cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2014 were $107.4 million. We believe that our existing cash and cash
equivalents as of December 31, 2014, along with the estimated net proceeds from this offering, will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated cash requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, management may in the future elect to finance
operations by selling equity or debt securities. If we raise funds by issuing equity securities, dilution to stockholders may result.
Any equity securities issued may also provide for rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock.
If we raise funds by issuing debt securities, these debt securities would have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of
holders of our common stock. The terms of debt securities or borrowings could impose significant restrictions on our operations. If
additional funding is required, there can be no
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assurance that additional funds will be available to us on acceptable terms on a timely basis, if at all, or that we will generate
sufficient cash from operations to adequately fund our operating needs or sustain profitability. If we are unable to raise additional
capital or generate sufficient cash from operations to adequately fund our operations, we will need to curtail planned activities to
reduce costs. Doing so will likely have an unfavorable effect on our ability to execute on our business plan.
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated:

(In thousands)
Cash used in operating activities
Cash used in investing activities
Cash provided by financing activities

Year ended
December 31,
2012
2013

Nine months ended
September 30,
2013
2014
(Unaudited)
$ (9,154) $ (23,030) $ (15,428) $ (28,104)
(826)
(4,580)
(3,898)
(2,685)
28,802
48,879
9,486
46,857

Cash flows from operating activities
For the nine months ended September 30, 2014, cash used in operating activities was $28.1 million. The net cash outflow from
operations primarily resulted from our net loss of $32.2 million offset by non-cash charges of $1.6 million for depreciation and
amortization, and $0.5 million for stock-based compensation. The change in net operating assets of $1.9 million was primarily due
to an increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $3.3 million due to the growth in our business partially offset by an
increase in prepaid expenses of $0.7 million related to prepaid equipment maintenance fees and software license fees and in
other assets of $0.7 million related to the security deposit on our new office lease of $0.2 million and the capitalization of
$0.5 million of offering expenses.
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, cash used in operating activities was $15.4 million. The net cash outflow from
operations primarily resulted from our net loss of $16.7 million offset by $0.6 million for depreciation and amortization and noncash charges of $0.2 million for stock-based compensation. The change in net operating assets of $0.5 million was primarily due
to the $0.8 million increase in payables to the suppliers due to the growth in our business partially offset by a $0.3 million increase
in prepaid expenses related to prepaid equipment maintenance fees and software license fees.
For the year ended December 31, 2013, cash used in operating activities of $23.0 million primarily resulted from our net loss of
$24.8 million offset by $0.9 million for depreciation and amortization and non-cash charges of $0.3 million for stock-based
compensation. The increase in net operating assets of $0.6 million was primarily due to the $1.0 million increase in payables to
suppliers and partially offset by the increase in prepaid expenses of $0.4 million mainly related to the increase in tenant incentive
receivables due from the landlord of our new office.
For the year ended December 31, 2012, cash used in operating activities of $9.2 million was primarily from our net loss of
$8.6 million offset by $0.3 million for depreciation and amortization and non-cash charges of $0.1 million for stock-based
compensation. The change in the net operating assets of $0.9 million was mainly due to the $0.9 million increase in other assets
related to the security deposit for our new Palo Alto office.
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Cash flows from investing activities
Cash used in investing activities of $2.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 was primarily related to the
purchase of property and equipment.
Cash used in investing activities of $3.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was primarily related to the
purchase of property and equipment. In addition, amounts held as restricted cash increased by $60,000.
In 2013, we used $4.6 million in investing activities, the majority of which was related to purchase of property and equipment. In
addition, amounts held as restricted cash increased by $60,000.
In 2012, we used $0.8 million in investing activities, the majority of which was related to purchase of property and equipment. In
addition, amounts held as restricted cash increased by $60,000.
Cash flows from financing activities
Cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 of $46.9 million was primarily from
$47.3 million in net proceeds from the issuance of convertible preferred stock, partially offset by payments of $0.6 million on our
capital lease obligations.
Cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 of $9.5 million was primarily from $9.9 million
in proceeds from the issuance of convertible preferred stock, partially offset by payments of $0.5 million on our capital lease
obligations.
In 2013, we generated $48.9 million from financing activities primarily resulting from $49.8 million in net proceeds from issuance of
convertible preferred stock. These cash inflows were partially offset by payments of $1.0 million on our capital lease obligations.
In 2012, we generated $28.8 million from financing activities primarily resulting from $29.4 million in net proceeds from issuance of
convertible preferred stock. These cash inflows were partially offset by payments of $0.6 million on our capital lease obligations.

Contractual obligations and other commitments
The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

Contractual obligations:
Operating leases
Capital leases
Total

Less than
1 year
$
1,568
906
$
2,474

1 to 3
years
$3,594
1,167
$4,761

Payments due by period
More than
3 to 5
years
5 years
Total
$1,690 $
991
$7,843
29
—
2,102
$1,719 $
991
$9,945

In November 2014, we leased additional space in San Francisco, California. The lease expires in April 2017 and aggregate future
minimum lease payments for this facility are $1.7 million.
In December 2014, we entered into a capital lease for laboratory equipment. The term of the lease is 36 months and the minimum
lease payments due under the agreement are $3.1 million.
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Off-balance sheet arrangements
We have not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements and do not have any holdings in variable interest entities.

Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk
We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily relate to interest rates. We had
capital lease obligation of $2.0 million and $1.4 million as of December 31, 2013 and September 30, 2014, respectively, which
result from various capital lease agreements to obtain our lab equipment. We had cash and cash equivalents of $43.1 million and
$59.1 million as of December 31, 2013 and September 30, 2014, respectively, which consist of bank deposits and money market
funds. Such interest-bearing instruments carry a degree of risk; however, we have not been exposed to, nor do we anticipate
being exposed to, material risks due to changes in interest rates. A hypothetical 10% change in interest rates during any of the
periods presented would not have had a material impact on our financial statements.
We face foreign exchange risk as a result of entering into transactions denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars (Chilean
peso). Due to the uncertain timing of expected payments in foreign currencies, we do not utilize any forward exchange contracts.
All foreign transactions settle on the applicable spot exchange basis at the time such payments are made. An adverse movement
in foreign exchange rates could have a material effect on payments made to foreign suppliers and for license agreements. A
hypothetical 10% change in foreign exchange rates during any of the periods presented would not have had a material impact on
our financial statements.

JOBS Act accounting election
We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act. Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies may delay
adopting new or revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until such time as those
standards apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this exemption from new or revised
accounting standards and, therefore, will be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies
that are not emerging growth companies.

Recent accounting pronouncements
On May 28, 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASU 2014-09), which requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it
expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. ASU 2014-09 will replace most existing
revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. The new standard will become effective for us on
January 1, 2017. Early application is not permitted. The standard permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect
transition method. We are evaluating the effect that ASU 2014-09 will have on our consolidated financial statements and related
disclosures. We have not yet selected a transition method nor have we determined the effect of the standard on our ongoing
financial reporting.
In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-10, Development Stage Entities (Topic 915): Elimination of Certain Financial Reporting
Requirements, Including an Amendment to Variable Interest Entities Guidance in Topic 810, Consolidation (ASU 2014-10). ASU
2014-10 simplifies the accounting guidance by removing all
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incremental financial reporting requirements for development stage entities. The amendments related to the elimination of the
inception-to-date information and other disclosure requirements of Topic 915 should be applied retrospectively, and are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2014, and interim periods therein. We early adopted this guidance as of
January 1, 2012, and accordingly, there is no inception to date information presented in our consolidated financial statements.
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Business
Overview
Invitae's mission is to bring comprehensive genetic information into mainstream medical practice to improve the quality of
healthcare for billions of people. Our goal is to aggregate most of the world's genetic tests into a single service with higher quality,
faster turnaround time and lower price than many single gene tests today. We were founded on four core principles:
•
•
•
•

Patients should own and control their own genetic information;
Healthcare professionals are fundamental in ordering and interpreting genetic information;
Genetic information is more valuable when shared; and
Driving down the price of genetic information will increase its clinical and personal utility.

As the price of DNA sequencing has declined, the amount of genetic information that can be generated per dollar has increased
exponentially, enabling the generation, analysis and storage of more comprehensive genetic information than ever before.
According to OMIM, there are more than 4,000 inherited genetic conditions for which the scientific and medical community has
already identified specific genes and variants useful for diagnosis or treatment planning. By aggregating large numbers of
currently available genetic tests into a single service, we can achieve great economies of scale that allow us to not only provide
primary single gene or multi-gene tests but also to generate and store additional genetic information on behalf of the patient for
future use. We refer to the service of managing genetic information over the course of disease or the lifetime of a patient as
"genome management." In addition, as more individuals gain access to their genetic information, we believe that sharing genetic
information will provide an economic opportunity for patients and us to participate in advancing the understanding and treatment of
disease. We believe that our ongoing investment in building our infrastructure and attracting talent across a range of disciplines to
generate, interpret and manage genetic information will position us to be a leader in the field of genetic testing and genome
management.
In the near term, we plan to focus on the immediate market for symptomatic disease with the goal to aggregate testing for large
numbers of genetic diseases into a single low-cost service. In the future, we plan on expanding our efforts in carrier and newborn
testing markets and later into the health and wellness market. As our market share grows we expect that our business will develop
in three stages over the longer term:
•

Genetic testing: making genetic testing more affordable and more accessible with faster turnaround time than ever
before. We believe that there is a significant market opportunity for high volume, low cost genetic testing that can allow us
to serve a large number of clients.

•

Genome management: building a secure and trusted genome management infrastructure. By generating and storing
large amounts of individualized genetic information for every patient sample, we believe we can create value over the
course of disease or lifetime of a client.

•

Genome network: sharing genetic information on a global scale to advance science and medicine. We plan to help
patients share their genetic information in a way that benefits them and us by acting as a permission-based broker on their
behalf.

The fundamental challenge of the first stage of our business (genetic testing) is to deliver sufficiently comprehensive and quality
content at a cost that makes sense for broad healthcare adoption and reimbursement. We believe we are well positioned to
address this challenge over time given our
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investment in infrastructure that will allow us to perform these complex tests in high volume at low cost. This infrastructure
includes the scientific curation of individual genetic disorders, genes and variants—a rapidly advancing area of science. It also
includes large-scale laboratory processes and information systems to store, analyze and manage the data; a knowledge database
that allows us to aggregate the role genetic variations play in diseases and drug responses; and software tools to help generate
reports for physicians and their patients while reducing the time required by our genetic specialists for interpretation and report
sign-out.
We are headquartered in San Francisco, California, where we have offices and a CLIA-certified, CAP-accredited facility. We also
have offices in Palo Alto, California as well as a second laboratory in Santiago, Chile. We launched our first commercial offering in
late November 2013 with an assay of 216 genes comprising 85 different genetic disorders and 17 targeted panels, and began
selling and marketing our panels with a focused effort on hereditary cancers. We charge $1,500 per sample in most cases, which
allows our clients to receive test results on any or all genes in a specific indication or multi-gene panel. Importantly, we are
providing turnaround time of less than three weeks for the substantial majority of our tests. Our volume has grown rapidly since
commercial launch with over 2,000 billable tests delivered as of September 30, 2014. In addition, we delivered over 1,800 billable
tests in the fourth quarter of 2014. We expect our rate of growth in delivered billable tests to slow in periods leading up to
commercial releases of our expanding platform, including the period in 2015 leading up to the first planned expansion of our
current assay of 216 genes. We have a multi-disciplinary team of 161 people as of December 31, 2014, including
bioinformaticians, clinical and medical geneticists, commercial and managed care experts, genetic counselors, scientists, software
engineers, web developers, graphic designers and lab automation specialists, as well as administrative and corporate personnel.
We believe that creating a strong team is a competitive advantage, and we strive to foster a motivating and unique culture in
which our people can thrive.
We believe that the keys to our future growth will be to steadily increase the amount of genetic content we offer, consistently
improve the client experience, drive physician and patient utilization of our website for ordering and delivery of results, increase
the number of partners working with us to add value for our clients and consistently drive down the price per gene for genetic
analysis and interpretation.

The global opportunity for genetic testing
We believe that genes are a fundamental particle of modern medicine and that genetic testing has the potential to affect billions of
people. Every individual has a unique genome and we believe that comprehensive knowledge of this genetic makeup will be
foundational to the future practice of medicine. We also believe that eventually many individuals in a modern healthcare system
will have their genome sequenced at birth or during the course of their lives, resulting in the potential for dramatic improvements in
health and wellness and an overall reduction in healthcare costs through preventive care.
Virtually everyone is carrying loss of function mutations in their genome, recessive genetic conditions that may affect their
extended family or genetic mutations that may affect their response to various drugs or therapies. For example, approximately
2.0% of the population has a genetic variant in one of 52 genes identified by the American College of Medical Genetics as
important incidental findings that should be reported to patients in part because they are medically actionable. In addition,
approximately 0.4% of the population has a cardiac genetic condition that may lead to early onset cardiovascular disease, and
approximately 0.5–5.0% of the population has a factor V Leiden variant that increases the genetic risk for blood clots.
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The genetic testing market is a rapidly growing global market. According to UnitedHealth Group, the U.S. genetic testing and
molecular diagnostics market in 2010 was estimated to be approximately $5 billion, of which approximately 60%, or $3 billion, was
genetic testing. As of December 2014, genetests.org estimated that there were more than 40,000 different genetic tests available
from over 650 laboratories. These tests can identify a person's predisposition to a particular disease (predictive testing), detect
whether a person has a disease (diagnostic testing), predict the potential effectiveness of a therapy or drug (pharmacogenetic
testing), or assess risk of disease progression (prognostic testing). Based on UnitedHealth's estimates for the growth of the
genetic testing and molecular diagnostics market and our assumption that genetic testing's share of this market will be held
constant at approximately 60% between 2010 and 2021, we expect the U.S. genetic testing market to grow to at least $9 billion by
2021.
An example of this rapid growth is in the area of hereditary genetic testing for cancer. The two most commonly tested genes for
hereditary risk of breast and ovarian cancer, BRCA1 and BRCA2, were identified about two decades ago. Since their discovery,
the market in the United States for testing those two genes alone has grown to over $600 million per year. In addition, the
availability of low cost DNA sequencing has resulted in the discovery of multiple new genes that may cause hereditary forms of
breast and ovarian cancer, resulting in a rapid shift in the marketplace toward multi-gene panels. We believe that the rapid growth
of the genetic testing market for hereditary cancer and the rapid evolution of multi-gene panels is evidence of the potential for
rapid market adoption of new genetic information.
While adoption of genetic testing has been increasing for certain medical applications, there remain a number of primary barriers
limiting broader adoption. The cost of genetic testing has been prohibitively high for broad market adoption and use in routine
medical practice. Under current pricing, payers generally restrict reimbursement of genetic testing to limited patient populations
that meet specific criteria. In a survey by UnitedHealth, approximately 78% of physicians identified cost of tests and
reimbursement as a barrier to incorporating genetic tests in their practice. We believe advances in DNA sequencing, information
technology and capacity for analysis and high-throughput data processing will be key drivers for reducing the cost of genetic
testing in the future.
Adoption of genetic testing also has been constrained by an inefficient testing process with long turnaround times. The growing
availability of genetic tests that are specific to a single disease has created a serial retesting process—commonly referred to as a
diagnostic odyssey—in cases where initial tests return negative results or where patients require testing for more than one
condition. The retesting process is costly and time consuming, and it commonly fails to reach a conclusive clinical diagnosis. The
challenges with sequential retesting are further exacerbated by long and unpredictable turnaround times. Currently, patients and
providers can wait more than a month to receive each genetic testing result, which limits clinical applicability of genetic testing for
patients who are in need of pressing follow-up treatment.
An example of this diagnostic odyssey is the genetic testing process for Bardet-Biedl syndrome, or BBS, a progressive multisystemic disorder that begins to manifest in early childhood. Individuals with BBS can present with a variety of symptoms including
obesity, degeneration of the retina, extra fingers or toes, kidney dysfunction and cognitive impairment. BBS is difficult and
expensive to diagnose; patients have historically undergone testing for each individual gene. With over 15 genes implicated in the
hereditary disease, sequential testing of individual genes, starting with the most common cause of the disease could easily take
up to a year and cost over $10,000. With a multi-gene panel, we are now able to evaluate the majority of BBS genes in a single
test for a price of $1,500, while providing reports to physicians usually within three weeks.
71

Table of Contents
In addition, the market for genetic tests was constrained by the existence of patent protection for certain genetic testing. However,
recent U.S. Supreme Court cases, including Mayo Collaborative Services v. Prometheus Laboratories, Inc. (2012) , have clarified
that naturally occurring DNA sequences are natural phenomena which should not be patentable. These recent cases have
ushered in an era of broader participation in the market for genetic testing services.
Finally, we believe the limited number of geneticists and genetic counselors has forced many physicians to navigate the
complexities associated with diagnosis and treatment of genetic disease with insufficient expert assistance. In the same survey by
UnitedHealth cited above, 49% of physicians identified a lack of familiarity with genetic tests as a barrier to greater adoption in
their practice. We believe the growth of the number of genetic tests available has exacerbated this problem, and makes it more
challenging for physicians to identify the appropriate tests and interpret their results. To help address these needs, our strategy is
to make the process of ordering genetic tests and understanding the results easier, not only for patients and physicians, but for
the broader universe of healthcare professionals.

Our solution for genetic testing
We are focused on making comprehensive genetic testing more affordable and more accessible than ever before, pursuing a
large and rapidly growing market with a focus on price and quality. We aim to do so for the majority of genetic tests, consolidating
most of them into a single offering at a price below the typical prices of many single gene or multi-gene panels.
Our products today
We launched our first commercial offering in late November 2013, an assay of 216 genes comprising 85 different genetic
disorders and 17 targeted panels, and began selling and marketing our multi-gene panels with a focused effort on hereditary
cancers, including breast, colon and pancreatic cancer. We charge $1,500 per sample in most cases, which allows our clients to
receive test results on any or all genes in a specific indication or multi-gene panel. We also currently offer a free re-requisition of
additional data within the same indication when ordered within 90 days of the date of service. In addition, clients may obtain test
results on genes that are in other indications or panels, or genes within the same indication or panel more than 90 days after the
date of initial service, for an additional fee. Importantly, we are providing turnaround time of less than three weeks for the
substantial majority of our tests. Since our initial launch, we have marketed additional panels addressing other genetic conditions
based on the same assay of 216 genes.
We have developed a value proposition called "the Invitae Advantage," which articulates part of our competitive advantage as
follows:
•
•
•
•
•

More affordable than ever before. One price. Any test.
Faster time to answers. From sample to results in three weeks on average.
Flexible test options. Design your own test or select a curated panel.
Deeper genetic insights. Choose multi-gene panels or order a free re-requisition.
Confidence and quality. Our team of genetic experts delivers high-quality test results.

Since our commercial launch, approximately 80% of our orders have been for indications associated with hereditary cancer. Our
hereditary cancer panel options include BRCA1 and BRCA2, a high-risk hereditary breast cancer panel of seven genes, a
hereditary colon cancer panel of 14 genes, a hereditary pancreatic cancer panel of 17 genes, or a more comprehensive hereditary
cancer panel of 29 cancer genes. Each of the cancer genes or panels is typically available for $1,500 regardless of whether one
or 29 genes are
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ordered. We are growing our volume rapidly and, since our commercial launch, we have delivered more than 2,000 billable tests
as of September 30, 2014. Sales of our tests have grown significantly in 2014 from over 200 tests in the first quarter of 2014 to
over 1,100 tests in the third quarter of 2014, which we believe is evidence that our value proposition is attractive to our clients. In
addition, we delivered over 1,800 billable tests in the fourth quarter of 2014. As the market for our billable tests develops, we
expect that competitors will release offerings with broader content that is clinically relevant to particular patients. We thus expect
our rate of growth in delivered billable tests to slow in periods leading up to commercial releases of our expanding platform,
including the period in 2015 leading up to the first planned expansion of our current assay of 216 genes. We estimate that the U.S.
market for hereditary cancer tests is greater than $650 million per year and thus represents a key growth opportunity for us. More
broadly, it is estimated that approximately 5-10% of all cancers are likely to have a hereditary basis. Today only a subset of
individuals are eligible for BRCA1 and BRCA2 testing covered by third-party health insurance plans. However, clinical studies
have established that a significant percentage of individuals with breast cancer who would not have qualified for testing based on
prior family history may test positive for BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations. We believe that the market for hereditary breast and
ovarian cancer could continue to expand as lower-cost testing becomes available, allowing healthcare systems to test larger
populations more cost-effectively.
We plan to substantially increase our sales and marketing effort in oncology in 2014 and 2015 as well as expand our sales efforts
beyond cancer. Since our initial commercialization, we have marketed additional panels involved in multiple different genetic
disorders, including cardiology, hematology, neurology and pediatric panels. For example in the field of neurology, we have
recently started to market Charcot-Marie Tooth and Spastic Paraplegia panels. Charcot-Marie Tooth, or CMT, is one of the most
common inherited neurological genetic disorders in the United States and affects approximately 1 in 2,500 individuals. We include
29 genes in our CMT panel, providing what we believe is one of the most comprehensive offerings for CMT at one of the lowest
prices and one of the fastest turn-around times on the market.
In cardiology we have recently begun to offer panels for hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, long QT syndrome, short QT syndrome and
Brugada syndrome. Long QT syndrome affects approximately 1 in 2,500 individuals, resulting in significant risk of developing an
irregular heartbeat and potential for sudden cardiac death. In addition, the presence of long QT syndrome can result in significant
side effects to some commonly prescribed drugs. Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, or HCM, is the leading cause of sudden cardiac
death in people under 30 years old and is believed to be prevalent in about 0.2% of the population. HCM may not present with
symptoms until it results in sudden cardiac death. Thus, lower cost of testing for multiple genes which cause HCM could be useful
for screening otherwise healthy individuals and their families for a potentially lethal condition.
We also offer panels for pediatric conditions such as Noonan spectrum disorders and ciliopathies. Noonan syndrome is found in
approximately 1 in 2,000 individuals and results in numerous congenital problems including congenital heart defects, short stature,
learning problems and impaired blood clotting. Ciliopathies are a broad class of genetic diseases that include diseases such as
BBS, Joubert syndrome, polycystic kidney disease and others that involve a large number of genes and have been historically
hard to diagnose in a cost effective and timely manner.
The foregoing are just some of the inherited genetic conditions included in our current assay of 216 genes. The table below lists
disorders that are covered by our 216 gene assay. Some genes are involved in more than one disorder and many disorders may
be associated with multiple genes. For a number of disorders in our current panel, we may provide some but not all of the genes
that we believe are necessary to provide a comprehensive genetic test. Nonetheless, the low price of our assay allows physicians
to conduct an initial screen for the genes which we do cover at prices that we believe are attractive for screening purposes. For
example, while we do not cover all BBS genes, we do cover the majority of the genes and at a price we believe is highly attractive
for such a test. When we believe that our gene coverage for a given disorder is broad enough to be considered comprehensive by
generally accepted medical practice, we classify it as a panel. Within each gene, disorder and panel there may also be certain
technical limitations of our assay for specific mutations or types of mutations that we appropriately identify for ordering physicians
and note in our clinical reports.
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Clients can order based on gene, disorder or panel (in bold):

74

Table of Contents

Our genetic testing process
We have designed our service to be simple for our clients to use. Our clients send a sample to us and in turn receive a test report.
Behind this streamlined user experience, however, is a sophisticated, highly automated infrastructure that we have developed in
order to scale in a cost effective manner.
Starting from the client requisition and patient sample, through the report delivery, we have invested heavily in tools and
technologies at each step in the process:
•

Client portal, logistics and sample management:
We have built an online, easy to use catalog and web portal to enable convenient online test ordering by healthcare
providers. This web portal can be entered directly or through one of our other client tools, for example the digital Invitae
Family History Tool available online and as an iPad application. Clients can use our web portal to place orders, track
progress of the client sample through our system, contact client support, download reports and order further tests. In
addition, we are dedicated to providing the highest level of client service, enhanced by technology wherever possible. We
plan to continue to invest in online tools that can help support our clients' workflow and create a world class client
experience.

•

Sample processing and sequencing:
We have developed a highly automated laboratory process for receiving and tracking samples, extracting genomic DNA,
isolating targeted DNA sequences from each genome and sequencing the targeted genes using state-of-the-art next
generation DNA sequencing technology. In addition, our fully integrated information and automation systems enable us to
track every step from receiving and processing a sample to delivery of a clinical report. The data generated by our
integrated sample processing infrastructure allow us to reduce the labor required, increase the amount of data used in our
quality systems and reduce the raw costs of sequencing. We plan to continue to invest in this infrastructure to enable
further scaling in volume and in breadth of the content we offer.

•

Bioinformatics pipeline:
We integrate standard and proprietary bioinformatics analyses in our workflow. This, combined with our integrated sample
processing infrastructure, allows us to optimize our processes for variant detection with clinical sensitivity and specificity,
especially for variant types that are difficult to resolve with current technologies. For example, we are able to offer certain
types of complex variant analysis without having to run additional laboratory tests. Any pathogenic variants detected by our
next generation DNA sequencing and analysis process are currently confirmed in a second laboratory test before reporting
to a physician.

•

Clinical reporting:
We have invested significantly in scientific curation, bioinformatics, software infrastructure and tools to build a knowledge
base about genetic conditions, genes and variants. This knowledge base and the software toolkit, which we refer to as our
clinical report optimization platform, or CROP, that delivers the information to our clinical team enables them to view
relevant information in a dashboard, which allows us to provide high quality genetic interpretation of test results to
physicians and their patients. Each report is typically reviewed by a Ph.D. scientist, a genetic counselor and a licensed
medical professional. Variants are classified in accordance with American College of Medical Genetics guidelines as
benign, likely benign, variants of uncertain significance, likely pathogenic or pathogenic. We believe our investment in
improved tools for genetic interpretation of test results also allows us to greatly
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increase the reporting throughput while at the same time standardize the variant identification and reporting process. By
heavily investing in scalable software tools to execute the sample-to-report process, we believe that our clinical analysis
costs will decline as our experience grows, even while assay and panel sizes increase.
Analyzing genomes requires a major investment in software and data analysis:

One of our competitive advantages is the way in which we generate and deliver clinical reports to our clients. While our approach
is enabled by recent advances in next generation sequencing technology, delivery of an individual, industry standard, clinical
report that matches the clinical sensitivity and specificity of the various tests being ordered requires us to address a number of
challenges. In order to do so, we have invested in solving four key areas of complexity:
•

Genetic complexity: Multiple genes and pathways can be implicated in genetic disorders, and overlapping networks of
genes and symptoms can make genetic diagnosis ever more complicated for physicians to assess. Given the intensity of
scientific and clinical research in the role of genes in disease process, the available information associating genes with
clinically relevant outcomes is rapidly evolving.
To address this complexity, we expect to continue to release new genetic content and provide healthcare professionals with
the flexibility to customize their orders by genes, disorders or multi-gene panels.

•

Disparate, non-standardized clinical information: Many of the clinicians and researchers in the field of genetics use
information taken from clinical research literature and multiple public databases in disparate repositories hosted around the
world. However, many of the public databases are subject to errors and inconsistencies, subjective outcome
determinations, unclear condition boundaries and genes and variants with multiple aliases. In addition, the physical
mapping to the genome or to the appropriate transcript is in some cases incorrect.
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With the goal of ensuring the quality of information we are using to annotate variants identified by our assay, we employ
geneticists to evaluate available literature and correct errors before incorporating the information in our knowledge base.
We also contribute to public understanding by publishing anonymized variant information from our tests in Clinvitae, a
database of clinically-observed genetic variants aggregated from public sources that we operate and make freely available,
and Clinvar, a similar database operated by the National Center for Biotechnology Information.
•

Limitations of next generation sequencing to determine complex variants: While recent advances in sequencing
technologies have been impressive, use of these technologies to consolidate testing for many genetic disorders requires
additional work when clinically important variants are complex and less amenable to standard sequencing technologies.
Current next generation sequencing technologies typically divide DNA into relatively short strands, or "reads," for
sequencing in a highly parallel manner. The process then uses software to assemble these short reads back into
sequences that represent one or more genes. This process works very well when the variant involves a change in one or
more single bases, or points, in the gene's structure. It works less well when the variant involves a more complex variation,
such as a large insertion, deletion or duplication.
One way to address this challenge is to use a different technology to identify these variants. While we take this approach
on occasion, it increases test costs and turnaround time, as it requires the management of multiple processes, often
sequentially. As a consequence, we have invested in integrated sample preparation and software analysis processes that
allow us to identify certain of these variant types using our next generation sequencing platform without having to resort to
alternative technologies. This allows us to deliver high quality reports that identify many of these complex variants at
reasonable cost and turnaround times.

•

Clinical interpretation at scale: As sequencing costs decline and the amount of available raw DNA sequence data and
genes analyzed per individual sample grows, we expect the cost to interpret the data to increase. Unless addressed
systematically, analysis and interpretation of the sheer volume of DNA sequence information available for each patient will
require increasing amounts of medical professionals' time.
We have invested significantly in scientific curation, bioinformatics and software infrastructure and tools to build a
knowledge base about genetic conditions, genes and variants. This knowledge base and the software toolkit that delivers
the information to our clinical team enables them to view relevant information in a dashboard, which allows us to provide
high quality genetic interpretation of test results to physicians and their patients. We can thus significantly increase the
reporting throughput while at the same time standardizing the variant identification and reporting process, which allows us
to deliver a simple, easy to interpret, clinical report to the ordering physician.
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We have developed a standardized clinical report for clients' ease of use:

To build the infrastructure that enables us to pursue consolidation of the rapidly growing global market for genetic testing will
require significant research and development resources. Our research and development expenses were $5.6 million, $16.0 million
and $15.6 million in 2012, 2013 and the nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively.

Commercializing our genetic tests
We have developed an offering that enables healthcare professionals to customize a test, receive rapid test results and pay a
single price at requisition. Currently, we also offer a free re-requisition for the same indication within 90 days of the date of service.
We believe that this offering, the associated value propositions and our commercial approach will allow us to accelerate market
adoption of our genetic tests.
Currently, we primarily target genetic counselors and geneticists, who we believe are early adopters and can influence broader
clinical acceptance of new diagnostics, including multi-gene panels. We intend to expand our reach to include oncologists,
neurologists, cardiologists and other healthcare professionals as we expand our offering and our commercial organization.
In order to reach current and future potential clients, our strategy is designed to expand our brand awareness, increase the
availability of genetic content, increase traffic to our website, deliver an excellent user experience and attract partners. By offering
a compelling value proposition and a comprehensive menu of genetic content at competitive prices, we seek to increase the
number of clients that order a test, to encourage repeat orders and to extend client retention.
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We employ a variety of commercial strategies to achieve these goals:
•

Our model incorporates a smaller sales force than is typical for other diagnostic companies. Because we are
aggregating large numbers of genetic tests into a single service, our offering will in most cases replace an existing test
already offered by a third party. Where our test is replacing an existing test already offered by a third party, clinical utility of
the tests that our service might replace is generally well established and accepted in medical practice, thus requiring a
targeted sales force that manages relationships with our clients with the support of our in-house client services team.

•

We are building a sophisticated client services team. We strive to deliver an enhanced customer experience and have
hired a team with deep clinical and scientific expertise designed to ensure our clients receive quality information. To
supplement our client services team, we provide our clients access to our lab directors and genetic counselors for support
as needed. We believe that this approach will allow us to maintain existing client relationships, allowing our sales force to
focus on generating new accounts and extending the reach within existing accounts.

•

Payors may emerge as a sales channel. Given our commitment to making genetic information as affordable and
accessible as possible, we see price as a competitive advantage that we expect will be particularly appealing to payors
seeking to control healthcare costs. We believe that—with equal or better turnaround time and quality—payors will be
supportive of our products and encourage their coverage universe to utilize them. We have recently begun to implement a
reimbursement strategy and plan to focus on establishing broad coverage for the long term.

•

We use innovative sales solutions. We have built an advanced web portal for healthcare professionals and their
patients to enhance and streamline their user experience, which we believe will encourage them to become loyal clients of
Invitae. We are also committed to utilizing innovative technology to complement our sales and marketing effort and reduce
the overall cost of client acquisition. For example, our Invitae Family History Tool is a family history collection tool available
in the Apple app store, which enables genetic counselors to quickly and easily build, modify, share and save their patients'
family histories. This tool also helps drive awareness of Invitae and helps to facilitate online ordering. We plan to continue
to build innovative sales solutions capitalizing on the expertise of our extensive team of software developers.

•

We employ an integrated marketing approach. Our marketing strategy is focused on driving adoption and educating
healthcare professionals on the value of multi-gene panel testing for hereditary cancers, cardiac conditions and other
genetic diseases. We work closely with national and regional patient advocacy groups and medical professional societies to
promote the awareness and benefits of genetic testing. Our marketing activities include presenting at medical conferences
and scientific meetings, advertising on leading websites and other media, contributing to social media, conducting public
relations campaigns, developing business alliances and partnerships and sponsoring continuing medical education.

Internationally, we are securing distribution arrangements in select territories to drive awareness and adoption. We currently have
distribution agreements in Brazil, Israel, Mexico and other geographies and will work with our partners to develop our go-to market
strategy and to create brand awareness, lead generation and client engagement activities in those markets. We intend to continue
to build this network to increase our global presence and to make affordable genetic testing available to patients around the world.
Increased sales and marketing efforts may be required to compete with competitors who are more established in the market and
have larger direct sales forces than we do. To this end, we plan to further
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staff in this area to expand our reach into new markets, develop educational information for patients, and engage with our target
audience.
The goal of our integrated, global sales and marketing approach is to develop and build multiple channels that drive adoption and
growth, enabling us to bring low cost genetic testing into routine medical practice to improve the quality of healthcare for billions of
people.

Securing reimbursement
By focusing on affordability, comprehensive genetic content, flexible ordering and quality, we designed our service offering to
provide benefits to payors. Because we are aggregating large numbers of genetic tests into a single service, our near-term
offering will in most cases replace an existing test already offered by a third party. Where our test is replacing an existing test
already offered by a third party, the clinical utility of the tests that our service might replace is generally well established and
accepted in medical practice.
We receive payment for our services from three categories of payors: patients, institutions and third-party payors. Given the
relatively low cost of our test, a small but consistent percentage of patients whose physicians order our tests elect to pay for the
tests themselves. Institutions, which are typically hospitals or foreign healthcare providers, account for a meaningful percentage of
our test orders. We bill these organizations for our services, and they are responsible for paying those bills and seeking
reimbursement where applicable. In the case of third party distributors, we may discount our price in exchange for marketing and
sales services provided by the distributor in the geographic market where it operates.
Third-party payors are responsible for paying for the largest percentage of tests we deliver. Currently, these third-party payors
consist exclusively of private health insurers. We believe that establishing coverage from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid
Services, or CMS, is an important factor in gaining adoption by healthcare providers, and we have recently been accepted as a
Medicare provider. Further, in October 2014 we entered into a reimbursement contract with Blue Shield of California and in
December 2014 we entered into a reimbursement contract with SelectHealth.
Third-party payors, including private insurers and CMS, require us to identify the test for which we are seeking reimbursement
using a Current Procedural Terminology, or CPT, code set maintained by the American Medical Association, or AMA. Where we
offer a multi-gene panel and there is no CPT code for the full panel, but the panel includes a gene for which the AMA has an
established CPT code, we identify the test provided under that CPT code when billing a third party payor for that test. In cases
where there is not a specific CPT code, our test may be billed under a miscellaneous code for an unlisted molecular pathology
procedure. Because this miscellaneous code does not describe a specific service, the insurance claim must be examined to
determine what service was provided, whether the service was appropriate and medically necessary, and whether payment
should be rendered. This may require a letter of medical necessity from the ordering physician and it may result in a delay in
processing the claim, a lower reimbursement amount or denial of the claim. Given the changing CPT coding environment, our
practices regarding billing may change over time.
From inception through September 30, 2014, approximately 26% of billable tests have been paid.
Additionally, we are targeting Innovation Centers within select payor organizations to establish pilot programs in order to
demonstrate the utility of multi-gene panels. One such program is underway with a major U.S. healthcare provider. We also have
an agreement with MultiPlan, a large PPO Network, which provides for adjudication and payment of claims for tests we deliver to
members of their network in cases where we have not yet contracted with the payors in whose plans the test patients are
members.
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Supporting clinical data
We do not typically develop new biomarkers but rather aggregate already known genetic tests into our genetic testing platform.
However, generating supporting clinical data is a priority for us as we seek to expand the gene content and adoption of our panels
and provide supporting information to healthcare professionals. We conduct clinical studies to confirm the analytical validity and,
when appropriate, clinical utility of our genetic testing platform. These data are used in marketing materials, whitepapers, scientific
presentations and publications as appropriate.
Some panels we offer interrogate known genes that may be used in a novel clinical context, for example, the testing of genes that
are known to cause certain cancers but have not been reported in other types of cancer. In these cases additional clinical utility
data may influence both adoption and reimbursement. We thus also participate in studies to examine issues such as prevalence
of genetic findings in different clinical populations and clinical actionability of these findings. We have developed research
collaborations with key opinion leaders and leading academic medical centers with patient-care expertise and the appropriate
patient populations for clinical studies.
In April 2014, a team of researchers from Stanford University and Invitae published the initial results of such a collaboration in the
Journal of Clinical Oncology . The study utilized a panel of 42 cancer risk genes selected for clinical and research relevance that
were tested by us on bio-banked germline DNA from 198 women who had been referred for hereditary breast and ovarian cancer
testing to the Stanford University Medical Center. These individuals had been previously tested for BRCA1 and BRCA2 by an
independent laboratory. Of the patients who participated in this study, 174 had breast cancer and 57 carried pathogenic germline
variants in BRCA1 and BRCA2. The study found that BRCA1 and BRCA2 results from our panel were highly concordant with prior
BRCA testing results on these individuals. Among the 141 BRCA-negative women, our panel identified additional risk variants in
the MLH1, CDH1, NBN, ATM, MUTYH, CDKN2A, SLX4, BLM and PRSS1 genes. Based on the identification of new risk variants
in genes beyond BRCA1 and BRCA2, Stanford's clinical staff determined that about 10% of participants warranted re-contact and
additional counseling based on this new information. Stanford provided personalized recommendations for additional screening
and other potential changes in care were provided as appropriate. The Stanford team found that this counseling was both feasible
and was appreciated by the patients.
One of the patients described above is a woman who had been diagnosed with unilateral breast cancer in her mid-30s. At the time
of her original diagnosis, the patient received a negative BRCA1 and BRCA2 test report from an independent laboratory, and
consented to have her DNA banked. In this study, the patient was found to have a pathogenic variation in the gene MLH1
associated with Lynch syndrome. Following Institutional Review Board-approved protocol, the patient was re-contacted and the
MLH1 results independently confirmed and communicated to her. In the time between the BRCA1 and BRCA2 and gene panel
tests, the patient had been diagnosed with endometrial cancer. Following communication of her MLH1 status, she underwent an
early colonoscopy and a polyp was found and removed. Thus, the tubular adenoma was caught years earlier than if no broad
genetic test had been performed.
More recently, our scientists collaborated with two medical centers to test 600 patients indicated for BRCA1 and BRCA2 testing
under National Comprehensive Cancer Network guidelines. Each of these patients had also previously received BRCA1 and
BRCA2 test results from another, well-established laboratory employing traditional diagnostic techniques. Our test detected all
BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations that had been previously detected and independently confirmed. This list includes sequence
variants of varying sizes and complexities, as well as deletions and duplications. All pathogenic variants detected by our assay
were confirmed in the reference data. We observed 99.8% agreement between our clinical interpretations of pathogenic variants
and those reported by the other lab. For the subset of patients in the study who had
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full sequence data for both BRCA1 and BRCA2 from both Invitae and from the reference lab, we reported a variant of uncertain
significance, or VUS, in 6% of the patients, while 4% of the patients had a VUS from the other lab. For this count, we excluded
patients who received limited testing (e.g., an Ashkenazi mutation panel or single-site testing) as such tests can never produce a
VUS and artificially reduce VUS rates. We believe that sharing data on clinically-interpreted genetic variants benefits the medical
and scientific communities by making knowledge more accessible, reducing VUS rates, and enabling independent verification of
genetic test results. We are committed to sharing our clinically-interpreted variants along with the supporting evidence. This study
has been expanded to over 900 patients and we expect the full study results to be available in 2015.
Clinical data from our various research and development efforts have been accepted for presentation at major conferences,
including those sponsored by the Association for Molecular Pathology, the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics,
the American Society of Clinical Oncology, the American Society of Human Genetics, and the National Society of Genetic
Counselors. Additional data have been submitted for publication and new studies in complementary clinical areas are in process.

Expanding genetic testing content
Aggregating multiple genetic tests into one service provides economies of scale and greater laboratory efficiency. We are focused
on delivering a wide variety of genetic content through our CLIA-certified laboratory, and plan to release an increasing menu of
content over time. By providing large numbers of different but related tests, such as multiple genes associated with a broad
genetic condition like hereditary cancer or cardiovascular disorders, we provide physicians with choice and flexibility in ordering
tests for individual genes, panels of genes or custom sets of genes at the physician's discretion.
In 2015, we plan to introduce substantial improvements to our genetic testing platform including certain genes with features that
are more difficult to analyze and an expansion of our current assay of 216 genes to over 500 genes. This expanded offering would
double the amount of genetic content we are able to provide at a fixed cost, which would further drive down the cost per reportable
gene.
We expect to expand the amount of genetic information we provide over time to include all of the clinically-indicated genes
currently known—more than 4,000 according to genetests.org—and eventually the whole genome. The long list of disorders for
which clinicians currently order these tests highlights the opportunity at hand in aggregating the "long tail" of genetic tests.
We plan to steadily increase the release of genetic content while driving down the cost per gene:

We are developing an integrated portfolio of laboratory processes, software tools and informatics capabilities that allow us to
process DNA-containing samples, analyze information about patient-specific genetic variation and generate test reports for
physicians and their patients. In addition, we are optimizing web technologies for efficient and productive interactions with
physicians and patients using our service. We are investing heavily in systems that we believe will allow us to deliver individual
clinical reports for physicians and patients from an expanding menu of content at increasing speed while decreasing costs per
reportable gene over time.
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The evolution of our business
There is an opportunity for genetic tests and information to be aggregated and then ultimately captured in comprehensive genome
management services. We believe this shift will enable the medical community to use genetic information on an ongoing basis, as
part of mainstream medical practice, to improve patient care.
Genome management
We are building a genome data management infrastructure to provide clients, including patients and healthcare professionals, with
an ongoing resource for pertinent genetic information over the course of disease or life of a patient. In the future we plan to work
with healthcare providers to establish a system where this genetic information is linked at the point of care for appropriate use as
needs arise.
The decreasing cost of DNA sequencing is allowing us to provide an increasing amount of genetic information at a decreasing
price per gene and thus aggregate an expanding number of genes into a single service. As a result, our assay captures more
genetic information than the physician may initially request. Only those genes that are requisitioned by the ordering physician are
analyzed by our medical team and reported to the ordering physician and patient. The additional information is stored
electronically on behalf of the patient should their physician request any of it in the future. Currently, we allow re-requisition of data
for additional genes within the same indication at no additional charge within 90 days of the date of service.
As the amount of information available for each patient expands, we plan to initiate a genome management program to provide
patients and their healthcare providers with access to that additional information to answer healthcare questions as they arise. We
expect to make additional genetic content accessible to physicians and their patients along with educational materials on the
conditions, genes and variants. Because the raw DNA sequence information has already been derived from our laboratory
processes, the cost of delivering an additional clinical report will involve only information management and clinical interpretation,
and as a consequence will be significantly lower than running a new test.
Ultimately, we believe we can significantly improve patient care by offering comprehensive genetic testing, where reports for large
numbers of genetic conditions can be available for additional charges over the lifetime of a patient. For example, a patient whose
whole genome has been sequenced could have that information linked to an electronic medical records system or available via
Invitae systems for a variety of applications. Using this information, we may be able to provide a surgical team with genetic
information about a patient's predisposition to complications associated with anesthesia, post-operative medication and bleeding
or clotting. We may also be able to provide prospective parents with carrier testing for possible genetic conditions. As another
example, in the case of patients undergoing chemotherapy we may be able to provide the treating clinicians with information about
other genetic conditions that might result in complications during treatment.
The genome network
As our genetic testing and genome management offerings grow in scale, we intend to continue to invest in informatics solutions
that enable sharing of genetic information to improve healthcare and clinical outcomes. Participants in our genome network may
include patients, family members, healthcare professionals, payors, industry professionals, researchers and clinical trial sponsors.
For example, patients will be able to share information regarding their health and test results with family members and future
generations to help them understand their own health, enabling targeted testing and potentially reducing common health issues.
Parents of children with the same rare genetic conditions can
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come into contact with each other to compare treatment options, educational choices, and provide emotional support. Physicians
could access easily navigated databases that show the latest scientific data, including variants, and connect with other physicians
to discuss diagnoses and treatment options for similar patients. Patients could donate their genetic information to the research
community. Pharmaceutical companies may seek to identify individuals with a particular genetic profile and medical history to
participate in clinical trials of new treatments. Patients may be interested in accessing marketing information on healthcare
products appropriate for their healthcare needs.
The first application of our network strategy is our Invitae Family History Tool, which is available as a free web or iPad application.
This application enables users to quickly and easily build, modify, share and save relevant family genetic and health history
information. All data is stored in a HIPAA-compliant cloud computing environment. A second part of our network strategy is
Clinvitae, a web property that allows physicians or patients to look up individual genes and variants in order to find out additional
genetic information. In the future, we plan to add functionality to allow patients and physicians to share more information about
their variants and connect with other patients or physicians who might be able to contribute additional information that could affect
their health and wellness.
We do not believe that the genome network will contribute to our financial results for several years. The success of any network
offering will depend on our ability to achieve scale in our genetic testing and genome management services. The success of the
genome network will also require that we deliver infrastructure to enable the market for the permission-based sharing of genomic
data in a way that is consistent with our core principles regarding patients' ownership and control of their data.

Our strategy
Our strategy for long-term growth is focused on five key drivers of our business, which we believe cumulate to create a flywheel
effect:

•

Expand our genetic testing content. We intend to continue to expand our test menus by steadily releasing additional
genetic content, ultimately leading to affordable whole genome services. The breadth and flexibility of our offering is
intended to contribute to an improved user experience.

•

Create a unique user experience. A state-of-the-art interactive platform will enhance our service offering, leverage the
uniquely empowering characteristics of online sharing of genetic information and,
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we believe, enable a superior economic offering to clients. We intend to continue to expend substantial efforts developing,
acquiring and implementing technology-driven enhancements to our web properties and transaction-processing systems.
We believe that an enhanced user experience and the resulting benefits to our brand and reputation will help draw clients
to us.
•

Drive traffic. We intend to increase our brand equity and visibility through excellent service and a variety of marketing and
promotional techniques, including scientific publication and presentation, sales, marketing, public relations, social media
and web technology vehicles. We expect that increased traffic to our website and eventual increases in tests orders will
help us to attract partners.

•

Attract partners. As we release additional genetic content and attract more clients, we believe our business becomes
particularly attractive to potential partners that can help the patients in our network further benefit from their genetic
information or that provide us access to new clients who may wish to join our network. The cumulative effect of the
increased volume brought by all of these strategic components will allow us to lower the cost of our service.

•

Lower the cost and price of genetic information. Our goal is to provide clients with a broad menu of genetic content at
a reasonable price and rapid turn-around time in order to grow volume and further achieve economies of scale. As we do
so and experience further cost savings, we expect that those cost savings will allow us to deliver still more comprehensive
information at decreasing prices per gene, allowing us to experience cumulative benefits from the strategies outlined
above.

We seek to differentiate our service in the market by establishing an exceptional client experience. To that end, we believe that
elevating the needs of the client over those of our other stakeholders is essential to our success. Thus, in our decision-making
processes, we will strive to prioritize, in order: (1) the needs of our clients; (2) motivating our employees to serve our clients; and
(3) our long-term stockholder value. We believe that focusing on clients as our top priority rather than short-term financial goals is
the best way to build and operate an organization for maximum long-term value creation.

Competition
Our competitors include companies that offer molecular genetic testing services, including specialty and reference laboratories
that offer traditional single and multi-gene tests. Principal competitors include companies such as Myriad Genetics, Ambry
Genetics, GeneDx, a subsidiary of Bio-Reference Laboratories, Laboratory Corporation of America and Quest Diagnostics, as well
as other commercial and academic labs. In addition to the companies that currently offer traditional genetic testing services and
research centers, other established and emerging healthcare, information technology and service companies may commercialize
competitive products including informatics, analysis, integrated genetic tools and services for health and wellness.
We believe the principal competitive factors in our market are:
•
•
•

price and quality of tests;
turnaround time of testing results;
coverage and reimbursement arrangements with third-party payors;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

breadth and depth of content;
convenience of testing;
brand recognition of test provider;
additional value-added services and informatics tools;
accessibility of results;
client service;
quality of website content; and
reliability.

We believe that we compare favorably with our competitors on the basis of these factors. However, many of our competitors and
potential competitors have longer operating histories, larger customer bases, greater brand recognition and market penetration,
substantially greater financial, technological and research and development resources and selling and marketing capabilities,
more experience dealing with third-party payors. As a result, they may be able to respond more quickly to changes in customer
requirements, devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of their tests than we do, or sell their tests at
prices designed to win significant levels of market share. We may not be able to compete effectively against these organizations.

Near-term plan of operation
From the date of this prospectus through June 30, 2015, we plan to primarily focus on increasing adoption of, and reimbursement
for, our assay of 216 genes, expanding our commercial operations and advancing our assay of over 500 genes from clinical
validation into commercial availability in 2015, working on future generations of our assays to support continued expansion of our
genetic content, and continuing to automate our laboratory and medical interpretation processes. We anticipate that we will invest
heavily in our business through June 30, 2015 in connection with the implementation of our strategy.
Specifically, we expect our research and development expenses will increase as we invest in developing additional assays,
software analysis pipelines, report optimization systems for interpreting and reporting test results, and digital tools for use by
clinicians and their patients. We also expect our selling and marketing expenses will increase as we hire additional sales,
marketing and customer service personnel, further develop our web infrastructure and undertake additional marketing efforts
through appearances at conferences and tradeshows in order to promote Invitae and to educate clinicians about our assay.
Additionally, we expect that our general and administrative expenses will increase as we incur additional expenses necessary to
comply with our obligations as a publicly-traded company and expand our billing and client services functions to support
anticipated increased demand for our tests. We believe that the estimated net proceeds from this offering, together with our
existing cash and cash equivalents, will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements for at least the next 12 months,
and as such, we do not expect it will be necessary to raise additional capital during that period.
We believe that we will require additional laboratory capacity in 2016 in order to meet the currently-anticipated demand for our
assays, and we expect to incur approximately $7.5 million in capital expenditures through June 30, 2015 to outfit our new
laboratory and acquire laboratory equipment and computer systems necessary for the anticipated growth of our business. We
anticipate that we will also lease additional office space in locations where we believe there is a pool of talent with the skills we
need in order to continue to expand our business. We also plan to continue hiring employees to support the anticipated growth in
our business, including in production, selling and marketing, research and development, and general and administrative functions.
From September 30, 2014 through June 30, 2015, we expect to increase our headcount by approximately 25 to 30 full-time
employees per quarter.
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Our expectations with respect to our near-term operating plan and ability to effectively execute on this plan are subject to a
number of factors and risks, and many of which are outside of our control. If one or more of these events were to occur, it may be
necessary for us to shift our priorities and our plans, abandon or delay one or more of our planned activities, or otherwise adjust
our proposed near- and long-term business plans. Please see "Risk Factors" for a discussion of some of these risks and events,
and their potential effects on our business.

Regulation
Reimbursement
In September 2014, the American Medical Association published new CPT codes for genomic sequencing procedures that will be
effective for dates of service on or after January 1, 2015. These include genomic sequencing procedure codes for panels,
including hereditary colon cancer syndromes, targeted genomic sequence analysis panels for solid organ neoplasms, targeted
genomic sequence analysis panels for hematolymphoid neoplasm or disorders, whole exome analyses, and whole genome
analyses. In a final determination under the Medicare Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule, or CLFS, published in November 2014,
CMS set the payment rate for these codes by the gap-fill process. Under the gap-fill process, local Medicare Administrative
Contractors, or MACs, would establish rates in 2015 considering laboratory charges and discounts to charges, resources,
amounts paid by other payers for the tests, and amounts paid by the MAC for similar tests. Based upon the local gap-filled rates
established in 2015, a national limitation amount for Medicare will be established for 2016. The national limitation amount serves
as a cap on the Medicare and Medicaid payment rates for a test procedure. A final determination as to whether the rates for the
genomic sequencing procedures will or will not be set by gap-fill in 2015 is expected to be announced by CMS by December
2014. If we are required to report our tests under these codes, there can be no guarantees that Medicare (or its contractors) will
set adequate reimbursement rates for these new codes.
In April 2014, Congress passed the Protecting Access to Medicare Act of 2014, or PAMA, which included substantial changes to
the way in which clinical laboratory services will be paid under Medicare. Under PAMA, laboratories that receive the majority of
their Medicare revenue from payments made under the CLFS or the Physician Fee Schedule would report, beginning in 2016, and
then every three years thereafter (or annually for "advanced diagnostic laboratory tests"), private payor payment rates and
volumes for their tests. An advanced diagnostic laboratory test is a clinical diagnostic laboratory test covered under Medicare that
is offered and furnished only by a single laboratory and not sold for use by a laboratory other than the original developing
laboratory (or a successor owner) and meets one of the following criteria: (1) the test is an analysis of multiple biomarkers of DNA,
RNA, or proteins combined with a unique algorithm to yield a single patient-specific result; (2) the test is cleared or approved by
the Food and Drug Administration; or (3) the test meets other similar criteria established by the Secretary of Health and Human
Services (no criteria have been established by the Secretary as of December 2014). We do not believe that our tests meet the
current definition of advanced diagnostic laboratory tests, and therefore believe we will be required to report private payer rates for
our tests on an every three years basis. CMS will use the rates and volumes reported by laboratories to develop Medicare
payment rates for the tests equal to the volume-weighted median of the private payor payment rates for the tests. Laboratories
that fail to report the required payment information may be subject to substantial civil money penalties.
For tests furnished on or after January 1, 2017, Medicare payments for clinical diagnostic laboratory tests will be paid based upon
these reported private payor rates. For clinical diagnostic laboratory tests that are assigned a new or substantially revised code,
initial payment rates for clinical diagnostic laboratory tests that are not advanced diagnostic laboratory tests will be assigned by
the cross-walk or gap-fill
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methodology, as under prior law. Initial payment rates for new advanced diagnostic laboratory tests will be based on the actual list
charge for the laboratory test.
The payment rates calculated under PAMA will be effective starting January 1, 2017. Any reductions to payment rates resulting
from the new methodology are limited to 10% per test per year in each of the years 2017 through 2019 and to 15% per test per
year in each of 2020 through 2022.
PAMA codified Medicare coverage rules for laboratory tests by requiring any local coverage determination to be made following
the local coverage determination process. PAMA also authorizes CMS to consolidate coverage policies for clinical laboratory tests
among one to four laboratory-specific MACs. These same contractors may also be designated to process claims if CMS
determines that such a model is appropriate.
Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988, or CLIA
Our clinical reference laboratory in California is required to hold certain federal certificates to conduct our business. Under CLIA,
we are required to hold a certificate applicable to the type of laboratory examinations we perform and to comply with standards
covering personnel, facilities administration, inspections, quality control, quality assurance and proficiency testing.
We have a current certificate under CLIA to perform testing at our laboratory location in San Francisco. To renew our CLIA
certificate, we are subject to survey and inspection every two years to assess compliance with program standards. Moreover,
CLIA inspectors may make random inspections of our clinical reference laboratory in California. The regulatory and compliance
standards applicable to the testing we perform may change over time, and any such changes could have a material effect on our
business.
If our clinical reference laboratory is out of compliance with CLIA requirements, we may be subject to sanctions such as
suspension, limitation or revocation of our CLIA certificate, as well as directed plan of correction, state on-site monitoring, civil
money penalties, civil injunctive suit or criminal penalties. We must maintain CLIA compliance and certification to be eligible to bill
for diagnostic services provided to Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries. If we were to be found out of compliance with CLIA
requirements and subjected to sanction, our business could be harmed.
State laboratory testing
We are required to maintain a license to conduct testing in California. California laws establish standards for day-to-day operations
of our laboratory in San Francisco. California laws mandate proficiency testing, which involves testing of specimens that have
been specifically prepared for the laboratory. If our clinical reference laboratory is out of compliance with California standards, the
California Department of Health Services, or DHS, may suspend, restrict or revoke our license to operate our clinical reference
laboratory, assess substantial civil money penalties, or impose specific corrective action plans. Any such actions could materially
affect our business. We maintain a current license in good standing with DHS. However, we cannot provide assurance that DHS
will at all times in the future find us to be in compliance with all such laws.
Several states require the licensure of out-of-state laboratories that accept specimens from those states. For example, New York
requires a laboratory to hold a permit which is issued after an on-site inspection and approval of testing methodology, and has
various requirements over and above CLIA and CAP, including those for personnel qualifications, proficiency testing, physical
facility, equipment, and quality control standards. Our laboratory holds the required licenses for Florida, Maryland, Pennsylvania
and Rhode Island.
Our clinical reference laboratory in California is required to be licensed on a test-specific basis by New York State as an out of
state laboratory and our products, as LDTs, must be approved by the New York
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State Department of Health, or NYDOH, before they are performed on samples from New York. Once approved, we would also be
subject to periodic inspection by the NYDOH and required to demonstrate ongoing compliance with NYDOH regulations and
standards. Because our laboratory is not licensed by New York, we are currently prohibited from testing samples from New York.
Other states may adopt similar licensure requirements in the future, which may require us to modify, delay or stop our operations
in such jurisdictions. Complying with licensure requirements in new jurisdictions may be expensive, time-consuming, and subject
us to significant and unanticipated delays. If we identify any other state with such requirements, or if we are contacted by any
other state advising us of such requirements, we intend to follow instructions from the state regulators as to how we should
comply with such requirements.
We may also be subject to regulation in foreign jurisdictions as we seek to expand international utilization of our tests or such
jurisdictions adopt new licensure requirements, which may require review of our tests in order to offer them or may have other
limitations such as restrictions on the transport of human blood necessary for us to perform our tests that may limit our ability to
make our tests available outside of the United States.
U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA
We provide our tests as laboratory-developed tests, or LDTs. CMS and certain state agencies regulate the performance of LDTs
(as authorized by CLIA and state law, respectively).
Historically, the FDA, has exercised enforcement discretion with respect to most LDTs and has not required laboratories that
furnish LDTs to comply with the agency's requirements for medical devices (e.g., establishment registration, device listing, quality
systems regulations, premarket clearance or premarket approval, and post-market controls). In recent years, however, the FDA
has stated it intends to end its policy of general enforcement discretion and regulate certain LDTs as medical devices. To this end,
on October 3, 2014, the FDA issued two draft guidance documents, entitled "Framework for Regulatory Oversight of Laboratory
Developed Tests (LDTs)" and "FDA Notification and Medical Device Reporting for Laboratory Developed Tests (LDTs)",
respectively, that set forth a proposed risk-based regulatory framework that would apply varying levels of FDA oversight to LDTs.
The FDA has indicated that it does not intend to modify its policy of enforcement discretion until the draft guidance documents are
finalized. It is unclear at this time when, or if, the draft guidance documents will be finalized, and even then, the new regulatory
requirements are proposed to be phased-in consistent with the schedule set forth in the guidance (in as little as 12 months after
the draft guidance is finalized for certain high-priority LDTs). Nevertheless, the FDA may decide to regulate certain LDTs on a
case-by-case basis at any time.
Legislative proposals addressing the FDA's oversight of LDTs have been introduced in previous Congresses, and we expect that
new legislative proposals will be introduced from time-to-time. The likelihood that Congress will pass such legislation and the
extent to which such legislation may affect the FDA's plans to regulate certain LDTs as medical devices is difficult to predict at this
time.
If the FDA ultimately regulates certain LDTs as medical devices, whether via final guidance, final regulation, or as instructed by
Congress, our tests may be subject to certain additional regulatory requirements. Complying with the FDA's requirements for
medical devices can be expensive, time-consuming, and subject us to significant or unanticipated delays. Insofar as we may be
required to obtain premarket clearance or approval to perform or continue performing an LDT, we cannot assure you that we will
be able to obtain such authorization. Even if we obtain regulatory clearance or approval where required, such authorization may
not be for the intended uses that we believe are commercially attractive or are critical to the
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commercial success of our tests. As a result, the application of the FDA's medical device requirements to our tests could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Failure to comply with applicable FDA regulatory requirements may trigger a range of enforcement actions by the FDA including
warning letters, civil monetary penalties, injunctions, criminal prosecution, recall or seizure, operating restrictions, partial
suspension or total shutdown of operations, and denial of or challenges to applications for clearance or approval, as well as
significant adverse publicity.
In addition, in November 2013, the FDA issued final guidance regarding the distribution of products labeled for research use only.
Certain of the reagents and other products we use in our tests are labeled as research use only products. Certain of our suppliers
may cease selling research use only products to us and any failure to obtain an acceptable substitute could significantly and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
HIPAA and HITECH
Under the administrative simplification provisions of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, as
amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH, the U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services issued regulations that establish uniform standards governing the conduct of certain electronic healthcare
transactions and protecting the privacy and security of protected health information used or disclosed by most healthcare
providers and other covered entities and their business associates, including the business associates' subcontractors. Four
principal regulations with which we are required to comply have been issued in final form under HIPAA and HITECH: privacy
regulations, security regulations, the breach notification rule, and standards for electronic transactions, which establish standards
for common healthcare transactions.
The privacy regulations cover the use and disclosure of protected health information by covered entities as well as business
associates, which are defined to include subcontractors that create, receive, maintain, or transmit protected health information on
behalf of a business associate. They also set forth certain rights that an individual has with respect to his or her protected health
information maintained by a covered entity, including the right to access or amend certain records containing protected health
information, or to request restrictions on the use or disclosure of protected health information. The security regulations establish
requirements for safeguarding the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of protected health information that is electronically
transmitted or electronically stored. HITECH, among other things, established certain health information security breach
notification requirements. A covered entity must notify any individual whose protected health information is breached according to
the specifications set forth in the breach notification rule. The HIPAA privacy and security regulations establish a uniform federal
"floor" and do not supersede state laws that are more stringent or provide individuals with greater rights with respect to the privacy
or security of, and access to, their records containing protected health information or insofar as such state laws apply to personal
information that is broader in scope than protected health information as defined under HIPAA. Massachusetts, for example, has a
state law that protects the privacy and security of personal information of Massachusetts residents.
There are significant civil and criminal fines and other penalties that may be imposed for violating HIPAA. A covered entity or
business associate is also liable for civil money penalties for a violation that is based on an act or omission of any of its agents,
including a downstream business associate, as determined according to the federal common law of agency. Additionally, to the
extent that we submit electronic healthcare claims and payment transactions that do not comply with the electronic data
transmission standards established under HIPAA and HITECH, payments to us may be delayed or denied.
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Federal, state and foreign fraud and abuse laws
In the United States, there are various fraud and abuse laws with which we must comply and we are potentially subject to
regulation by various federal, state and local authorities, including CMS, other divisions of the U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services (e.g., the Office of Inspector General), the U.S. Department of Justice, and individual U.S. Attorney offices within
the Department of Justice, and state and local governments. We also may be subject to foreign fraud and abuse laws.
In the United States, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering, paying,
soliciting or receiving remuneration, directly or indirectly, overtly, covertly, in cash or in kind to induce or in return for the furnishing,
arranging for the furnishing of, purchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging for or recommending purchasing, leasing or ordering of
any good, facility, service or item for which payment may be made in whole or in part by a federal healthcare program. Courts
have stated that a financial arrangement may violate the Anti-Kickback Statute if any one purpose of the arrangement is to
encourage patient referrals or other federal healthcare program business, regardless of whether there are other legitimate
purposes for the arrangement. The definition of "remuneration" has been broadly interpreted to include anything of value,
including gifts, discounts, credit arrangements, payments of cash, consulting fees, waivers of co-payments, ownership interests,
and providing anything at less than its fair market value. Although the Anti-Kickback Statute contains several exceptions, it is
broad and may technically prohibit many innocuous or beneficial arrangements within the healthcare industry. Further, the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services issued a series of regulatory "safe harbors." These safe harbor regulations set forth
certain provisions, which, if met, will assure healthcare providers and other parties that they will not be prosecuted under the
federal Anti-Kickback Statute. Although full compliance with the statutory exceptions or regulatory safe harbors ensures against
prosecution under the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the failure of a transaction or arrangement to fit within a specific statutory
exception or regulatory safe harbor does not necessarily mean that the transaction or arrangement is illegal or that prosecution
under the federal Anti-Kickback Statute will be pursued. Penalties for federal anti-kickback violations are severe, and include
imprisonment, criminal fines, civil money penalties, and exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs. Many states
also have anti-kickback statutes, some of which may apply to items or services reimbursed by any third-party payor, including
commercial insurers.
There are also federal laws related to healthcare fraud and false statements, among others, relating to healthcare matters. The
healthcare fraud statute prohibits knowingly and willfully executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, including
private payors. A violation of this statute is a felony and may result in fines, imprisonment, or exclusion from governmental payor
programs such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. The false statements statute prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying,
concealing or covering up a material fact, or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement in connection with the
delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items, or services. A violation of this statute is a felony and may result in fines,
imprisonment, or exclusion from governmental payor programs.
Another development affecting the healthcare industry is the increased enforcement of the federal False Claims Act and, in
particular, actions brought pursuant to the False Claims Act's "whistleblower" or "qui tam" provisions. The False Claims Act
imposes liability on any person or entity that, among other things, knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, a false or
fraudulent claim for payment by a federal governmental payor program. The qui tam provisions of the False Claims Act allow a
private individual to bring actions on behalf of the federal government alleging that the defendant has defrauded the federal
government by submitting a false claim to the federal government and permit such individuals to share in any amounts paid by the
entity to the government in fines or settlement. When an entity is determined to
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have violated the False Claims Act, it may be required to pay up to three times the actual damages sustained by the government,
plus civil penalties ranging from $5,500 to $11,000 for each false claim.
In addition, various states have enacted false claim laws analogous to the federal False Claims Act, although many of these state
laws apply where a claim is submitted to any third-party payor and not merely a governmental payor program.
Additionally, the civil monetary penalties statute imposes penalties against any person or entity that, among other things, is
determined to have presented or caused to be presented a claim to a federal health program that the person knows or should
know is for an item or service that was not provided as claimed or for a claim that is false or fraudulent. This law also prohibits the
offering or transfer of remuneration to a Medicare or state healthcare program beneficiary if the person knows or should know it is
likely to influence the beneficiary's selection of a particular provider, practitioner, or supplier of services reimbursable by Medicare
or a state healthcare program, unless an exception applies.
In Europe various countries have adopted anti-bribery laws providing for severe consequences, in the form of criminal penalties
and/or significant fines, for individuals and/or companies committing a bribery offence. Violations of these anti-bribery laws, or
allegations of such violations, could have a negative impact on our business, results of operations and reputation. For instance, in
the United Kingdom, under the Bribery Act 2010, which went into effect in July 2011, a bribery occurs when a person offers, gives
or promises to give a financial or other advantage to induce or reward another individual to improperly perform certain functions or
activities, including any function of a public nature. Bribery of foreign public officials also falls within the scope of the Bribery Act
2010. Under the new regime, an individual found in violation of the Bribery Act 2010, faces imprisonment of up to 10 years. In
addition, the individual can be subject to an unlimited fine, as can commercial organizations for failure to prevent bribery.
Physician referral prohibitions
Under a federal law directed at "self-referral," commonly known as the "Stark Law," there are prohibitions, with certain exceptions,
on referrals for certain designated health services, including laboratory services, that are covered by the Medicare program by
physicians who personally, or through an immediate family member, have a financial relationship with the entity to which the
referrals for designated health services are made. The prohibition also extends to payment for any testing referred in violation of
the Stark Law. A person who engages in a scheme to circumvent the Stark Law's referral prohibition may be fined up to $100,000
for each such arrangement or scheme. In addition, any person who presents or causes to be presented a claim to the Medicare
program in violation of the Stark Law is subject to civil monetary penalties of up to $15,000 per service, an assessment of up to
three times the amount claimed and possible exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs. In addition, any person
who presents or causes to be presented a claim to the Medicare program in violation of the Stark Law is subject to civil monetary
penalties of up to $15,000 per service, an assessment of up to three times the amount claimed, and possible exclusion from
participation in federal or state health care programs. Bills submitted in violation of the Stark Law may not be paid by Medicare,
and any person collecting any amounts with respect to any such prohibited bill is obligated to refund such amounts. Many states
have comparable laws that are not limited to Medicare referrals. The Stark Law also prohibits state receipt of Federal Medicaid
matching funds for prohibited referrals, but this provision of the Stark Law has not been implemented by regulations. In addition,
some courts have held that the submission of claims to Medicaid that would be prohibited as self-referrals under the Stark Law for
Medicare could implicate the False Claims Act.
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Corporate practice of medicine
Numerous states have enacted laws prohibiting business corporations, such as us, from practicing medicine and employing or
engaging physicians to practice medicine, generally referred to as the prohibition against the corporate practice of medicine.
These laws are designed to prevent interference in the medical decision-making process by anyone who is not a licensed
physician. For example, California's Medical Board has indicated that determining what diagnostic tests are appropriate for a
particular condition and taking responsibility for the ultimate overall care of the patient, including providing treatment options
available to the patient, would constitute the unlicensed practice of medicine if performed by an unlicensed person. Violation of
these corporate practice of medicine laws may result in civil or criminal fines, as well as sanctions imposed against us and/or the
professional through licensure proceedings. Typically such laws are only applicable to entities that have a physical presence in the
state.

Intellectual property
We rely on a combination of intellectual property rights, including trade secrets, copyrights, trademarks, customary contractual
protections and, to a lesser extent, patents, to protect our core technology and intellectual property. With respect to patents, we
believe that the practice of patenting individual genes, along with patenting tools and methods specific to individual genes, has
impeded the progress of the genetic testing industry beyond single gene tests and is antithetical to our core principle that patients
should own and control their own genomic information. Over the past three years the U.S. Supreme Court has issued a series of
unanimous (9-0) decisions setting forth limits on the patentability of natural phenomena, natural laws, abstract ideas and their
applications— i.e. , Mayo Collaborative v. Prometheus Laboratories (2012) , or Mayo , Association for Molecular Pathology v.
Myriad Genetics (2013) , or Myriad , and Alice Corporation v. CLS Bank (2014) , or Alice. As discussed below, we believe the
Mayo , Myriad and Alice decisions bring clarity to the limits to which patents may cover specific genes, mutations of such genes,
or gene-specific technology for determining a patient's genomic information.
Patents
Recent U.S. Supreme Court cases have clarified that naturally occurring DNA sequences are natural phenomena which should
not be patentable. On June 13, 2013, the U.S. Supreme Court decided Myriad , a case challenging the validity of patent claims
held by Myriad relating to the cancer genes BRCA1 and BRCA2. The Myriad Court held that genomic DNAs that have been
isolated from, or have the same sequence as, naturally occurring samples, such as the DNA constituting the BRCA1 and BRCA2
genes or fragments thereof, are not eligible for patent protection. Instead, the Myriad Court held that only those complementary
DNAs (cDNAs) which have a sequence that differs from a naturally occurring fragment of genomic DNA may be patent eligible.
Because it will be applied by other courts to all gene patents, the holding in Myriad also invalidates patent claims to other genes
and gene variants. Prior to Myriad , on August 16, 2012, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit had held that certain
patent claims of Myriad directed to methods of comparing or analyzing BRCA1 and BRCA2 sequences to determine whether or
not a person has a variant or mutation are unpatentable abstract processes, and Myriad did not appeal such ruling.
We do not currently have any patents or patent applications directed to the sequences of specific genes or variants of such genes,
nor have we in-licensed such patents rights of any third party. We believe that correlations between specific gene variants and a
person's susceptibility to certain conditions or diseases are natural laws that are not patentable under the U.S. Supreme Court's
decision in Mayo . The Mayo case involved patent claims directed to optimizing, on a patient-specific basis, the dosage of a
certain drug by measuring its metabolites in a patient. The Mayo Court determined that patent claims directed at detection of
natural correlations, such as the correlation between drug metabolite levels in a patient and that drug's
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optimal dosage for such patient, are not eligible for patent protection. The Mayo Court held that claims based on this type of
comparison between an observed fact and an understanding of that fact's implications represent attempts to patent a natural law
and, moreover, when the processes for making the comparison are not themselves sufficiently inventive, claims to such processes
are similarly patent-ineligible. On June 19, 2014, the U.S. Supreme Court decided Alice , where it amplified its Mayo and Myriad
decisions and clarified the analytical framework for distinguishing between patents that claim laws of nature, natural phenomena
and abstract ideas and those that claim patent-eligible applications of such concepts. According to the Alice Court, the analysis
depends on whether a patent claim directed to a law of nature, a natural phenomenon or an abstract idea contains additional
elements, an "inventive concept," that "is 'sufficient to ensure that the patent in practice amounts to significantly more than a
patent upon the [ineligible concept] itself"' (citing Mayo ).
We believe that Mayo , Myriad and Alice not only render as unpatentable genes, gene fragments and the detection of a person's
sequence for a gene, but also have the same effect on generic applications of conventional technology to specific gene
sequences. For example, we believe that generic claims to primers or probes directed to specific gene sequences and uses of
such primers and probes in determining a person's genetic information are not patentable. We do not currently have any patents
or patent applications directed to such subject matter nor have we in-licensed such patents rights of any third party.
Unlike patents directed to specific genes, we do rely upon, in part, patent protection to protect technology that is not gene-specific
and that provides us with a potential competitive advantage as we focus on making comprehensive genetic information less
expensive and more broadly available to our clients. In this regard, we have one issued U.S. patent, two pending U.S. utility patent
application, one PCT application and three pending U.S. provisional patent applications directed to various aspects of our
laboratory, analytic and business practices. We intend to pursue further patent protection where appropriate.
Trade secrets
In addition to seeking patent protection for some of our laboratory, analytic and business practices, we also rely on trade secrets,
including unpatented know-how, technology and other proprietary information, to maintain and develop our competitive position.
We have developed proprietary procedures for both the laboratory processing of patient samples and the analysis of the resulting
data to generate clinical reports. For example, we have automated aspects of our processes for curating information about known
variants, identifying variants in an individual's sequence information, associating those variants with known information about their
potential effects on disease, and presenting that information for review by personnel responsible for its interpretation and for the
delivery of test reports to physicians. We try to protect these trade secrets, in part, by taking reasonable steps to keep them
confidential. This includes entering into nondisclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to them, such
as our employees and certain third parties. We also enter into invention or patent assignment agreements with our employees and
consultants that obligate them to assign to us any inventions developed in the course of their work for us. However, we may not
enter into such agreements with all relevant parties, and these parties may not abide by the terms of their agreements. Despite
measures taken to protect our intellectual property, unauthorized parties might copy or independently develop and commercially
exploit aspects of our technology or obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary.
Trademarks
We work hard to achieve a high level of quality in our operations and to provide our clients with a superior experience when
interacting with us. As a consequence, our brand is very important to us, as it is a symbol of our reputation and representative of
the goodwill we seek to generate with our clients. As a consequence, we have invested significant resources in protection of our
trademarks. To date, we have
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filed for trademark protection for INVITAE as well as our logo (circle design) and INVITAE with the logo. Registrations for INVITAE
have been obtained in eight countries and are currently pending in more than 20 countries. Applications for our logo (circle design)
are currently pending in more than 18 countries, and one application is pending for INVITAE with the logo.

Legal proceedings
On November 25, 2013, the University of Utah Research Foundation, the Trustees of the University of Pennsylvania, HSC
Research and Development Limited Partnership, Endorecherche, Inc. and Myriad (referred to collectively as the Myriad Plaintiffs)
filed a complaint in the U.S. District Court in the District of Utah (referred to as the Utah Action), alleging that certain of our genetic
testing services infringe certain claims of U.S. Patent Nos. 7,753,441; 6,951,721; 7,250,497; 6,033,857; 6,051,379; 7,470,510;
7,622,258; and 7,838,237 (referred to collectively as the Myriad Patents). On November 26, 2013, we filed a complaint for
declaratory judgment in the U.S. District Court in the Northern District of California (referred to as the California Action), asserting
that the Myriad Patents are invalid and we do not infringe them, and the Myriad Plaintiffs counterclaimed alleging that we infringe
the Myriad Patents. Although the Utah Action has been dismissed, on February 19, 2014, the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict
Litigation granted the Myriad Plaintiffs' motion to consolidate for pre-trial proceedings all actions concerning the Myriad Patents
(referred to as the MDL Proceedings), with the MDL Proceedings taking place in the District of Utah. On January 23, 2015, the
Myriad Plaintiffs stipulated to the dismissal with prejudice of all of their claims in the California Action and granted us a covenant
not to sue for all of the patents they had asserted against us, and on January 26, 2015, the court issued an order dismissing the
California Action with prejudice thereby ending our involvement in the MDL Proceedings.

Environmental matters
Our operations require the use of hazardous materials (including biological materials) which subject us to a variety of federal, state
and local environmental and safety laws and regulations. Some of these regulations provide for strict liability, holding a party
potentially liable without regard to fault or negligence. We could be held liable for damages and fines as a result of our, or others',
business operations should contamination of the environment or individual exposure to hazardous substances occur. We cannot
predict how changes in laws or new regulations will affect our business, operations or the cost of compliance.

Raw materials and suppliers
We rely on a limited number of suppliers, or, in some cases, sole suppliers, including Agilent Technologies, Inc., Illumina, Inc.,
Integrated DNA Technologies Incorporated, Qiagen N.V. and Roche Holdings Ltd. for certain laboratory reagents, as well as
sequencers and other equipment and materials which we use in our laboratory operations. We rely on Illumina as the sole supplier
of next generation sequencers and associated reagents and as the sole provider of maintenance and repair services for these
sequencers. Our laboratory operations could be interrupted if we encounter delays or difficulties in securing these reagents,
sequencers or other equipment or materials, and if we cannot obtain an acceptable substitute. Any such interruption could
significantly affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and reputation. We believe that there are only a few
other manufacturers that are currently capable of supplying and servicing the equipment necessary for our laboratory operations,
including sequencers and various associated reagents. The use of equipment or materials provided by these replacement
suppliers would require us to alter our laboratory operations. Transitioning to a new supplier would be time consuming and
expensive, may result in interruptions in our laboratory operations, could
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affect the performance specifications of our laboratory operations or could require that we revalidate our tests. We cannot assure
you that we would be able to secure alternative equipment, reagents and other materials, or bring such equipment, reagents and
materials on line and revalidate them without experiencing interruptions in our workflow. If we encounter delays or difficulties in
securing, reconfiguring or revalidating the equipment and reagents we require for our tests, our business and reputation could be
adversely affected.

Customer and geographic concentrations
In 2013 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, the percentages of our revenue attributable to sources in the United
States were 42 and 64, respectively; the percentages of our revenue attributable to sources in Canada were one and 21,
respectively; the percentages of our revenue attributable to sources in Israel were 44 and 12, respectively; and the percentages of
our revenue attributable to countries excluding the United States, Canada and Israel were 13 and three, respectively.
As of December 31, 2012 and 2013, and September 30, 2014, we had net long-lived assets in the United States of $2.7 million,
$5.9 million and $8.9 million, respectively, and net long-lived assets in Chile of $0, $2.2 million and $1.9 million, respectively. As of
December 31, 2012 and 2013, and September 30, 2014 we did not have long-lived assets outside of the United States and Chile.
As of September 30, 2014, all of our revenue has been derived from sales of our assay of 216 genes. Teva Pharmaceuticals
Industries Ltd. accounted for 44% and 12% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 and for the nine months ended
September 30, 2014, respectively. In 2012, 2013 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, no other customer
represented 10% or more of our revenue. For the nine months ended September 30, 2014, our ten largest customers accounted
for approximately 35% of billable tests delivered.

Facilities
Our corporate headquarters and laboratory operations are located in San Francisco, California, where we lease and occupy
approximately 7,795 square feet of space. The lease for our headquarters expires in August 2017, with a five-year extension at
our option. Additionally, we sublease approximately 8,852 square feet of laboratory and office space in a nearby building under an
agreement that expires in February 2017. We lease approximately 12,286 square feet of office space at another location in San
Francisco under an agreement that expires in April 2017. We also lease approximately 8,348 square feet of office space in Palo
Alto, California pursuant to an agreement that expires in March 2020. We also lease approximately 200 square feet of additional
laboratory space in Santiago, Chile, pursuant to a lease agreement that expires in May 2015, with an automatic renewal period of
two additional years.
We believe that our facilities are adequate for our current needs and that additional space will be available on commercially
reasonable terms if required.

Our culture and employees
Growing and retaining a strong team is critical to our long-term success. Our multidisciplinary team includes bioinformaticians,
clinical and medical geneticists, commercial and managed care experts, genetic counselors, scientists, software engineers, web
developers, graphic designers and lab automation specialists, as well as staff in our administrative and corporate teams. We pride
ourselves on the quality and integrity of the people we hire, and we strive to foster a motivating and unique culture in which we
hope they will thrive.
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Our people have widely varied skills and capabilities, and our success hinges on our ability to apply all of those skills and
capabilities in concert to achieve our mission. We relish individuality, and we strive to make sure that in efforts to create a
cohesive working environment, we preserve diversity of views and approaches.
Our mission and relentless focus on our clients' needs drive attitudes and behaviors across the company. To support our values,
we implement the following strategies:
•

Attracting and Maintaining Exceptional Employees. We believe that versatile and experienced employees,
management and directors provide significant advantages in the rapidly evolving market in which we compete. Since
inception, we have devoted and will continue to devote substantial efforts to building a talented employee base and to
attracting an experienced management team with a track record in fast-growing organizations. We provide significant
autonomy, much more than would typically be given, to the individual and to leaders within the organization but hold each
employee accountable through a steady-state peer review feedback systems in which every employee is evaluated by
peers on a weekly basis. This system provides us with a large amount of performance data on a consistent basis as a
starting point for developing and mentoring our employees.

•

Commitment to Experimentation and Data-Informed Decisions. We strive to make decisions informed by data, and
look for counterintuitive information that might go against the conventional wisdom in the industry to give us a business
advantage. We experiment with different commercial and technology hypotheses across our business and make decisions
based on supporting data. We intend to research and develop not only new technology processes but business strategy as
well.

•

Transparency. We strive to be transparent with our clients, employees and shareholders. We believe the best execution
happens where information is broadly shared. We view a state of heightened transparency within companies and with the
public as a growing trend that will only accelerate in the future.

As of December 31, 2014, we had 161 employees, the significant majority of which are based in San Francisco or Palo Alto,
California. Of these employees, 77 were in research and development, 12 were in commercial laboratory operations, 44 were in
sales and marketing and 28 were in general and administrative. None of our employees are represented by a labor union, and we
consider our employee relations to be good.
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Management
Executive officers and directors
The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2014, certain information regarding our current executive officers and directors:
Age
Name
Randal W. Scott, Ph.D.

57

Sean E. George, Ph.D.
Lisa Alderson

41
43

Lee Bendekgey
Eric Aguiar, M.D.(1)(2)(3)
Geoffrey S. Crouse(1)(2)(3)

57
52
44

Position
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director
President, Chief Operating Officer, Director and
Co-Founder
Chief Commercial Officer
Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel and
Secretary
Director
Director

(1)

Member of our Compensation Committee

(2)

Member of our Audit Committee

(3)

Member of our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Executive officers
Randal W. Scott, Ph.D. has served as our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since August 2012 and as a director since 2010.
From 2000 through August 2012, Dr. Scott held a number of positions at Genomic Health, Inc., a public-held genomic information
company which he co-founded in 2000, most recently as the Chief Executive Officer of a wholly-owned subsidiary of Genomic
Health, and as a director. Prior to that, Dr. Scott served as Executive Chairman of the Board of Genomic Health, from January
2009 until March 2012 and Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer from August 2000 until December 2008. Dr. Scott
was a founder of Incyte Corporation, which at the time was a genomic information company, and served in various roles from
1991 through 2000, including Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Scientific Officer. Dr. Scott holds a B.S. in Chemistry
from Emporia State University and a Ph.D. in Biochemistry from the University of Kansas. We believe that Dr. Scott is qualified to
serve on our board due to his years of experience in the life sciences industry and his extensive executive leadership and
management experience at public companies.
Sean E. George, Ph.D. is one of our co-founders and has served as our President and Chief Operating Officer since August 2012.
He has also served as a director since January 2010. He initially served as our Chief Executive Officer from January 2010 to
August 2012. Prior to co-founding Invitae, Dr. George served as Chief Operating Officer from 2007 to November 2009 at
Navigenics, Inc., a personalized medicine company. Previously, he served as Senior Vice President of Marketing and Senior Vice
President, Life Science Business at Affymetrix, Inc., a provider of life science and molecular diagnostic products, as well as Vice
President, Labeling and Detection Business at Invitrogen Corporation, a provider of tools to the life sciences industry, during his
tenure there from 2002 to 2007. Dr. George holds a B.S. in Microbiology and Molecular Genetics from the University of California
Los Angeles, an M.S. in Molecular and Cellular Biology from the University of California Santa Barbara, and a Ph.D. in Molecular
Genetics from the University of California Santa Cruz. We believe that Dr. George is qualified to serve on our board of directors
due to his extensive experience in the life science industry, his broad leadership experience with life science companies and his
educational background.
Lisa Alderson has served as our Chief Commercial Officer since September 2012. Ms. Alderson is also a founding partner of Tech
Care Now, an information technology and service company, and has served on its
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board since January 2011. She previously was the Executive Vice President of Plum District, an e-commerce company, from July
2011 to May 2012. From January 2010 to January 2011, Ms. Alderson was a consultant, advisor and angel investor. Prior to that,
she served as Chief Executive Officer and President of CrossLoop, Inc., a marketplace for technical services, from April 2007 to
January 2010, and as President of Cinema Circle, Inc., a subscription-based home entertainment company, from 2004 to 2006.
Previously, she was part of the start-up team at Genomic Health, Inc., from 2000 to 2002, and a Manager of Strategic Planning at
The Walt Disney Company from 1997 to 1999. Ms. Alderson holds a B.A. in Journalism and International Studies from Colorado
State University and an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School.
Lee Bendekgey has served as our Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel since November 2013. Mr. Bendekgey is the
former General Counsel of DNAnexus, Inc., a cloud-based genome informatics and data management company, where he served
from September 2011 to October 2013. From March 2009 until September 2011, Mr. Bendekgey pursued personal interests. Prior
to that, he was Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel for Nuvelo, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company, from July 2004 to
March 2009; and he served as General Counsel and Chief Financial Officer for Incyte Corporation from 1998 to July 2004.
Mr. Bendekgey holds a B.A. in French and Political Science from Kalamazoo College and a J.D. from Stanford Law School.
Non-employee directors
Eric Aguiar, M.D. has been a member of our board of directors since September 2010. He has been a partner in the venture
capital firm Thomas, McNerney & Partners since 2007. Prior to joining that firm, he was a Managing Director of HealthCare
Ventures, a healthcare focused venture capital firm, from 2001 to 2007. Dr. Aguiar was Chief Executive Officer and a director of
Genovo, Inc., a biopharmaceuticals company focused on gene delivery and gene regulation, from 1998 to 2000. Dr. Aguiar
previously served as a director of Amarin Pharmaceuticals, a publicly-held biopharmaceutical company, as well as on the boards
of numerous private companies including companies in the life sciences industry. He is a member of the Board of Overseers of
the Tufts School of Medicine and a member of the Council on Foreign Relations. He received an M.D. with honors from Harvard
Medical School and a B.A. in Arts and Sciences from Cornell University. Dr. Aguiar was also a Luce Fellow and is a Chartered
Financial Analyst. We believe that Dr. Aguiar is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his extensive experience with in
the life science field, his experience on various boards, and his management and financial experience with life sciences
companies.
Geoffrey S. Crouse has served on our board of directors since March 2012. Since September 2012 he has served as Chief
Executive Officer of Cord Blood Registry, a company focusing on storing stem cells from umbilical cords. He previously served as
Chief Operating Officer at Immucor, Inc., a publicly traded in vitro diagnostics company, from August 2009 to April 2011. From
April 2011 through September 2012, Mr. Crouse was a consultant. Prior to Immucor, he served as Vice President of the life
sciences business at Millipore Corporation, a publicly traded provider of technologies, tools and services for the life science
industry, from 2006 to 2009. Prior to joining Millipore, he worked at Roche, a pharmaceuticals and diagnostics company, where he
held various roles from 2003 to 2006. Mr. Crouse holds a B.A. in English and Japanese from Boston College and an M.B.A. and
Masters of Public Health from the University of California Berkeley. We believe that Mr. Crouse is qualified to serve on our board
of directors due to his extensive experience in the life sciences industry and his management and financial experience with life
sciences companies.
99

Table of Contents

Voting arrangements
Pursuant to a fifth amended and restated voting agreement that we entered into with certain holders of our preferred stock:
•

the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock have the right to nominate one director to our board of
directors, currently designated as Sean E. George;

•

Thomas, McNerney & Partners II, L.P. has the right to nominate one director to our board of directors, currently designated
as Eric Aguiar;

•

the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Series C preferred stock have the right to nominate one director to our
board of directors, currently designated as Randal W. Scott; and

•

our board of directors has the right to nominate four individuals, subject to certain independence requirements, provided
that (1) if our board of directors is not able to agree upon such nominee(s) then such seats shall remain vacant, and
(2) Baker Bros. Advisors L.P. may nominate one of these directors. One of these directors, who is not nominated by Baker
Bros. Advisor L.P., is currently designated as Geoffrey S. Crouse.

The voting agreement will terminate upon the completion of this offering.

Board composition
Our amended and restated bylaws, which will become effective upon completion of this offering, provide that our board shall
consist of such number of directors as the board of directors may from time to time determine. Our board of directors will initially
consist of four directors. The authorized number of directors may be changed by resolution of our board of directors. Vacancies on
our board can be filled by resolution of our board of directors. Upon the completion of this offering, our board of directors will be
divided into three classes, each serving staggered, three-year terms:
•

Our Class I director will be Geoffrey S. Crouse and his term will expire at the first annual meeting of stockholders following
the date of this prospectus;

•

Our Class II director will be Randal W. Scott and his term will expire at the second annual meeting of stockholders following
the date of this prospectus; and

•

Our Class III directors will be Eric Aguiar and Sean E. George and their terms will expire at the third annual meeting of
stockholders following the date of this prospectus.

As a result, only one class of directors will be elected at each annual meeting of stockholders, with the other classes continuing for
the remainder of their respective terms.

Corporate governance
We believe our corporate governance initiatives comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules and regulations of the SEC
adopted thereunder. In addition, we believe our corporate governance initiatives comply with the rules of the NYSE. After this
offering, our board of directors will continue to evaluate our corporate governance principles and policies.
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Our board of directors has adopted a code of business conduct and ethics that applies to each of our directors, officers and
employees. The code addresses various topics, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

compliance with laws, rules and regulations;
confidentiality;
conflicts of interest;
corporate opportunities;
competition and fair dealing;
payments or gifts from others;
health and safety;
insider trading;
protection and proper use of company assets;
record keeping; and
giving and accepting gifts.

Our board of directors has adopted a code of ethics for senior financial officers applicable to our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer as well as other key management employees addressing ethical issues. Upon completion of this offering, the
code of business conduct and the code of ethics will each be posted on our website. The code of business conduct and the code
of ethics can only be amended by the approval of a majority of our board of directors. Any waiver to the code of business conduct
for an executive officer or director or any waiver of the code of ethics may only be granted by our board of directors or our
nominating and corporate governance committee and must be timely disclosed as required by applicable law. We also intend to
implement whistleblower procedures that establish formal protocols for receiving and handling complaints from employees. Any
concerns regarding accounting or auditing matters reported under these procedures will be communicated promptly to our audit
committee.

Director independence
Our board of directors determined that Eric Aguiar and Geoffrey S. Crouse are "independent directors" as defined under the rules
of the NYSE. There are no family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers. The NYSE permits a phase-in
period of up to one year for an issuer listing its securities on the NYSE in connection with its initial public offering in order meet the
requirement that a majority of the board of directors be comprised of independent directors. We intend to take advantage of this
phase-in period.

Board leadership structure
Our board of directors is currently chaired by Randal W. Scott. Our board believes that having a combined chairman of the board
and chief executive officer is the most effective leadership structure for our company at this time. The board believes that Dr. Scott
is the director best situated to identify strategic opportunities and focus the activities of the board due to his full-time commitment
to our business and his industry-specific experience. The board also believes that the combined role of chairman and chief
executive officer promotes effective execution of strategic imperatives and facilitates information flow between management and
the board.

Role of the board in risk oversight
Our board of directors is responsible for overseeing the overall risk management process at the company. The responsibility for
managing risk rests with executive management while the committees of our board
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of directors and our board of directors as a whole participate in the oversight process. Our board of directors' risk oversight
process builds upon management's risk assessment and mitigation processes, which include reviews of long-term strategic and
operational planning, executive development and evaluation, regulatory and legal compliance, and financial reporting and internal
controls.

Board committees
We have established an audit committee, compensation committee and nominating and corporate governance committee, each of
which will operate, upon the completion of this offering, under a charter that has been approved by our board. The composition of
each committee and its respective charter will be effective upon the completion of this offering, and copies of each charter will be
posted on the corporate governance section of our website at www.invitae.com. We believe that the composition of these
committees meets the criteria for independence under, and the functioning of these committees complies with the applicable
requirements of, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the current rules and regulations of the SEC and the NYSE. We intend to comply
with future requirements as they become applicable to us. Each committee has the composition and responsibilities described
below.
Audit committee
Dr. Aguiar and Mr. Crouse serve on our audit committee. Dr. Aguiar is the chairperson of this committee. Our audit committee
assists our board of directors in fulfilling its legal and fiduciary obligations in matters involving our accounting, auditing, financial
reporting, internal control and legal compliance functions, and is directly responsible for the approval of the services performed by
our independent accountants and reviewing of their reports regarding our accounting practices and systems of internal accounting
controls. Our audit committee also oversees the audit efforts of our independent accountants and takes actions as it deems
necessary to satisfy itself that the accountants are independent of management. Our audit committee is also responsible for
monitoring the integrity of our consolidated financial statements and our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements as
they relate to financial statements or accounting matters. Our board of directors has determined that each of Dr. Aguiar and
Mr. Crouse is an audit committee financial expert, as defined by the rules promulgated by the SEC, and each of the members of
our audit committee has the requisite financial sophistication as defined under the applicable rules and regulations of NYSE. The
SEC and the NYSE permit a phase-in period of up to one year for an issuer registering securities in an initial public offering to
meet the heightened audit committee independence requirements. Under the initial public offering phase-in period, (1) all but one
of the members of the audit committee are exempt from the SEC independence requirements for up to 90 days from the date of
effectiveness of the registration statement; and (2) a minority of the members of the audit committee are exempt from the
independence requirements for up to one year from the date of effectiveness of the registration statement. Therefore, pursuant the
initial public offering phase-in period, (1) one member of the audit committee must satisfy the heightened independence
requirement at the outset, (2) a majority of the members must satisfy the heightened independence requirement within 90 days,
and (3) all members must satisfy the heightened independence requirement within one year from effectiveness of our initial public
offering registration statement. We intend to take advantage of such phase-in period.
Compensation committee
Dr. Aguiar and Mr. Crouse serve on our compensation committee. Mr. Crouse is the chairperson of this committee. Our
compensation committee assists our board of directors in meeting its responsibilities with regard to oversight and determination of
executive compensation and assesses whether our compensation structure establishes appropriate incentives for officers and
employees. Our compensation committee
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reviews and makes recommendations to our board of directors with respect to our major compensation plans, policies and
programs. In addition, our compensation committee reviews and makes recommendations for approval by the independent
members of our board of directors regarding the compensation for our executive officers, establishes and modifies the terms and
conditions of employment of our executive officers and administers our stock option plans. The NYSE permits a phase-in period of
up to one year for an issuer registering securities in an initial public offering that follows the same parameters as the SEC
heightened independence requirements discussed above for audit committee service. We intend to take advantage of such
phase-in period.
Nominating and corporate governance committee
Dr. Aguiar and Mr. Crouse serve on our nominating and corporate governance committee. Dr. Aguiar is the chairperson of this
committee. Our nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for making recommendations to our board of
directors regarding candidates for directorships and the size and composition of the board of directors. In addition, our nominating
and corporate governance committee is responsible for overseeing our corporate governance guidelines, and reporting and
making recommendations to the board of directors concerning corporate governance matters. If an issuer utilizes a nominating
committee for director nominations, the NYSE permits a phase-in period of up to one year for an issuer registering securities in an
initial public offering that follows the same parameters as the SEC heightened independence requirements discussed above for
audit committee service. We intend to take advantage of such phase-in period.

Compensation committee interlocks and insider participation
None of the members of our compensation committee is or has in the past served as one of our officers or employees. None of
our executive officers currently serves, or in the past year has served, as a member of a board of directors or compensation
committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving on our board of directors or compensation committee.

Director compensation
The following table shows certain information with respect to the compensation of our non-employee directors who served during
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014:

Name
Eric Aguiar, M.D.(1)
Geoffrey S. Crouse

Fees earned or
Option
paid in cash
awards
—
—
$20,000 $ 10,842(2) $

Total
—
30,842

(1) Dr. Aguiar serves on our board as the director nominee of Thomas, McNerney & Partners II, L.P. and is not compensated by us for his
services.
(2) On October 24, 2014, we granted Mr. Crouse an option to acquire 2,500 shares of our common stock, vesting in equal monthly installments
over one year, commencing on February 27, 2014. The option has an exercise price of $8.70 per share. The amount in this column represents the
aggregate fair value of the option award computed as of the grant date in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting
Standards Codification No. 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation, or FASB ASC Topic 718, rather than amounts paid to or realized by
Mr. Crouse. See the notes to our consolidated financial statements for a discussion of assumptions made in determining the grant date fair value
and compensation expense of our stock options.

Standard compensation arrangements
Employee directors do not receive any compensation for service as a member of our board of directors. While we reimburse our
non-employee directors for their reasonable out-of-pocket costs and travel expenses in connection with their attendance at board
and committee meetings, we do not have a standard compensation policy for our non-employee directors, other than Mr. Crouse,
who currently is paid $20,000 annually and eligible to receive an annual option grant to purchase 2,500 shares of common stock.
However, we intend to review and consider future proposals regarding non-employee director compensation upon completion of
our initial public offering.
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Executive compensation
2014 summary compensation table
The following table presents information concerning the total compensation of our named executive officers, for services rendered
to us in all capacities during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014. Our named executive officers consist of our Chief
Executive Officer and the two other highest paid executive officers who were serving at fiscal year-end:
Fiscal
Name and principal position
Randal W. Scott, Ph.D.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Sean E. George, Ph.D.
President and Chief Operating Officer
Lisa Alderson
Chief Commercial Officer

year
2014
2013
2014
2013
2014
2013

Salary
($)
203,703
200,000
281,857
280,000
286,646
239,583(4)

Option
awards
($)(1)
—
—
454,355(2)
—
251,405(3)
—

Total
($)
203,703
200,000
736,212
280,000
538,051
239,583

(1) The amounts in this column represent the aggregate fair value of the option awards computed as of the grant dates in accordance with FASB
ASC Topic 718, rather than amounts paid to or realized by the individual. See the notes to our consolidated financial statements for a discussion of
assumptions made in determining the grant date fair value and compensation expense of our stock options.
(2) On each of February 28, 2014 and October 15, 2014, we granted Dr. George an option to acquire 50,000 shares of our common stock at an
exercise price of $3.42 and $8.70 per share, respectively. The options vest as to 25% of the shares on the one-year anniversary of the grant date
and 1/48th of the shares vest each month thereafter over the remaining three years.
(3) On February 28, 2014 and October 15, 2014, we granted Ms. Alderson an option to acquire 33,333 shares and 25,000 shares, respectively,
of our common stock at an exercise price of $3.42 and $8.70 per share, respectively. The options vest as to 25% of the shares on the one-year
anniversary of the grant date and 1/48th of the shares vest each month thereafter over the remaining three years.
(4) Ms. Alderson was employed on a part-time basis until October 1, 2013. Her annualized salary was $287,500.

2014 outstanding equity awards at fiscal year-end
The following table presents information regarding outstanding equity awards held by our named executive officers as of
December 31, 2014:
Option awards

Number of
Number of
securities
securities
underlying
underlying
unexercised
unexercised
options
options
Grant (exercisable) (unexercisable)
Name
date
Randal
W.
Scott,
Ph.D.
—
Sean E.
11George,16-12
2-28Ph.D.
14
1015-14

(#)

(#)

—

—

Option
exercise
Option
price expiration
($/share)
date

Stock awards
Market
Number
of
shares
or
units
that
have
not
vested
(#)

value
of
shares
or
units
that
have
not
vested
($)

—

—

—

—

13,889(1)

1.26

11-16-22

—

—

0

50,000

3.42

2-28-24(2)

0

50,000

8.70

10-15-24(2)

19,444

Lisa
1116-12
Alderson
1116-12
2-2814
1015-14

24,305

17,361(1)

1.26

11-16-22
(1)
6,944(3) 97,216(4)

0

33,333

3.42

2-28-24(2)

0

25,000

8.70

10-15-24(2)
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(1) The awards vest over a four-year period at the rate of 25% of the total award on the one-year anniversary of the vesting start date of
August 31, 2012 and 1/48th of the total award on a monthly basis thereafter over the subsequent three-year period.
(2) The option vests as to 25% of the shares on the one-year anniversary of the grant date and 1/48th of the shares vest each month thereafter
over the remaining three years.
(3) Represents shares acquired upon the early exercise of a time-based stock option, which shares are subject to a right of repurchase at the
original exercise price paid for the shares if the executive terminates employment before the shares have vested.
(4) As there was no public market value for our common stock as of December 31, 2014, we have set the fair market value at the assumed initial
public offering price of $14.00 per share, the midpoint of the preliminary price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus.

Employment arrangements
In July 2010, we entered into an executive employment agreement with Sean E. George, Ph.D., our President and Chief
Operating Officer. This agreement was subsequently terminated in November 2014. Pursuant to the executive employment
agreement, Dr. George was provided the right to purchase 166,666 shares of our common stock at $0.0006 per share, subject to
a restricted stock purchase agreement dated July 15, 2010. The restricted shares have now fully vested. The restricted stock
purchase agreement imposes restrictions on the transfer, grants us a right of first refusal and subjects the shares to a 180-day
lock-up period after the effective date of this offering. The right of first refusal terminates upon the completion of this offering.
Under his executive employment agreement prior to its termination, in the event of a "change of control" (such as a merger or
reorganization which results in our stockholders immediately prior to such transaction holding less than 50% of the voting power of
the surviving entity, or the sale or transfer of all or substantially all of our assets), the vesting for any unvested equity awards held
by Dr. George would have accelerated and become immediately exercisable. Subject to his execution of a general release of all
claims against us, the executive employment agreement provided prior to its termination that if Dr. George's employment with us
was terminated by us without "cause" or not in connection with his death or disability, or if following a "change of control" he
resigned for "good reason" (such as a material reduction in base salary or responsibilities, or a material change in the geographic
location of his primary work facility), then Dr. George would have been entitled to receive the following: (1) a cash payment equal
to 12 months of his then-existing base salary, payable in monthly installments; and (2) if he elected to continue health insurance
coverage under COBRA for himself or his eligible dependents, we would have reimbursed him for the applicable premiums until
the earlier of a 12-month period or until he or his eligible dependents became covered under similar plans or became ineligible for
coverage. If such a termination occurred outside of a "change of control" context, Dr. George also would have received
accelerated vesting of any unvested equity awards in an amount equal to the number of shares that would have vested had he
remained employed for an additional 12 months.
2010 Stock Incentive Plan
Our 2010 Stock Incentive Plan, or the 2010 Stock Plan, was initially adopted by our board of directors on September 17, 2010 and
approved by our stockholders on October 8, 2010. The 2010 Stock Plan was last amended on August 26, 2014. The purpose of
the 2010 Stock Plan is to offer selected persons an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in our success by acquiring shares
of our common stock.
Our 2010 Stock Plan permits the direct award or sale of shares and for the grant of nonstatutory stock options and restricted stock
to our employees, directors and consultants and any of our parents' or subsidiaries' employees and consultants. Incentive stock
options, within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code, may also be granted but only to our employees and our
parents' or subsidiaries' employees.
Share reserve. As of the date of this prospectus, 2,559,027 shares of common stock have been authorized for issuance under
the 2010 Stock Plan. As of December 31, 2014, options to purchase a total of
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1,923,454 shares of common stock were outstanding under the 2010 Stock Plan. If an option to acquire shares expires or is
cancelled for any reason, the shares allocable to the unexercised portion of such option will become available for future award
under the 2010 Stock Plan. Shares of common stock that have previously been issued under the 2010 Stock Plan that are
reacquired by us pursuant to a forfeiture provision, right of repurchase or right of first refusal will revert to and again become
available for future issuance under the 2010 Stock Plan.
Administration. Our board of directors or a committee appointed thereby administers the 2010 Stock Plan. The board may also
authorize one or more officers to designate employees to receive awards and/or to determine the number of awards to be
received, subject to a total number set by the board. All actions of the board will be final and binding on all persons.
Stock options. The board may grant incentive and/or nonstatutory stock options under our 2010 Stock Plan; provided that
incentive stock options are only granted to employees. The exercise price of options granted under the plan must be equal to or
greater than 100% of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. The term of an option may not exceed ten
years; provided, however, that an incentive stock option held by an optionee who owns more than 10% of the total combined
voting power of all classes of our stock, any parent or any of our subsidiary corporations, may not have a term in excess of five
years and must have an exercise price of at least 110% of the fair market value of our common stock on the grant date. The
exercise price for an option may be paid in cash or check. In addition, the board may permit other forms of payment such as
surrender of shares, services rendered, promissory note, cashless exercise, pledge of shares. Subject to the provisions of our
2010 Stock Plan, the board determines the remaining terms of the options (e.g., exercisability and vesting). The board may permit
an optionee to exercise his or her option as to shares that have not vested. The optionee may exercise his or her option, to the
extent vested, following termination of the optionee's service for the period specified in the award agreement, such period to be at
least 30 days if termination is due to any reason other than cause, death or disability (or six months in the case of termination due
to death or disability). However, in no event may an option be exercised later than the expiration of its term.
Restricted shares. Restricted shares may be offered under the 2010 Stock Plan. The board will advise the offeree in writing of
the terms, conditions and restrictions related to the offer, including the number of shares that such person will be entitled to
purchase, the price to be paid (if any), and the time within which such person must accept such offer.
Transferability/forfeiture. Unless determined otherwise by the board, the 2010 Stock Plan generally does not allow for options to
be transferred in any manner other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent
permitted by the board, a nonqualified option may be transferred to a revocable trust or as permitted by California securities law
and Rule 701 of the Securities Act. Shares awarded or sold under the 2010 Stock Plan or received upon the exercise of options
may be subject to certain forfeiture conditions, rights to repurchase, rights of first refusal, market stand-off or other transfer
restrictions as the board may determine and as set forth in the applicable award agreement.
Adjustments. In the event that any dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash, shares, other securities, or other
property), recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination,
repurchase, or exchange of our shares or other securities, or other change in our corporate structure affecting the shares occurs,
the board will adjust the number of shares that may be delivered under the 2010 Stock Plan and/or the number and price of
shares covered by each outstanding award.
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Corporate transaction. If we are a party to a merger or consolidation, or in the event of a sale of all or substantially all of our
stock or assets, outstanding awards under the 2010 Stock Plan will be subject to the agreement governing the transaction. The
terms of such agreement may provide that (a) outstanding options continue if we are the surviving entity, (b) the 2010 Stock Plan
and outstanding options are assumed by the surviving entity, (c) options of the surviving entity are substituted, (d) acceleration of
vesting followed by cancellation of the options, or (e) settlement of the intrinsic value of options followed by cancellation of the
options, in each case without the Optionee's consent. In the event of a change in control, the vesting for stock options granted to
outside directors will be automatically accelerated and our right to repurchase shares underlying such options will lapse. Pursuant
to the 2010 Stock Plan, a "change in control" results from: (1) a merger, consolidation or reorganization if persons who were not
our stockholders immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or reorganization own immediately after such merger,
consolidation or reorganization 50% or more of the voting power of the surviving entity and any direct or indirect parent thereof;
(2) a sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of our assets or our stockholders approve a plan of complete
liquidation; or (3) the aggregation by any person of 50% or more of the combined voting power of our outstanding securities
(unless any of the foregoing transactions is (x) an initial public offering or sale of securities, (y) a private financing that is approved
by the board, or (z) is effected only for the purpose of changing our state of incorporation or creating a holding company).
Plan amendments and termination. Our board may at any time amend, alter, suspend or terminate the 2010 Stock Plan.
However, the board will obtain stockholder approval of any 2010 Stock Plan amendment to the extent necessary and desirable to
comply with applicable law. A termination or amendment of the 2010 Stock Plan will not impair the rights of any participant under
the 2010 Stock Plan, unless mutually agreed to otherwise by such participant and us.
Upon the completion of this offering, the 2010 Stock Plan will be terminated and no shares of our common stock will remain
available for future issuance under the 2010 Stock Plan. Shares originally reserved for issuance under our 2010 Stock Plan but
which are not issued or subject to outstanding awards on the effective date of the 2015 Stock Incentive Plan, and shares subject
to outstanding awards under our 2010 Stock Plan on the effective date of the 2015 Stock Incentive Plan that are subsequently
forfeited or terminated for any reason before being exercised or settled, including shares subject to vesting restrictions that are
subsequently forfeited, will become available for awards under our 2015 Stock Incentive Plan.
2015 Stock Incentive Plan
Our 2015 Stock Incentive Plan, or the 2015 Stock Plan, was adopted by our board of directors in January 2015. We expect the
2015 Stock Plan will become effective upon the execution and delivery of the underwriting agreement for this offering. Once the
2015 Stock Plan is effective, no further grants will be made under the 2010 Stock Plan.
The 2015 Stock Plan provides for the granting of incentive stock options within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal
Revenue Code to employees and the granting of nonstatutory stock options to employees, non-employee directors, advisors and
consultants. The 2015 Stock Plan also provides for the grants of restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, stock unit and cashbased awards to employees, non-employee directors, advisors and consultants.
Administration. The compensation committee of our board of directors, or our board of directors acting as a committee, will
administer the 2015 Stock Plan, including the determination of the recipient of an award, the number of shares or amount of cash
subject to each award, whether an option is to be
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classified as an incentive stock option or nonstatutory option, and the terms and conditions of each award, including the exercise
and purchase prices and the vesting or duration of the award.
At the discretion of our board of directors, our compensation committee may consist of two or more non-employee directors. To
the extent required by our board of directors, the composition of our compensation committee may satisfy the requirements for
plans intended to qualify for exemption under Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act and Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.
Our board of directors may appoint one or more separate committees of our board of directors, each consisting of one or more
members of our board of directors, to administer our 2015 Stock Plan with respect to employees who are not subject to Section 16
of the Exchange Act. Subject to applicable law, our board of directors may also authorize one or more officers to designate
employees, other than employees who are subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act, to receive awards under our 2015 Stock
Plan and/or determine the number of such awards to be received by such employees subject to limits specified by our board of
directors.
Authorized shares. Under our 2015 Stock Plan, the aggregate number of shares of our common stock authorized for issuance
may not exceed (1) 4,250,000 plus (2) the sum of number of shares subject to outstanding awards under the 2010 Stock Plan as
of the 2015 Stock Plan's effective date that are subsequently forfeited or terminated for any reason before being exercised or
settled, plus the number of shares subject to vesting restrictions under the 2010 Stock Plan on the 2015 Stock Plan's effective
date that are subsequently forfeited, plus the number of shares reserved but not issued or subject to outstanding grants under the
2010 Stock Plan as of the 2015 Stock Plan's effective date. In addition, the number of shares that have been authorized for
issuance under the 2015 Stock Plan will be automatically increased on the first day of each fiscal year beginning on January 1,
2016 and ending on (and including) January 1, 2025, in an amount equal to the lesser of (1) 4% of the outstanding shares of our
common stock on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year, or (2) another amount determined by our board of
directors. Shares subject to awards granted under the 2015 Stock Plan that are forfeited or terminated before being exercised or
settled, or are not delivered to the participant because such award is settled in cash, will again become available for issuance
under the 2015 Stock Plan. Shares withheld to satisfy the grant, exercise price or tax withholding obligation related to an award
will again become available for issuance under the 2015 Stock Plan. However, shares that have actually been issued shall not
again become available unless forfeited. No more than 16,833,333 shares may be delivered upon the exercise of incentive stock
options granted under the 2015 Stock Plan plus, to the extent allowable under applicable tax law, any shares that again become
available for issuance under the 2015 Stock Plan. During any time when the tax deduction limitations of Section 162(m) of the
Internal Revenue Code apply to awards under the 2015 Stock Plan, and options or stock appreciation rights are intended to
qualify as "performance-based compensation" under Section 162(m), no person may receive options or stock appreciation rights
in any calendar year for an aggregate of more than 2,000,000 shares, and no more than two times this amount in the first year of
employment.
Types of awards
Stock options. A stock option is the right to purchase a certain number of shares of stock, at a certain exercise price, in the
future. Under our 2015 Stock Plan, incentive stock options and nonstatutory options must be granted with an exercise price of at
least 100% of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. Incentive stock options granted to any holder of
more than 10% of our voting shares must have an exercise price of at least 110% of the fair market value of our common stock on
the date of grant. No incentive stock option can be granted to an employee if as a result of the grant, the employee would have the
right in any calendar year to exercise for the first time one or more incentive stock options for shares having an aggregate fair
market value in excess of $100,000. The stock option agreement
108

Table of Contents
specifies the date when all or any installment of the option is to become exercisable. We expect that 1/4th of the total number of
shares subject to the options will vest and become exercisable 12 months after the vesting commencement date for options
granted, and the remaining options will vest and become exercisable at a rate of 1/48th of the total number of shares subject to
the options each month thereafter. Each stock option agreement sets forth the term of the options, provided that the term of an
incentive stock option is prohibited from exceeding ten years (five years in the case of an incentive stock option granted to any
holder of more than 10% of our voting shares), and the extent to which the optionee will have the right to exercise the option
following termination of the optionee's service with us. Payment of the exercise price may be made in cash or, if provided for in the
stock option agreement evidencing the award, (1) by surrendering, or attesting to the ownership of, shares which have already
been owned by the optionee, (2) by delivery of an irrevocable direction to a securities broker to sell shares and to deliver all or part
of the sale proceeds to us in payment of the aggregate exercise price, (3) by delivery of an irrevocable direction to a securities
broker or lender to pledge shares and to deliver all or part of the loan proceeds to us in payment of the aggregate exercise price,
(4) by a "net exercise" arrangement, (5) by delivering a full-recourse promissory note or (6) by any other form that is consistent
with applicable laws, regulations and rules.
Restricted stock. Restricted stock is a share award that may be subject to vesting conditioned upon continued service, the
achievement of performance objectives or the satisfaction of any other condition as specified in a restricted stock agreement.
Participants who are granted restricted stock awards generally have all of the rights of a stockholder with respect to such stock,
other than the right to transfer such stock prior to vesting. Subject to the terms of the 2015 Stock Plan, our compensation
committee will determine the terms and conditions of any restricted stock award, including any vesting arrangement, which will be
set forth in a restricted stock agreement to be entered into between us and each recipient. Restricted stock may be awarded for
such consideration as our compensation committee may determine, including without limitation cash, cash equivalents, fullrecourse promissory notes, future services or services rendered prior to the award, without cash payment by the recipient.
Stock unit. Stock units give recipients the right to acquire a specified number of shares of stock (or cash amount) at a future
date upon the satisfaction of certain conditions, including any vesting arrangement, established by our compensation committee
and as set forth in a stock unit agreement. Unlike restricted stock, the stock underlying stock units will not be issued until the stock
units have vested and are settled, and recipients of stock units generally will have no voting or dividend rights prior to the time the
vesting conditions are satisfied and the award is settled. At our compensation committee's discretion, stock units may provide for
the right to dividend equivalents. Our compensation committee may elect to settle vested stock units in cash or in common stock
or in a combination of cash and common stock. Subject to the terms of the 2015 Stock Plan, our compensation committee will
determine the terms and conditions of any stock unit award, which will be set forth in a stock unit agreement to be entered into
between us and each recipient.
Stock appreciation rights. Stock appreciation rights typically will provide for payments to the recipient based upon increases in
the price of our common stock over the exercise price of the stock appreciation right. The exercise price of a stock appreciation
right will be determined by our compensation committee, which shall not be less than the fair market value of our common stock
on the date of grant. Our compensation committee may elect to pay stock appreciation rights in cash or in common stock or in a
combination of cash and common stock.
Cash-based awards. A cash-based award is denominated in cash. The compensation committee may grant cash-based awards
in such number and upon such terms as it shall determine. Payment, if any, will be
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made in accordance with the terms of the award, and may be made in cash or in shares of common stock, as determined by the
compensation committee.
Performance-based awards. Awards under our 2015 Stock Plan may be made subject to the attainment of performance criteria.
Awards of restricted stock, stock units or cash-based awards that are intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation"
under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code will be subject to the attainment of one or more pre-established performance
goals, including cash flows, earnings per share, earnings before interest, taxes and amortization, return on equity, total
stockholder return, share price performance, return on capital, return on assets or net assets, revenue, income or net income,
operating income or net operating income, operating profit or net operating profit, operating margin or profit margin, return on
operating revenue, return on invested capital, market segment shares, costs, expenses, initiation or completion of research
activities, initiation or completion of other development programs, other milestones with respect to research activities or
development programs, implementation or completion of critical projects, commercial milestones and other milestones with
respect to the growth and development of our business. The maximum aggregate number of shares that may be subject to
restricted stock or stock unit awards intended to qualify as performance-based compensation under this tax rule granted to any
individual in any calendar year is 2,000,000 shares, and no more than two times this amount in the first year of employment. The
maximum aggregate amount of cash that may be payable under cash-based awards intended to qualify as performance-based
compensation under this tax rule granted to any individual in any calendar year is $10,000,000.
Other plan features
Under the 2015 Stock Plan:
•

Unless the agreement evidencing an award expressly provides otherwise, no award granted under the plan may be
transferred in any manner (prior to the vesting and lapse of any and all restrictions applicable to shares issued under such
award), other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution, provided, however, that an incentive stock option may be
transferred or assigned only to the extent consistent with Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code.

•

In the event of a recapitalization, stock split or similar capital transaction, our compensation committee will make
appropriate and equitable adjustments to the number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2015 Stock Plan, the
limitations regarding the total number of shares underlying awards given to an individual participant in any calendar year,
the number of shares that can be issued as incentive stock options, the number of shares subject to outstanding awards
and the exercise price under each outstanding option or stock appreciation right.

•

If we are involved in a merger or other reorganization, outstanding awards will be subject to the agreement or merger or
reorganization. Such agreement will provide for (1) the continuation of the outstanding awards by us, if we a surviving
corporation, (2) the assumption or substitution of the outstanding awards by the surviving corporation or its parent or
subsidiary, (3) immediate vesting, exercisability and settlement of the outstanding awards followed by their cancellation, or
(4) settlement of the intrinsic value of the outstanding awards (whether or not vested or exercisable) in cash, cash
equivalents, or equity (including cash or equity subject to deferred vesting and delivery consistent with the vesting
restrictions applicable to such award or the underlying shares) followed by cancellation of such awards.

•

The administrator of the 2015 Stock Plan may modify, extend or renew outstanding awards or may accept the cancellation
of outstanding awards (to the extent not previously exercised), whether or not
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granted under the 2015 Stock Plan, in return for the grant of new awards for the same or a different number of shares and
at the same or a different exercise price, or in return for the grant of a different award for the same or a different number of
shares, all without stockholder approval. However, no modification of an award shall, without the consent of the individual
participant, materially impair his or her rights or obligations under such award.
•

Our board of directors may amend or terminate the plan at any time, subject to stockholder approval where required by
applicable law. Any amendment or termination may not materially impair the rights of holders of outstanding awards without
their consent. No incentive stock option may be granted after the tenth anniversary of the earlier of (1) the date the 2015
Stock Plan was adopted by our board of directors, or (2) the date the plan was approved by our stockholders.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Our board of directors adopted the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP, in January 2015, to be effective on the date on
which the initial public offering is effective. The ESPP is intended to qualify under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code and
the purpose of the ESPP is to provide eligible employees with an opportunity to increase their proprietary interest in the success of
our company by purchasing common stock from us at favorable terms and to pay for their purchases through payroll deductions.
Our board of directors believes that establishing an ESPP will enable us to attract, retain and motivate valued employees. A total
of 325,000 shares of common stock will initially be reserved for issuance under the ESPP plus an annual increase beginning in
the fiscal year that begins January 1, 2016. The annual increase will equal the least of (1) 1% of the outstanding shares of stock
on such date, (2) 480,000 shares of common stock, or (3) such lesser amount the board of directors determines. No annual
increase shall be added more than ten years after the ESPP's effective date.
Administration. Except as noted below, our ESPP will be administered by a committee of our board of directors. The committee
will have full power and authority, subject to the provisions of the ESPP, necessary for the proper administration of the plan. The
committee may adopt such rules, guidelines and forms as it deems appropriate to implement the ESPP, including sub-plans,
which the committee may establish for the purpose of facilitating participation by non-U.S. employees and compliance with foreign
laws. Our board of directors may, in its sole discretion, at any time, resolve to administer the ESPP.
Eligibility. Each of our employees and of each present or future subsidiary, as designated by the committee, whose customary
employment is more than five months per calendar year and more than 20 hours per week, and who is employed on the day
preceding the start of any offering period will be eligible to participate in the ESPP. The ESPP will permit an eligible employee to
purchase common stock through payroll deductions (and by cash or check if permitted by the committee), which may not be less
than 1% nor more than 15% of the employee's eligible compensation. No participant will be able to purchase stock under the
ESPP if immediately after electing to purchase stock, the participant would own stock (including stock such employee may
purchase under the ESPP or other outstanding options) representing 5% or more of the total combined voting power or value of all
classes of our or any parent or subsidiary company's stock. No participant will be able to purchase more than such number of
shares as may be determined by the committee with respect to a single offering period, or purchase period, if applicable. In
addition, no participant is permitted to accrue, under the ESPP and all similar purchase plans of ours or of our parent or subsidiary
companies, a right to purchase shares of our stock having a fair market value in excess of $25,000 (determined at the time the
right is granted) for each calendar year. Participants will be able to withdraw their accumulated payroll deductions prior to the end
of the offering period, or purchase period, if applicable, in accordance with the terms of the offering. Participation in the ESPP will
end automatically on termination of employment with us.
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Offering periods and purchase price. Our ESPP will be implemented through a series of offerings of purchase rights to eligible
employees. Under the ESPP, except as noted below, the committee may specify offerings with a duration of not more than
27 months, and may specify shorter purchase periods within each offering. During each purchase period, payroll deductions will
accumulate, without interest. On the last day of the purchase period, i.e., the purchase date, accumulated payroll deductions will
be used to purchase common stock for employees participating in the offering.
The purchase price will be specified pursuant to the offering, but cannot, under the terms of the ESPP, be less than the lesser of
(1) 85% of the fair market value per share of our common stock on the purchase date, or (2) 85% of the fair market value per
share of our common stock on the last trading day preceding the offering date (or, in the case of an offering period that
commences on the initial public offering of our stock, 85% of the price at which one share is offered to the public). The committee
will determine the purchase period and the purchase price of shares that may be purchased pursuant to each offering.
Reset feature. The committee may specify that if the fair market value of a share of our common stock on any purchase date
within a particular offering period is less than or equal to the fair market value on the start date of that offering period, then the
offering period will automatically terminate and the employee in that offering period will automatically be transferred and enrolled
in a new offering period, which will begin on the next day following such purchase date.
Changes to capital structure. In the event that there is a specified type of change in our capital structure, such as a stock split,
appropriate adjustments will be made to (a) the number of shares reserved under the ESPP, (b) the individual and aggregate
participant share limitations described in the ESPP and (c) the price of shares that any participant has elected to purchase.
Corporate reorganization. Immediately before a corporate reorganization such as a merger or sale of substantially all of the
Company, the offering period and any purchase period then in progress shall terminate and stock will be purchased with the
accumulated payroll deductions, unless the ESPP is assumed by the surviving corporation or its parent corporation under the plan
of merger or consolidation.
Amendment and termination. Our board of directors will have the right to amend, suspend or terminate the ESPP at any time.
Any increase in the aggregate number of shares of stock to be issued under the ESPP (other than the annual increase noted
above) is subject to stockholder approval. Any other amendment is subject to stockholder approval only to the extent required
under applicable law or regulation.
401(k) plan
We maintain a 401(k) plan that is tax-qualified for our employees in the United States, including our named executive officers. We
do not offer employer matching or make other employer contributions to our 401(k) plan.

Limitation on liability and indemnification matters
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation that will be in effect following this offering contains provisions that limit the
personal liability of our directors for monetary damages to the fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State
of Delaware, or the DGCL. Consequently, our directors will not be personally liable to us or our stockholders for monetary
damages for any breach of fiduciary duties as directors, except liability for:
•

any breach of the director's duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders;
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•

any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

•

unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions as provided in Section 174 of the DGCL; or
any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that we are required to
indemnify our directors, in each case to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL. Our bylaws also provide that we shall advance
expenses incurred by a director in advance of the final disposition of any action or proceeding, and permit us to secure insurance
on behalf of any officer, director, employee or other agent for any liability arising out of his or her actions in that capacity
regardless of whether we would otherwise be permitted to indemnify him or her under the provisions of the DGCL. We have
entered into agreements to indemnify our directors and expect to continue to enter into agreements to indemnify our directors.
Prior to the closing of the offering, we plan to amend and restate our indemnification agreements with our directors and to enter
into similar agreements with each of our officers. With certain exceptions, these agreements provide for indemnification for related
expenses including, among other things, attorneys' fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by any of our directors
in any action or proceeding. We believe that these certificate of incorporation and bylaw provisions and indemnification
agreements are necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as directors. We also maintain directors' and officers' liability
insurance.
The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage stockholders
from bringing a lawsuit against our directors for breach of their fiduciary duty of care. They may also reduce the likelihood of
derivative litigation against our directors and officers, even though an action, if successful, might benefit us and other
stockholders. Further, a stockholder's investment may be adversely affected to the extent that we pay the costs of settlement and
damage awards against directors and officers. At present, there is no pending litigation or proceeding involving any of our
directors, officers or employees for which indemnification is sought, and we are not aware of any threatened litigation that may
result in claims for indemnification.
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Certain relationships and related party transactions
In addition to the cash and equity compensation arrangements of our directors and named executive officers discussed above
under the section entitled "Management," the following is a description of transactions since January 1, 2011 to which we have
been a party in which the amount involved exceeded or will exceed $120,000 and in which any of our directors, executive officers,
beneficial holders of more than 5% of our capital stock, or entities affiliated with or immediate family members of any of the
foregoing, had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.

Sales of common and convertible preferred stock
The following table summarizes purchases of our common stock and convertible preferred stock since January 1, 2011 by certain
of our directors, executive officers and holders of more than 5% of our capital stock and their affiliated entities. Each outstanding
share of our preferred stock will automatically convert into one-sixth of one share of our common stock immediately prior to the
completion of this offering.

Purchaser
Executive
Officers and
Directors:
Randal W.
Scott, Ph.D.
(1)
Lisa Alderson
Geoffrey S.
Crouse

Shares
of
common
stock

5%
Stockholders:
Baker Brothers
Life
Sciences, L.P.
(4)
BlackRock, Inc.
(4)
Thomas,
McNerney &
Partners
II, L.P.(4)
Genomic
Health, Inc.

Shares of preferred stock
Series A(5)

Series B
(6)

Series C(7)

Series D
(8)

Series E
(9)

Series F
(10)

Aggregate
purchase
price

—
16,666(2)

—
—

— 16,315,788
—
26,315

— 3,921,568
—
19,607

19,258(3)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

— 8,000,000 9,803,921 12,500,000 $ 49,999,999

—

—

—

—

—

11,363,636

—

5,263,155

— 3,267,973

2,500,000 $ 19,999,996

— 4,181,818

4,796,968

— 3,267,973

1,000,000 $ 13,857,118

—

—

1,000,000 $ 23,499,999
— $
75,998

—

— $

10,910

— 25,000,000 $ 50,000,000

(1) Prior to joining our company in August 2012, Dr. Scott was an affiliate of Genomic Health, Inc.
(2) We issued 16,666 shares of common stock to Ms. Alderson upon the early exercise of a stock option subject to a nonstatutory stock option, or
NSO, agreement dated November 16, 2012. Until such time as the shares vest, the shares are subject to repurchase by us following the
termination of her employment at a purchase price of $1.26 per share. The shares vest over a four-year period, and an aggregate of 9,722 shares
were vested as of December 31, 2014. The NSO agreement also imposes restrictions on the transfer of the stock.
(3) We issued an aggregate of 19,258 shares of common stock to Mr. Crouse, of which 15,092 shares were upon the early exercise of a stock
option subject to a NSO agreement dated March 7, 2012, and 4,166 shares are subject to an NSO agreement dated April 1, 2013. The shares
subject to the April 1, 2013 NSO agreement are fully vested. Until such time as the shares issued pursuant to the March 7, 2012 NSO agreement
vest, the shares are subject to repurchase by us following the termination of his service at a purchase price equal to $0.375 per share. These
shares vest over a four-year period, and an aggregate of 10,375 shares were vested as of December 31, 2014. The NSO agreements also impose
restrictions on the transfer of the stock.
(4) Includes securities purchased by affiliates of the purchaser listed in the table. See "Principal stockholders" for additional information.
(5) Issued in September 2010 at $0.44 per share.
(6) Issued in March 2011 at $0.55 per share.
(7) Issued on various dates between August 2012 and October 2012 at $0.95 per share. Of the shares issued to Randal W. Scott, 600,000
shares were subsequently transferred without consideration to, or for the benefit of, members of his family.

(8) Issued in May 2013 at $1.25 per share.
(9) Issued on various dates between October 2013 and December 2013 at $1.53 per share.
(10) Issued in August and October 2014 at $2.00 per share.
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Convertible notes
Pursuant to a Note Purchase Agreement dated as of May 22, 2012, as amended on June 27, 2012 and July 26, 2012, Thomas,
McNerney & Partners II, L.P. and affiliates provided us with bridge loans in the aggregate principal amount of $1,400,000 and
Genomic Health, Inc. provided us with bridge loans in the aggregate principal amount of $600,000. The notes representing these
loans accrued interest at 8% per annum and, on August 8, 2012, these notes, comprising $2,000,000 in principal plus $18,000 in
accrued interest, were converted into shares of our Series C preferred stock at the price paid by other purchasers of our Series C
preferred stock.

Investors' rights agreement
In August 2014, we entered into a fifth amended and restated investors' rights agreement with certain holders of our outstanding
convertible preferred stock, including Genomic Health, Inc., an entity with which our director Randal W. Scott was affiliated when it
made its initial investment in our convertible preferred stock in 2011, and Thomas, McNemey & Partners II, L.P. and affiliates,
entities with which our director Eric Aguiar is affiliated, as well as Baker Brothers Life Sciences, L.P. and its affiliates,
BlackRock, Inc. and its affiliates, and funds advised by Wellington Management Company LLP. This agreement provides that
certain holders of common stock issuable upon conversion of our preferred stock have the right to demand that we file a
registration statement or request that their shares of common stock be covered by a registration statement that we are otherwise
filing. With respect to this offering, the registration rights have been validly waived. In addition to the registration rights, the
investors' rights agreement provides for certain information rights, board observer rights and rights of first offer if we propose to
offer or sell any new equity securities. The provisions of the investors' rights agreement, other than those relating to registration
rights, will terminate upon completion of this offering. See "Description of capital stock—Investors' rights agreement" for additional
information.

Right of first refusal and co-sale agreement
In August 2014, we entered into a fifth amended and restated right of first refusal and co-sale agreement with certain holders of
our preferred stock, including Genomic Health, Inc., an entity with which our director Randal W. Scott was affiliated when it made
its initial investment in our convertible preferred stock in 2011, and Thomas, McNemey & Partners II, L.P. and affiliates, entities
with which our director Eric Aguiar is affiliated, as well as Baker Brothers Life Sciences, L.P. and its affiliates, BlackRock, Inc. and
its affiliates, and funds advised by Wellington Management Company LLP. This agreement provides certain holders of preferred
stock a right of purchase and of co-sale in respect of sales of shares of capital stock and for a market stand-off following an initial
public offering. These rights of purchase and co-sale will terminate immediately prior to the completion of this offering.

Voting agreement
In August 2014, we entered into a fifth amended and restated voting agreement with certain holders of our preferred stock,
including Genomic Health, Inc., an entity with which our director Randal W. Scott was affiliated when it made its initial investment
in our convertible preferred stock in 2011, and Thomas, McNemey & Partners II, L.P. and affiliates, entities with which our director
Eric Aguiar is affiliated, as well as Baker Brothers Life Sciences, L.P. and its affiliates, BlackRock, Inc. and its affiliates, and funds
advised by Wellington Management Company LLP. This agreement contains provisions regarding voting and size of our board of
directors, board composition and removal rights, and drag-along sale rights. The voting
115

Table of Contents
agreement will terminate upon the completion of this offering. See "Management—Voting arrangements" for additional
information.

Management rights
In connection with our sale of convertible preferred stock to our investors, we are party to management rights letters with certain
purchasers of our convertible preferred stock, including Thomas, McNerney & Partners II, L.P. and its affiliates, BlackRock, Inc.
and its affiliates, and OrbiMed Private Investments V, L.P., pursuant to which such entities were granted certain management
rights, including the right to consult with and advise our management on significant business issues, attend board of directors
meetings and receive board materials in certain cases, review our financial data and operating plans, examine our books and
records and inspect our facilities. These management rights will terminate upon the completion of this offering.

Participation in Offering
Entities affiliated with certain of our existing stockholders have indicated an interest in purchasing up to an aggregate of
approximately $25.0 million in shares of our common stock in this offering at the initial public offering price. However, because
indications of interest are not binding agreements or commitments to purchase, the underwriters could determine to sell more,
less or no shares to any of these potential investors and any of these potential investors could determine to purchase more, less
or no shares in this offering.

Stock options granted to executive officers and directors
We have granted stock options to our executive officers and directors, as more fully described in "Executive compensation—
Additional equity awards" and "Management—Director compensation," respectively.

Restricted stock purchase agreement
Pursuant to restricted stock purchase agreements dated July 15, 2010, each of our co-founders, including Sean E. George, was
provided the right to purchase 166,666 shares of our common stock at $0.0006 per share. The restricted shares have now fully
vested. The restricted stock purchase agreements impose restrictions on the transfer, grant us a right of first refusal and subject
the shares to a 180-day lock-up period after the effective date of this offering. The right of first refusal terminates upon the
completion of this offering.

Indemnification agreements
We have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors. We plan to amend and restate these agreements and to
enter into similar indemnification agreements with each of our officers prior to the closing of the offering. The indemnification
agreements and our certificate of incorporation and bylaws require us to indemnify these individuals to the fullest extent permitted
by Delaware law. See "Management—Limitation on liability and indemnification matters."

Related party transaction policy
We intend to adopt a written policy that our executive officers, directors, holders of more than 5% of any class of our voting
securities, and any member of the immediate family of and any entity affiliated with any of the foregoing persons, are not permitted
to enter into a related party transaction with us without
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the prior consent of our audit committee, or other independent members of our board of directors in the event it is inappropriate for
our audit committee to review such transaction due to a conflict of interest. Any request for us to enter into a transaction with an
executive officer, director, principal stockholder, or any of their immediate family members or affiliates, in which the amount
involved exceeds $120,000 must first be presented to our audit committee for review, consideration and approval. In approving or
rejecting any such proposal, our audit committee is to consider the relevant facts and circumstances available and deemed
relevant to our audit committee, including, but not limited to, whether the transaction is on terms no less favorable than terms
generally available to an unaffiliated third party under the same or similar circumstances and the extent of the related party's
interest in the transaction. All of the transactions described above were entered into prior to the adoption of such policy.
Although we have not had a written policy for the review and approval of transactions with related persons prior to the closing of
this offering, our board of directors has historically reviewed and approved any transaction where a director or officer had a
financial interest, including all of the transactions described above. Prior to approving such a transaction, the material facts as to a
director's or officer's relationship or interest as to the agreement or transaction were disclosed to our board of directors. Our board
of directors would take this information into account when evaluating the transaction and in determining whether such a
transaction was fair to us and in the best interests of all of our stockholders. In addition, for each related party transaction
described above, the disinterested directors in the context of each such transaction approved the applicable agreement and
transaction.
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Principal stockholders
The following table sets forth information regarding the number of shares of common stock beneficially owned on December 31,
2014, and immediately following consummation of this offering, by:
•
•
•

each person who is known by us to beneficially own 5% or more of our common stock;
each of our named executive officers and directors; and
all of our executive officers and directors as a group.

We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with SEC rules. Except as indicated by the footnotes below, we believe,
based on the information furnished to us, that the persons and entities named in the table below have sole voting and investment
power with respect to all shares of common stock that they beneficially own, subject to applicable community property laws.
Applicable percentage ownership prior to the offering is based on 24,488,415 shares of common stock outstanding at
December 31, 2014, but does not reflect the exercise of any options to purchase common stock. Shares beneficially owned
include shares of common stock acquired upon the early exercise of stock options granted under our 2010 Stock Plan, for which
we have a right of repurchase. Applicable percentage ownership after the offering assumes that 29,838,415 shares of common
stock will be outstanding upon completion of this offering. In computing the number of shares of common stock beneficially owned
by a person and the percentage ownership of that person, we deemed to be outstanding all shares of common stock underlying
options held by that person that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2014. We did
not deem these shares outstanding, however, for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Unless
otherwise indicated, ownership includes shares owned by a spouse, minor children and relatives sharing the same home, as well
as entities owned or controlled by the named person. Unless otherwise noted, shares are owned of record and beneficially by the
named person or entity.
Entities affiliated with certain of our existing stockholders have indicated an interest in purchasing up to an aggregate of
approximately $25.0 million in shares of our common stock in this offering at the initial public offering price. However, because
indications of interest are not binding agreements or commitments to purchase, the underwriters could determine to sell more,
less or no shares to any of these potential investors and any of these potential investors could determine to purchase more, less
or no shares in this offering. The following table does not reflect any purchases by these potential investors in this offering.
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Except as otherwise set forth in footnotes to the table below, the address of each of the persons listed below is c/o Invitae
Corporation, 458 Brannan Street, San Francisco, California 94107.

Name and address of beneficial owner
Executive Officers and Directors:
Randal W. Scott, Ph.D.
Sean E. George, Ph.D.(1)
Lisa Alderson(2)
Eric Aguiar, M.D.(3)
Geoffrey S. Crouse(4)
All current executive officers and directors as a
group (6 persons)(5)
5% Stockholders:
Baker Brothers Life Sciences, L.P. and affiliates
(6)
BlackRock, Inc.(7)
Thomas, McNerney & Partners II, L.P. and
affiliates(3)
Genomic Health, Inc.(8)

Number of
shares
beneficially
owned

Percentage of shares
beneficially owned
Prior to
this
After this
offering
offering

3,439,559
201,198
57,825
3,732,460
21,759

14.0%
*
*
15.2%
*

11.5%
*
*
12.5%
*

7,474,363

30.4%

25.0%

5,050,652
4,166,662

20.6%
17.0%

16.9%
14.0%

3,732,460
2,207,793

15.2%
9.0%

12.5%
7.4%

*

Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1%.

(1)

Includes options to purchase 32,639 shares of common stock exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2014.

(2) Includes options to purchase 33,506 shares of common stock exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2014 and 16,666 shares of
common stock acquired upon the early exercise of options to purchase common stock, of which 6,944 shares are subject to our right of
repurchase as of December 31, 2014.
(3) Consists of 3,682,968 shares held by Thomas, McNerney & Partners II, L.P. ("Thomas McNerney"): 13,256 shares held by TMP Associates
II, L.P. ("TMP Associates"); and 36,236 shares held by TMP Nominee II, LLC ("TMP Nominee"). Thomas, McNerney & Partners II, LLC
("TMP LLC") is the general partner of each of Thomas McNerney and TMP Associates. Eric Aguiar is a manager of TMP LLC and has shared
voting and investment control over the shares held by each of Thomas McNerney and TMP Associates and indirectly shares investment control
over the shares held by TMP Nominee. Dr. Aguiar disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares, except to the extent of any pecuniary interest
therein. The mailing address of Thomas McNerney and its affiliates is 60 South Sixth Street, Suite 3620, Minneapolis, MN 55402.
(4) Includes options to purchase 2,500 shares of common stock exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2014 and 19,259 shares of common
stock acquired upon the early exercise of options to purchase common stock, of which 4,716 shares are subject to our right of repurchase as of
December 31, 2014.
(5) Includes options to purchase an aggregate of 91,770 shares of common stock exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2014 and 31,758
shares of common stock acquired upon the early exercise of options to purchase common stock, of which 11,660 shares are subject to our right of
repurchase as of December 31, 2014.
(6) Consists of 4,434,768 shares held by Baker Brothers Life Sciences, L.P. ("Baker Brothers"); 318,568 shares held by 667, L.P. (account #1)
("667 #1"); 223,945 shares held by 667, L.P. (account #2) ("667 #2"); and 73,371 shares held by 14159, L.P. ("14159"). Baker Bros Advisors LP
("Baker Advisors") is the investment advisor of 667#1 and 667#2, Baker Brothers and 14159, and has voting and dispositive power with respect to
these shares. Julian C. Baker and Felix J. Baker are managing members of Baker Advisors. Baker Advisors, Julian C. Baker and Felix J. Baker
disclaim beneficial ownership of the securities held by the funds except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein. The mailing address of
Baker Brothers and its affiliates is 667 Madison Avenue, 21st Floor, New York, NY 10065.
(7) BlackRock, Inc. is the ultimate parent holding company of certain advisory subsidiaries that have the power to vote or dispose of the shares.
Of the 4,166,662 shares listed above, 2,365,865 are for the benefit of BlackRock Global Allocation Fund, Inc., 482,772 are for the benefit of
BlackRock Global Allocation V.I. Fund of BlackRock Variable Series Funds, Inc., 10,802 are for the benefit of BlackRock Global Allocation Portfolio
of BlackRock Series Fund, Inc., 41,249 are for the benefit of BlackRock Global Allocation Fund (Australia), 27,973 are for the benefit of
MassMutual Select BlackRock Global Allocation Fund, 139,878 are for the benefit of JNL/BlackRock Global Allocation Fund of JNL Series Trust,
933,904 are for the benefit of BlackRock Global Funds—Global Allocation Fund, 61,576 are for the benefit of BlackRock Global Funds—Global
Dynamic Equity Fund, 31,073 are for the benefit of AZL BlackRock Global Allocation Fund, a Series of Allianz Variable Insurance Products Trust,
and 71,570 are for the benefit of BlackRock Global Allocation Collective Fund (collectively, the "BlackRock Funds"). On behalf of BlackRock
Investment Management, LLC and BlackRock Institutional Trust Company, N.A., the Investment Manager, Adviser, Sub-Adviser and/or Trustee
(as applicable) of the BlackRock Funds, Dennis Stattman, as a Managing Director of BlackRock Investment Management, LLC and BlackRock
Institutional Trust Company, N.A., has voting and investment power over the shares held by the BlackRock Funds. Dennis Stattman expressly
disclaims beneficial ownership of all shares held by the BlackRock Funds. The address of the BlackRock Funds, BlackRock Investment
Management, LLC, BlackRock Institutional Trust Company, N.A. and Dennis Stattman is c/o BlackRock Investment Management, LLC, 1
University Square Drive, Princeton, NJ 08540.

(8) The address of Genomic Health is 301 Penobscot Drive, Redwood City, CA 94036.
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Description of capital stock
General
The following is a summary of the rights of our common stock and preferred stock and certain provisions of our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, as they will be in effect upon the completion of this
offering. For more detailed information, please see our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and
restated bylaws, which are filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is part.
Immediately following the completion of this offering, our authorized capital stock will consist of 420,000,000 shares, par value of
$0.0001 per share, of which:
•
•

400,000,000 shares will be designated as common stock; and
20,000,000 shares will be designated as preferred stock.

Upon completion of this offering, all outstanding convertible preferred stock will be converted into common stock. As of
December 31, 2014, we had outstanding the following shares of preferred stock:
•
•
•
•
•
•

11,693,179 shares of Series A preferred stock;
4,181,818 shares of Series B preferred stock;
31,112,750 shares of Series C preferred stock;
8,000,000 shares of Series D preferred stock;
26,143,777 shares of Series E preferred stock; and
60,000,000 shares of Series F preferred stock;

all of which are automatically convertible into an aggregate of 23,521,892 shares of common stock immediately prior to the
completion of this offering. We also had 966,523 shares of common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2014, held of record by
39 stockholders. In addition, as of December 31, 2014, 1,923,454 shares of our common stock were subject to outstanding
options. For additional information on our capitalization, see "Capitalization."

Common stock
Pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation that will be in effect immediately prior to the completion of this
offering, the holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. This
amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting in the election of directors. Subject to the
rights, if any, of the holders of any outstanding series of preferred stock, the holders of common stock are entitled to receive
ratably such dividends, if any, as may be declared by the board of directors out of legally available funds. However, the current
policy of the board of directors is to retain earnings, if any, for operations and growth. Upon our liquidation, dissolution or windingup, subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of our preferred stock, the holders of common stock are entitled to share ratably in
all assets that are legally available for distribution. The holders of common stock have no preemptive, subscription, redemption or
conversion rights. The rights, preferences and privileges of holders of common stock are subject to, and may be adversely
affected by, the rights of the holders of any series of preferred stock, which may be designated solely by action of the board of
directors and issued in the future.
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Preferred stock
The board of directors is authorized, subject to any limitations prescribed by law, without further vote or action by the stockholders,
to issue from time to time shares of preferred stock in one or more series without stockholder approval. Each such series of
preferred stock will have such number of shares, designations, preferences, voting powers, qualifications, and special or relative
rights or privileges as is determined by the board of directors, which may include, among others, dividend rights, voting rights,
liquidation preferences, conversion rights and preemptive rights.

Fifth amended and restated investors' rights agreement
Upon completion of this offering, the holders of an aggregate of 23,521,892 shares of our common stock that were issued or are
issuable upon the conversion of our preferred stock, assuming the conversion is effective immediately prior to the completion of
this offering, will be entitled to the rights described below with respect to registration of the resale of such shares under the
Securities Act pursuant to the fifth amended and restated investors' rights agreement by and among us and certain of our
stockholders dated August 26, 2014, as amended by that certain omnibus approval and amendment dated October 9, 2014.
Registration of shares of common stock in response to the exercise of the following rights would result in the holders being able to
trade these shares without restriction under the Securities Act when the applicable registration statement is declared effective. We
generally must pay all expenses, other than underwriting discounts and commissions, related to any registration effected pursuant
to the exercise of these registration rights.
The registration rights terminate upon the earlier of the seventh anniversary of this offering or the occurrence of a deemed
liquidation event (as such term is defined in our certificate of incorporation) and distribution of proceeds to or escrow for the
benefit of the holders.
Demand registration rights. If, at any time after the earlier of February 26, 2016 or 180 days after the effective date of the
registration statement of this offering, the holders of 20% of the then outstanding registrable securities issued or issuable upon the
conversion of our preferred stock request that we file a Form S-1 registration statement with respect to the registrable securities
then outstanding, we may be required to register their shares if the anticipated aggregate offering price, net of selling expenses, is
not less than $5 million, subject to certain exceptions. Depending on certain conditions, however, we may defer such registration
for up to 60 days. The underwriters of any underwritten offering have the right to limit the number of shares registered by these
holders for marketing reasons.
Piggyback registration rights. If at any time we propose to register any shares of our common stock under the Securities Act
after this offering, subject to certain exceptions, the holders of registrable securities will be entitled to notice of the registration and
to include their share of registrable securities in the registration. The underwriters of any underwritten offering have the right to
limit the number of shares registered by these holders for marketing reasons, subject to certain exceptions.
Form S-3 registration rights. If at any time when we are eligible to use the Form S-3 registration statement, the holders of at
least 10% of then outstanding registrable securities issued or issuable upon conversion of our preferred stock may request that we
effect a registration on Form S-3 under the Securities Act, so long as the proposed aggregate offering price of the shares to be
registered by the holders requesting registration is at least $2 million, subject to certain exceptions.
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Anti-takeover effects of Delaware law and our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and
bylaws
Certain provisions of Delaware law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws
to become effective upon completion of this offering could have the effect of delaying, deferring or discouraging another party from
acquiring control of us. These provisions, which are summarized below, are expected to discourage certain types of coercive
takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed, in part, to encourage persons seeking to
acquire control of us to first negotiate with our board of directors. We believe that the benefits of increased protection of our
potential ability to negotiate with an unfriendly or unsolicited acquirer outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging such proposals,
including proposals that are priced above the then-current market value of our common stock, because, among other reasons, the
negotiation of such proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.
Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated
bylaws to become effective upon completion of this offering include provisions that:
•

divide our board of directors into three classes, each serving staggered, three-year terms;

•

authorize the board of directors to issue, without further action by the stockholders, up to 20,000,000 shares of
undesignated preferred stock;

•

require that any action to be taken by our stockholders be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting and not by
written consent;

•

specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by the board of directors, the chairman of the board, or
the chief executive officer;

•

establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder approvals to be brought before an annual meeting of our
stockholders, including proposed nominations of persons for election to the board of directors;

•

provide that directors may be removed only for cause;

•

establish the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain derivative actions or
proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a claim of breach of fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim
against us arising pursuant to the DGCL, or any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine;

•

require the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2 / 3 % of the total votes eligible to be cast in the election of directors to
amend, alter, change or repeal our bylaws; and provide that vacancies on our board of directors may be filled only by a
majority of directors then in office, even though less than a quorum.

Delaware anti-takeover statute. We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL regulating corporate takeovers. In
general, Section 203 prohibits a publicly-held Delaware corporation from engaging, under certain circumstances, in a business
combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years following the date the person became an interested
stockholder unless:
•

prior to the date of the transaction, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or
the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;
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•

upon completion of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested
stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced,
excluding for purposes of determining the voting stock outstanding, but not the outstanding voting stock owned by the
interested stockholder, (1) shares owned by persons who are directors and also officers and (2) shares owned by
employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held
subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or at or subsequent to the date of the transaction, the
business combination is approved by the board of directors of the corporation and authorized at an annual or special
meeting of stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2 / 3 % of the outstanding voting
stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Generally, a "business combination" includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to
the "interested stockholder" and an "interested stockholder" is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns or,
within three years prior to the determination of interested stockholder status, did own 15% or more of a corporation's outstanding
voting stock. We expect the existence of this provision to have an anti-takeover effect with respect to transactions our board of
directors does not approve in advance. We also anticipate that Section 203 may discourage business combinations or other
attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares of common stock held by our stockholders.
The provisions of DGCL, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws to become
effective upon completion of this offering could have the effect of discouraging others from attempting hostile takeovers and, as a
consequence, they may also inhibit temporary fluctuations in the market price of our common stock that often result from actual or
rumored hostile takeover attempts. These provisions may also have the effect of preventing changes in our management. It is
possible that these provisions could make it more difficult to accomplish transactions that stockholders may otherwise deem to be
in their best interests.

Transfer agent and registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC. The transfer agent's
address is 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, New York 11219.

Listing
Our common stock has been approved for listing on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "NVTA."
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Material U.S. federal income tax considerations to non-U.S. holders
The following is a summary of material U.S. federal income tax consequences applicable to non-U.S. holders (as defined below)
with respect to the purchase, ownership and disposition of our common stock, but does not purport to be a complete analysis of all
the potential tax considerations relating thereto. This summary is based upon the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, or the Internal Revenue Code, Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder, administrative rulings and
judicial decisions, all as of the date hereof. These authorities may be changed, possibly retroactively, so as to result in U.S.
federal income tax consequences different from those set forth below. We have not sought any ruling from the Internal Revenue
Service, or the IRS, with respect to the statements made and the conclusions reached in the following summary, and there can be
no assurance that the IRS will agree with such statements and conclusions.
This summary does not address the tax considerations arising under the laws of any U.S. state or local jurisdiction or any nonU.S. jurisdiction or under U.S. federal gift, generation-skipping and, except to the limited extent set forth below, estate tax laws or
the potential application of the Medicare Contribution tax. In addition, this discussion does not address tax considerations
applicable to an investor's particular circumstances or to investors that may be subject to special tax rules, including, without
limitation:
•

banks, insurance companies or other financial institutions;

•

persons subject to the alternative minimum tax;

•

tax-exempt organizations;

•

dealers in securities or currencies;

•

"controlled foreign corporations," "passive foreign investment companies," and corporations that accumulate earnings to
avoid U.S. federal income tax;

•

persons who acquire our common stock through the exercise of employee stock options or otherwise as compensation for
services;

•

partnerships or entities classified as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes, or any investors in such entities;

•

traders in securities that elect to use a mark-to-market method of accounting for their securities holdings;

•

persons that own, or are deemed to own, more than five percent of our common stock (except to the extent specifically set
forth below);

•

certain former citizens or long-term residents of the U.S.;

•

persons who hold our common stock as a position in a hedging transaction, "straddle," "conversion transaction" or other
risk reduction transaction;

•

persons who do not hold our common stock as a capital asset within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Internal Revenue
Code (generally, for investment purposes); or persons deemed to sell our common stock under the constructive sale
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.
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If a partnership or entity classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes is a beneficial owner of our common
stock, the tax treatment of a partner generally will depend on the status of the partner and upon the activities of the partnership.
Accordingly, partnerships that hold our common stock, and partners in such partnerships, should consult their tax advisors.
You are urged to consult your tax advisor with respect to the application of the U.S. federal income tax laws to your
particular situation, as well as any tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of our common stock
arising under the U.S. federal estate, generation-skipping or gift tax rules or under the laws of any U.S. state or local or
any non-U.S. or other taxing jurisdiction or under any applicable tax treaty.

Non-U.S. holder defined
For purposes of this discussion, you are a non-U.S. holder if you are a beneficial owner of our common stock (other than a
partnership or entity classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) that for U.S. federal income tax purposes is
not:
•

an individual citizen or resident of the United States;

•

a corporation or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes created or organized in the U.S.
or under the laws of the U.S. or any political subdivision thereof; or

•

an estate whose income is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of its source; or a trust (1) whose administration is
subject to the primary supervision of a U.S. court and which has one or more U.S. persons who have the authority to
control all substantial decisions of the trust or (2) which has a valid election in effect to be treated as a U.S. person.

Distributions
We have not made any distributions on our common stock and do not intend to do so in the foreseeable future. However if we
make distributions on our common stock, those payments will constitute dividends for U.S. federal income tax purposes to the
extent paid from our current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles. To the
extent those distributions exceed both our current and our accumulated earnings and profits, they will constitute a return of capital
and will first reduce your basis in our common stock, but not below zero. Any excess will be treated as gain from the sale or other
disposition of the common stock and will be treated as described below under "—Gain on disposition of common stock."
Subject to discussion below regarding backup withholding and FATCA, any dividend paid to you generally will be subject to U.S.
withholding tax either at a rate of 30% of the gross amount of the dividend or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable
income tax treaty, unless the dividends are effectively connected with your conduct of a U.S. trade or business, as discussed
below. In order to receive a reduced treaty rate, you must provide us or the relevant paying agent with an IRS Form W-8BEN or
IRS Form W-8BEN-E, as applicable, or other appropriate version of IRS Form W-8 prior to the distribution date properly certifying
qualification for the reduced rate. If you hold our common stock through a financial institution or other agent acting on your behalf,
you will be required to provide appropriate documentation to the agent, which then will be required to provide certification to the
applicable withholding agent, either directly or through other intermediaries.
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Dividends received by you that are effectively connected with your conduct of a U.S. trade or business (and, if required by an
applicable income tax treaty, are attributable to a permanent establishment maintained by you in the U.S.) generally will be subject
to U.S. federal income tax at the same graduated rates applicable to U.S. persons, net of certain deductions and credits. In
addition, if you are a corporate non-U.S. holder, dividends you receive that are effectively connected with your conduct of a U.S.
trade or business may also be subject to a branch profits tax at a rate of 30% or such lower rate as may be specified by an
applicable income tax treaty. Payment of effectively connected dividends that are included in your gross income generally will be
exempt from withholding tax if you provide us or the relevant paying agent with an IRS Form W-8ECI or other applicable IRS
Form W-8 prior to the distribution date properly certifying such exemption.
In general, non-U.S. holders will be required to periodically update their IRS Form W-8.
If you are eligible for a reduced rate of withholding tax pursuant to a tax treaty, you may be able to obtain a refund of any excess
amounts withheld if you timely file an appropriate claim for refund with the IRS.

Gain on disposition of common stock
Subject to the discussion below regarding backup withholding and "FATCA," you generally will not be required to pay U.S. federal
income tax on any gain realized upon the sale or other disposition of our common stock unless:
•

the gain is effectively connected with your conduct of a U.S. trade or business (and, if required by an applicable income tax
treaty, the gain is attributable to a permanent establishment maintained by you in the U.S.), in which case you will be
required to pay tax on the net gain derived from the sale (net of certain deductions or credits) under regular graduated U.S.
federal income tax rates, and if you are a non-U.S. holder that is a corporation, you may also be subject to a branch profits
tax at a 30% rate or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty;

•

you are an individual who is present in the U.S. for a period or periods aggregating 183 days or more during the calendar
year in which the sale or disposition occurs and certain other conditions are met, in which case you will be required to pay a
flat 30% tax on the gain derived from the sale, which tax may be offset by U.S. source capital losses (even though you are
not considered a resident of the U.S.) subject to an applicable income tax treaty providing otherwise; or

•

our common stock constitutes a U.S. real property interest by reason of our status as a "U.S. real property holding
corporation" for U.S. federal income tax purposes, or a USRPHC, at any time within the shorter of the five-year period
preceding the disposition or your holding period for our common stock. In general, a corporation is a USRPHC if the fair
market value of its U.S. real property interests (as defined in the Internal Revenue Code and applicable Treasury
regulations) equals or exceeds 50% of the sum of the fair market value of its worldwide (U.S. and foreign) real property
interests and its other assets used or held for use in a trade or business. We believe that we are not currently and will not
become a USRPHC. However, because the determination of whether we are a USRPHC depends on the fair market value
of our U.S. real property relative to the fair market value of our other business assets, there can be no assurance that we
will not become a USRPHC in the future. Even if we become a USRPHC, however, as long as our common stock is
regularly traded on an established securities market, such common stock will be treated as a U.S. real property interest
only if you actually or constructively hold
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more than five percent of such regularly traded common stock at any time during the five year (or shorter) period that is
described above.

Information reporting and backup withholding
Generally, we must report annually to the IRS the amount of any distribution paid to you, your name and address, and the amount
of tax withheld, if any. A similar report will be sent to you. Pursuant to applicable income tax treaties or other agreements, the IRS
may make these reports available to tax authorities in your country of residence.
Payments of dividends or of proceeds on the disposition of common stock made to you may be subject to additional information
reporting and backup withholding at a current rate of 28% unless you establish an exemption, for example by properly certifying
your non-U.S. status on an IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E or another appropriate version of IRS Form W-8.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, backup withholding and information reporting may apply if the relevant paying agent has actual
knowledge, or reason to know, that you are a U.S. person. Payment of the proceeds from a disposition of our common stock by a
non-U.S. holder effected through a non-U.S. office of a non-U.S. broker generally will not be subject to information reporting or
backup withholding if the payment is not received in the U.S. However, information reporting, but generally not backup
withholding, will apply to such a payment if the broker has certain connections with the U.S. unless the broker has documentary
evidence in its records that the beneficial owner thereof is a non-U.S. holder and specified conditions are met or an exemption is
otherwise established.
Backup withholding is not an additional tax; rather, the U.S. income tax liability of persons subject to backup withholding will be
reduced by the amount of tax withheld. If withholding results in an overpayment of taxes, a refund or credit may generally be
obtained from the IRS, provided that the required information is furnished to the IRS in a timely manner.

FATCA
Legislation commonly referred to as FATCA generally imposes a 30% U.S. withholding tax on dividends on, and the gross
proceeds of a disposition of, our common stock paid to (1) a "foreign financial institution" (as specifically defined under these
rules) unless such institution enters into an agreement with the U.S. Treasury to withhold on certain payments and to collect and
disclose information regarding U.S. account holders of such institution (which may include certain equity and debt holders of such
institution, as well as certain account holders that are foreign entities with U.S. owners) or otherwise establishes an exemption and
(2) a non-financial foreign entity unless such entity provides the payor with a certification identifying the substantial direct and
indirect U.S. owners of the entity, certifies that there are none of these or otherwise establishes an exemption. The withholding
obligation under FATCA with respect to dividends began July 1, 2014 and with respect to the gross proceeds from sales or other
dispositions of our common stock will not begin until January 1, 2017. Under certain circumstances, a non-U.S. holder might be
eligible for refunds or credits of such taxes. An intergovernmental agreement between the United States and an applicable foreign
country may modify the requirements described in this paragraph. Non-U.S. holders should consult their own tax advisors
regarding the possible implications of this legislation on their investment in our common stock. You are encouraged to consult with
your own tax advisor regarding the possible implications of this legislation on your investment in our common stock.
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U.S. Federal Estate Tax
Our common stock beneficially owned by an individual who is not a citizen or resident of the United States (as defined for
U.S. federal estate tax purposes) at the time of his or her death will generally be includable in the decedent's gross estate for
U.S. federal estate tax purposes, unless an applicable estate tax treaty provides otherwise.
Each prospective investor should consult its own tax advisor regarding the particular U.S. federal, state and local and
non-U.S. tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of our common stock, including the
consequences of any proposed change in applicable laws.
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Shares eligible for future sale
Before this offering, there has not been a public market for shares of our common stock. Future sales of substantial amounts of
shares of our common stock, including shares issued upon the exercise of outstanding options, in the public market after this
offering, or the possibility of these sales occurring, could cause the prevailing market price for our common stock to fall or impair
our ability to raise equity capital in the future.
Upon the completion of this offering a total of 29,838,415 shares of common stock will be outstanding, assuming that there are no
exercises of options after December 31, 2014. Of these shares, all shares of common stock sold in this offering by us, plus any
shares sold upon exercise of the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares from us, will be freely tradable in the public
market without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act, unless these shares are held by "affiliates," as that term
is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act, or are subject to the lock-up agreements described below.
The remaining shares of common stock will be "restricted securities," as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act.
These restricted securities are eligible for public sale only if they are registered under the Securities Act or if they qualify for an
exemption from registration under Rules 144 or 701 under the Securities Act, which are summarized below.
Subject to the lock-up agreements described below and the provisions of Rules 144 and 701 under the Securities Act, these
restricted securities will be available for sale in the public market as follows:

Date
On the date of this prospectus
Between 90 and 180 days after the date of this prospectus
At various times beginning more than 180 days after the date of this
prospectus

Number of
shares
—
—
24,488,415

The above table assumes the automatic conversion of all outstanding shares of our convertible preferred stock effective
immediately prior to the completion of this offering and excludes 30,157 shares of our common stock issued in connection with the
early exercise of options which are subject to our right of repurchase. In addition, of the 1,923,454 shares of our common stock
that were subject to stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2014, options to purchase an aggregate of 401,151 shares of
common stock were vested as of December 31, 2014 and will be eligible for sale at various times beginning more than 180 days
following the effective date of this offering.

Rule 144
In general, under Rule 144, beginning 90 days after the date of this prospectus, a person who is not our affiliate and has not been
our affiliate at any time during the preceding three months will be entitled to sell any shares of our common stock that such person
has beneficially owned for at least six months, including the holding period of any prior owner other than one of our affiliates,
without regard to volume limitations. Sales of our common stock by any such person would be subject to the availability of current
public information about us if the shares to be sold were beneficially owned by such person for less than one year.
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In addition, under Rule 144, a person may sell shares of our common stock acquired from us immediately upon the completion of
this offering, without regard to volume limitations or the availability of public information about us, if:
•

the person is not our affiliate and has not been our affiliate at any time during the preceding three months; and the person
has beneficially owned the shares to be sold for at least six months, including the holding period of any prior owner other
than one of our affiliates.

Beginning 90 days after the date of this prospectus, our affiliates who have beneficially owned shares of our common stock for at
least six months, including the holding period of any prior owner other than one of our affiliates, would be entitled to sell within any
three-month period a number of shares that does not exceed the greater of:
•

1% of the number of shares of our common stock then-outstanding, which will equal approximately 300,000 shares
immediately after this offering;

•

this offering; and the average weekly trading volume in our common stock during the four calendar weeks preceding the
date of filing of a Notice of Proposed Sale of Securities Pursuant to Rule 144 with respect to the sale.

Sales under Rule 144 by our affiliates are also subject to manner of sale provisions and notice requirements and to the availability
of current public information about us.

Rule 701
In general, under Rule 701, any of our employees, consultants or advisors who purchase shares from us in connection with a
compensatory stock or option plan or other written agreement in a transaction before the effective date of this offering that was
completed in reliance on Rule 701 and complied with the requirements of Rule 701 will, subject to the lock-up restrictions
described below, be eligible to resell such shares 90 days after the effective date of this offering in reliance on Rule 144, but
without compliance with certain restrictions, including the holding period, contained in Rule 144.

Lock-up agreements
In connection with this offering we and our officers, directors and substantially all of our equity holders have agreed with the
underwriters, subject to certain exceptions, not to dispose of or hedge any of our common stock or securities convertible into or
exchangeable for shares of common stock, file or cause to be filed a registration statement covering shares of common stock or
any securities that are convertible into, exchangeable for, or represent the right to receive, common stock or any substantially
similar securities, or publicly disclose the intention to do any of the foregoing, during the period from the date of this prospectus
continuing through the date 180 days after the date of this prospectus, except with the prior written consent of J.P. Morgan
Securities LLC. These agreements do not apply to the issuance by us of shares under any existing employee benefit plans.

Registration rights
Upon completion of this offering, certain holders of our outstanding preferred stock will be entitled to various rights with respect to
the registration under the Securities Act of shares of our common stock issuable upon conversion of our preferred stock.
Registration of these shares under the Securities Act would result in these shares becoming fully tradable without restriction under
the Securities Act
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immediately upon the effectiveness of the registration. See "Description of Capital Stock—Investors' Rights Agreement" for
additional information.

Registration statement
We intend to file a registration statement on Form S-8 under the Securities Act covering all of the shares of common stock subject
to options outstanding or reserved for issuance under our stock plans. We expect to file this registration statement as soon as
practicable after this offering. However, none of the shares registered on Form S-8 will be eligible for resale until the expiration of
the lock-up agreements to which they are subject.
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Underwriting
We are offering the shares of common stock described in this prospectus through a number of underwriters. J.P. Morgan
Securities LLC is the sole book-running manager of the offering and representative of the underwriters. We have entered into an
underwriting agreement with the underwriters. Subject to the terms and conditions of the underwriting agreement, we have agreed
to sell to the underwriters, and each underwriter has severally agreed to purchase, at the public offering price less the underwriting
discounts and commissions set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, the number of shares of common stock listed next to its
name in the following table:
Number of
shares

Name
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC
Cowen and Company, LLC
Leerink Partners LLC
Total






5,350,000

The underwriters are committed to purchase all the common shares offered by us if they purchase any shares. The underwriting
agreement also provides that if an underwriter defaults, the purchase commitments of non-defaulting underwriters may also be
increased or the offering may be terminated.
The underwriters propose to offer the common shares directly to the public at the initial public offering price set forth on the cover
page of this prospectus and to certain dealers at that price less a concession not in excess of $
per share. After the initial
public offering of the shares, the offering price and other selling terms may be changed by the underwriters. Sales of shares made
outside of the United States may be made by affiliates of the underwriters.
The underwriters have an option to buy up to 802,500 additional shares of common stock from us. The underwriters have 30 days
from the date of this prospectus to exercise this option. If any shares are purchased with this option, the underwriters will purchase
shares in approximately the same proportion as shown in the table above. If any additional shares of common stock are
purchased, the underwriters will offer the additional shares on the same terms as those on which the shares are being offered.
The underwriting fee is equal to the public offering price per share of common stock less the amount paid by the underwriters to
us per share of common stock. The underwriting fee is $
per share. The following table shows the per share and total
underwriting discounts and commissions to be paid to the underwriters assuming both no exercise and full exercise of the
underwriters' option to purchase additional shares.
Without
option to
purchase
additional shares
exercise
Per Share
Total

$
$

With full
option to
purchase
additional shares
exercise
$
$
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We estimate that the total expenses of this offering, including registration, filing and listing fees, printing fees and legal and
accounting expenses, but excluding the underwriting discounts and commissions, will be approximately $3.1 million. We have
agreed to reimburse the underwriters up to $50,000 for expenses relating to the clearance of this offering with the Financial
Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc.
Entities affiliated with certain of our existing stockholders have indicated an interest in purchasing up to an aggregate of
approximately $25.0 million in shares of our common stock in this offering at the initial public offering price. However, because
indications of interest are not binding agreements or commitments to purchase, the underwriters could determine to sell more,
less or no shares to any of these potential investors and any of these potential investors could determine to purchase more, less
or no shares in this offering. The underwriters will receive the same underwriting discount on any sales to such potential investors.
A prospectus in electronic format may be made available on the web sites maintained by one or more underwriters, or selling
group members, if any, participating in the offering. The underwriters may agree to allocate a number of shares to underwriters
and selling group members for sale to their online brokerage account holders. Internet distributions will be allocated by the
representatives to underwriters and selling group members that may make Internet distributions on the same basis as other
allocations.
We have agreed that we will not (1) offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option
or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase, or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, or file
with the SEC a registration statement under the Securities Act relating to, any shares of our common stock or any securities
convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for our common stock, or publicly disclose the intention to make any offer, sale,
pledge, disposition or filing, or (2) enter into any swap or other agreement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic
consequences of ownership of the common stock or such other securities, whether any such transaction described in clause (1) or
(2) above is to be settled by delivery of common stock or such other securities, in cash or otherwise, without the prior written
consent of J.P. Morgan Securities LLC for a period of 180 days after the date of this prospectus, other than the shares of our
common stock to be sold hereunder and any shares of our common stock issued upon the exercise of options granted under our
existing equity incentive plans.
Our directors and executive officers, and substantially all of our securityholders have entered into lock-up agreements with the
underwriters prior to the commencement of this offering pursuant to which each of these persons or entities, with limited
exceptions, for a period of 180 days after the date of this prospectus, may not, without the prior written consent of J.P. Morgan
Securities LLC, (1) lend, offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or
contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase, or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any shares
of our common stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for our common stock (including, without
limitation, common stock or such other securities which may be deemed to be beneficially owned by such directors, executive
officers, or other securityholders in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC and securities which may be issued
upon exercise of a stock option or warrant), or publicly disclose the intention to make any offer, sale pledge or disposition, or
(2) enter into any swap or other agreement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of
the common stock or such other securities, whether any such transaction described in clause (1) or (2) above is to be settled by
delivery of common stock or such other securities, in cash or otherwise, or (3) make any demand for or exercise any right with
respect to the registration of any shares of our common stock or any security convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for
our common stock.
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We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.
Our common stock has been approved for listing on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "NVTA."
In connection with this offering, the underwriters may engage in stabilizing transactions, which involve making bids for, purchasing
and selling shares of common stock in the open market for the purpose of preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of
the common stock while this offering is in progress. These stabilizing transactions may include making short sales of the common
stock, which involve the sale by the underwriters of a greater number of shares of common stock than they are required to
purchase in this offering, and purchasing shares of common stock on the open market to cover positions created by short sales.
Short sales may be "covered" shorts, which are short positions in an amount not greater than the underwriters' option to purchase
additional shares referred to above, or may be "naked" shorts, which are short positions in excess of that amount. The
underwriters may close out any covered short position either by exercising their option to purchase additional shares, in whole or
in part, or by purchasing shares in the open market. In making this determination, the underwriters will consider, among other
things, the price of shares available for purchase in the open market compared to the price at which the underwriters may
purchase shares through the option to purchase additional shares. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the
underwriters are concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of the common stock in the open market that could
adversely affect investors who purchase in this offering. To the extent that the underwriters create a naked short position, they will
purchase shares in the open market to cover the position.
The underwriters have advised us that, pursuant to Regulation M of the Securities Act of 1933, they may also engage in other
activities that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of the common stock, including the imposition of penalty bids. This
means that if the representatives of the underwriters purchase common stock in the open market in stabilizing transactions or to
cover short sales, the representatives can require the underwriters that sold those shares as part of this offering to repay the
underwriting discounts and commissions received by them.
These activities may have the effect of raising or maintaining the market price of the common stock or preventing or retarding a
decline in the market price of the common stock, and, as a result, the price of the common stock may be higher than the price that
otherwise might exist in the open market. If the underwriters commence these activities, they may discontinue them at any time.
The underwriters may carry out these transactions on the NYSE, in the over-the-counter market or otherwise.
Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our common stock. The initial public offering price will be determined by
negotiations between us and the representatives of the underwriters. In determining the initial public offering price, we and the
representatives of the underwriters expect to consider a number of factors, including:
•

the information set forth in this prospectus and otherwise available to the representatives;

•

our prospects and the history and prospects for the industry in which we compete;

•

an assessment of our management;

•

our prospects for future earnings;

•

the general condition of the securities markets at the time of this offering;
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•

the recent market prices of, and demand for, publicly traded common stock of generally comparable companies; and

•

other factors deemed relevant by the underwriters and us.

Neither we nor the underwriters can assure investors that an active trading market will develop for our common shares, or that the
shares will trade in the public market at or above the initial public offering price.
Certain of the underwriters and their affiliates have provided in the past to us and our affiliates and may provide from time to time
in the future certain commercial banking, financial advisory, investment banking and other services for us and such affiliates in the
ordinary course of their business, for which they have received and may continue to receive customary fees and commissions. In
addition, from time to time, certain of the underwriters and their affiliates may effect transactions for their own account or the
account of customers, and hold on behalf of themselves or their customers, long or short positions in our debt or equity securities
or loans, and may do so in the future.

Selling restrictions
General
Other than in the United States, no action has been taken by us or the underwriters that would permit a public offering of the
securities offered by this prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. The securities offered by this
prospectus may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor may this prospectus or any other offering material or
advertisements in connection with the offer and sale of any such securities be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except
under circumstances that will result in compliance with the applicable rules and regulations of that jurisdiction. Persons into whose
possession this prospectus comes are advised to inform themselves about and to observe any restrictions relating to the offering
and the distribution of this prospectus. This prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any
securities offered by this prospectus in any jurisdiction in which such an offer or a solicitation is unlawful.
United Kingdom
This document is only being distributed to and is only directed at (1) persons who are outside the United Kingdom or (2) to
investment professionals falling within Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order
2005, or the Order, or (3) high net worth entities, and other persons to whom it may lawfully be communicated, falling with
Article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order (all such persons together being referred to as "relevant persons"). The securities are only
available to, and any invitation, offer or agreement to subscribe, purchase or otherwise acquire such securities will be engaged in
only with, relevant persons. Any person who is not a relevant person should not act or rely on this document or any of its contents.
European Economic Area
In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive, or each, a
'Relevant Member State, from and including the date on which the European Union Prospectus Directive, or the EU Prospectus
Directive, was implemented in that Relevant Member State, or the Relevant Implementation Date, an offer of securities described
in this prospectus may not be made to the public in that Relevant Member State prior to the publication of a prospectus in relation
to the shares which has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where
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appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State,
all in accordance with the EU Prospectus Directive, except that, with effect from and including the Relevant Implementation Date,
an offer of securities described in this prospectus may be made to the public in that Relevant Member State at any time:
•

to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined under the EU Prospectus Directive;

•

to fewer than 100 or, if the Relevant Member State has implemented the relevant provision of the 2010 PD Amending
Directive, 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the EU Prospectus Directive); or

•

in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the EU Prospectus Directive, provided that no such offer of
securities described in this prospectus shall result in a requirement for the publication by us of a prospectus pursuant to
Article 3 of the EU Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer of securities to the public" in relation to any securities in any Relevant
Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the
securities to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the securities, as the same may be
varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the EU Prospectus Directive in that Member State. The expression
"EU Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC (and any amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD Amending
Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member State) and includes any relevant implementing measure in each
Relevant Member State, and the expression "2010 PD Amending Directive" means Directive 2010/73/EU.
Switzerland
The shares may not be publicly offered in Switzerland and will not be listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, or the SIX, or on any
other stock exchange or regulated trading facility in Switzerland. This document has been prepared without regard to the
disclosure standards for issuance prospectuses under art. 652a or art. 1156 of the Swiss Code of Obligations or the disclosure
standards for listing prospectuses under art. 27 ff. of the SIX Listing Rules or the listing rules of any other stock exchange or
regulated trading facility in Switzerland. Neither this prospectus nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the shares
or the offering may be publicly distributed or otherwise made publicly available in Switzerland.
Neither this prospectus nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the offering, the Company, the shares have been or
will be filed with or approved by any Swiss regulatory authority. In particular, this document will not be filed with, and the offer of
shares will not be supervised by, the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA, and the offer of shares has not been
and will not be authorized under the Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes, or the CISA. The investor protection
afforded to acquirers of interests in collective investment schemes under the CISA does not extend to acquirers of shares.
Hong Kong
The shares may not be offered or sold by means of any document other than (1) in circumstances which do not constitute an offer
to the public within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.32, Laws of Hong Kong), or (2) to "professional investors"
within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.571, Laws of Hong Kong) and any rules made thereunder, or
(3) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "prospectus" within the meaning of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap.32, Laws of Hong Kong), and no advertisement, invitation or document relating to the shares may be issued or
may
136

Table of Contents
be in the possession of any person for the purpose of issue (in each case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere), which is directed
at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the
laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to shares which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong
Kong or only to "professional investors" within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong
Kong) and any rules made thereunder.
Singapore
This prospectus has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, this prospectus
and any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the shares
may not be circulated or distributed, nor may the shares be offered or sold, or be made the subject of an invitation for subscription
or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than (1) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of
the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore, or the SFA, (2) to a relevant person, or any person pursuant to
Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions, specified in Section 275 of the SFA or (3) otherwise pursuant to, and in
accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.
Where the shares are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 by a relevant person which is: (a) a corporation (which is not an
accredited investor) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or
more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or (b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose
sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary is an accredited investor, shares, debentures and units of shares and
debentures of that corporation or the beneficiaries' rights and interest in that trust shall not be transferable for 6 months after that
corporation or that trust has acquired the shares under Section 275 except: (1) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the
SFA or to a relevant person, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions, specified in
Section 275 of the SFA; (2) where no consideration is given for the transfer; or (3) by operation of law.
Japan
The securities have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan, or the
Financial Instruments and Exchange Law, and each underwriter has agreed that it will not offer or sell any securities, directly or
indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (which term as used herein means any person resident in
Japan, including any corporation or other entity organized under the laws of Japan), or to others for re-offering or resale, directly
or indirectly, in Japan or to a resident of Japan, except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and
otherwise in compliance with, the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law and any other applicable laws, regulations and
ministerial guidelines of Japan.
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Legal matters
The validity of the shares of common stock offered hereby will be passed upon for us by Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP,
Palo Alto, California. Cooley LLP, San Diego, California is representing the underwriters in this offering.

Experts
Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, has audited our consolidated financial statements at
December 31, 2012 and 2013, and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2013, as set forth in their report.
We have included our financial statements in the prospectus and elsewhere in the registration statement in reliance on Ernst &
Young LLP's report, given on their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

Where you can find additional information
We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the shares of common
stock offered hereby. This prospectus, which constitutes a part of the registration statement, does not contain all of the information
set forth in the registration statement or the exhibits and schedules filed therewith. For further information about us and the
common stock offered hereby, we refer you to the registration statement and the exhibits and schedules filed thereto. Upon
completion of this offering, we will be required to file periodic reports, proxy statements, and other information with the SEC
pursuant to the Exchange Act. You may read and copy this information at the Public Reference Room of the SEC, 100 F Street,
N.E., Room 1580, Washington D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the public reference rooms by calling
the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy statements and other
information about issuers, like us, that file electronically with the SEC. The address of that site is www.sec.gov.
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Report of independent registered public accounting firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Invitae Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Invitae Corporation (the Company) as of December 31, 2012
and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, convertible preferred stock and
stockholders' deficit, and cash flows for each of the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company's internal control over
financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of Invitae Corporation at December 31, 2012 and 2013, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each
of the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Ernst & Young LLP
Redwood City, California
November 6, 2014, except for the last paragraph of Note 1, as to which the date is February X, 2015.

The foregoing report is in the form that will be signed upon the effectiveness of the reverse stock split as described in the last
paragraph of Note 1 to the financial statements.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Redwood City, California
January 29, 2015
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Invitae Corporation
Consolidated balance sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Restricted cash
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities, convertible preferred stock, and stockholders' deficit
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Capital lease obligation, current portion
Total current liabilities
Capital lease obligation, net of current portion
Other long-term liabilities
Liabilities related to early exercise of stock options
Total liabilities

December 31,
2012
2013

$ 21,801 $ 43,070
373
736
22,174
43,806
2,730
8,164
60
120
1,009
1,013
$ 25,973 $ 53,103

$

383 $
290
458
1,131
757
68
21
1,977

498
886
845
2,229
1,156
393
31
3,809

Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)
Convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 46,987,767 and
81,131,537 shares authorized, 46,987,747 and 81,131,524 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2013, respectively; aggregate liquidation value of
$37,002 and $87,002 as of December 31, 2012 and December 31,
2013, respectively
Stockholders' deficit:
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 60,987,767 and 98,131,537
shares authorized, 661,118 and 732,670 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2013,
respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' deficit
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock, and stockholders' deficit

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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36,755

86,574

—
—
91
408
(12,850) (37,688)
(12,759) (37,280)
$ 25,973 $ 53,103
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Invitae Corporation
Consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Revenue
Costs and operating expenses:
Cost of revenue
Research and development
Selling and marketing
General and administrative
Total costs and operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense), net
Interest expense
Net loss and comprehensive loss
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic
and diluted
Shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic and diluted
Pro forma net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted (unaudited)
Shares used in computing pro forma net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted
(unaudited)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$

Year ended
December 31,
2012
2013
— $
148

$
$

—
5,557
—
3,004
8,561
(8,561)
2
(43)
(8,602) $
(9,014) $

667
16,039
2,431
5,764
24,901
(24,753)
(26)
(59)
(24,838)
(24,989)

$

(14.18) $

(36.13)

635,705

691,731
$

(2.44)

10,162,919
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Invitae Corporation
Consolidated statements of convertible preferred stock and stockholders' deficit

(In thousands,
except share and
per share
amounts)

Convertible
preferred stock
Shares

Amount

Total
Common stock Additional
Accumulated stockholders'
Amount
paid-in
Shares
capital
deficit
deficit

Balance as of
January 1,
2012
15,874,997 $ 7,362 613,647 $
Issuance of
Series C
convertible
preferred
stock for
cash and
the
conversion
of
convertible
notes at
$0.95 per
share, net
of issuance
costs of
$164
31,112,750 29,393
—
Common
stock
issued on
exercise of
stock
options
—
— 20,865
Vesting of
common
stock
related to
early
exercise of
options
—
— 26,606
Stock-based
compensation
expense
—
—
—
Net loss
—
—
—
Balance as of
December 31,
2012
46,987,747 36,755 661,118
Issuance of
Series D
convertible
preferred
stock for
cash at
$1.25 per
share, net
of issuance
costs of
$67
8,000,000
9,933
—
Issuance of
Series E
convertible

— $

9 $

(4,248) $

(4,239)

—

—

—

—

—

8

—

8

—

9

—

9

—
—

65
—

—
(8,602)

65
(8,602)

—

91

(12,850)

(12,759)

—

—

—

—

preferred
stock for
cash at
$1.53 per
share, net
of issuance
costs of
$114
26,143,777 39,886
—
Common
stock
issued on
exercise of
stock
options
—
— 31,666
Vesting of
common
stock
related to
early
exercise of
—
— 39,886
options
Stock-based
compensation
expense
—
—
—
Net loss
—
—
—
Balance as of
December 31,
2013
81,131,524 $ 86,574 732,670 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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—

—

—

—

—

39

—

39

—

18

—

18

—
—

260
—

—
(24,838)

260
(24,838)

— $

408 $

(37,688) $

(37,280)
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Invitae Corporation
Consolidated statements of cash flows
(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

Year ended December 31,
2012
2013
$

277
65

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Change in restricted cash
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Capital lease principal payment
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferred stock, net of
issuance costs
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid

F-6

(24,838)
928
260

(303)
(992)
174
227
(9,154)

(363)
(4)
220
767
(23,030)

(766)
(60)
(826)

(4,520)
(60)
(4,580)

(609)
2,000

(1,007)
—

18

67

$

27,393
28,802
18,822
2,979
21,801 $

49,819
48,879
21,269
21,801
43,070

$

29 $

56

1,539 $

1,793

Supplemental cash flow information of non-cash
investing and financing activities:
Equipment acquired through capital leases
$
Conversion of convertible notes and accrued interest into
Series C convertible preferred stock
$
Purchase of property and equipment in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities.
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

(8,602) $

2,018
64 $

—
49
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Invitae Corporation
Notes to consolidated financial statements
1.

Organization and description of business

Invitae Corporation (the "Company") was incorporated in the state of Delaware on January 13, 2010, as Locus Development, Inc.
and changed its name to Invitae Corporation in 2012. The Company utilizes an integrated portfolio of laboratory processes,
software tools and informatics capabilities to process DNA-containing samples, analyze information about patient-specific genetic
variation and generate test reports for physicians and their patients. The Company has two laboratories: one in San Francisco,
California and a second in Santiago, Chile. The Company's first product is an assay of 216 genes that can be used for multiple
indications. The test includes multiple genes associated with hereditary cancer, neurological disorders, cardiovascular disorders
and other hereditary conditions. The Company operates in one segment.
Need for additional capital
The Company has incurred net losses from operations since inception and has an accumulated deficit of $37.7 million as of
December 31, 2013. The Company expects to incur additional losses and negative operating cash flows and, as a result, it will
require additional capital to fund its operations and execute its business plan. Management plans to finance its operations in the
future with additional equity financing arrangements. In August and October 2014, the Company issued an aggregate of
60,000,000 shares of Series F convertible preferred stock for $120.0 million in gross proceeds (see Note 12). Management
believes that its cash and cash equivalents, including the proceeds from the sale of the Company's Series F convertible preferred
stock, will provide sufficient funds to enable the Company to meet its operating plan for at least the next 12 months. However, if
the Company's anticipated operating results are not achieved in future periods, management believes that planned expenditures
may need to be reduced in order to extend the time period over which the then-available resources would be able to fund the
Company's operations.
Reverse Stock Split
In January 2015, the Company's board of directors approved an amendment to the Company's amended and restated certificate
of incorporation to effect a reverse split of the Company's issued and outstanding common stock at a 1-for-6 ratio to be effected
prior to the Company's initial public offering. The par value and authorized shares of common stock and convertible preferred
stock were not adjusted as a result of the reverse split. All issued and outstanding common stock, options to purchase common
stock and per share amounts contained in the financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the reverse stock
split for all periods presented. The financial statements have also been retroactively adjusted to reflect a proportional adjustment
to the conversion ratio for each series of preferred stock that will be effected in connection with the reverse stock split.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Principles of consolidation
The Company's consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and
its wholly owned subsidiary. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
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Invitae Corporation
Notes to consolidated financial statements (Continued)
Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities as of the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. The Company believes judgment is
involved in determining revenue recognition; the recoverability of long-lived assets; the fair value of the Company's common stock;
stock-based compensation expense; and income tax uncertainties. The Company bases these estimates on historical and
anticipated results, trends, and various other assumptions that the Company believes are reasonable under the circumstances,
including assumptions as to future events. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates and assumptions.
Concentrations of credit risk and other risks and uncertainties
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents.
The Company's cash and cash equivalents are held by financial institutions in the United States and Chile. Such deposits may
exceed federally insured limits.
As of December 31, 2013, substantially all of the Company's revenue has been derived from sales of its assay of 216 genes. Teva
Pharmaceuticals Industries Ltd. accounted for 44% of the Company's revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013. For the
year ended December 31, 2013, no other customer represented over 10% of total revenue.
Cash equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase to
be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist primarily of amounts invested in money market accounts.
Restricted cash
Restricted cash consists of a money market account that serves as collateral for a credit card agreement at one of the Company's
financial institutions.
Property and equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally between three and seven years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of
the lease. Amortization expense of assets acquired through capital leases is included in depreciation and amortization expense in
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred,
and improvements and betterments are capitalized. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated
depreciation are removed from the balance sheet and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in the statements of operations and
comprehensive loss in the period realized.
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Invitae Corporation
Notes to consolidated financial statements (Continued)
The useful lives of the property and equipment are as follows:
Furniture and fixtures
Automobiles
Laboratory equipment
Computer equipment
Software
Leasehold improvements

7 years
7 years
5 years
3 years
3 years
Shorter of lease term or estimated useful life

Internal-use software
The Company capitalizes third-party costs incurred in the application development stage to design and implement the software
used in its tests and Invitae Family History Tool mobile application. Costs incurred in the application development stage of the
software and mobile application are capitalized and will be amortized over an estimated useful life of three years on a straight line
basis.
During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, the Company capitalized $0 and $250,000, respectively, of software
development costs. The $250,000 was recorded in property and equipment as construction-in-progress as of December 31, 2013
as it had not been completed and placed into service.
Long-lived assets
The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when the total estimated future undiscounted
cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying amount. Impairment,
if any, would be assessed using discounted cash flows or other appropriate measures of fair value. The Company has not
recorded an impairment of any long-lived assets as of December 31, 2013.
Fair value of financial instruments
Fair value accounting is applied for all financial assets and liabilities and non-financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or
disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually).
Revenue recognition
Revenue is generated from the sale of tests that provide analysis and associated interpretation of the sequencing of parts of the
genome. Revenue associated with subsequent re-requisition services was de minimis for 2013.
Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; delivery has occurred or services have been
rendered; the fee is fixed or determinable; and collectability is reasonably assured. The criterion for whether the fee is fixed or
determinable and whether collectability is reasonably assured are based on management's judgments. When evaluating
collectability, in situations where contracted reimbursement coverage does not exist, the Company considers whether the
Company has sufficient history to reliably estimate a payer's individual payment patterns. The Company reviews the number of
tests paid against the number of tests billed and the payer's outstanding balance for unpaid tests to determine whether payments
are being made at a consistently high percentage of tests billed and at appropriate
F-9
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Invitae Corporation
Notes to consolidated financial statements (Continued)
amounts given the amount billed. The Company has not been able to demonstrate a predictable pattern of collectability, and
therefore recognizes revenue when payment is received.
Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue reflects the aggregate costs incurred in delivering the genetic testing results to physicians and includes expenses
for personnel costs including stock-based compensation, materials and supplies, equipment and infrastructure expenses
associated with testing and allocated overhead including rent, equipment depreciation and utilities. Costs associated with
performing the Company's test are recorded as the test is processed regardless of whether and when revenue is recognized with
respect to that test.
Research and development
Research and development costs are charged to operations as incurred. Research and development costs include, but are not
limited to, payroll and personnel-related expenses, stock-based compensation expense, reagents and laboratory supplies,
consulting costs, and allocated overhead including rent, information technology, equipment depreciation and utilities.
Income taxes
The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial reporting and the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation
allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.
Stock-based compensation
The Company measures its stock-based payment awards made to employees and directors based on the estimated fair values of
the awards and recognizes the compensation expense over the requisite service period. The Company uses the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model to estimate the fair value of its stock-based awards. Stock-based compensation expense is recognized using
the straight-line method. Stock-based compensation expense is based on the value of the portion of stock-based payment awards
that is ultimately expected to vest. As such, the Company's stock-based compensation is reduced for the estimated forfeitures at
the date of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.
The Company accounts for compensation expense related to stock options granted to non-employees based on the fair values
estimated using the Black-Scholes model. Stock options granted to non-employees are remeasured at each reporting date until
the award is vested.
Foreign currency transactions
The Company uses the U.S. dollar as its functional currency for its subsidiary in Chile. Foreign currency assets and liabilities are
remeasured into U.S. dollars using the end of period exchange rates except for nonmonetary assets and liabilities, which are
remeasured using historical exchange rates. Expenses are remeasured using an average exchange rate for the respective period.
Gains or losses from foreign currency transactions are included in other income on the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses have not been significant to the consolidated financial
statements for all periods presented.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements (Continued)
Comprehensive loss
Comprehensive loss is composed of two components: net loss and other comprehensive loss. Other comprehensive loss refers to
gains and losses that under U.S. GAAP are recorded as an element of stockholders' deficit, but are excluded from net loss. The
Company did not record any transactions within other comprehensive loss in the periods presented and, therefore, net loss and
comprehensive loss were the same for all periods presented.
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders
Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, without consideration of common
stock equivalents. Diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing net loss attributable to
common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common share equivalents outstanding for the period determined using
the treasury stock method. Potentially dilutive securities consisting of convertible preferred stock and options to purchase common
stock are considered to be common stock equivalents and were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders because their effect would be antidilutive for all periods presented. Common shares subject
to repurchase are excluded from the weighted-average shares. For the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, 58,367 and
54,407 shares subject to repurchase, respectively, are excluded from basic loss per share calculation.
Unaudited pro forma net loss per share attributable to common stockholders
In contemplation of an initial public offering, the Company has presented the unaudited pro forma basic and diluted net loss per
share attributable to common stockholders which has been computed to give effect to the conversion of its convertible preferred
stock into common stock.
Recent accounting pronouncements
On May 28, 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASU 2014-09"), which requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it
expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. ASU 2014-09 will replace most existing
revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. The new standard will become effective for the Company
on January 1, 2017. Early application is not permitted. The standard permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative
effect transition method. The Company is evaluating the effect that ASU 2014-09 will have on its consolidated financial statements
and related disclosures. The Company has not yet selected a transition method nor has it determined the effect of the standard on
its ongoing financial reporting.
In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-10, Development Stage Entities (Topic 915): Elimination of Certain Financial Reporting
Requirements, Including an Amendment to Variable Interest Entities Guidance in Topic 810, Consolidation ("ASU 2014-10"). ASU
2014-10 simplifies the accounting guidance by removing all incremental financial reporting requirements for development stage
entities. The amendments related to the elimination of the inception-to-date information and other disclosure requirements of
Topic 915 should be applied retrospectively, and are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2014,
and interim periods therein. The Company early adopted this guidance as of January 1, 2012, and accordingly, there is no
inception-to-date information presented in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements (Continued)
3.

Balance sheet components

Property and equipment, net
Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2012
2013
$
248 $ 1,527
789
3,567
1,942
3,735
—
120
—
18
—
21
—
16
73
410
3,052
9,414
(322)
(1,250)
$ 2,730 $ 8,164

Leasehold improvements
Laboratory equipment
Equipment under capital lease
Computer equipment
Software
Furniture and fixtures
Automobiles
Construction-in-process
Total property and equipment, gross
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total property and equipment, net

Depreciation and amortization expense was $277,000 and $928,000 for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013,
respectively.
Accrued liabilities
Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):
Year ended December 31,
2012
2013
$
139 $
279
114
201
—
168
37
238
$
290 $
886

Accrued compensation and related expenses
Accrued professional services
Accrued costs for construction-in-process
Other
Total accrued liabilities

4.

Fair value measurements

Financial assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value. The carrying amounts of certain of the Company's financial instruments,
including cash equivalents, and accounts payable, are valued at cost, which approximates fair value due to their short maturities.
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the reporting date. The authoritative guidance establishes a three-level valuation
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value based upon whether such inputs are
observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs
reflect market assumptions made by the reporting entity.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements (Continued)
The three-level hierarchy for the inputs to valuation techniques is briefly summarized as follows:
Level 1—Observable inputs such as quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical instruments in active markets.
Level 2—Observable inputs such as quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or
similar instruments in markets that are not active, or model-derived valuations whose significant inputs are observable.
Level 3—Unobservable inputs that reflect the reporting entity's own assumptions.
The Company's financial instruments consist only of Level 1 assets, which are highly liquid money market funds. At December 31,
2012 and 2013, the Company had $21.4 million and $33.2 million in money market funds that are included in cash and cash
equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets.

5.

Commitments and contingencies

Convertible Notes
The Company entered into a Note Purchase Agreement dated May 22, 2012, as amended June 27, 2012 and July 26, 2012 with
investors and issued notes in the aggregate principal amount of $2.0 million. The convertible notes had a maturity date of
November 1, 2012 and an annual interest rate of 8.0%. In August 2012, the outstanding principal $2.0 million and accrued interest
of $18,000 were converted into Series C convertible preferred stock at the price paid by other purchasers for the Series C
convertible preferred stock.
Operating leases
The Company entered into a lease agreement beginning September 1, 2011, for its headquarters and laboratory facilities in San
Francisco, California. The lease term is for 60 months. The Company also entered into a lease agreement beginning November 1,
2012, for office space in Palo Alto, California. The lease term for this facility is for 84 months and provides tenant improvement
allowances of up to $334,000. The Company provided a security deposit of $993,000 as collateral for the lease which is included
in other assets in the Company's balance sheet. On May 1, 2013, the Company entered into a lease agreement for lab space in
Santiago, Chile with a lease term of two years with an automatic two-year renewal option. On December 15, 2013, the Company
entered into an additional lease for office space and laboratory facilities in San Francisco, California. The lease term is for
38 months. The master lease agreements include scheduled rent increases over the terms of the leases. Rent increases,
including the impact of a rent holiday and a leasehold improvement allowance from the landlord, were recognized as deferred rent
and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the original lease.
F-13

Table of Contents

Invitae Corporation
Notes to consolidated financial statements (Continued)
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as of December 31, 2013 are as follows (in thousands):
Year ending December 31,
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments

Amounts
1,568
1,796
1,798
920
770
991
$
7,843
$

Rent expense was $177,000 and $807,000 and for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively.
Capital leases
The Company has entered into various capital lease agreements to obtain lab equipment. The original term of the capital leases is
typically three years with interest rates ranging from 3.5%—18.9%. The leases are secured by the underlying equipment. The
portion of the future payments designated as principal repayment was classified as a capital lease obligation on the consolidated
balance sheets. Future payments under the capital lease as of December 31, 2013 are as follows (in thousands):
Year ending December 31,
2014
2015
2016
2017
Total capital lease obligation
Less: amount representing interest
Present value of net minimum capital lease payments
Less: current portion
Total noncurrent capital lease obligation

Amounts
$
906
797
370
29
2,102
(101)
2,001
(845)
$
1,156

Interest expense related to capital leases was $25,000 and $59,000 and for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013,
respectively.
Property and equipment under capital leases amounted to $1.9 million and $3.7 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2013,
respectively. Accumulated depreciation and amortization, collectively, on these assets was $170,000 and $625,000, respectively.
Guarantees and indemnifications
As permitted under Delaware law and in accordance with the Company's bylaws, the Company indemnifies its officers and
directors for certain events or occurrences while the officer or director is or was serving in
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Notes to consolidated financial statements (Continued)
such capacity. The maximum amount of potential future indemnification is unlimited; however, the Company currently holds
director and officer liability insurance. This insurance allows the transfer of the risk associated with the Company's exposure and
may enable it to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. The Company believes the fair value of these indemnification
agreements is minimal. Accordingly, the Company has not recorded any liabilities associated with these indemnification
agreements as of December 31, 2012 or 2013.
Contingencies
On November 25, 2013, the University of Utah Research Foundation, the Trustees of the University of Pennsylvania, HSC
Research and Development Limited Partnership, Endorecherche, Inc. and Myriad Genetics, Inc. (collectively, the Myriad Plaintiffs)
filed a complaint in the District of Utah (the Utah Action), alleging that certain of the Company's genetic testing services infringe
certain claims of various U.S. Patents (collectively, the Myriad Patents). On November 26, 2013, the Company filed a complaint
for declaratory judgment in the Northern District of California (the California Action), asserting that the Myriad Patents are invalid
and the Company does not infringe them, and the Myriad Plaintiffs have counterclaimed alleging that the Company infringes the
Myriad Patents. Although the Utah Action has been dismissed, on February 19, 2014, the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation
granted the Myriad Plaintiffs' motion to consolidate for pre-trial proceedings all actions concerning the Myriad Patents (the MDL
Proceedings), with the MDL Proceedings taking place in the District of Utah. Upon the conclusion of the MDL Proceedings, any
remaining aspects of the California Action would be transferred back to the Northern District of California for further proceedings, if
needed. The Company intends to continue to pursue this matter and defend itself vigorously. Because of the uncertainties related
to the legal proceedings, the Company is not able to predict or estimate any range of reasonably possible loss related to the
Myriad matters. Accordingly, the Company has not accrued for contingent liabilities associated with the legal matters described
above. In the event of a successful claim of infringement or misappropriation against the Company, it may be required to pay
damages and obtain one or more licenses from third parties, or be prohibited from commercializing certain tests, all of which could
have a material adverse impact on the Company's cash position and business and financial condition.
The Company may become party to various other claims and complaints arising in the ordinary course of business. Management
does not believe that any ultimate liability resulting from any of these claims will have a material adverse effect on its results of
operations, financial condition, or liquidity. However, management cannot give any assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of
these claims, and their resolution could be material to operating results for any particular period, depending upon the level of
income for the period.
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6.

Convertible preferred stock

Convertible preferred stock as of December 31, 2012 and 2013 consists of the following (in thousands, except share and per
share data):

Series A
Series B
Series C
Balance at
December 31, 2012

Shares
authorized
11,693,179 $
4,181,818
31,112,770













Series A
Series B
Series C
Series D
Series E
Balance at
December 31, 2013




Original
issue
price
0.44
0.55
0.95

Aggregate Proceeds,
Shares
issued and liquidation
net of
outstanding
issuance
amount
costs
11,693,179 $
5,145 $
5,109
4,181,818
2,300
2,253
31,112,750
29,557
29,393















46,987,767







46,987,747 $



11,693,179 $
4,181,818
31,112,750
8,000,000
26,143,790








0.44
0.55
0.95
1.25
1.53


81,131,537





37,002 $





11,693,179 $
4,181,818
31,112,750
8,000,000
26,143,777






81,131,524 $

36,755





5,145 $
2,300
29,557
10,000
40,000




87,002 $

5,109
2,253
29,393
9,933
39,886


86,574

The rights, preferences and privileges of the Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D and Series E convertible preferred stock are
as follows:
Dividends
The holders of the outstanding shares of Series B, Series C, Series D and Series E convertible preferred stock are entitled to
receive, when and if declared by the Board of Directors, a non-cumulative cash dividend at the rate of $0.044, $0.076, $0.10 and
$0.1224 per share per annum, respectively. Such dividends are payable in preference to any dividends on common stock
declared by the Board of Directors. The holders of the outstanding shares of Series A convertible preferred stock are entitled to
receive, when and if declared by the Board of Directors, the amount of any dividend paid on any other shares of capital stock
(including shares of Series B, Series C, Series D and Series E convertible preferred stock). Such dividends are payable in
preference to any dividends on common stock and pari passu with any dividends on Series B, Series C, Series D and Series E
convertible preferred stock, except that an amount equal on average to $0.0895 per share of Series A convertible preferred stock
would, if a dividend is declared by the Board of Directors, be payable in preference to any dividends on Series B, Series C,
Series D and Series E convertible preferred stock. No dividends have been declared to date.
Conversion rights
Each share of Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D and Series E convertible preferred stock is, at the option of the holder,
convertible into the number of fully paid and non-assessable shares of common stock as determined by dividing the original issue
price applicable to such convertible preferred stock by the conversion price in effect at that time. The conversion price for each
series of convertible preferred stock shall initially be the original issue price of such series of preferred stock and shall be adjusted
in
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accordance with conversion provisions contained in the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. All series
of convertible preferred stock are currently convertible into common stock on a 1-for-6 basis.
Each share of convertible preferred stock will be automatically converted into shares of common stock based on the then effective
conversion price (i) upon the affirmative election of the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of the convertible
preferred stock or (ii) immediately upon the closing of a firmly underwritten public offering filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, covering the offer and sale of common stock for the account of the Company at a price of at least $18.00 per share
(subject to adjustment in the event of any stock split) and in which the gross proceeds to the Company are at least $30.0 million.
Voting rights
Each holder is entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of common stock into which the shares of preferred
stock could be converted.
Liquidation rights
Upon liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, the holders of the convertible preferred stock shall be entitled to
receive, prior and in preference to any distribution of any of the assets or surplus funds of the Company to the holders of shares of
common stock, an amount equal to the per share issue price of such series of preferred stock ($0.44 per share for Series A
convertible preferred stock, $0.55 per share for Series B convertible preferred stock, $0.95 per share for Series C convertible
preferred stock, $1.25 per share for Series D convertible preferred stock, and $1.53 per share for Series E convertible preferred
stock), plus all declared and unpaid dividends on such shares and, in the instance of Series A convertible preferred stock, an
additional amount equal on average to $0.0895 per share (the "liquidation preference"). If available assets are insufficient to pay
the full liquidation preference, the available assets will be distributed among the holders of the convertible preferred stock, on a
pari passu and pro rata basis. After the payment of the liquidation preference, all remaining assets available for distribution will be
distributed ratably among the holders of the common stock.
Other
The convertible preferred stock is recorded at fair value on the dates of issuance, net of issuance costs. The Company classifies
the convertible preferred stock outside of stockholders' equity because the shares contain liquidation features that are not solely
within its control. During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, the Company did not adjust the carrying values of the
convertible preferred stock to the deemed redemption values of such shares since a liquidation event was not probable.
Subsequent adjustments to increase the carrying values to the ultimate redemption values will be made only when it becomes
probable that such a liquidation event will occur.

7.

Stockholders' deficit

Common stock
The holders of each share of common stock have one vote for each share of stock. The common stockholders are also entitled to
receive dividends whenever funds and assets are legally available and
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when declared by the Board of Directors, subject to the prior rights of holders of all series of convertible preferred stock
outstanding.
As of December 31, 2012 and 2013, the Company had reserved shares of common stock, on an as-if converted basis, for
issuance as follows:

Conversion of Series A convertible preferred stock
Conversion of Series B convertible preferred stock
Conversion of Series C convertible preferred stock
Conversion of Series D convertible preferred stock
Conversion of Series E convertible preferred stock
Options issued and outstanding
Options available for grant under stock option plan
Total

8.

As of December 31,
2012
2013
1,948,863
1,948,863
696,969
696,969
5,185,458
5,185,458
—
1,333,333
—
4,357,296
752,966
1,173,019
801,850
873,233
9,386,106
15,568,171

Stock incentive plan

2010 Stock incentive plan
In 2010, the Company adopted the 2010 Incentive Plan (the "Plan"). The Plan provides for the granting of stock-based awards to
employees, directors, and consultants under terms and provisions established by the Board of Directors. Under the terms of the
Plan, options may be granted at an exercise price not less than fair market value. For employees holding more than 10% of the
voting rights of all classes of stock, the exercise prices for incentive and nonstatutory stock options must be at least 110% of fair
market of the common stock on the grant date, as determined by the Board of Directors. The terms of options granted under the
Plan may not exceed ten years.
Options granted generally vest over a period of four years. Typically, the vesting schedule for options granted to newly hired
employees provides that 1 / 4 of the grant vests upon the first anniversary of the employee's date of hire, with the remainder of the
shares vesting monthly thereafter at a rate of 1 / 48 of the total shares subject to the option. All other options typically vest in equal
monthly installments over the four-year vesting schedule.
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Activity under the Plan is set forth below (in thousands, except share and per share amounts and years):

Weighted-

Stock
options
Shares
available outstanding
for grant
Balances at
January 1, 2012
Additional options
authorized
Granted
Cancelled
Exercised
Balances at
December 31,
2012
Additional options
authorized
Granted
Cancelled
Exercised
Balances at
December 31,
2013
Options exercisable
at December 31,
2013
Options vested and
expected to vest at
December 31,
2013

330,522

average
exercise
price

59,276 $

0.32

1,206,060
(787,663)
52,931
—

787,663
(52,931)
(41,042)

—
0.98
0.39
0.38

801,850

752,966

0.88

559,027
(506,142)
18,498
—

—
506,142
(18,498)
(67,591)

—
2.37
1.61
0.94



























873,233





3

9.61 $

196

1.40







1,141,185 $



0.95



2,155





8.47 $


1.57



9.00 $



277,700 $

Aggregate
intrinsic
value

9.07 $



1,173,019 $



Weightedaverage
remaining
contractual
life
(years)



744



8.99 $



2,107

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying stock options and the fair
value of the Company's common stock for stock options that were in-the-money.
The weighted-average fair value of options to purchase common stock granted was $0.80 and $1.83 per share in the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively.
The fair value of options to purchase common stock vested was $34,000 and $204,000 in the years ended December 31, 2012
and 2013.
The intrinsic value of options to purchase common stock exercised was $0 and $60,000 in the years ended December 31, 2012
and 2013, respectively.
Early exercise of stock options
The Plan allows for the granting of options that may be exercised before the options have vested. Shares issued as a result of
early exercise that have not vested are subject to repurchase by the Company upon termination of the purchaser's employment or
services, at the price paid by the purchaser, and are not deemed to be issued for accounting purposes until those related shares
vest. The amounts received in exchange for these shares have been recorded as a liability on the accompanying balance sheets
and will be reclassified into common stock and additional paid-in-capital as the shares vest. The Company's right to repurchase
these shares generally lapses 1/4 after a one-year cliff then at a monthly rate of 1/48 thereafter.
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At December 31, 2012 and 2013, there were 58,367 and 54,407 shares of common stock outstanding, respectively, subject to the
Company's right of repurchase at prices ranging from $0.30 to $1.26 per share. At December 31, 2012 and 2013, the Company
recorded $21,000 and $31,000, respectively, as liabilities associated with shares issued with repurchase rights.
Stock-based compensation
The Company uses the grant date fair value of its common stock to value both employee and non-employee options when
granted. The Company revalues non-employee options each reporting period using the fair market value of the Company's
common stock as of the last day of each reporting period.
In determining the fair value of the stock-based awards, the Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and
assumptions discussed below. Each of these inputs is subjective and its determination generally requires significant judgment.
Expected term —The expected term represents the period that the Company's stock-based awards are expected to be
outstanding and is determined using the simplified method (based on the midpoint between the vesting date and the end of the
contractual term).
Expected volatility —Because the Company is privately held and does not have any trading history for its common stock, the
expected volatility was estimated based on the average volatility for comparable publicly traded biopharmaceutical companies
over a period equal to the expected term of the stock option grants. When selecting comparable publicly traded companies in a
similar industry on which it has based its expected stock price volatility, the Company selected companies with comparable
characteristics to it, including enterprise value, risk profiles, position within the industry, and with historical share price information
sufficient to meet the expected life of the stock-based awards. The historical volatility data was computed using the daily closing
prices for the selected companies' common stock during the equivalent period of the calculated expected term of the stock-based
awards. The Company will continue to apply this process until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility
of its own stock price becomes available.
Risk-free interest rate —The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury zero coupon issues in effect at the time of grant
for periods corresponding with the expected term of the option.
Dividend yield —The Company has never paid dividends on its common stock and has no plans to pay dividends on its common
stock. Therefore, the Company used an expected dividend yield of zero.
The fair value of share-based payments for option granted to employees and directors was estimated on the date of grant using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing valuation model based on the following assumptions:

Expected term (in years)
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield

Year ended December 31,
2012
2013
6.02
6.03
88.63–89.18%
88.54–94.52%
0.82–1.28%
0.99–1.97%
—
—
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Stock-based compensation related to stock options granted to non-employees is recognized as the stock options are earned. The
fair value of the stock options granted is calculated at each reporting date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following assumptions: expected life is equal to the remaining contractual term of the award as of the measurement date ranging
from 8.19 years to 10.00 years as of December 31, 2012, and 9.25 years to 9.60 years as of December 31, 2013, respectively;
risk free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury Constant Maturity rate with a term similar to the expected life of the option at the
measurement date; expected dividend yield of 0%; and volatilities ranging from 88.54% to 89.01% as of December 31, 2012, and
88.54% as of December 31, 2013, respectively.
The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense related to stock options for the years ended December 31,
2012 and 2013 included in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss as follows (in thousands):
Year ended December 31,
2012
2013
$
— $
11
46
165
—
42
19
42
$
65 $
260

Cost of revenue
Research and development
Selling and marketing
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense

If all of the remaining non-vested and outstanding stock option awards that have been granted vested, the Company would
recognize approximately $1.2 million in compensation expense over a weighted-average remaining period of 3.25 years.

9.

Income taxes

The Company did not record a provision or benefit for income taxes during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013. The
components of loss before income taxes by U.S. and foreign jurisdictions are as follows (in thousands):

United States
Foreign
Total

$
$
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The following table presents a reconciliation of the tax expense computed at the statutory federal rate and the Company's tax
expense for the periods presented:
Year ended December 31,
2012
2013
34.0%
34.0%
5.8
0.9
(0.6)
(0.4)
—
(1.8)
(39.2)
(32.7)
0.0%
0.0%

U.S. federal taxes at statutory rate
State taxes (net of federal benefit)
Non-deductible expenses
Foreign tax differential
Change in valuation allowance
Total

The tax effects of temporary differences and carryforwards that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets are as
follows (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2012
2013
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards
Tax credits
Accruals and other
Gross deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets

$

5,084
31
40
5,155
(4,991)
164

$

13,624
31
115
13,770
(13,413)
357

$

(164)
(164)
—

$

(357)
(357)
—

$

$

The Company has established a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty surrounding
realization of such assets. The valuation allowance increased by $3.4 million and $8.4 million during the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively.
As of December 31, 2013, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $36.6 million and $16.8 million
available to reduce future taxable income, if any, for Federal and California state income tax purposes, respectively. None of these
amounts represents federal and state tax deductions from stock based compensation which will be recorded as an adjustment to
additional paid-in capital when they reduce taxes payable. The U.S. federal and California state net operating loss carryforwards
will begin to expire in 2030.
As of December 31, 2013, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for foreign income tax purposes of $1.3 million
which have no expiration date.
F-22

Table of Contents

Invitae Corporation
Notes to consolidated financial statements (Continued)
As of December 31, 2013, the Company had research and development credit carryforwards of approximately $1.2 million and
$1.1 million available to reduce its future tax liability, if any, for Federal and California state income tax purposes, respectively. The
Federal credit carryforwards begin to expire in 2030. California credit carryforwards have no expiration date. As of December 31,
2013, the Company has other tax credits of $45,000 that have no expiration period for the majority of the credits.
Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards and credits may be subject to an annual limitation due to the ownership change
limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and similar state provisions. The annual limitation may result in the
expiration of net operating losses and credits before utilization. No Section 382 study has been completed as of December 31,
2013.
As of December 31, 2013, the Company had unrecognized tax benefits of $2.1 million, none of which would currently affect the
Company's effective tax rate if recognized due to the Company's deferred tax assets being fully offset by a valuation allowance.
The Company has not accrued interest and penalties related to the unrecognized tax benefits reflected in the financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2013. Unrecognized tax benefits are not expected to change in the next 12 months.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):
Year ended December 31,
2012
2013
$
152 $
618
466
1,482
$
618 $
2,100

Unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of period
Gross increases—current period tax positions
Unrecognized tax benefits, end of period

The Company's policy is to include penalties and interest expense related to income taxes as a component of tax expense. There
was no interest expense or penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits recorded through December 31, 2013.
The Company's major tax jurisdictions are the United States and California. All of the Company's tax years will remain open for
examination by the Federal and state tax authorities for three and four years, respectively, from the date of utilization of the net
operating loss or research and development credit. The Company does not have any tax audits pending.
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10. Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders
The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders for the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013 (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

Net loss
Less: dividends on convertible preferred stock
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic and diluted
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders,
basic and diluted

Year ended December 31,
2012
2013
$
(8,602) $
(24,838)
(412)
(151)
$
(9,014) $
(24,989)
635,705
$

(14.18) $

691,731
(36.13)

The following outstanding shares of common stock equivalents have been excluded from diluted net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013 because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive:

Shares of common stock subject to outstanding options
Shares of common stock subject to conversion from preferred
stock
Shares of common stock subject to unvested early exercise of
outstanding options subject to repurchase
Total shares of common stock equivalents

Year ended
December 31,
2012
2013
752,966
1,173,019
7,831,277

13,521,894

58,367
8,642,610

54,407
14,749,320

The following table sets forth the computation of the Company's unaudited pro forma basic and diluted net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders after giving effect to the conversion of all outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock
using the as-if converted method into common stock as though the
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conversion had occurred at the beginning of the year ended December 31, 2013 (in thousands, except share and per share
amounts):
Year ended
December 31,

Net loss
Shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted
Pro forma adjustments to reflect assumed conversion of convertible
preferred stock
Shares used in computing pro forma net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic and diluted
Pro forma net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic
and diluted

2013
(Unaudited)
$
(24,838)
691,731
9,471,188
10,162,919
$

(2.44)

11. Geographic information
Revenue by country is determined based on the billing address of the customer. The following presents revenue by country for
December 31, 2013 (in thousands):
United States
Israel
Rest of world
Revenue

$

$

62
65
21
148

Long-lived assets (net) by location are summarized as follows (in thousands):

United States
Chile
Total long-lived assets, net

$
$

December 31,
2012
2013
2,730 $ 5,934
—
2,230
2,730 $ 8,164

12. Subsequent events
Series F convertible preferred stock
In August 2014, the Company issued 24,500,000 shares of Series F convertible preferred stock at a price of $2.00 per share for
aggregate gross proceeds of $49.0 million.
In October 2014, the Company issued 35,500,000 shares of Series F convertible preferred stock at a price of $2.00 per share for
aggregate gross proceeds of $71.0 million.
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Pro forma
stockholders'
December 31, September 30,
equity as of
September 30,
2013
2014
2014
(Unaudited)
(Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share and per
share amounts)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Prepaid expenses and other current
assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Restricted cash
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities, convertible preferred
stock, and stockholders' deficit
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Capital lease obligation, current
portion
Total current liabilities
Capital lease obligation, net of current
portion
Other long term liabilities
Liabilities related to early exercise of
stock options
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies

$



















$



$

59,138

736
43,806
8,164
120
1,013
53,103 $

1,393
60,531
10,795
150
1,671
73,147













498 $
886



845
2,229











86,574































3,450
2,754

577
408

31
3,809






1,156
393




800
7,004





Convertible preferred stock; $0.0001
par value, 81,131,537 and
116,131,524 shares authorized as of
December 31, 2013 and
September 30, 2014 (unaudited),
respectively; 81,131,524 and
105,631,524 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2013
and September 30, 2014 (unaudited),
respectively; no shares authorized,
issued and outstanding, pro forma
(unaudited); aggregate liquidation
value of $87,002 and $136,002 as of
December 31, 2013 and
September 30, 2014 (unaudited),
respectively
Stockholders' deficit:
Common stock, $0.0001 par value;
98,131,537 and 135,131,524
shares authorized as of
December 31, 2013 and
September 30, 2014 (unaudited),
respectively; 732,670 and 897,235
shares issued and outstanding as
of December 31, 2013 and
September 30, 2014 (unaudited),
respectively; 18,502,466 shares

43,070 $







18
8,007



133,907 $

—

issued and outstanding, pro forma
(unaudited)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' (deficit) equity
Total liabilities, convertible preferred
stock, and stockholders' deficit

—
408
(37,688)
(37,280)
$

—
1,108
(69,875)
(68,767) $

53,103 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Revenue
Costs and operating expenses:
Cost of revenue
Research and development
Selling and marketing
General and administrative
Total costs and operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other expense, net
Interest expense
Net loss and comprehensive loss
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders,
basic and diluted
Shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic and diluted
Pro forma net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted
Shares used in computing pro forma net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted

Nine months ended
September 30,
2013
2014
60 $
729

$

$
$

441
10,621
1,599
4,037
16,698
(16,638)
(25)
(44)
(16,707) $
(16,858) $

3,263
15,600
5,823
8,112
32,798
(32,069)
(69)
(49)
(32,187)
(32,187)

$

(24.80) $

(39.27)

679,788

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(In thousands)
Cash flow from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities and other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Change in restricted cash
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Capital lease principal payment
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock
options
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferred stock, net of
issuance costs
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid
Supplemental cash flow information of non-cash investing and
financing activities:
Equipment acquired through capital leases
Change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities related to
purchase of property and equipment

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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Nine months
ended
September 30,
2013
2014
$ (16,707) $ (32,187)
603
165
—

1,574
538
33

(256)
(3)
(141)
911
(15,428)

(657)
(658)
1,454
1,799
(28,104)

(3,838)
(60)
(3,898)

(2,655)
(30)
(2,685)

(480)

(625)

33

149

9,933
9,486
(9,840)
21,801
$ 11,961 $

47,333
46,857
16,068
43,070
59,138

$

44 $

49

$

411 $

—

$

256 $ 1,583
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Unaudited interim consolidated financial statements
The interim condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2014, and the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss and cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2014 are unaudited. The unaudited
interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the annual consolidated financial statements
and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary to present
fairly the Company's financial position as of September 30, 2014 and its results of operations and cash flows for the nine months
ended September 30, 2013 and 2014. The financial data and the other financial information contained in these notes to the
consolidated financial statements related to the nine-month periods are also unaudited. The results of operations for the nine
months ended September 30, 2014 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending December 31,
2014 or for any other future annual or interim period. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's
audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus.
Unaudited pro forma stockholders' equity
The pro forma stockholders' equity as of September 30, 2014 presents the Company's stockholders' equity as though all of the
Company's convertible preferred stock outstanding had automatically converted into 17,605,215 shares of common stock upon
the completion of a qualifying initial public offering ("IPO") of the Company's common stock. The shares of common stock issuable
and the proceeds expected to be received in the IPO are excluded from such pro forma financial information.
Reverse Stock Split
In January 2015, the Company's board of directors approved an amendment to the Company's amended and restated certificate
of incorporation to effect a reverse split of the Company's issued and outstanding common stock at a 1-for-6 ratio to be effected
prior to the Company's initial public offering. The par value and authorized shares of common stock and convertible preferred
stock were not adjusted as a result of the reverse split. All issued and outstanding common stock, options to purchase common
stock and per share amounts contained in the financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the reverse stock
split for all periods presented. The financial statements have also been retroactively adjusted to reflect a proportional adjustment
to the conversion ratio for each series of preferred stock that will be effected in connection with the reverse stock split.
Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities as of the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. The Company believes judgment is
involved in determining revenue recognition; the recoverability of long-lived assets; the fair value of the Company's common stock;
stock-based compensation expense; and income tax uncertainties. The Company bases these estimates on historical and
anticipated results, trends, and various other assumptions that the Company believes are
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reasonable under the circumstances, including assumptions as to future events. Actual results could differ materially from those
estimates and assumptions.
Concentrations of credit risk and other risks and uncertainties
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents.
The Company's cash and cash equivalents are held by financial institutions in the United States and Chile. Such deposits may
exceed federally insured limits.
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2014, substantially all of the Company's revenue has been derived from
sales of its assay of 216 genes. Teva Pharmaceuticals Industries Ltd. accounted for 12% of the Company's revenue for the nine
months ended September 30, 2014 and 63% of the Company's revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2013. For the
nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2014, no other customers represented over 10% of total revenue.
Cash and cash equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be
cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist primarily of amounts invested in money market accounts.
Restricted cash
Restricted cash consists of a money market account that serves as collateral for a credit card agreement at one of the Company's
financial institutions.
Internal-use software
The Company capitalizes third-party costs incurred in the application development stage to design and implement the software
used in its genetic tests and Family History Tool mobile application. Costs incurred in the application development stage of the
software and mobile application are capitalized and will be amortized over an estimated useful life of three years on a straight line
basis.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2014, the Company capitalized $175,000 and $625,000, respectively, of
software development costs. Such costs are included within property and equipment on the balance sheets.
Deferred offering costs
Deferred offering costs, which primarily consist of direct incremental legal and accounting fees relating to the IPO are capitalized.
The deferred offering costs will be offset against IPO proceeds upon the consummation of the offering. In the event the offering is
terminated, deferred offering costs will be expensed. As of September 30, 2014, the Company capitalized $468,000 of deferred
offering costs in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet.
Revenue recognition
Revenue is generated from the sale of tests that provides the analysis and associated interpretation of the sequencing of parts of
the genome. Revenue associated with subsequent re-requisition services was de minimis for all periods presented.
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Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; delivery has occurred or services have been
rendered; the fee is fixed or determinable; and collectability is reasonably assured. The criterion for whether the fee is fixed or
determinable and whether collectability is reasonably assured are based on management's judgments. When evaluating
collectability, in situations where contracted reimbursement coverage does not exist, the Company considers whether the
Company has sufficient history to reliably estimate a payer's individual payment patterns. The Company reviews the number of
tests paid against the number of tests billed and the payer's outstanding balance for unpaid tests to determine whether payments
are being made at a consistently high percentage of tests billed and at appropriate amounts given the amount billed. The
Company has not been able to demonstrate a predictable pattern of collectability, and therefore recognizes revenue when
payment is received.
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders
Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is calculated by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding during the period, without consideration of common stock equivalents. Diluted net loss per
share attributable to common stockholders is the same as basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, since the
effects of potentially dilutive securities are antidilutive. Common shares subject to repurchase are excluded from the weightedaverage shares. For the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2014, 62,200 and 30,157 shares subject to repurchase,
respectively, are excluded from basic loss per share calculation.
Pro forma net loss per share attributable to common stockholders
In contemplation of an initial public offering, the Company has presented the pro forma basic and diluted net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders which has been computed to give effect to the conversion of its convertible preferred stock
into common stock.
Recent accounting pronouncements
On May 28, 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASU 2014-09"), which requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it
expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. ASU 2014-09 will replace most existing
revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. The new standard will become effective for the Company
on January 1, 2017. Early application is not permitted. The standard permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative
effect transition method. The Company is evaluating the effect that ASU 2014-09 will have on its consolidated financial statements
and related disclosures. The Company has not yet selected a transition method nor has it determined the effect of the standard on
its ongoing financial reporting.
In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-10, Development Stage Entities (Topic 915): Elimination of Certain Financial Reporting
Requirements, Including an Amendment to Variable Interest Entities Guidance in Topic 810, Consolidation ("ASU 2014-10"). ASU
2014-10 simplifies the accounting guidance by removing all incremental financial reporting requirements for development stage
entities. The amendments related to the elimination of the inception-to-date information and other disclosure requirements of
Topic 915 should be applied retrospectively, and are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2014,
and interim periods therein. The Company early adopted this guidance as of January 1, 2012, and accordingly, there is no
inception-to-date information presented in these consolidated financial statements.
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2.

Balance sheet components

Property and equipment, net
Property and equipment, net, consists of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
September 30,
2013
2014
$
1,527 $
1,914
3,567
4,214
3,735
3,735
120
816
18
643
21
72
16
—
410
2,163
9,414
13,557
(1,250)
(2,762)
$
8,164 $
10,795

Leasehold improvements
Laboratory equipment
Equipment under capital lease
Computer equipment
Software
Furniture and fixtures
Automobiles
Construction-in-process
Total property and equipment, gross
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total property and equipment, net

Depreciation and amortization expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2014 was $603,000 and $1.6 million,
respectively.
Accrued liabilities
Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

Accrued compensation and related expenses
Accrued professional services
Accrued costs for construction-in-process
Other
Total accrued liabilities

3.

$

$

2013
279 $
201
168
238
886 $

September 30,
2014
1,333
904
—
517
2,754

Fair value measurements

Financial assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value. The carrying amounts of certain of the Company's financial instruments,
including cash equivalents, and accounts payable, are valued at cost, which approximates fair value due to their short maturities.
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the reporting date. The authoritative guidance establishes a three-level valuation
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value based upon
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whether such inputs are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources,
while unobservable inputs reflect market assumptions made by the reporting entity.
The three-level hierarchy for the inputs to valuation techniques is briefly summarized as follows:
Level 1—Observable inputs such as quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical instruments in active markets.
Level 2—Observable inputs such as quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or
similar instruments in markets that are not active, or model-derived valuations whose significant inputs are observable.
Level 3—Unobservable inputs that reflect the reporting entity's own assumptions.
The Company's financial instruments consist only of Level 1 assets, which are highly liquid money market funds. At December 31,
2013 and September 30, 2014, the Company had $33.2 million and $15.2 million in money market funds that are included in cash
and cash equivalents and restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheets.

4.

Legal matters

On November 25, 2013, the University of Utah Research Foundation, the Trustees of the University of Pennsylvania, HSC
Research and Development Limited Partnership, Endorecherche, Inc. and Myriad Genetics, Inc. (collectively, the "Myriad
Plaintiffs") filed a complaint in the District of Utah (the "Utah Action"), alleging that certain of the Company's genetic testing
services infringe certain claims of various U.S. patents (collectively, the "Myriad Patents"). On November 26, 2013, the Company
filed a complaint for declaratory judgment in the Northern District of California (the "California Action"), asserting that the Myriad
Patents are invalid and the Company does not infringe them, and the Myriad Plaintiffs counterclaimed alleging that the Company
infringes the Myriad Patents. Although the Utah Action has been dismissed, on February 19, 2014, the Judicial Panel on
Multidistrict Litigation granted the Myriad Plaintiffs' motion to consolidate for pre-trial proceedings all actions concerning the Myriad
Patents (the "MDL Proceedings"), with the MDL Proceedings taking place in the District of Utah. On January 23, 2015, the Myriad
Plaintiffs stipulated to the dismissal with prejudice of all of their claims and granted the Company a covenant not to sue for all of
the patents they had asserted against the Company, and on January 26, 2015, the court issued an order dismissing the California
Action with prejudice, thereby ending the litigation.
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5.

Convertible preferred stock

Convertible preferred stock as of September 30, 2014 consists of the following (in thousands, except share and per share data):
Aggregate Proceeds,

Series A
Series B
Series C
Series D
Series E
Series F
Balance at
September 30,
2014




Shares
authorized
11,693,179 $
4,181,818
31,112,750
8,000,000
26,143,777
35,000,000




116,131,524



Original
issue
price
0.44
0.55
0.95
1.25
1.53
2.00


Shares liquidation
net of
issued and
issuance
outstanding
amount
costs
11,693,179 $
5,145 $
5,109
4,181,818
2,300
2,253
31,112,750
29,557
29,393
8,000,000
10,000
9,933
26,143,777
40,000
39,886
24,500,000
49,000
47,333












105,631,524 $ 136,002 $ 133,907

In August 2014, the Company issued 24,500,000 shares of Series F convertible preferred stock at a price of $2.00 per share for
aggregate proceeds of $47.3 million, net of issuance costs of $1.7 million.
The rights, preferences and privileges of the Series F convertible preferred stock are as follows:
Dividends
The holders of the outstanding shares of Series F convertible preferred stock are entitled to receive, when and if declared by the
Board of Directors, a non-cumulative cash dividend at the rate of $0.16 per share per annum, respectively. Such dividends are
payable in preference to any dividends on common stock declared by the Board of Directors. No dividends have been declared to
date.
Conversion rights
Each share of Series F convertible preferred stock is, at the option of the holder, convertible into the number of fully paid and nonassessable shares of common stock as determined by dividing the original issue price applicable to such convertible preferred
stock by the conversion price in effect at that time. The conversion price for each series of convertible preferred stock shall initially
be the original issue price of such series of preferred stock and shall be adjusted in accordance with conversion provisions
contained in the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. All series of convertible preferred stock are
currently convertible into common stock on a 1-for-6 basis.
Each share of convertible preferred stock will be automatically converted into shares of common stock based on the then effective
conversion price (i) upon the affirmative election of the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of the convertible
preferred stock as well as the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of each series of preferred stock or (ii) immediately
upon the closing of a firmly underwritten public offering filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, covering the offer and
sale of common stock for the account of the Company at a price per share that is approved by a majority of
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the preferred stock holders or at a price per share of at least $12.00 (subject to adjustment in the event of any stock split), in each
instance where the gross proceeds to the Company are at least $30.0 million.
Voting rights
Each holder is entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of common stock into which the shares of preferred
stock could be converted.
Liquidation rights
Upon liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, the holders of the Series F convertible preferred stock shall be
entitled to receive, prior and in preference to any distribution of any of the assets or surplus funds of the Company to the holders
of shares of common stock but pari passu with a distribution of preferential amounts to the holders of the other series of
convertible preferred stock, an amount equal to the per share issue price of $12.00 per share for the Series F convertible
preferred stock, plus all declared and unpaid dividends on such shares. If available assets are insufficient to pay the full liquidation
preference for all series of convertible preferred stock, the available assets will be distributed among the holders of the convertible
preferred stock, on a pari passu and pro rata basis. After the payment of such full liquidation preference, all remaining assets
available for distribution will be distributed ratably among the holders of the common stock.

6.

Stock incentive plan

2010 Equity incentive plan
The following table summarizes option activity under the 2010 Plan and related information during the nine months ended
September 30, 2014:

Stock
options
outstanding

Shares
available
(In thousands)
Balances at
December 31, 2013
Additional shares
authorized
Repurchase of
unvested early
exercised shares
Granted
Cancelled
Exercised
Balances at
September 30,
2014
Options exercisable
at September 30,
2014
Options vested and
expected to vest at
September 30,
2014

Weightedaverage
exercise
price

for grant
873,233

1,173,019 $

333,333

—

1,959
(558,367)
215,299
—




























9.00 $

2,155

—
3.51
1.55
0.75



865,457

1.40
—

—
558,367
(215,299)
(142,277)



Weightedaverage
remaining Aggregate
contractual
life
intrinsic
(years)
value





1,373,810 $




2.37





1,341,043 $
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1.37


2.36



8.56 $



373,661 $






7.45 $


7,460







8.55 $

2,404


7,301
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The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying stock options and the fair
value of the Company's common stock for stock options that were in-the-money.
The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted was $1.72 and $3.03 per share in the nine months ended September 30,
2013 and 2014, respectively.
The fair value of options to purchase common stock vested was $154,000 and $360,000 in the nine months ended September 30,
2013 and 2014, respectively.
The intrinsic value of options to purchase common stock exercised was $18,000 and $369,000 in the nine months ended
September 30, 2013 and 2014, respectively.
Early exercise of stock options
The 2010 Plan allows for the granting of options that may be exercised before the options have vested. Shares issued as a result
of early exercise that have not vested are subject to repurchase by the Company upon termination of the purchaser's employment
or services, at the price paid by the purchaser, and are not deemed to be issued for accounting purposes until those related
shares vest. The amounts received in exchange for these shares have been recorded as a liability on the accompanying balance
sheets and will be reclassified into common stock and additional paid-in-capital as the shares vest. The Company's right to
repurchase these shares generally lapses 1/4 after a one-year cliff then at a monthly rate of 1/48 thereafter.
At December 31, 2013 and September 30, 2014, there were 54,407 and 30,157 shares of common stock outstanding,
respectively, subject to the Company's right of repurchase at prices ranging from $0.30 to $1.26 per share. At December 31, 2013
and September 30, 2014, the Company recorded $31,000 and $18,000, respectively, as liabilities associated with shares issued
with repurchase rights.
Stock-based compensation
Stock-based compensation expense recognized was as follows (in thousands):
Nine months
ended
September 30,
2013
2014
$
7
$
47
106
231
26
90
26
170
$ 165
$ 538

Cost of revenue
Research and development
Selling and marketing
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense

As of September 30, 2014, the Company had $2.1 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock
options, which is expected to be recognized over an estimated weighted-average period of 3.1 years.
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The estimated grant date fair value of employee stock options was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing valuation
model, based on the following assumptions:

Expected term (in years)
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield

Nine months ended
September 30,
2014
6.03
85.68–86.63%
1.75–1.91%
—

2013
6.03
89.09–94.52%
0.99–1.97%
—

Stock-based compensation related to stock options granted to non-employees is recognized as the stock options are earned. The
fair value of the stock options granted is calculated at each reporting date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following assumptions: expected life is equal to the remaining contractual term of the award as of the measurement date, which
was 9.51 to 9.85 years as of September 30, 2013 and 8.51 to 9.63 years as of September 30, 2014; risk free rate is based on the
U.S. Treasury Constant Maturity rate with a term similar to the expected life of the option at the measurement date; expected
dividend yield of 0%; and volatility of 89.09% and 85.27% as of September 30, 2013 and 2014, respectively.

7. Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders and pro forma net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders
The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders for the
nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2014 (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

Net loss
Less: dividend on convertible preferred stocks
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic and diluted
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and
diluted
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Nine months ended
September 30,
2013
2014
$ (16,707) $ (32,187)
(151)
—
$ (16,858) $ (32,187)
679,788
$

(24.80) $

819,704
(39.27)

Table of Contents

Invitae Corporation
Notes to condensed consolidated financial statements (Continued)
The following outstanding common stock equivalents were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable
to common stockholders for the periods presented because including them would have been antidilutive:

Shares of common stock subject to outstanding options
Shares of common stock subject to conversion from preferred
stock
Shares of common stock subject to unvested early exercise of
outstanding options subject to repurchase
Total shares of common stock equivalents

Nine months ended
September 30,
2013
2014
1,103,854
1,373,810
9,164,609

17,605,215

62,200
10,330,663

30,157
19,009,182

The following table sets forth the computation of the Company's pro forma basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):
Nine months
ended
September 30,

Net loss
Shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted
Pro forma adjustments to reflect assumed conversion of convertible
preferred stock
Shares used in computing pro forma net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic and diluted
Pro forma net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic
and diluted
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2014
(32,187)
819,704
14,060,355
14,880,059

$

(2.16)
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8.

Geographic information

Revenue by country is determined based on the billing address of the customer. The following presents revenue by country for the
nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2014 (in thousands):

(In thousands)
United States
Canada
Israel
Rest of world
Revenue

9.

$

$

Nine months
ended
September 30
2013
2014
19 $
467
2
156
38
89
1
17
60 $
729

Subsequent events

Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation
In October 2014, the Company filed an amended and restated certificate of incorporation to increase the number of authorized
shares of common stock to a new total of 160,131,524 shares and increase the number of authorized shares of preferred stock to
a new total of 141,131,524 shares, comprised of 11,693,179 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock, 4,181,818 shares of
Series B convertible preferred stock, 31,112,750 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock, 8,00,000 shares of Series D
convertible preferred stock, 26,143,777 shares of Series E convertible preferred stock, and 60,000,000 shares of Series F
convertible preferred stock.
Series F convertible preferred stock
In October 2014, the Company issued an additional 35,500,000 shares of Series F convertible preferred stock at a price of $2.00
per share for aggregate proceeds of $68.5 million, net issuance costs of $2.5 million.
New Lease
In November 2014, the Company leased additional space in San Francisco, California. The lease expires in April 2017 and
aggregate future minimum lease payments for this facility are approximately $1.7 million.
New Capital Lease
In December 2014, the Company entered into a capital lease agreement for laboratory equipment. The term of the lease is
36 months and the minimum lease payments due under the agreement are $3.1 million.
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Part II
Information not required in prospectus
Item 13.

Other expenses of issuance and distribution

The following table sets forth the various expenses expected to be incurred by the Registrant in connection with the sale and
distribution of the securities being registered hereby, other than underwriting discounts and commissions. All amounts are
estimated except the SEC registration fee and the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority filing fee.
SEC registration fee
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority filing fee
NYSE filing fee
Blue Sky fees and expenses
Accounting fees and expenses
Legal fees and expenses
Printing and engraving expenses
Registrar and Transfer Agent fees
Miscellaneous fees and expenses
Total

$



Item 14.





10,724
14,344
162,000
20,000
1,365,000
1,200,000
275,000
17,250
35,682
$ 3,100,000


Indemnification of directors and officers

Section 102 of the DGCL allows a corporation to eliminate the personal liability of directors of a corporation to the corporation or
its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except where the director breached the duty of
loyalty, failed to act in good faith, engaged in intentional misconduct or knowingly violated a law, authorized the payment of a
dividend or approved a stock repurchase in violation of the DGCL or obtained an improper personal benefit.
Section 145 of the DGCL provides, among other things, that we may indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened
to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding—other than an action by or in the right of
the Registrant—by reason of the fact that the person is or was a director, officer, agent or employee of the Registrant, or is or was
serving at our request as a director, officer, agent or employee of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise against expenses, including attorneys' fees, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably
incurred by the person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding. The power to indemnify applies (a) if such person is
successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding, or (b) if such person acting in good faith and in
a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in the best interest, or not opposed to the best interest, of the Registrant, and with
respect to any criminal action or proceeding had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. The power to
indemnify applies to actions brought by or in the right of the Registrant as well but only to the extent of defense expenses,
including attorneys' fees but excluding amounts paid in settlement, actually and reasonably incurred and not to any satisfaction of
judgment or settlement of the claim itself, and with the further limitation that in such actions no indemnification shall be made in
the event of any adjudication of liability to the Registrant, unless the court believes that in light of all the circumstances
indemnification should apply.
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Section 174 of the DGCL provides, among other things, that a director, who willfully or negligently approves of an unlawful
payment of dividends or an unlawful stock purchase or redemption, may be held liable for such actions. A director who was either
absent when the unlawful actions were approved or dissented at the time, may avoid liability by causing his or her dissent to such
actions to be entered in the books containing minutes of the meetings of the board of directors at the time such action occurred or
immediately after such absent director receives notice of the unlawful acts.
The Registrant's amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, to be filed as Exhibits 3.1
(b) and 3.2(b) hereto, provide that the Registrant shall indemnify its directors, officers, employees and other agents to the fullest
extent not prohibited by the DGCL or any other applicable law. In addition, the Registrant has entered into agreements to
indemnify its directors and expects to continue to enter into agreements to indemnify all of its directors. Prior to the closing of the
offering, the Registrant plans to amend and restate its indemnification agreements with its directors and enter into similar
agreements with each of its officers. These agreements will require the Registrant, among other things, to indemnify its directors
and officers against certain liabilities which may arise by reason of their status or service as directors or officers to the fullest
extent not prohibited by law. These indemnification provisions and the indemnification agreements may be sufficiently broad to
permit indemnification of the Registrant's officers and directors for liabilities, including reimbursement of expenses incurred, arising
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, which we refer to as the Securities Act. The Registrant also intends to maintain
director and officer liability insurance, if available on reasonable terms.
The form of Underwriting Agreement, to be filed as Exhibit 1.1 hereto, provides for indemnification by the Underwriters of the
Registrant and its officers and directors for certain liabilities, including liabilities arising under the Securities Act, and affords
certain rights of contribution with respect thereto.
Item 15.

Recent sales of unregistered securities

The following sets forth information regarding all unregistered securities sold since December 31, 2011, after giving effect to a 1for-6 reverse split of our common stock to be effected prior to completion of this offering:
On various dates between May 2012 and July 2012, the Registrant issued and sold convertible promissory notes in the aggregate
principal amount of $2,000,000 to a total of 4 accredited investors. These notes converted into 2,124,277 shares of the
Registrant's Series C convertible preferred stock in August 2012 as described in the paragraph immediately below.(1)
On various dates between August 2012 and October 2012, the Registrant issued and sold an aggregate of 31,112,750 shares of
Series C convertible preferred stock at a per share price of $0.95, for an aggregate purchase price of $29,557,114 to a total of 16
accredited investors. Of this amount, $2,018,060 was paid for by cancellation of principal and accrued interest under the
convertible promissory notes described in the paragraph immediately above.(1)
In May 2013, the Registrant issued and sold an aggregate of 8,000,000 shares of Series D convertible preferred stock at a per
share price of $1.25, for an aggregate purchase price of $10,000,000 to a total of four accredited investors.(1)
On various dates between October 2013 and December 2013, the Registrant issued and sold an aggregate of 26,143,777 shares
of Series E convertible preferred stock at a per share price of $1.53, for an aggregate purchase price of $39,999,979 to a total of
32 accredited investors.(1)
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In August 2014 and October 2014, the Registrant issued and sold an aggregate of 60,000,000 shares of Series F convertible
preferred stock at a per share price of $2.00, for an aggregate purchase price of $120,000,000 to a total of 38 accredited
investors.(1)
The Registrant has granted stock options to its directors, officers, employees and consultants to purchase an aggregate of
2,594,531 shares of common stock pursuant to the Registrant's 2010 Stock Plan, with exercise prices ranging from $0.38 to
$14.00 per share.(2)
The Registrant has issued and sold an aggregate of 295,518 shares of its common stock upon exercise of stock options granted
pursuant to the Registrant's 2010 Stock Plan, for an aggregate purchase price of $302,524.
None of the foregoing transactions involved any underwriters, underwriting discounts or commissions, or any public offering, and
the Registrant believes that each transaction was exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act in reliance on
the following exemptions:
(1) These transactions were deemed to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance upon Rule 506 of
Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act as transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering. The recipients of
the securities in each of these transactions represented their intentions to acquire the securities for investment only and not with a
view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends were placed upon the stock certificates
issued in these transactions. All recipients had adequate information about the Registrant or had adequate access, through their
relationships with the Registrant, to information about the Registrant.
(2) These transactions were deemed to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance upon Rule 701
promulgated under Section 3(b) of the Securities Act pursuant to benefit plans and contracts relating to compensation as provided
under Rule 701. The recipients of the securities in each of these transactions represented their intentions to acquire the securities
for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends were
placed upon the stock certificates issued in these transactions. All recipients had adequate information about the Registrant or
had adequate access, through their relationships with the Registrant, to information about the Registrant.
There were no underwriters employed in connection with any of the transactions set forth in Item 15.
Item 16.
(a)

Exhibits and financial statement schedules

Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index on the page immediately preceding the exhibits for a list of exhibits filed as part of this registration statement
on Form S-1, which Exhibit Index is incorporated hereby by reference.
(b) Financial Statement Schedules.
Not applicable.
Item 17.

Undertakings

The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes to provide to the underwriters at the closing specified in the underwriting
agreement certificates in such denominations and registered in such names as required by the underwriters to permit prompt
delivery to each purchaser.
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Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling
persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of
the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is,
therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the
Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the Registrant in the successful defense of
any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being
registered, the Registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a
court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the
Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that:
(1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as
part of this Registration Statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the registrant
pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of
the time it was declared effective.
(2) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of
prospectus shall be deemed to be a new Registration Statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such
securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
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Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant has duly caused this Amendment No. 1 to the
Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in the City of San Francisco, State
of California, on the 2nd day of February, 2015.
INVITAE CORPORATION
By:

/s/ RANDAL W. SCOTT
Randal W. Scott, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement has been signed
by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Name

/s/ RANDAL W. SCOTT
Randal W. Scott, Ph.D.
/s/ LEE BENDEKGEY
Lee Bendekgey
/s/ PATRICIA E. DUMOND
Patricia E. Dumond
*
Sean E. George, Ph.D.

Title

Chairman of the Board of Directors
and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 2,
2015

Chief Financial Officer, General
Counsel and Secretary
(Principal Financial Officer)

February 2,
2015

Vice President, Finance
(Principal Accounting Officer)

February 2,
2015

President, Chief Operating Officer
and Director

February 2,
2015

Director

February 2,
2015

Director

February 2,
2015

*
Eric Aguiar, M.D.
*
Geoffrey S. Crouse

*By:

Date

/s/ LEE BENDEKGEY
Lee Bendekgey
Attorney-In-Fact
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1.1* Form of Underwriting Agreement.
3.1(a) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as currently in effect.
+
3.1(b) Form of Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of
+ Incorporation, to be effective prior to completion of this offering.
3.1(c) Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, to be in effect upon
+ the completion of this offering.
3.2(a) Bylaws, as currently in effect.
+
3.2(b) Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws, to be in effect upon the completion of
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4.1
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4.2+ Fifth Amended and Restated Investors' Rights Agreement, dated August 26,
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Exhibit 4.1
INV INCORPORATED
UNDER THE LAWS OF
THE STATE OF
DELAWARE CUSIP 4 6185L
10 3 SEE REVERSE FOR
CERTAIN DEFINITIONS
THIS CERTIFIES THAT is
the own er of FULLY PAID
AND NONASSESSABLE
SHARES OF COM MON
STOCK, $ 0.0001 PAR
VALUE PER SHARE, OF
INVITAE CORPORATION
transferable on the boo ks of
the Corporation in person o r
by its d uly auth orized attorney
upon surren der o f this
Certificate properly end ors ed .
This Certificate is not v alid
unles s countersig ned by th e
Transfer Agent an d registered
by the Regis trar. Witness the
facsimile s eal o f the
Corp oration and the facsimile
signatures of its duly
autho rized officers . DATED
2010 PRESIDENT AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER SECRETARY
COUNTERSIGNED AND
REGISTERED: AM ERICAN
STOCK TRANSFER &
TRUST COMPANY, LLC
AND REGISTRAR BY:
(Brook lyn, NY) TRANSFER
AGENT AUTHORIZED
SIGNATURE

The following abbreviations,
when us ed in th e inscription
on the face of this certificate,
shall be co nstrued as though
they were written o ut in fu ll
according to app licable laws
or reg ulatio ns: T EN COM –
as tenants in common TEN
ENT – as tenan ts by the
entireties UNIF GIFT MIN
ACT– Cu stodian (Cust)
(Min or) u nder Uniform Gifts
to Mino rs Act JT TEN – as
joint ten ants with right of
survivorship an d not as
tenants in common (State)
Addition al ab breviations may
also b e u sed thou gh not in the
above list. FOR VALUE
RECEIVED, HEREBY
SELLS, ASSIGNS AND
TRANSFERS UNTO
PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL
SECURITY OR OTHE R
IDENTIFYING NUM BER
OF ASSIGNEE (PLE ASE
PRINT OR TYPE WRITE
NAME AND ADDRESS,
INCLUDING ZIP CODE, OF
ASSIGNEE) shares of
Commo n Stock of the
Corp oration repres en ted by
this Certificate and d oes
hereb y irrev ocably constitute
and appoint attorn ey to
transfer the said sh ares of
Commo n Stock on the books
of the Corporation, with full
power of subs titutio n in the
premis es. Dated X X
NOTICE: THE SIGNATURE
(S) TO T HIS ASSIGNME NT
MUST CORRESPOND
WITH THE NAME (S) AS
WRITTEN UPON THE
FACE OF THE
CERTIFICATE IN EVERY
PARTICULAR, WITHOUT
ALTERATION OR
ENLARGEMENT OR ANY
CHANGE WHATSOEVER.
SIGNATURE(S)
GUARANTEED: THE
SIGNATURE(S) M UST BE
GUARANTEED BY AN
ELIGIBLE GUARANTOR
INSTITUTION (BANKS,
STOCKBROKERS,
SAVINGS AND LOAN
ASSOCIATIONS AND
CREDIT UNIONS WITH
MEM BERSHIP IN AN
APPROVED SIGNATURE
GUARANTEE
MEDAL LION PROGRAM ),
PURSUANT TO S.E.C.
RULE 17Ad-15.
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INVITAE CORPORATION
EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN
SECTION 1

Purpose Of The Plan.

The Plan was adopted by the Board on January , 2015, and shall be effective on the date on which the IPO is effective (the “
Effective Date ”). The purpose of the Plan is to provide Eligible Employees with an opportunity to increase their proprietary interest in the
success of the Company by purchasing Stock from the Company on favorable terms and to pay for such purchases through payroll deductions.
The Plan is intended to qualify under section 423 of the Code.
SECTION 2

Definitions.

(a)

“ Board ” means the Board of Directors of the Company, as constituted from time to time.

(b)

“ Code ” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

(c)

“ Committee ” means a committee designated by the Board, as described in Section 3.

(d)

“ Company ” means Invitae Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

(e)
“ Compensation ” means the base salary and wages paid in cash to a Participant by a Participating Company, without
reduction for any pre-tax contributions made by the Participant under sections 401(k) or 125 of the Code. “ Compensation ” shall exclude
variable compensation (including bonuses, incentive compensation, commissions, overtime pay and shift premiums), all non-cash items,
moving or relocation allowances, cost-of-living equalization payments, car allowances, tuition reimbursements, imputed income attributable to
cars or life insurance, severance pay, fringe benefits, contributions or benefits received under employee benefit plans, income attributable to the
exercise of stock options, and similar items. The Committee shall determine whether a particular item is included in Compensation.
(f)

“ Corporate Reorganization ” means:

(i)
The consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another entity, or any other corporate
reorganization; or
The sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets or the complete liquidation
(ii)
or dissolution of the Company.
(g)
“ Eligible Employee ” means any employee of a Participating Company whose customary employment is for more than five
months per calendar year and for more than 20 hours per week.
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The foregoing notwithstanding, an individual shall not be considered an Eligible Employee if his or her participation in the Plan is
prohibited by the law of any country which has jurisdiction over him or her.
(h)

“ Exchange Act ” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(i)

“ Fair Market Value ” means the fair market value of a share of Stock, determined by the Committee as follows:

(i)
If Stock was traded on any established national securities exchange including the New York Stock Exchange or the
Nasdaq Global Market on the date in question, then the Fair Market Value shall be equal to the closing price as quoted on such
exchange (or the exchange with the greatest volume of trading in the Stock) on such date; or
If the foregoing provision is not applicable, then the Fair Market Value shall be determined by the Committee in
(ii)
good faith on such basis as it deems appropriate.
For any date that is not a Trading Day, the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock for such date shall be determined by using the
closing sale price for the immediately preceding Trading Day. Whenever possible, the determination of Fair Market Value by the Committee
shall be based on the prices reported in the Wall Street Journal or as reported directly to the Company by the stock exchange. Such
determination shall be conclusive and binding on all persons.
“ IPO ” means the initial offering of Stock to the public pursuant to a registration statement filed by the Company with the
(j)
Securities and Exchange Commission.
(k)

“ Offering ” means the grant of options to purchase shares of Stock under the Plan to Eligible Employees.

(l)

“ Offering Date ” means the first day of an Offering.

(m)
“ Offering Period ” means a period with respect to which the right to purchase Stock may be granted under the Plan, as
determined pursuant to Section 4(a).
(n)

“ Participant ” means an Eligible Employee who elects to participate in the Plan, as provided in Section 4(b).

(o)
“ Participating Company ” means (i) the Company and (ii) each present or future Subsidiary designated by the Committee as
a Participating Company.
(p)

“ Plan ” means this Invitae Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as it may be amended from time to time.

(q)

“ Plan Account ” means the account established for each Participant pursuant to Section 8(a).
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(r)
“ Purchase Date ” means one or more dates during an Offering on which shares of Stock may be purchased pursuant to the
terms of the Offering.
(s)
“ Purchase Period ” means one or more successive periods during an Offering, beginning on the Offering Date or on the day
after a Purchase Date, and ending on the next succeeding Purchase Date.
“ Purchase Price ” means the price at which Participants may purchase shares of Stock under the Plan, as determined
(t)
pursuant to Section 8(b).
(u)

“ Stock ” means the Common Stock of the Company.

“ Subsidiary ” means any corporation (other than the Company) in an unbroken chain of corporations beginning with the
(v)
Company, if each of the corporations other than the last corporation in the unbroken chain owns stock possessing 50% or more of the total
combined voting power of all classes of stock in one of the other corporations in such chain.
(r)
SECTION 3

“ Trading Day ” means a day on which the national stock exchange on which the Stock is traded is open for trading.
Administration Of The Plan.

Committee Composition . The Plan shall be administered by the Committee. The Committee shall consist exclusively of
(a)
one or more directors of the Company, who shall be appointed by the Board.
(b)
Committee Responsibilities . The Committee shall have full power and authority, subject to the provisions of the Plan, to
promulgate such rules and regulations as it deems necessary for the proper administration of the Plan, to interpret the provisions and supervise
the administration of the Plan, and to take all action in connection therewith or in relation thereto as it deems necessary or advisable. Any
decision reduced to writing and signed by all of the members of the Committee shall be fully effective as if it had been made at a meeting duly
held. The Committee’s determinations under the Plan, unless otherwise determined by the Board, shall be final and binding on all persons.
The Company shall pay all expenses incurred in the administration of the Plan. No member of the Committee shall be personally liable for any
action, determination, or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the Plan, and all members of the Committee shall be fully
indemnified by the Company with respect to any such action, determination or interpretation. The Committee may adopt such rules, guidelines
and forms as it deems appropriate to implement the Plan, including sub plans which the Committee may establish (which need not qualify
under Section 423 of the Code) for the purpose of (i) facilitating participation in the Plan by non-U.S. employees in compliance with foreign
laws and regulations without affecting the qualification of the remainder of the Plan under Section 423 of the Code or (ii) qualifying the Plan
for preferred tax treatment under foreign tax laws (which sub plans, at the Committee’s discretion, may provide for allocations of the
authorized shares reserved for issue under the Plan as set forth in Section 14(a)). The rules of such sub plans may take precedence over other
provisions of the Plan, with the exception of Section 14(a), but unless otherwise superseded by the terms of such sub plan, the provisions of the
Plan shall govern the operation of such sub plan. Alternatively and in order to comply with the laws of a foreign
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jurisdiction, the Committee shall have the power, in its discretion, to grant options in an Offering to citizens or residents of a non-U.S.
jurisdiction (without regard to whether they are also citizens of the United States or resident aliens) that provide terms which are less favorable
than the terms of options granted under the same Offering to employees resident in the United States, subject to compliance with Section 423 of
the Code. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan, the Board may, in its sole discretion, at any time and from time to time, resolve
to administer the Plan. In such event, the Board shall have all of the authority and responsibility granted to the Committee herein.
SECTION 4

Enrollment And Participation.

(a)
Offering Periods . While the Plan is in effect, the Committee may from time to time grant options to purchase shares of
Stock pursuant to the Plan to Eligible Employees during a specified Offering Period. Each such Offering shall be in such form and shall
contain such terms and conditions as the Committee shall determine, subject to compliance with the terms and conditions of the Plan (which
may be incorporated by reference) and the requirements of Section 423 of the Code, including the requirement that all Eligible Employees have
the same rights and privileges. The Committee shall specify prior to the commencement of each Offering (i) the period during which the
Offering shall be effective, which may not exceed 27 months from the Offering Date and may include one or more successive Purchase Periods
within the Offering, (ii) the Purchase Dates and Purchase Price for shares of Stock which may be purchased pursuant to the Offering, and (iii) if
applicable, any limits on the number of shares purchasable by a Participant, or by all Participants in the aggregate, during any Offering Period
or, if applicable, Purchase Period, in each case consistent with the limitations of the Plan. The Committee shall have the discretion to provide
for the automatic termination of an Offering following any Purchase Date on which the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock is equal to or less
than the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock on the Offering Date, and for the Participants in the terminated Offering to be automatically reenrolled in a new Offering that commences immediately after such Purchase Date. The terms and conditions of each Offering need not be
identical, and shall be deemed incorporated by reference and made a part of the Plan.
(b)
Enrollment . Any individual who, on the day preceding the first day of an Offering Period, qualifies as an Eligible Employee
may elect to become a Participant in the Plan for such Offering Period by executing the enrollment form prescribed for this purpose by the
Company. The enrollment form shall be filed with the Company in accordance with such procedures as may be established by the Company.
If the Committee commences an Offering on the date of the IPO, the Committee may provide for the automatic enrollment of all Eligible
Employees in such Offering.
(c)
Duration of Participation . Once enrolled in the Plan, a Participant shall continue to participate in the Plan until he or she
ceases to be an Eligible Employee or withdraws from the Plan under Section 6(a). A Participant who withdrew from the Plan under Section 6
(a) may again become a Participant, if he or she then is an Eligible Employee, by following the procedure described in Subsection (b) above. A
Participant whose employee contributions were discontinued automatically under Section 9(b) shall automatically resume participation at the
beginning of the earliest Offering Period ending in the next calendar year, if he or she then is an Eligible Employee. When a Participant
reaches the end of an Offering Period but his or her
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participation is to continue, then such Participant shall automatically be re-enrolled for the Offering Period that commences immediately after
the end of the prior Offering Period.
SECTION 5

Employee Contributions.

Frequency of Payroll Deductions . A Participant may purchase shares of Stock under the Plan solely by means of payroll
(a)
deductions; provided, however, that to the extent provided in the terms and conditions of an Offering, a Participant may also make
contributions through payment by cash or check prior to one or more Purchase Dates during the Offering. Payroll deductions, subject to the
provisions of Subsection (b) below or as otherwise provided by the Committee, shall occur on each payday during participation in the Plan.
(b)
Amount of Payroll Deductions . An Eligible Employee shall designate on the enrollment form the portion of his or her
Compensation that he or she elects to have withheld for the purchase of Stock. Such portion shall be a whole percentage of the Eligible
Employee’s Compensation, but not less than 1% nor more than 15%. However, no payroll deduction will be made unless a Participant timely
files the proper form with the Company after a registration statement covering the Stock is filed and effective under the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended.
(c)
Changing Withholding Rate . A Participant may not increase the rate of payroll withholding during the Offering Period, but
unless otherwise provided under the terms and conditions of an Offering, may decrease the rate of payroll withholding to a whole percentage of
his or her Compensation that is not less than 1% in accordance with such procedures and subject to such limitations as the Company may
establish for all Participants. A Participant may also increase or decrease the rate of payroll withholding effective for a new Offering Period by
filing a new enrollment form with the Company at the prescribed location and time. The new withholding rate shall be a whole percentage of
the Eligible Employee’s Compensation, but not less than 1% nor more than 15%.
(d)
Discontinuing Payroll Deductions . If a Participant wishes to discontinue employee contributions entirely, he or she may do
so by withdrawing from the Plan pursuant to Section 6(a). In addition, employee contributions may be discontinued automatically pursuant to
Section 9(b).
SECTION 6

Withdrawal From The Plan.

(a)
Withdrawal . A Participant may elect to withdraw from the Plan by filing the prescribed form with the Company at the
prescribed location. Such withdrawal may be elected at any time before the last day of an Offering Period, except as otherwise provided in the
Offering. In addition, if payment by cash or check is permitted under the terms and conditions of an Offering, Participants may be deemed to
withdraw from the Plan by declining or failing to remit timely payment to the Company for the shares of Stock. As soon as reasonably
practicable thereafter, payroll deductions shall cease and the entire amount credited to the Participant’s Plan Account shall be refunded to him
or her in cash, without interest. No partial withdrawals shall be permitted.
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(b)
Re-enrollment After Withdrawal . A former Participant who has withdrawn from the Plan shall not be a Participant until he
or she re-enrolls in the Plan under Section 4(b). Re-enrollment may be effective only at the commencement of an Offering Period.
SECTION 7

Change In Employment Status .

Termination of Employment . Termination of employment as an Eligible Employee for any reason, including death, shall be
(a)
treated as an automatic withdrawal from the Plan under Section 6(a). A transfer from one Participating Company to another shall not be treated
as a termination of employment.
(b)
Leave of Absence . For purposes of the Plan, employment shall not be deemed to terminate when the Participant goes on a
military leave, a sick leave or another bona fide leave of absence, if the leave was approved by the Company in writing. Employment,
however, shall be deemed to terminate three months after the Participant goes on a leave, unless a contract or statute guarantees his or her right
to return to work. Employment shall be deemed to terminate in any event when the approved leave ends, unless the Participant immediately
returns to work.
Death . In the event of the Participant’s death, the amount credited to his or her Plan Account shall be paid to the
(c)
Participant’s estate.
SECTION 8

Plan Accounts And Purchase Of Shares .

Plan Accounts . The Company shall maintain a Plan Account on its books in the name of each Participant. Whenever an
(a)
amount is deducted from the Participant’s Compensation under the Plan, such amount shall be credited to the Participant’s Plan Account.
Amounts credited to Plan Accounts shall not be trust funds and may be commingled with the Company’s general assets and applied to general
corporate purposes. No interest shall be credited to Plan Accounts.
(b)
lesser of:

Purchase Price . The Purchase Price for each share of Stock purchased during an Offering Period shall not be less than the
(i)

85% of the Fair Market Value of such share on the Purchase Date; or

(ii)
85% of the Fair Market Value of such share on the last Trading Day preceding the Offering Date, or in the case of
an Offering Period that commences on the IPO, 85% of the price at which one share of Stock is offered to the public in the IPO.
Number of Shares Purchased . As of each Purchase Date, each Participant shall be deemed to have elected to purchase the
(c)
number of shares of Stock calculated in accordance with this Subsection (c), unless the Participant has previously elected to withdraw from the
Plan in accordance with Section 6(a). The amount then in the Participant’s Plan Account shall be divided by the Purchase Price, and the
number of shares that results shall be purchased from the Company with the funds in the Participant’s Plan Account. The foregoing
notwithstanding, no Participant shall purchase more than such number of shares of Stock as may be determined by the Committee with respect
to the Offering Period, or Purchase Period, if applicable, nor more than the amounts of Stock set forth in Sections 9(b) and 14(a). For each
Offering Period and, if
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applicable, Purchase Period, the Committee shall have the authority to establish additional limits on the number of shares purchasable by all
Participants in the aggregate.
(d)
Available Shares Insufficient . In the event that the aggregate number of shares that all Participants elect to purchase during
an Offering Period exceeds the maximum number of shares remaining available for issuance under Section 14(a), or which may be purchased
pursuant to any additional aggregate limits imposed by the Committee, then the number of shares to which each Participant is entitled shall be
determined by multiplying the number of shares available for issuance by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of shares that such
Participant has elected to purchase and the denominator of which is the number of shares that all Participants have elected to purchase.
(e)
Issuance of Stock. Certificates representing the shares of Stock purchased by a Participant under the Plan shall be issued to
him or her as soon as reasonably practicable after the applicable Purchase Date, except that the Committee may determine that such shares shall
be held for each Participant’s benefit by a broker designated by the Committee (unless the Participant has elected that certificates be issued to
him or her). Shares may be registered in the name of the Participant or jointly in the name of the Participant and his or her spouse as joint
tenants with right of survivorship or as community property.
(f)
Unused Cash Balances . An amount remaining in the Participant’s Plan Account that represents the Purchase Price for any
fractional share shall be carried over in the Participant’s Plan Account to the next Offering Period or refunded to the Participant in cash,
without interest, if his or her participation is not continued. Any amount remaining in the Participant’s Plan Account that represents the
Purchase Price for whole shares that could not be purchased by reason of Subsection (c) or (d) above, Section 9(b) or Section 14(a) shall be
refunded to the Participant in cash, without interest.
(g)
Stockholder Approval . The Plan shall be submitted to the stockholders of the Company for their approval within twelve
(12) months after the date the Plan is adopted by the Board. Any other provision of the Plan notwithstanding, no shares of Stock shall be
purchased under the Plan unless and until the Company’s stockholders have approved the adoption of the Plan.
SECTION 9

Limitations On Stock Ownership.

(a)
Five Percent Limit . Any other provision of the Plan notwithstanding, no Participant shall be granted a right to purchase
Stock under the Plan if such Participant, immediately after his or her election to purchase such Stock, would own stock possessing 5% or more
of the total combined voting power or value of all classes of stock of the Company or any parent or Subsidiary of the Company. For purposes
of this Subsection (a), the following rules shall apply:
(i)
(ii)
other plan; and

Ownership of stock shall be determined after applying the attribution rules of section 424(d) of the Code;
Each Participant shall be deemed to own any stock that he or she has a right or option to purchase under this or any
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(iii)
Each Participant shall be deemed to have the right to purchase up to the maximum number of shares of Stock that
may be purchased by a Participant under this Plan under the individual limit specified pursuant to Section 8(c) with respect to each
Offering Period.
(b)
Dollar Limit . Any other provision of the Plan notwithstanding, no Participant shall accrue the right to purchase Stock at a
rate which exceeds $25,000 of Fair Market Value of such Stock per calendar year (under this Plan and all other employee stock purchase plans
of the Company or any parent or Subsidiary of the Company), determined in accordance with the provisions of section 423(b)(8) of the Code
and applicable Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder.
For purposes of this Subsection (b), the Fair Market Value of Stock shall be determined as of the beginning of the Offering Period in
which such Stock is purchased. Employee stock purchase plans not described in section 423 of the Code shall be disregarded. If a Participant
is precluded by this Subsection (b) from purchasing additional Stock under the Plan, then his or her employee contributions shall automatically
be discontinued and shall resume at the beginning of the earliest Offering Period ending in the next calendar year (if he or she then is an
Eligible Employee).
SECTION 10

Rights Not Transferable.

The rights of any Participant under the Plan, or any Participant’s interest in any Stock or moneys to which he or she may be entitled
under the Plan, shall not be transferable by voluntary or involuntary assignment or by operation of law, or in any other manner other than by
the laws of descent and distribution. If a Participant in any manner attempts to transfer, assign or otherwise encumber his or her rights or
interest under the Plan, other than by the laws of descent and distribution, then such act shall be treated as an election by the Participant to
withdraw from the Plan under Section 6(a).
SECTION 11

No Rights As An Employee

Nothing in the Plan or in any right granted under the Plan shall confer upon the Participant any right to continue in the employ of a
Participating Company for any period of specific duration or interfere with or otherwise restrict in any way the rights of the Participating
Companies or of the Participant, which rights are hereby expressly reserved by each, to terminate his or her employment at any time and for
any reason, with or without cause.
SECTION 12

No Rights As A Stockholder.

A Participant shall have no rights as a stockholder with respect to any shares of Stock that he or she may have a right to purchase
under the Plan until such shares have been purchased on the applicable Purchase Date.
SECTION 13

Securities Law Requirements.

Shares of Stock shall not be issued under the Plan unless the issuance and delivery of such shares comply with (or are exempt from)
all applicable requirements of law, including
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(without limitation) the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, state securities laws and
regulations, and the regulations of any stock exchange or other securities market on which the Company’s securities may then be traded.
SECTION 14

Stock Offered Under The Plan.

Authorized Shares . The maximum aggregate number of shares of Stock available for purchase under the Plan is 1,950,000
(a)
shares(1), plus an annual increase to be added on the first day of each of the Company’s fiscal years, beginning with the fiscal year that begins
January 1, 2016, equal to the least of (i) one percent (1%) of the outstanding shares of Stock on such date, (ii) 2,880,000 shares(2), or (iii) a
lesser amount determined by the Board; provided, however, that no annual increase shall be added more than ten years after the Effective Date
of the Plan. The aggregate number of shares available for purchase under the Plan shall at all times be subject to adjustment pursuant to
Section 14.
(b)
Antidilution Adjustments . The aggregate number of shares of Stock offered under the Plan, the individual and aggregate
Participant share limitations described in Section 8(c) and the price of shares that any Participant has elected to purchase shall be adjusted
proportionately by the Committee in the event of any change in the number of issued shares of Stock (or issuance of shares other than Common
Stock) by reason of any forward or reverse share split, subdivision or consolidation, or share dividend or bonus issue, recapitalization,
reclassification, merger, amalgamation, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, reorganization, combination, exchange of shares of Stock, the issuance
of warrants or other rights to purchase shares of Stock or other securities, or any other change in corporate structure or in the event of any
extraordinary distribution (whether in the form of cash, shares of Stock, other securities or other property).
Reorganizations . Any other provision of the Plan notwithstanding, immediately prior to the effective time of a Corporate
(c)
Reorganization, the Offering Period then in progress shall terminate and shares shall be purchased pursuant to Section 8, unless the Plan is
assumed by the surviving corporation or its parent corporation pursuant to the plan of merger or consolidation. The Plan shall in no event be
construed to restrict in any way the Company’s right to undertake a dissolution, liquidation, merger, consolidation or other reorganization.
SECTION 15

Amendment Or Discontinuance.

The Board (or any committee thereof to which it delegates such authority) shall have the right to amend, suspend or terminate the Plan
at any time and without notice. Upon any such amendment, suspension or termination of the Plan during an Offering Period, the Board (or any
committee thereof to which it delegates such authority) may in its discretion determine that the applicable Offering shall immediately terminate
and that all amounts in the Participant Accounts shall be carried forward into a payroll deduction account for each Participant under a successor
plan, if any, or promptly refunded to each Participant. Except as provided in Section 14, any
(1) Note: For clarity, this is a pre-split number that will be adjusted proportionately to reflect the reverse stock split implemented by the
Company in advance of the consummation of the Company’s IPO.
(2) Note: For clarity, this is a pre-split number that will be adjusted proportionately to reflect the reverse stock split implemented by the
Company in advance of the consummation of the Company’s IPO.
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increase in the aggregate number of shares of Stock to be issued under the Plan shall be subject to approval by a vote of the stockholders of the
Company. In addition, any other amendment of the Plan shall be subject to approval by a vote of the stockholders of the Company to the
extent required by an applicable law or regulation. This Plan shall continue until the earlier to occur of (a) termination of this Plan pursuant to
this Section 15 or (b) issuance of all of the shares of Stock reserved for issuance under this Plan.
SECTION 16

Execution.

To record the adoption of the Plan by the Board, the Company has caused its authorized officer to execute the same.
INVITAE CORPORATION
By:
Title:
Date:
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Exhibit 10.12
Lease
[Standard Form]
This Lease , dated for reference September 1, 2011, is made by and between Martin E. Harband, Trustee of the Harband Family Trust
u/a/d 08/26/1982 (hereinafter “Lessor”), and Locus Development, Inc. , a Delaware corporation, (hereinafter “Lessee”).
Lessor leases to Lessee, and Lessee hires from Lessor, the following premises, situated in the City and County of San Francisco, State of
California:
All of that certain two story concrete and steel building commonly known and designated as 454-58 Brannan Street, San
Francisco, California
It is further mutually agreed between the Lessor and Lessee as follows:
1.
TERM : The term of this Lease shall be for five (5) years, commencing on the Commencement Date (defined in the
Addendum) and ending on the date that is the last day of the month which is five (5) years after the Commencement Date . Following
the Commencement Date, Lessor will deliver a notice to Lessee indicating the Commencement Date and the expiration date of the term of this
Lease.
2.
RENT : Lessee agrees to pay to Lessor minimum monthly rent, in lawful money of the United States, according to the
following schedule:
•
•
•
•
•

$13,833.00
$14,525.00
$15,216.00
$15,908.00
$16,600.00

per month for the first year of the lease term;
per month for the second year of the lease term;
per month for the third year of the lease term;
per month for the fourth year of the lease term;
per month for the fifth year of the lease term;

Rent is payable in advance of the first day of each and every month during the term of this Lease to Lessor without notice or demand
and without deduction or offset. Said rent shall be paid at such place or places as may be designated in writing from time to time by Lessor, the
first of said payments to be made upon execution of this Lease. Rent for any period during the term hereof which is for less than one month
shall be a pro rata portion of the monthly installment. Lessee shall pay such other amount due under this lease as additional rent. Where the
time for payment of any additional rental is not specified herein, the same shall be due and payable ten (10) days after Lessor’s invoice or
demand.
3.
business:

USE OF PREMISES : Lessee shall use said premises during the term hereof for the purposes of conducting the following

Research and development laboratory, with ancillary office use and any other uses permitted under applicable laws and zoning
regulations.
Lessee acknowledges that no warranties or representations have been made by Lessor or Lessor’s Agent regarding the fitness or
suitability of the premises for the conduct of Lessee’s business, and Lessee has made Lessee’s own independent investigation to determine the
fitness and suitability of the premises for Lessee’s use.
4.
TAXES : In addition to the rent herein provided, Lessee agrees to pay to Lessor all taxes and assessments, impositions,
levies and fees commonly known as real estate taxes and assessments, imposed, levied, or assessed by any governmental authority, upon or
against the land and improvements which constitute the premises. Said taxes shall be paid to Lessor by Lessee not later than thirty (30) days
after

Lessor has made written demand therefor. Any tax for the lease years in which this Lease commences and terminates shall be pro-rated
between Lessor and Lessee; Lessee shall only pay such portion of such tax as is included within the term of this Lease. It is further provided
Lessee shall pay all tax assessments on the personal property of Lessee. Taxes and assessments referred to herein shall also include any and all
special assessment district taxes, gross receipt taxes, and taxes and assessments of every kind and nature whatsoever levied or assessed in lieu
of or in addition to existing real or personal property taxes, such as any tax or excise on rents or any other tax, however described, levied
against Lessor on account of the rent reserved hereunder or on the business of renting space on the property of which the demised premises are
a portion. However, any franchise, estate, inheritance or succession taxes imposed upon Lessor shall not be included here.
5.

INSURANCE :

LESSEE’S INSURANCE :
Lessee shall purchase and maintain at Lessee’s expense during the term (and any extensions) of
this Lease the following types of insurance with a company authorized to do business in the State of California. Lessee shall provide Lessor
with a Certificate of Insurance upon commencement of the term and upon each renewal of insurance, which shall evidence the required
insurance coverage and which shall designate Lessor as Additional Insured for the Bodily Injury, Personal Injury, and Property Damage
coverage. Lessee shall maintain the following:
(a)
Bodily Injury, Personal Injury, and Property Damage Insurance with limits not less than $ 3,000,000 combined single limit,
covering the demised Premises and sidewalk in front of same , which shall name Lessor as an additional insured (agreeing that this insurance is
considered primary for the protection of Lessor). The policy shall contain a provision requiring thirty (30) days written notice from the
insurance company to Lessor prior to reduction or cancellation.
(b)

Worker’s Compensation insurance as required by law.

(c)
Property Damage Insurance covering Lessee’s alterations, additions, and improvements, trade fixtures, equipment,
merchandise, inventory, personal property and window-glass in or on the premises, in an amount not less than ninety percent (90%) of the full
replacement cost thereof providing protection against any peril included within the classification, “Fire and Extended Coverage,” together with
insurance against damage caused by fire-sprinkler discharge, burglary, vandalism, force-entry, and malicious mischief. Any proceeds shall be
used for the repair or replacement of the property damaged or destroyed unless this Lease is terminated pursuant to the provisions of Paragraph
18 of this Lease.
LESSOR’S INSURANCE .
Lessor shall purchase and maintain the following types of insurance, the annual premium for
such coverage shall be reimbursed by Lessee. Lessee shall not be named as an additional insured thereunder.
(a)
Liability Insurance. Liability insurance protecting Lessor against claims for bodily injury, personal injury and property
damage based upon or arising out of the ownership, use, occupancy or maintenance of the premises in addition to, and not in lieu of the
insurance required to be maintained by Lessee, and in such amount as Lessor deems reasonable and prudent.
(b)
Property Insurance. Property insurance insuring loss or damage to the premises in such amount as Lessor deems reasonable
and prudent, but in no event less than the full replacement cost of the premises as the same shall exist from time to time, nor more than the
commercially reasonable value thereof. If coverage is available and commercial appropriate, such policy shall insurance against all risks of
direct physical loss or damage, except the perils of flood and/or earthquake, including coverage for debris removal and the enforcement of
applicable requirements requiring the upgrading, demolition, reconstitution or replacement of the premises as the result of a covered loss.
(c.)
Additional Coverage. Such other coverage as is commercially reasonable from time to time, including rental value coverage,
insuring the loss of the full rent for one year
6.
WAIVER OF SUBROGATION : Lessor and Lessee hereby waive any right that each may have against the other on
account of any loss or damage arising in any manner which is covered by policies of insurance for fire and extended coverage, theft, public
liability, worker’s compensation, or other insurance now
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or hereafter existing during the term of this Lease covering the property of which the demised premises are a portion or the demised premises
or any portion thereof or operations therein. Each party shall obtain any special endorsements, if required by either party’s insurer, to evidence
compliance with the waiver of any rights of subrogation. Lessor and Lessee shall each indemnify the other against any loss or expense,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees, resulting from the failure to obtain such a waiver when the same is reasonably available.
7.
POSSESSION : Lessee agrees that in the event of the failure or inability of Lessor to deliver possession of said premises at
the time herein agreed that Lessor shall not be liable for any damages caused thereby nor shall this Lease be void. In such event, the
commencement date and the expiration date of the lease-term shall be advanced accordingly.
8.
INDEMNIFICATION OF LESSOR : Lessee agrees to indemnify and hold Lessor harmless from and against any and all
claims, actions, damages, liability, and expense, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys’ fees, in connection with loss of life,
personal injury, and/or damage to property arising from or out of any occurrence in, upon, or at the leased premises, or any part thereof, or
occasioned wholly or in part by any act or omission of Lessee, its agents, contractors, employees, servants, customers, invitees, tenants, or
subtenants. Lessor shall not be liable for (a) damage to Lessee’s property located on the premises; (b) injury or damage to persons or property
resulting from fire, earthquake, flood, explosions, falling plaster, steam, gas, electricity, water, rain, or snow, or leaks from any part of the
leased premises or from the pipes, appliances, or plumbing works; (c) damage caused by any other tenants or persons in the leased premises or
the building of which the demised premises are a portion, occupants of adjacent property, or the public, or caused by operations in construction
of any private, public, or quasi-public work.
The provisions hereof shall (i.) not apply where such damage, loss, or injury is caused by the negligence of Lessor subject to any limitation in
Paragraph 30, and (ii.) shall survive the expiration or early termination of this Lease.
9.
DAMAGE TO LESSEE PROPERTY : Except to the extent caused by Lessor’s gross negligence or willful misconduct,
Lessor shall not be liable for loss or damage to Lessee’s property, fixtures, merchandise, leasehold improvements, or to the premises, or to
property, fixtures, or merchandise customers caused by burglary, theft, robbery, vandalism, forced entry, riot, or by water from any source
whatsoever. Lessee shall promptly repair any such damage or loss on or about the premises, including the building exterior at Lessee’s cost and
expense in accordance with Paragraph 13 of this Lease.
Lessee acknowledges that Lessor has disclosed that if any part of the premises is under the public right-of-way (“sidewalk”), it may be
subject to water-intrusion from time to time.
10.
SIGNS : Lessor reserves the exclusive right to the roof and exterior walls of the premises; no signs shall be posted thereon
without the prior written consent of Lessor, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Any such permitted
signs shall satisfy all governmental code requirements. Upon the expiration of this Lease or earlier termination thereof, Lessee shall, at Lessor’s
option, remove permitted signs and repair any damage caused by the posting or removal.
11.

[RESERVED]

12.
LIENS : Lessee shall promptly pay for work done on the premises and shall keep the premises free and clear of mechanics
and other liens. Lessee shall indemnify and hold Lessor and the premises harmless against loss, damage, interest, cost, attorneys’ fees, and
other expenses on account of claims of such liens.
13.
CONDITION OF PREMISES, REPAIRS AND LAW OBSERVANCE : The premises shall be delivered to Lessee in
“AS IS” condition, subject to completion of the Base Building Improvements identified in Paragraph 44. Any additional painting or
improvements shall be at Lessee’s cost and expense, subject to Lessor’s prior written approval of plans, specifications, and contractors. Except
as described in Paragraph 44 and elsewhere in this Lease, Lessee shall be responsible for improvements required by the American with
Disabilities
3

Act. Lessee shall give Lessor written notice not less than five (5) working days prior to the commencement of improvements to permit Lessor
to record and post Notices of Non-Responsibility. Permits, authorizations, and governmental approvals shall be obtained prior to
commencement of improvements, and the improvements shall be completed with due diligence in compliance with the approved plans and
specifications. Lessee agrees to conform to and comply with all public laws and regulations in the use, occupation and repair of the premises
and to keep and maintain the premises in good and sanitary order, condition, and repair during the term of this Lease.
Lessor shall maintain in good condition the roof, exterior walls, foundations, sub-surface plumbing and sub-surface electrical systems,
and the sidewalks adjacent to the premises (“Structural Components and Building Systems”), except for repair of damage caused by the grossly
negligent act(s) of Lessee. Lessor shall make repairs under this Paragraph after receipt of written notice of the need for such repairs. Lessee
expressly waives the benefits of any statute now or hereafter in effect which would otherwise afford Lessee the right to make repairs at
Lessor’s expense.
14.
CHARGES FOR PUBLIC UTILITIES AND SERVICES : Lessee hereby agrees to pay for all heat, water, sewer service
charge, light, gas, power, telephone, custodial services, garbage collection, and other services supplied to the premises. Lessor shall not be
responsible for the failure or interruption of any such service furnished the premises.
16.
DEBRIS : Lessee shall keep storage areas clean and free of empty cartons, packing materials, or debris that constitutes a fire
hazard. Lessee shall have garbage removed regularly, and keep the sidewalk in front of the premises clean and free of debris.
17.
RIGHT OF LESSOR TO PERFORM : All obligations to be performed by Lessee under this Lease shall be performed at
Lessee’s cost and expense and without any abatement of rent. If Lessee fails to perform any act required hereunder, and such failure shall
continue for ten (10) days after written notice by Lessor, Lessor may perform any such act and Lessee shall reimburse Lessor (as additional
rent) for all reasonable expenses incurred by Lessor.
18.
DESTRUCTION OF PREMISES : (a) In the event of a partial destruction of the premises before or during the lease term
by a cause covered by the typical standard form fire, extended coverage, and malicious mischief insurance, Lessor shall make necessary repairs
within 120 days, to the extent of the insurance proceeds made available to Lessor, provided such repairs can be made under applicable public
laws and regulations. Partial destruction shall not void this Lease, except that Lessee shall be entitled to a proportionate reduction of rent while
such repairs are being made, provided that the damage is not the result, of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Lessee or Lessee’s
agents, contractors, employees, invitees, or licensees. If the repairs cannot be made within 120 days, Lessor may elect to make same within a
reasonable period of time, this Lease continuing in full force and effect and the rent to be proportionately abated as provided in this Paragraph.
In the event that Lessor does not so elect, or if the repairs cannot be made under such laws and regulations, this Lease may be terminated at the
option of either Lessor or Lessee by written notice to the other within thirty (30) days after the occurrence of the damage. (b) Intentionally
omitted (c) A total destruction of the building, excluding foundations, in which the of which the premises are a part shall terminate this lease.
(d) If the premises are partially destroyed or damaged during the last twelve months of the term of this Lease, this Lease may be terminated at
the option of either Lessor or Lessee by written notice to the other within thirty (30) days after the occurrence of the damage. If the premises
are repaired by Lessor, Lessee, and not Lessor shall repair or replace the property of Lessee, including improvements installed on the premises
by Lessee. In the event this Lease is terminated under the provisions of this paragraph, the portion of any rentals paid in advance by Lessee to
Lessor covering the period following such termination shall be repaid by Lessor to Lessee. Lessee waives any right to terminate this Lease as a
result of any statutory provisions now or hereafter in effect pertaining to the damage or destruction of demised premises of the building of
which demised premises are a portion except as expressly provided herein.
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19. ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES’ : In the event of any dispute between Lessor and Lessee relative to the provisions of this Lease
(except for an action of Unlawful Detainer), such dispute shall be resolved by binding arbitration in accordance with the California Code of
Civil Procedure, Title 9, Section 1280 et seq. The arbitrator shall be appointed by written agreement of the parties; however, if the parties
cannot agree upon an arbitrator within 45 days from the date of the written demand for arbitration, the arbitrator shall be appointed by the
Presiding Judge of the Superior Court for the county in which the premises are located. Lessor and Lessee shall each bear one-half of the cost
of arbitration, or as the arbitrator shall otherwise determine.
(a)
NOTICE: BY INITIALING IN THE SPACE BELOW, YOU ARE AGREEING TO HAVE ANY DISPUTE
ARISING OUT OF THE MATTERS INCLUDED IN THE ‘ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES” PROVISION DECIDED BY
NEUTRAL ARBITRATION AS PROVIDED BY CALIFORNIA LAW AND YOU ARE GIVING UP ANY RIGHTS YOU MIGHT
POSSESS TO HAVE THE DISPUTE LITIGATED IN A COURT OR JURY TRIAL. BY INITIALING IN THE SPACE BELOW
YOU ARE GIVING UP YOUR JUDICIAL RIGHTS TO DISCOVERY AND APPEAL, UNLESS THOSE RIGHTS ARE
SPECIFICALLY INCLUDED IN THE ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES PROVISION. IF YOU REFUSE TO SUBMIT TO
ARBITRATION AFTER AGREEING TO THIS PROVISION, YOU MAY BE COMPELLED TO ARBITRATE UNDER THE
AUTHORITY OF THE CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE. YOUR AGREEMENT TO THIS ARBITRATION
PROVISION IS VOLUNTARY. BY INITIALING IN THE SPACE BELOW YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT YOU HAVE READ
AND UNDERSTAND THE FOREGOING AND AGREE TO SUBMIT DISPUTES ARISING OUT OF THE MATTERS INCLUDED
IN THE ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES PROVISION TO NEUTRAL ARBITRATION.
LESSOR’S INITIALS

LESSEE’S INITIALS

20.
ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING : Lessee shall not voluntarily or by operation of law assign, transfer, mortgage,
sublet, hypothecate, or otherwise transfer or encumber all or any part of Lessee’s interest in this Lease without Lessor’s prior written consent.
Lessor shall not unreasonably withhold consent to the subletting of demised premises or the assignment of this Lease in the event the proposed
subleases or assignee meets reasonable credit, business/qualification, and reputation requirements and the occupancy resulting from such
subletting or assignment is consistent with the general character of the business as described in Paragraph 3 of this Lease. Any of the foregoing
acts without Lessor’s prior written consent shall be void and shall, at the option of Lessor, terminate this Lease. Any transfer or change in
ownership of fifty percent (50%) or more of the stock or interest in Lessee shall constitute an assignment for purpose of this paragraph. No
consent by Lessor to any assignment or subletting by Lessee shall release Lessee of Lessee’s obligation to pay the rent and to perform all the
obligations to be performed by Lessee hereunder for the term of this Lease or any extension thereof. The acceptance of rent by Lessor from any
other party shall not be deemed to be a waiver by Lessor of any provisions hereof. Consent to one assignment or subletting shall not be deemed
to be consent to any subsequent assignment or subletting. Each request for consent to an assignment or subletting shall be in writing,
accompanied by relevant information regarding the proposed assignee (or sublessee) together with a non-refundable deposit of $750.00 as
compensation for the Lessor’s consideration and processing of the request for consent.
21.
EMINENT DOMAIN : If the whole or any part of the premises shall be taken or condemned by any public authority for
any public or quasi-public use, then this Lease and all rights and liabilities of the parties thereafter accruing shall cease after the date when such
possession shall be required or title to be vested, without apportionment to Lessee of the award or other compensation, if any, by reason of such
requisition, taking, or condemnation: but nothing herein contained shall deprive Lessee of the right, if any, to receive from the requisitioning or
condemning authority award for compensation or loss of or damage to any of Lessee’s tangible property or business, provided the same is not
in diminution of the award or compensation payable to Lessor; and Lessee shall make payment of all rent and other charges accrued and prorated to the date of such requisition, taking, or condemnation. In the event this Lease is terminated under the provisions of this Paragraph, the
pro-rata portion of any rentals paid in advance by Lessee to Lessor covering the period
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following such termination shall be repaid by Lessor to Lessee. For purposes of this Paragraph, a voluntary sale or conveyance in lieu of
condemnation, under threat of condemnation, shall be deemed a taking under the power of eminent domain.
22.
ENTRY BY LESSOR : Lessee shall permit Lessor, or the agents of Lessor, to enter into and upon said premises at all
reasonable times for the purpose of inspecting the same or for the purpose of maintaining the building in which the same premises are situated,
or for the purpose of making repairs, alterations, or additions to any other portion of said building, including the erection and maintenance of
scaffolding as may be required (without the same constituting an eviction of Lessee in whole or in part), providing that all such work shall be
performed as promptly and with as little interference to Lessee as reasonably possible, or for the purpose of posting notices of nonresponsibility for alterations, additions, or repairs, or for the purpose of placing upon the property in which the said premises are located any
usual or ordinary “for sale” signs without any rebate of rent to Lessee for any loss of occupancy or quiet enjoyment of the premises thereby
occasioned. Lessor, or the agents of Lessor, shall have the right during the last thirty (30) days of the term, to enter upon said premises, and to
affix upon any suitable part thereof a notice for re-letting the same, and Lessee will not remove said notice.
23.
INABILITY TO PERFORM : This Lease and the obligations of the Lessee under this Lease shall not be affected or
impaired because Lessor is unable to fulfill any of his obligations hereunder or is delayed in doing so, if such inability or delay is caused by
reason of strike, labor troubles, acts of God, or any other cause beyond the reasonable control of the Lessor.
24.
LATE CHARGES : IT IS AGREED BY LESSOR AND LESSEE THAT LATE PAYMENT OF RENT,
ADDITIONAL RENT, OR OTHER SUM DUE HEREUNDER WILL CAUSE LESSOR TO INCUR COSTS NOT
CONTEMPLATED BY THIS LEASE, SUCH COSTS TO INCLUDE, WITHOUT LIMITATION, PROCESSING AND
ACCOUNTING CHARGES, LOSS OF USE OF FUNDS, AND UNFORESEEN ADVANCEMENTS BY LESSOR FOR
MORTGAGES AND OTHER FINANCING COSTS. IT IS FURTHER AGREED THAT IN THE EVENT OF ANY SUCH DEFAULT
BY LESSEE (i) IT WOULD BE IMPRACTICABLE OR EXTREMELY DIFFICULT TO DETERMINE AND FIX THE ACTUAL
DAMAGES SUFFERED BY LESSOR, AND (ii) THE CHARGES SET FORTH BELOW ARE, AS OF THE DATE HEREOF, A
FAIR AND REASONABLE ESTIMATE OF LESSOR’S DAMAGES. IF LESSOR DOES NOT RECEIVE ANY PAYMENT FIVE
DAYS AFTER THE DUE DATE, LESSEE AGREES TO PAY LESSOR FORTHWITH A LATE CHARGE FOR EACH SUCH
LATE PAYMENT IN AN AMOUNT EQUAL TO FIVE PERCENT ( 5 %) OF THE DELINQUENT SUM. ACCEPTANCE OF ANY
LATE CHARGE SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A WAIVER OF THE DEFAULT WITH RESPECT TO THE OVERDUE AMOUNT
AND SHALL NOT PREVENT LESSOR FROM EXERCISING ANY OF ITS RIGHTS AND REMEDIES UNDER THIS LEASE, OR
APPLICABLE LAW.
LESSOR’S INITIALS

LESSEE’S INITIALS

25.

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES:

A.

Definition of Default. Without limitation thereto, each of the following events is deemed to be a default hereunder:

(1)
Lessee’s interest, or any part of Lessee’s interest, in this Lease is assigned or transferred in whole or in part,
voluntarily or by operation of law, without Lessor’s prior written consent, except as set forth in this Lease.
(2)
A finding or judgment of insolvency of Lessee, a voluntary or involuntary petition in bankruptcy; the levy of a writ
of execution of the business of Lessee or on the assets of Lessee located in the leased premises, which is not discharged within five (5) days;
the filing of a petition for reorganization, or for an arrangement, against Lessee, or any member of Lessee (if Lessee is a partnership or joint
venture); the appointment of a receiver for the business or of the assets of Lessee (except a receiver appointed at the
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instance or request of Lessor); or a general assignment, or any assignment, for the benefit of Lessee’s creditors.
(3)

Intentionally omitted.

(4)
Lessee fails (a) to make any payment of rent or any other payment required to be made by Lessee herein, within ten
(10) business days after receiving notice from Lessor that such amount is due or (b) in keeping of any other term, covenant, or condition of this
Lease, when such failure continues for ten (10) business days after notice thereof by Lessor.
(5)
Within one calendar year, Lessee shall have been in default in the payment of any sum due under this Lease more
than two times and, as a result thereof, Lessor shall have served Lessee within said calendar year two or more three-day notices to quit or pay
rent (which default shall be deemed a non-curable default).
(6)

The commission by Lessee of waste and/or nuisance.

B.
Lessor’s Remedies: In the event of Lessee’s defaults as defined in Paragraph 24 A hereof, in addition to all other rights and
remedies which Lessor may have in equity or in law, Lessor shall have all of the following remedies’
(1)
Lessor shall have the right, without any further demand or notice, to terminate this Lease, re-enter the leased
premises, without prejudice to any other remedies that Lessor may have.
(2)
In the event of termination, Lessor shall have all the rights and remedies of a lessor provided by law. The amount of
damages which Lessor may recover includes: (a) the worth at the time of award of the unpaid rent or other charges which had been earned at
the time of termination; (b) the worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent or other charges which would have been
earned after termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of loss of such rental and other charges that Lessee proves could have been
reasonably avoided; (c) the worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent and other charges for the balance of the term
after the time of award exceeds the amount of the loss of such rental and other charges for such period that Lessee proves could be reasonably
avoided; (d) any other amount necessary to compensate Lessor for all detriment proximately caused by Lessee’s failure to perform Lessee’s
obligations under this Lease, including, by way of illustration and not limitation, real estate commissions, or which in the ordinary course of
events would be likely to result therefrom. The “worth at the time of award” as utilized in sub-parts (a), (b), (c), and (d) hereinabove shall be
computed by allowing interest at the rate which is the maximum permitted by law.
(3)
Lessor may continue the Lease in effect after Lessee’s breach and abandonment and recover rent as it becomes due,
subject only to reasonable limitations, as provided in California Civil Code Section 1951.4.
(4)
In the event Lessor gives Lessee written notice that Lessor elects not to terminate this Lease, Lessee shall have the
right to sublease the leased premises or assign Lessee’s interest in this Lease, or both, subject to all other provisions of this Lease pertaining to
assignments and subleasing, and Lessor shall have all the remedies of a lessor provided by law. Notwithstanding any such election by Lessor
not to terminate this Lease, Lessor may at any time thereafter elect to terminate this Lease for any subsequent breach or default.
(5)
Lessor shall have the right to cause a receiver to be appointed in any action against Lessee to take possession of the
leased premises and/or to collect the rents or profits derived therefrom. Said receiver may, if it is necessary or convenient in order to collect
such rents or profits, take possession of any property belonging to Lessee and used in the conduct of such business and may use the same in
conducting such business on the leased premises without compensation to Lessee for such use. Neither the application for the appointment of
such receiver nor the appointment of such receiver shall constitute an election on the part of Lessor to terminate this Lease unless a written
notice of such intention is given to Lessee.
26.
ATTORNEYS’ FEES : In the event of any action at law or suit in equity to interpret or enforce the provisions of this Lease,
the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the other reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. If either party, without fault on the other’s
part, be made a party to any litigation instituted by or against the other, such party shall pay to the other all costs and expenses incurred by such
party, including reasonable attorneys’ fees. In the event that Lessor should be required to retain counsel for the collection of rent or the
enforcement of any provision hereof, and such collection of rent or enforcement
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hereof docs not necessitate the bringing of an action at law or equity, then Lessor shall be entitled to any and all reasonable costs and
reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred by Lessor, and the same shall be paid by Lessee within five (5) business days after receipt by Lessee of
written demand by Lessor for the same. Lessee agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Lessor from and against any liability arising
from any breach by Lessee hereof, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and reasonable costs incurred in connection therewith, whether such
claim arises before or after the expiration or termination of this Lease.
27.
TRANSFER OF LESSORS INTEREST : In the event of a sale or conveyance by Lessor of Lessor’s interest in the
property of which said demised premises are the whole or a portion, after the date of such transfer Lessor shall be relieved from all liability as
respect to Lessor’s obligations thereafter to be performed, provided that any funds in the hands of Lessor at the time of transfer in which Lessee
has an interest, shall be delivered to the successor of Lessor. The obligations contained in this Lease to be performed by Lessor shall, subject to
the foregoing, be binding on Lessor’s successor only during their respective periods of ownership.
28.
SUBORDINATION : Lessee expressly agrees that this Lease is and shall be subject and subordinate to all mortgages, deeds
of trust, or other encumbrances now or hereafter placed upon the demised premises or property by Lessor, provided that such mortgages, deeds
of trust, or other encumbrances contain Lessee non-disturbance clauses in standard form. Lessee further agrees that within ten (10) business
days after being requested in writing to do so by Lessor, Lessee will execute, acknowledge, and deliver any documents prepared by Lessor that
are required to effect such subordination. Should Lessee fail to execute, acknowledge, and deliver such instruments within the ten (10) business
day period, Lessee shall be deemed to have irrevocably appointed Lessor and each of Lessor’s successors and assigns, to be Lessee’s attorneyin-fact to execute, acknowledge, and deliver any such instruments for and on behalf of Lessee.
29.
ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE : Upon request from Lessor, the Lessee shall execute, acknowledge, and deliver within ten
(10) business days to Lessor a certificate certifying the matters listed below. Such certificate may be relied upon by any prospective purchaser,
mortgagee or beneficiary under the deed of trust on the property of which the demised premises is a portion or any part thereof.
(a)
That this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or, if there have been modifications, that this Lease is in full force
and effect, as modified, and stating the date and nature of each modification);
(b)
(c)
certificate; and

The date to which the rental and other sums payable hereunder have been paid;
That no notice has been received by Lessee of any default which has not been cured, except as to defaults specified in said

(d)
Such other matters as may be reasonably requested by Lessor or any lender or buyer of the land underlying the property of
which the demised premises are a portion.
30.
WAIVER : The waiver by Lessor of any breach of any term, covenant, or condition herein contained shall not be deemed to
be a waiver of such term, covenant, or condition or any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, covenant, or condition herein
contained. The subsequent acceptance of rent by Lessor shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any preceding breach by Lessee of any term,
covenant, or condition of this Lease, other than the failure of Lessee to pay the particular rental so accepted, regardless of Lessor’s knowledge
of such preceding breach at the time of acceptance of such rent. No covenant, term, or condition of this Lease shall be deemed to have been
waived by Lessor, unless such waiver be in writing by Lessor. No payment by Lessee or receipt by Lessor of a lesser amount than the rent and
additional rent herein provided shall be deemed to be other than on account of the earliest amount due and payable hereunder, nor shall any
endorsement or statement on any check or any letter accompanying any check or payment be deemed an accord and satisfaction, and Lessor
may accept any such check or payment without prejudice to Lessor’s right to recover the balance of such rent or additional rent or to pursue
any other remedy provided for in this Lease.
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31.

DEFAULT BY LANDLORD : Lessee’s Remedies.

(a)
In the event that Lessor shall be liable to Lessee for any damages sustained by Lessee as a result of Lessor’s breach, it is
expressly understood that any money judgment resulting from any default or other claim arising under this Lease shall be satisfied out of
Lessor’s interest in the subject property, including, all rents, profits, insurance and other income from the operation of the subject property in
which the demised premises are located, and except for the subject property, no other real, personal, or mixed property of the Lessor wherever
situated shall be subject to levy on any such judgment obtained against Lessor, and if Lessor’s interest in the subject property is insufficient for
the payment of such judgment, Lessee will not institute any further action, suits, claim or demand, in law or in equity, against Lessor for or on
account of such deficiency. Lessee hereby waives, to the extent waivable under law, any rights to satisfy said money judgment against Lessor
except from the subject property in which the demised premises are located.
(b)
Notwithstanding anything herein contained to the contrary, Lessee hereby waives, to the extent waivable under any law, any
right to specific performance in the event of Lessor’s default referred to herein, and Lessee expressly agrees that except as provided in the
immediately following sentence, Lessee’s remedy shall be limited to the monetary damages referred to in this Paragraph 30. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, in the event of failure by Lessor to give any consent as provided in Paragraph 19 Lessee shall be entitled to specific performance,
but in no event shall Lessor be responsible in monetary damages for failure to give such consent unless said consent is withheld maliciously or
in bad faith.
32.
SURRENDER : Lessee agrees on the last day of said term, or other sooner termination of this Lease, to surrender said
premises in the same condition as received subject to reasonable use and wear (damage by act of God excepted), swept broom clean, and to
remove all rubbish from said premises. All locks, bolts, alterations, and additions which may be affixed to or made by either of the parties
hereto upon the said premises, except moveable furniture and moveable fixtures put in at the expense of Lessee, shall be the property of Lessor,
at the option of Lessor, and shall remain upon and be surrendered with the premises as part thereof at the termination of this Lease, without
disturbance, molestation, or injury unless Lessor instructs Lessee to remove any of said items; and immediately upon receipt of notice from
Lessor, Lessee shall, at Lessee’s sole cost, remove any such items. Lessee shall repair any damage to the demised premises occasioned by the
removal of Lessee’s fixtures, furnishings, and equipment.
33.
HOLDING OVER : Any holding over after the expiration of the said term shall be construed to be a tenancy from month to
month only, and shall otherwise be upon the same terms and conditions herein specified, so far as applicable, except the rent shall be at a
monthly rate equal to one hundred twenty-five percent (125%) of the monthly rent in effect at the termination of this Lease. Lessee shall
indemnify and hold Lessor harmless for any loss, damage, or liability resulting from Lessee’s delay in surrendering the premises, including
without limitation any claims made by any succeeding tenant based upon such delay. Nothing contained in this Paragraph shall waive Lessor’s
right of re-entry or any other right, and Lessee shall be only a lessee at sufferance while Lessee is holding over without Lessor’s written
consent.
34.

LAW GOVERNING : This Lease shall be governed by the laws of the state of California.

35.
TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE : Time is of the essence of this Lease in the performance of each and every term, covenant,
and condition of this Lease except in respect to the delivery of possession of the demised premises at the commencement of the term hereof.
36.
CORPORATE AUTHORITY : If Lessor or Lessee is a corporation or limited liability company, each individual executing
this Lease on behalf of the entity represents and warrants that he is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Lease on behalf of the entity in
accordance with its governing instruments and that this Lease is binding upon the entity in accordance with its terms, and that Lessee is
qualified to do business in the state in which the premises is located.
37.
SECURITY DEPOSIT : Upon execution of this Lease, Lessee has deposited with Lessor the sum of Sixteen Thousand Six
Hundred Dollars ($ 16,600.00) , receipt of which is hereby acknowledged by Lessor. Said sum shall be held by Lessor as security for the
faithful performance of Lessee of all the terms,
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covenants, and conditions of this Lease by said Lessee to be kept and performed during the term hereof. If at any time during the term of this
Lease any of the rent herein reserved, or any other sum payable by Lessee to Lessor hereunder, shall be overdue and unpaid, then Lessor may,
at the option of Lessor (but Lessor shall not be required to), appropriate and apply any portion of this Security Deposit to the payment of any
such overdue rent or other sum. In the event of the failure of Lessee to keep and perform all of the terms, covenants, and conditions of this
Lease to be kept and performed by Lessee, then at the option of Lessor, the Lessor may, after terminating this Lease, appropriate and apply the
entire Security Deposit, or so much thereof as may be necessary, to compensate Lessor for all loss or damage sustained or suffered by Lessor,
due to such breach on the part of Lessee. Should the entire Security Deposit, or any portion thereof, be appropriated and applied by Lessor for
the payment of overdue rent or other sums due and payable to Lessor by Lessee hereunder, the Lessee shall, upon the written demand of
Lessor, forthwith remit to Lessor a sufficient amount in cash to restore said Security Deposit to the original sum, and Lessee’s failure to do so
within five (5) business days after receipt of such demand shall constitute a breach of this Lease. Should Lessee comply with all of said terms,
covenants, and conditions and promptly pay all of the rental herein provided for as it falls due, and all other sums payable by Lessee to Lessor
hereunder, said Security Deposit shall be returned in full to Lessee at the end of the term of this Lease or upon the earlier termination of this
Lease under the provisions of Paragraph 18 hereof. Lessee acknowledges that this Security Deposit is not prepaid rent and shall not be applied
by Lessee to the payment of any rent due Lessor herein. No interest shall be paid on this Security Deposit by Lessor to Lessee. In the event that
Lessor transfers said Security Deposit to Lessor’s successor in interest, Lessor shall be discharged from any further liability with respect to
such Security Deposit.
38.
NOTICES :
(a)
Notice Requirements .
All notices required or permitted by this Lease or
applicable law shall be in writing and may be delivered in person (by hand or by courier) or may be sent by regular or certified mail, overnight
courier, or by facsimile or electronic transmission. The address noted adjacent to a Party’s signature on this Lease shall be that Party’s address
for delivery or mailing of notices. Either Party may by written notice to the other specify a different address for notice, except that upon
Lessee’s taking possession of the Premises, the premises shall constitute Lessee’s address for notice.
(b)
Date of Notice .
Any notice sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, shall
be deemed given on the date of delivery shown on the receipt card, or if no delivery date is shown, the postmark thereon. If sent by regular mail
the notice shall be deemed given 72 hours after the same is addressed as required herein and mailed with postage prepaid. Notices delivered by
overnight courier shall be deemed given upon the date of receipt provided by the courier service. Notices transmitted by facsimile or electronic
transmission shall be deemed delivered on confirmation receipt date, provided a copy is concurrently transmitted by personal delivery or mail.
If notice is received on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, it shall be deemed received on the next business day.
39.
NONDISCLOSURE . The terms of this Lease shall be held in confidence and not disclosed to any third party without the
prior written consent of Lessor.
40.
DELIVERY OF PREMISES . Lessee shall be given possession of the premises following (a) execution and delivery of
this lease, (b) payment of funds representing the first month’s rent and the security deposit, (c) evidence of insurance coverage as required in
Paragraph 5, and (d) re-delivery of the premises by the current tenant, Level 2 Industries, LLC. Lessor shall deliver possession of the premises
in “as-is” condition, but subject to completion of the Lessor-facade-improvement project identified in Paragraph 45. In the event Lessee
occupies the premises prior to the Commencement Date, no rent shall be payable for the period of such early possession, but all of the other
terms and conditions of the lease shall be applicable.
41.
OPTION . Lessee is granted the option to extend the term of this Lease for an additional five (5) years commencing on the
day following the last day of the fifth year of the Lease term. As a condition precedent to exercising such option, Lessee must be in lawful
possession of the premises and not in default on the Exercise Notice Date, or in the thirty days prior thereto. The option shall be exercised by
written notice to Lessor on or before the date six-months prior to the commencement date of the extension term, which date shall be known as
the “Exercise Notice Date”.
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The rent payable during the option term shall be equal to 95% of the Fair Market Rental Rate (“FMMR”) as determined with
reference to similar properties in the same local marketplace. In no event, however, shall the rent for the first, or any subsequent year, of the
Option Term be less than the rent for the preceding lease year.
Lessor and Lessee shall meet during the ninety (90) days after the Exercise Notice Date, and endeavor to agree upon the
FMRR payable during the Option Term. In the event Lessor and Lessee cannot, agree, the rent shall be determined by binding appraisal in the
manner set forth below.
Within one hundred twenty (120) days after the Exercise Notice Date, Lessor and Lessee shall either (a) jointly appoint an appraiser,
or (b) failing this, separately designate their own appraiser. No person may be appointed as an appraiser for the purpose herein unless that
person is a state of California Certified General Real Estate Appraiser or member of the Appraisal Institute (MAI) in good standing and has at
least five years’ experience in apprising commercial and industrial properties in the San Francisco Bay Area. The parties shall each pay onehalf of the fees and expenses of a jointly appointed appraiser, or if the parties separately designate their owner appraiser, each party shall pay
the fees and expenses of its separately designated appraiser. If an appraiser is jointly appointed, that appraiser shall determine the FMRR. If
two appraisers are appointed and cannot reach agreement on the FMRR within thirty (30) days after appointment, then the appraisers shall
appoint a third appraiser with like qualification. If a majority of the appraisers cannot reach agreement on the FMRR within twenty (20) days
after the third appraiser has been selected, then the average of the two closest appraisals shall determine the FMRR and such determination
shall be binding and conclusive upon Lessor and Lessee. Each party shall pay fifty percent (50%) of the fees and expenses of the third
appraiser.
In the event that the appraisal procedure has not concluded by the commencement of the Option Term, then the Lessee shall make rent
payments at the rate equal to the rent of the preceding lease year, subject to adjustment as provided herein at the commencement of the Option
Term. Within twenty days after conclusion of the appraisal procedure, Lessee shall remit the accumulated rent deficiency, if any, for the prior
months of the Option Term.
42.
EARLY ACCESS .
Lessee shall have access to the premises for space planning following execution and delivery
of this Lease, (b) payment of funds representing the first month’s rent and the security deposit, and (c) evidence of insurance coverage as
required in Paragraph 5. Lessor shall use its best efforts to secure such access prior to the current tenant vacating the premises; however, prior
thereto, access will be subject to the concurrence of the current tenant. Upon the current tenant vacating the premises, Lessee shall have full
access and may commence its Tenant Improvements.
43.
LESSEE IMPROVEMENTS .
Lessee may cause such improvements to the premises (“Tenant
Improvements”) at Lessee’s cost and expense, subject to Lessor’s prior written approval of plans, specifications, and contractors, which
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Lessee shall give Lessor written notice not less than five (5) business days
prior to the commencement of the Tenant Improvements to permit Lessor to record and post Notices of Non-Responsibility. Permits,
authorizations, and governmental approvals shall be obtained prior to commencement of the Tenant Improvements, and the Tenant
Improvements shall be completed with due diligence in compliance with the approved plans and specifications. The initial Tenant
Improvements to be constructed by Lessee are described in plans and specifications attached hereto as Schedule 1 (“Initial Build-out Plans and
Specifications”). Lessor has approved the Initial Build-out Plans and Specifications.
44.
LESSOR REIMBURSEMENT .
Lessor shall reimburse Lessee for costs and expences paid by Lessor up to
Eighty-Three Thousand Dollars ($83,000.00) for the aggregate cost of HVAC, interior painting, lighting, window coverings, flooring, carpeting
and kitchen installation (“Reimbursable Work”). Within thirty (30) days after delivery of paid invoices for completed portions of the
Reimbursable Work, Lessor shall deliver such reimbursements to Lessee. The installation of an HVAC system is a precondition for any cost
reimbursement.
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45.
BASE BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS .
Lessor, at its cost and expense, shall cause the following
improvements to be completed to the premises (“Base Building Improvements”):
(a)
New building façade: new double doors at the main entry; new double doors at the east entry; new glass windows across the façade of
the building; new roll-up garage door; and new exterior paint.
(b)
New lobby area with new staircase at main entry;
(c)
ADA compliant restrooms on the ground and second floor;
(d)
Removal of existing single entry door and HC ramp in the middle of the building.
In Witness Whereof , Lessor and Lessee have executed this Lease on the day and year below.
LESSOR
/s/ Martin E. Harband.
Martin E. Harband, Trustee
Date: June 13, 2011
Address:

155 Bovet Road, Suite 780,
San Mateo, CA 94402-3155
(T) 650. 573-9500 ext 115;
(F) 650. 573-9689;
mharband@yahoo.com

LESSEE:
LOCUS DEVELOPMENT, INC.
a Delaware corporation
By: /s/ Sean E. George
Its:

President & CEO

Date: June 13, 2011
Address:
.
.
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ADDENDUM NO. 1 TO LEASE
454-58 Brannan Street
San Francisco, California
This ADDENDUM NO. 1 TO LEASE (“ Addendum ”) is made to the Lease dated for reference September 1, 2011 (“ Lease ”)
between Martin E. Harband, Trustee of the Harband Family Trust u/a/d 08/26/1982 (hereinafter “Lessor”), and Locus Development, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, (hereinafter “Lessee”). Lessor and Lessee hereby agree that notwithstanding anything contained in the Lease to the
contrary, the provisions set forth below shall be deemed to be a part of the Lease and shall supersede, to the extent appropriate, any contrary
provision of the Lease. All references to the Lease in this Addendum shall be construed to mean the Lease and all addenda and exhibits thereto,
as amended and supplemented by this Addendum. All defined terms used in this Addendum, unless specifically defined in this Addendum,
shall have the same meaning as such terms have in the Lease. The leased premises described in the Lease shall be referred to herein as the
“Premises.”
1.
Consents and Approvals . Any time the consent or approval of Lessor is required under this Lease, such consent or approval,
as the case may be, shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Whenever the Lease grants Lessor or Lessee the right to take
action, exercise discretion, establish rules and regulations or make allocations or other determinations, Lessor and Lessee shall act reasonably
and in good faith and take no action which might result in the frustration of the reasonable expectations of a sophisticated tenant or landlord
concerning the benefits to be derived by Lessee hereunder.

2.

3.

Non-Applicability of Sections . The following Lease paragraphs are hereby deemed deleted and of no further force or effect:
(a)

Paragraph 7.

(b)

Paragraph 23.

Commencement Date .

(a)
The “Commencement Date” shall be the later of (i) September 1, 2011 or (ii) the date (“Delivery Date”) that Lessor
delivers the Premises to Lessee with all of the Base Building Improvements completed in compliance with Applicable Laws (as defined below)
and approved by Lessee. Lessee shall receive a day for day rent credit for each day beyond September 1, 2011 that Lessor fails to deliver the
Premises to Lessee with all the Base Building Improvements completed in compliance with Applicable Laws.
(b)
If Lessee requests any changes to the Base Building Improvements, furnishes inaccurate or erroneous specifications
or other information to Lessor or its contractors, or otherwise delays Lessor or Lessor’s contractors from completing the Base Building
Improvements (any of the foregoing being referred to in this Lease as “Tenant Delay”), then the Commencement Date shall be deemed to have
occurred for all purposes, including Lessee’s obligation to pay rent, as of the date Lessor reasonably determines that it would have been able
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to deliver the Premises to Lessee but for the collective Tenant Delays. Should Lessor determine that the Commencement Date should be
changed in accordance with the foregoing, it shall so notify Lessee in writing. Lessor’s determination shall be conclusive unless Lessee notifies
Lessor in writing, within five (5) business days thereafter, of Lessee’s election to contest same by binding arbitration in accordance with the
terms set forth below, and judgment on the arbitration award may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof. Pending the outcome of
such arbitration proceedings, Lessee shall make timely payment of all rent due under this Lease based upon the Commencement Date set forth
in the aforesaid notice from Lessor.
4.
Delay in Possession . If the Delivery Date has not occurred on or before December 31, 2011 (subject to a day for day
extension of such date due to Tenant Delay as resaonbly determined by Lessor), Lessee shall have the right to terminate this Lease effective
upon delivery of notice of such termination to Lessor.
5.
Abatement of Rent . If Lessee is prevented from using the Premises or any portion thereof, for three (3) consecutive days as
a result of (a) any damage or destruction thereto; (b) any repair, maintenance or alteration performed by Lessor after the Commencement Date;
(c) any failure to provide services or access to the Premises; (d) an eminent domain proceeding; or (e) the presence of any Hazardous Materials
(defined below) which were not released by Lessee or its partners, affiliates, agents and employees (“Related Parties”), then rent shall be abated
or reduced, as the case may be, after expiration of such three-day period for such time that Lessee continues to be so prevented from using the
Premises or portion thereof, in the proportion that the rentable area of the portion of the Premises that Lessee is prevented from using bears to
the total rentable area of the Premises.
6.
Real Property Taxes . Notwithstanding contrary provisions of Paragraph 4 of the Lease, any assessment, tax, fee, levy or
charge which can reasonably be characterized as a real property tax, shall not include any increase in, or reassessment of, real property taxes
and assessments resulting from either any sale, transfer, or other change in ownership of the building or from any major alterations,
improvements, modifications or renovations to the building (“Real Property Taxes”).
7.
Audit Rights . Notwithstanding any provision of this Lease to the contrary, in the event of any dispute regarding the amount
due as to Real Property Taxes, insurance or other costs or expenses described in the Lease (“Costs”), Lessee shall have the right, after five
(5) business days prior written notice to Lessor and at reasonable times, to inspect and photocopy Lessor’s accounting records relating to such
charges at Lessor’s office located at the address set forth below Lessor’s signature on the Lease. If, after such inspection and photocopying,
Lessee continues to dispute the amount of Costs payable by Lessee, Lessee shall be entitled to retain an independent company or certified
public accountant approved in advance by Lessor (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) to audit and/or
review Lessor’s records to determine the proper amount of the Costs. Such audit shall be completed within fifteen (15) business days. If such
audit or review reveals that Lessor has overcharged Lessee, then within ten (10) business days after the results of such audit are made available
to Lessor, Lessor shall reimburse Lessee the amount of such overcharge. If the audit reveals that Lessee was undercharged, then within five
(5) business days after the results of the audit are made available to Lessee, Lessee shall reimburse Lessor the amount of such undercharge.
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Lessee agrees to pay the cost of such audit. Lessor shall be required to maintain records of all Costs for the entirety of the twelve (12) month
period following Lessor’s delivery to Lessee of each statement setting forth such costs.
8.
Compliance With Laws . Lessor represents and warrants to Lessee that as of the Commencement Date, the Premises have
been constructed and operated in full compliance with all governmental regulations, ordinances, codes and laws which apply to the Premises,
including, without limitation, laws and regulations pertaining to the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., as
amended, and regulations and advisory opinions pertaining to Hazardous Materials (“Applicable Laws”). Lessor shall construct the Base
Building Improvements in compliance with Applicable Laws. Lessor shall be fully responsible for making any and all alterations and repairs to
the Premises and the Base Building Improvements, required as a result of any failure by Lessor to comply with Applicable Laws.
9.
Right to Make Repairs . Notwithstanding any provision set forth in the Lease to the contrary, if Lessee provides written
notice (or oral notice in the event of an emergency such as damage or destruction to the Structural Components and Building Systems) to
Lessor of an event or circumstance which requires the action of Lessor with respect to repair and/or maintenance, and Lessor fails to provide
such action within a reasonable period of time, given the circumstances, after the receipt of such notice, but in any event not later than twentyone (21) days after receipt of such notice, then Lessee may proceed to take the required action upon delivery of an additional ten (10) business
days’ notice to Lessor specifying that Lessee is taking such required action (provided, however, that neither of such notices shall be required in
the event of an emergency which threatens life or where there is imminent danger of damage to the building), and if such action was required
under the terms of the Lease to be taken by Lessor and was not taken by Lessor within such ten (10) business day period, then Lessee shall be
entitled to prompt reimbursement by Lessor of Lessee’s reasonable costs and expenses in taking such action plus interest thereon equal to the
Prime Rate then in effect at Bank of America, plus 2% (“Interest Rate”). In the event Lessee takes such action, and such work will affect the
Structural Components and Building Systems, Lessee shall use only those contractors used by Lessor in the building for work on such
Structural Components and Building Systems unless such contractors are unwilling or unable to perform, or timely and competitively perform,
such work, in which event Lessee may utilize the services of any other qualified contractor which normally and regularly performs similar
work in buildings comparable to the building. Furthermore, if Lessor does not deliver a detailed written objection to Lessee within thirty (30)
days after receipt of an invoice by Lessee of its costs of taking action which Lessee claims should have been taken by Lessor, and if such
invoice from Lessee sets forth a reasonably particularized breakdown of its costs and expenses in connection with taking such action on behalf
of Lessor, then Lessee shall be entitled to deduct from rent payable by Lessee under the Lease, the amount set forth in such invoice. If,
however, Lessor delivers to Lessee, within thirty (30) days after receipt of Lessee’s invoice, a written objection to the payment of such invoice,
setting forth with reasonable particularity Lessor’s reasons for its claim that such action did not have to be taken by Lessor pursuant to the
terms of the Lease or that the charges are excessive (in which case Lessor shall pay the amount it contends would not have been excessive),
then Lessee shall not then be entitled to such deduction from rent, but as Lessee’s sole remedy, Lessee may proceed to claim a default by
Lessor or, if elected by either Lessor or Lessee, the matter shall proceed to resolution by the selection of an arbitrator to resolve the dispute,
which arbitrator shall be selected and
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qualified pursuant to the procedures set forth herein, and whose costs shall be paid for by the losing party, unless it is not clear that there is a
“losing party,” in which event the costs of arbitration shall be shared equally. If Lessee prevails in the arbitration, the amount of the award
(which shall include interest at the Interest Rate (defined below) from the time of each expenditure by Lessee until the date Lessee receives
such amount by payment or offset and attorneys’ fees and related costs) may be deducted by Lessee from the rents next due and owing under
the Lease.
10.
Alterations and Additions . Lessee may make any alterations, additions and/or modifications to the Premises that do not
adversely affect the Structural Components and Building Systems and do not cost in excess of Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000) in each
instance without Lessor’s consent. Any other alterations, additions and/or modifications to the Premises by Lessee shall require Lessor’s prior
consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. In such event, however, Lessee shall give notice to Lessor of such
alterations.
11.
Hazardous Materials . Lessor represents and warrants that no Hazardous Materials have been used, stored or released on,
under, about or within the Premises in violation of any Applicable Laws. Lessor shall be fully responsible for any and all costs and expenses
relative to the cleanup and/or remediation of any Hazardous Materials from the Premises existing as of the Delivery Date. Lessor and Lessee
each agree that they shall not use, store or release, or permit any third party to use, store or release, any Hazardous Materials on, under, about or
within the Premises in violation of Applicable Laws. “Hazardous Materials” means any substance, material or waste which is or becomes
designated, classified or regulated as being “toxic” or “hazardous” or a “pollutant” (or a similar such designation) under any federal, state or
local law, regulation or ordinance. Notwithstanding contrary provisions in the Lease, neither party shall be in violation of the Lease if using
Hazardous Materials in compliance with the terms of Applicable Laws, including those regulating the useage, storage and disposal of the same.
12.
Reciprocal Indemnification . Notwithstanding any provisions of Paragraph 8 of the Lease to the contrary, Lessee shall not be
required to indemnify and hold Lessor harmless from any loss, cost, liability, damage or expense, including, but not limited to, penalties, fines,
attorneys’ fees or costs (collectively “Claims”), to any person, property or entity resulting from the acts, omissions or willful misconduct of
Lessor or its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees in connection with Lessor’s activities in the building. Lessor shall indemnify
and hold Lessee harmless from any such Claims, including but not limited to, Claims arising from any noncompliance of the Building with any
laws relating to disabled access, or Claims arising from the presence in the Premises of Hazardous Materials, except to the extent such
Hazardous Materials were placed in or on the Premises by Lessee (Lessor’s indemnity hereunder will survive the expiration of the Term of, or
any termination of the Lease).
13.
Non-Disturbance . If, as of the date of execution of this Lease, there is any ground lease, deed of trust or other security
instrument recorded against the property containing the Premises, Lessor shall, prior to the Commencement Date, obtain from the holder of
each such encumbrance an agreement, in recordable form, that such holder shall recognize this Lease if such holder becomes the owner of the
building through foreclosure or otherwise. Lessor shall
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obtain a similar agreement from any holder of an encumbrance who may later come into existence.
14.
Assignment . Lessee may assign this Lease at any time without Lessor’s consent to (a) any Affiliate (as defined below) or
any entity which owns or is owned by an Affiliate; (b) any entity acquiring substantially all of the assets of Lessee; or (c) another entity in
connection with the merger of Lessee with such entity. In such event, however, Lessee shall give notice to Lessor of such assignment. Lessee
may otherwise assign this Lease or sublease any part of the Premises with Lessor’s consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed beyond ten (10) business days after receipt of Lessee’s request therefor. Lessor’s failure to respond within such ten
(10) business day period shall constitute consent to such assignment or sublease. For purposes of this Lease, “Affiliate” shall mean any entity
which is controlled by (directly or indirectly) Lessee, or which controls (directly or indirectly) Lessee, or which is under common control with
Lessee.
15.
Force Majeure . Any prevention, delay or stoppage caused by fire, earthquake, explosion, flood, hurricane, the elements, or
any other similar cause beyond the reasonable control of the party from whom performance is required, or any of their contractors; acts of God
or a public enemy; actions, restrictions, limitations or interference of governmental authorities or agents; war, invasion, insurrection, rebellion;
riots; strikes or lockouts, or inability to obtain necessary materials, goods, equipment, services, utilities or labor shall excuse the performance of
such party for a period equal to the duration of such prevention, delay or stoppage. Waiver of Consequential Damages. Notwithstanding any
provision of the Lease or this Addendum to the contrary, neither Lessor or Lessee shall be liable to the other or any person or entity claiming
by, through or under the other) for, and each hereby waives any claims with respect thereto, any consequential or special or indirect damages
arising under or in connection with the Lease.
17.
Access . Except in the event of an emergency, Lessor shall provide Lessee with not less than twenty four (24) hours prior
written notice before any entry onto the Premises for any purpose. At all times during such entry, Lessee shall have a right to have a
representative present during such entry, and Lessor and its agents shall, at all times, comply with Lessee’s security and safety procedures.
18.
Signage . Lessor shall not permit or allow any sign or billboard to be placed in, on or around the building which identifies
any person, company or entity which is a competitor of Lessee. Under no circumstances shall the building be named after or referred to
utilizing the name of a competitor of Tenant. Tenant may transfer such sign rights to any assignee or sublessee.
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lessor and Lessee have executed this Addendum No. 1 to Lease as of the date of this Lease.
LESSOR:
/s/ Martin E. Harband
Martin E. Harband, Trustee

.

LESSEE:
LOCUS DEVELOPMENT, INC.
a Delaware corporation
By: /s/ Sean E. George
Its:

President & CEO
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FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE
THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE, dated for reference January 1, 2015, is made by and between Martin E Harband, Trustee,
(“Lessor”) and Invitae Corporation, a Delaware corporation, successor-in-interest to Locus Development, Inc. (“Lessee”) with reference to the
following fact:
A.

The parties made and executed a lease agreement, dated September 1, 2011, for the premises commonly known and designated as
458 Brannan Street, San Francisco, California.

B.

The parties now desire to amend the Lease in certain particulars.

NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed as follows:
1. Term:

Paragraph 1 of the Lease is amended in its entirety to read as follows:
The term of this Lease shall be for six (6) years , commencing September 1, 2011, and ending August 31, 2017.

2. Rent:

Paragraph 2 of the Lease is amended to add the following:
Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, commencing January 1, 2015 and ending August 31, 2017, the minimum monthly
rent payable shall be $27,061.00.

3. Option .

Paragraph 41 of the Lease is amended in its entirety to read as follow:
Lessee is granted the option to extend the term of the Lease for an additional five (5) years commencing September 1, 2017, and
ending August 31, 2022 The option shall be exercised by written notice to Lessor on or before September 1, 2016, which date
shall be known as the “Exercise Notice Date”. As a condition precedent to exercising such option, Lessee must be in lawful
possession of the premises and not in default on the Exercise Notice Date, or in the thirty days prior thereto.
a.

Rent.

The minimum monthly rent payable during the option term shall be in accordance with the following schedule:

(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)

$46,756.00 for the twelve months commencing September 1, 2017;
$48,626.00 for the twelve months commencing September 1, 2018;
$50,571.00 for the twelve months commencing September 1, 2019;
$52,594.00 for the twelve months commencing September 1, 2020;
$54,698.00 for the twelve months commencing September 1, 2021.

b.

Early termination. Lessee may terminate the Lease after the thirtieth (30 th ) month of the option term, upon payment of five
months’ rent, calculated from and after the termination date. Lessee shall give written notice of termination to Lessor not less
than 90 days prior to the termination date.

4. Security Deposit . Paragraph 37 of the Lease is amended to add the following:
A.

At the commencement of the 5th lease-year (September 1, 2015), Lessee shall deposit with Lessor $10,461.00 to increase
the Security Deposit to $27.061.00;

B.

At the commencement of the option term (September 1, 2017), Lessee shall deposit with Lessor $19,695.00 to increase the
Security Deposit to $46,756.00.

5. Othe r teams and conditions: Except as provided herein, the lease shall remain unchanged.
LESSOR:

LESSEE:

/s/ Martin E. Harband
Martin E Harband, Trustee

Invitae Corporation,
a Delaware corporation

Date: 12/30/2014

By
Its
Date:

/s/ Sean E George
Sean E George
12/29/14
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the reference to our firm under the caption "Experts" and to the use of our report dated November 6, 2014 (except
for the last paragraph of Note 1, as to which the date is February X, 2015) in Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement
(Form S-1 No. 333-201433) and related Prospectus of Invitae Corporation for the registration of shares of its common stock.
Ernst & Young LLP
Redwood City, California

The foregoing consent is in the form that will be signed upon the effectiveness of the reverse stock split described in the last
paragraph of Note 1 to the financial statements.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Redwood City, California
January 29, 2015
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